Thillai Rajan Annamalai Sriharini Narayanan Ganesh Devkar Venkata Santhosh Kumar Reeba Devaraj Akshaya Ayyangar Ashwin Mahalingam Incorporating the life-cycle approach into WASH policies and programmes A systematic review

March 2017

Systematic Review 35

Water and sanitation



About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) is an international grant-making NGO promoting evidence-informed development policies and programmes. We are the global leader in funding, producing and synthesising high-quality evidence of what works, for whom, how, why and at what cost. We believe that using better and policy-relevant evidence helps to make development more effective and improve people's lives.

3ie systematic reviews

3ie systematic reviews appraise and synthesise the available high-quality evidence on the effectiveness of social and economic development interventions in low- and middleincome countries. These reviews follow scientifically recognised review methods, and 3ie peer reviews and quality assures them according to internationally accepted standards. 3ie is providing leadership in demonstrating rigorous and innovative review methodologies, such as using theory-based approaches suited to informing policy and programming in the dynamic and challenging contexts in low- and middle-income countries.

About this review

3ie accepted, Incorporating the life-cycle approach into WASH policies and programmes: A systematic review in partial fulfilment of the requirements of grant SR8.1010 issued under Systematic Review Window 8. 3ie will be publishing a summary report and brief of this full review later in the year.

3ie is publishing this report as received from the authors. The only change has been to format the content to 3ie style. All content is the sole responsibility of the authors and does not represent the opinions of 3ie, its donors or its board of commissioners. Any errors are also the sole responsibility of the authors. Please direct comments or queries to the corresponding author, Thillai Raja Annamalai, thillair@iitm.ac.in

Funding for this systematic review was provided by the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council (WSSCC).

Suggested citation: Annamalai, TR, Narayanan, S, Devkar, G, Kumar, VS, Devaraj, R, Ayyangar, A and Mahalingam, A, 2017. *Incorporating the life-cycle approach into WASH policies and programmes: A systematic review. 3ie Systematic Review 35.* London: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie).

3ie systematic review executive editors: Edoardo Masset and Beryl Leach Production manager: Angel Kharya Assistant production manager: Akarsh Gupta Cover design: John F McGill

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2017

Incorporating the life-cycle approach into WASH policies and programmes: A systematic review

Thillai Rajan Annamalai Indian Institute for Technology

Sriharini Narayanan Indian Institute for Technology

Ganesh Devkar Centre for Environment Planning and Technology University (CEPT)

Venkata Santhosh Kumar Indian Institute for Technology

Reeba Devaraj Indian Institute for Technology

Akshaya Ayyangar Indian Institute for Technology

Ashwin Mahalingam Indian Institute for Technology

3ie Systematic Review 35

March 2017



Summary

Systematic Review Question

"To what extent have the Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene sub-sectors incorporated the life-cycle approach into policy, programmes, and projects during the MDG period?"

Background

The paradigm for identifying the beneficiaries and understanding their needs and requirements for delivery of WASH services has evolved over time. Initially, governments started with the overarching objective of providing universal access to WASH services. During the MDG period, there was increased thrust to understand the specific needs and requirements of different population segments, in order to ensure equitable access. By addressing the access needs of different population segments, the objective of universal coverage to WASH services can be achieved.

Population could be segmented using two broad paradigms: Geographic and Social segmentation (GSS) and the Life-Cycle Segments (LCS). The formal would involve classifying the population on the basis of geography and social status such as rural, urban, caste and so on. The latter would involve classifying population segments on along the human lifecycle such as gender, age, and disability.

In this review, we studied the extent to which policies and P&P in WASH sectors during the MDG period have incorporated LCS and contrast it with the trends seen in the incorporation of GSS. By incorporation of LCS or GSS we mean the following: (i) the number of different LCS and GSS that could be explicitly identified in the policies and P&P documents included in the review; (ii) the identification of the barriers (i.e., obstacles to access) specific to the different population segments; (iii) the strategies used to address the needs and requirements of different LCS and GSS; and (iv) the nature of benefits envisaged for the different segments.

Method

- **Document type:** Policy documents and Programme and Project (P&P) documents pertaining to WASH sector were included in the review.
- **Document search:** Documents for the review were obtained from a systematic search of websites of government agencies and departments and websites of multilateral and bi-lateral agencies and INGOs. In addition, all the institutions mentioned above were contacted by email with a request to send documents pertaining to policy/ P&P implemented or supported by them during the MDG period. Apart from the above, 4 knowledge databases, Google, and Google scholar were also searched.
- **Countries:** A total of 11 countries from South Asia and sub-Saharan Africa were included in the review. The countries from Asia were India, Nepal, Pakistan and Bangladesh. The countries from sub-Saharan Africa were Tanzania, Kenya, Ethiopia, Madagascar, Nigeria, Malawi and Uganda.
- **Documents included in the review:** The total number of policy documents included in the review was 59, of which 33 were national policies and 26 were state policies. Of the 59 policies, 45 pertained to the water sector, 32 related to sanitation and 10

policies covered hygiene. The total number of P&P documents included were 131 of which 105 pertained to programmes and 26 were projects.

• **Synthesis method:** The evidence from the above documents was synthesized using numerical summary techniques and qualitative comparative analysis.

Results

Population Segments

WASH policies initially focused on providing universal access to facilities with no specific population segmentation. However, as the MDGs progressed, there was more focus on identifying the population segments. At a policy level, GSS were more widely included than LCS. The average number of LCS population segments identified in WASH policies in Asia and Africa was 2.85 and 2.77 respectively. The average number of GSS population segments identified in Asia and Africa was 3.20 and 2.77 respectively. Among the LCS segments, women were the focus of relatively large number of policies. This was followed by children and the disabled segments.

The average number of LCS population segments identified in WASH P&P documents for Asia and Africa was 2.44 and 2 respectively. The average number of GSS population segments for WASH P&P for Asia and Africa was 2.08 and 1.80 respectively. In the case of P&Ps too women and children were the most commonly identified LCS. Among the various GSS segments, rural and urban segments received more attention. It was further observed that the number of population segments in P&P across all the WASH sectors increased with time.

Barriers

Adequacy, environmental and attitudinal barriers were the most commonly identified barriers across both LCS and GSS segments in WASH policies. Similar trend was observed for the P&Ps across both LCS and GSS segments. Further, the most frequently identified barriers differed across Asia and Africa. Policies in Asia frequently identified adequacy and environmental barriers when using the LCS, whereas environmental barriers were the most frequently identified under the GSS. In contrast, policies in Africa identified attitudinal barriers most frequently in LCS, whereas it was adequacy and environmental barriers in GSS. However, when it came to P&P, both Asian and African countries followed similar patterns in identifying the barriers across LCS and GSS. Among the various LCS, barriers were most frequently identified for children.

Strategies

The contrast between LCS and GSS paradigm in policies was also observed in the strategies identified. In LCS segments, beneficiary participation and IEC strategies were the more commonly adopted strategies whereas project management, financing, and provision of services were more frequently adopted for GSS. Similar pattern was observed in the case of P&P as well. Further, the trend was similar across both Asia and Africa.

This contrast between the LCS and GSS paradigms provides interesting perspectives on the methods adopted to improve WASH services. While the GSS perspective made the policy makers aim more at efficiency and provision related strategies, the LCS perspective made them focus on more inclusion and empowerment based strategies.

Adopting LCS approach would bring about more de-centralized and demand based approaches to achieve WASH objectives as compared to centralized, supply driven approaches when adopting a GSS approach.

Benefits

Availability was the most common benefit identified across LCS and GSS in policies as well as P&P. However, there was a greater focus on benefits related to affordability while adopting GSS, whereas it was physical accessibility when adopting LCS. Thus affordability can be considered to have a higher priority when population is segmented on GSS. On the other hand, physical accessibility seemed to have a higher priority in a LCS approach. Hence, segmentation by LCS and GSS may help policy makers to obtain diverse perspectives on improving different dimensions of access.

Policy and P&P robustness

A robustness index was developed to indicate the comprehensiveness of WASH policies and P&P documents. The robustness index for policies from an LCS perspective was 4.5 whereas for GSS it was 6.8. For P&P, the robustness index for LCS and GSS was 4.3 and 6.1. It can thus be seen that the overall robustness index was higher for GSS as compared to that of LCS. Between Asia and Africa, the latter had higher index values for both policies and P&P. Analysis of sector level robustness index showed that sanitation had the highest index values and hygiene sub-sector the least. The robustness index of P&P documents were lower than the levels of policies, indicating that policies were more comprehensive in capturing the pathway of barriers, strategies, and benefits.

Conditions leading to the adoption of LCS and GSS

The following conditions played an important role in the incorporation of LCS in policies and P&P: (i) drafting/implementing agency and (ii) the WASH sub-sector. Between the three sectors, WASH benefits for LCS were more often included in policies related to sanitation and hygiene sectors. At a programme level, projects funded by multilateral agencies and implemented by government in sanitation sector usually incorporated LCS. However, when they were not funded by multilateral agencies, community partnerships usually ensured the incorporation of LCS. Therefore, community and NGO participation became important when funding by a multilateral agency was absent.

Implications

WASH policies can create an enabling framework by specifically mentioning the different LCS in order to facilitate adoption and percolation of life-cycle approach in P&Ps: Findings from this review indicate that adoption of LCS needs more strengthening both at the policy and P&P level. However a lot needs to be done to mainstream this approach and include all population segments in implementation. One way to do this would be for policies to take the lead and specify the different population segments, articulate the barriers to access, strategies to address the barriers and detail the benefits that each segment receives. When policies set the tone for adoption of LCS, it would be more likely that the P&Ps could follow suit.

Life-cycle approach shows greater applicability in the sanitation sector: Amongst the three WASH sub-sectors, the sanitation sector shows greater use and applicability of the life-cycle approach. This has been mainly due to the challenges faced in the provision of sanitation vis-a-vis water or hygiene services. Notwithstanding this fact,

policymakers and practitioners should consider incorporating the values of the LCS in water and hygiene sectors as well in order to ensure that the linkages between all the WASH sub-sectors are addressed in the design and development of WASH policies or programmes.

Incorporating life-cycle approach within the current GSS paradigm can help achieve inclusiveness: WASH policies have been traditionally conceptualized population segments from a GSS approach such as poor and low income, rural, urban, and so on. In comparison, the LCS paradigm has been slowly evolving, and requires consolidation and focus in design of WASH policies. Apart from segments like women and children, the remaining LCS had very limited mention in WASH policies. Also, there are wide variations in the extent of coverage of different LCS as compared to that of different GSS. It is well known from the reports of JMP that the benefits of the MDGs on water and sanitation services can be realized by all sections of society, only when the needs of marginalized persons are addressed. In this context, policy makers should take systematic steps to incorporate the principles of the LCS even within the current GSS paradigm in order to ensure maximum benefit across population segments and improve effectiveness of WASH interventions.

Greater level of effort required towards understanding barriers faced by LCS and devising strategies to overcome them: Identification of barriers to WASH for the GSS has been better than that what was observed for the LCS. This may be a reflection of current state of policy making and project implementation that shows a limited understanding of the barriers faced by LCS in accessing WASH services.

The evidence on WASH strategies indicated preference to "bottom up approaches" or "grass root mobilization" to overcome barriers faced by LCS. The most common strategies adopted for LCS has been beneficiary participation, decentralization, demand management, equity in WASH provision, and IEC activities. Efforts to involve the community and the users in the development of WASH facilities would help to understand the needs and requirements of different segments of the population and address them appropriately.

Benefits for LCS should be expanded: Our findings indicated that the number of benefits mentioned for GSS were higher compared to LCS. Also, there were wide variations between types of benefits envisaged for LCS when compared to those seen for GSS. This could be an indication of the experience among policy makers about benefits to be envisaged for GSS. Policy makers must be mindful of articulating not only immediate benefits such as availability and physical accessibility but also rather challenging benefits of affordability and quality and safety in WASH policies. The existing WASH policies have envisaged benefits primarily for LCS categorized by age (children, adolescent boys and girls, adults) and provided very little importance to categories like gender, disability and people with HIV / AIDS. There is a need for policy makers to expand the spectrum of benefits to all categories within LCS in WASH policies.

Need for improvement of robustness among WASH policies and projects: The evidence base indicated that robustness index for policies and P&P among LCS was not high or strong as compared to that of GSS. Also, there were large variations on both policy and P&P robustness index between different population segments. There is a

need to improve policy and P&P design to ensure robustness for different population segments, as it ensures not only quality and content of WASH policies and programmes but also their effectiveness. There is also need to ensure that robustness percolates from policies to P&P as our study shows a decline in robustness index as we from policies to P&P.

Contents

Summary	i
List of figures and tables	.vii
Abbreviations and acronyms	ix
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Global Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) scenario	1
1.2 Life-cycle Approach (LCA) and WASH interventions	3
1.3 Brief description of WASH sectors	6
1.4 Rationale and importance of this review	7
1.5 Structure of the report	8
2. Objectives of the review	9
3. Methods	.10
3.1 Definitions	.10
3.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria	.19
3.3 Document sourcing and search strategy	.20
3.4 Data extraction and management	.21
3.5 Data analysis - Synthesis methods	.25
4. Results and Discussion	.31
4.1. WASH Policies	.32
4.2 WASH programmes and projects	.63
5. Summary and Implications	.99
5.1 Review question and context	.99
5.2 Method	101
5.3 Results	102
5.4 Strengths and limitations of this systematic review	104
5.5 Implications	105
Appendix A: Country profiles	108
Appendix B: Documents included for the review	111
Appendix C: List of organisations whose P&P were included for this review?	127
Appendix D: Covering letter to governments and shortlisted organisations?	129
Appendix E: Results from website searches	131
Appendix F: Coding Tools and Key Codes	139
Appendix G: A guide to coding	150
Appendix h: Protocol for the qualitative comparative analysis (QCA)	156
Appendix I: List of governments contacted by email for policy documents?	170
Appendix J: Population segments identified in policies by sector and region	171
Appendix K: Count of barriers from policy documents by sector, segment and	
region	173
Appendix L: Count of strategies for policy documents by sector, segment and	
region	181
Appendix M: Count of benefits for policy documents by sector, segment and	
region	195
Appendix N: Policy Robustness	203
Appendix O: Numerical Summary: State Policies	209
Appendix P: Organisations contacted through email	215
Appendix Q: Population segments identified in P&P by sector and region	217
Appendix R: Count of barriers from P&P by sector, segment and region	219

List of figures and tables

Figure 1: Conceptual framework for the review	7
Figure 2: Policy and P&P robustness scale	. 19
Figure 3: Search and synthesis process adopted for this review	. 23
Figure 4: Data extracted from documents	.24
Figure 5: Data from the coding tool used to address research questions	. 24
Figure 6: QCA conceptual model for inclusion and identification of population segmen	ts
	. 27
Figure 7: QCA conceptual model for identification and inclusion of population segmen	ts
in WASH benefits	. 28
Figure 8: PRISMA flow chart of search process and results	. 32
Figure 9: Sector wise count of policies	. 33
Figure 10: Inclusion of segments in water sector – Asia	. 36
Figure 11: Inclusion of segments in sanitation sector – Asia	. 37
Figure 12: Inclusion of segments in hygiene sector – Asia	. 37
Figure 13: Inclusion of segments in water sector – Africa	. 39
Figure 14: Inclusion of segments in sanitation sector – Africa	. 39
Figure 15: Inclusion of segments in hygiene sector – Africa	. 40
Figure 16: Policy robustness index for Asian countries	.54
Figure 17: Policy robustness index for African countries	. 54
Figure 18: Policy robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments	. 55
Figure 19: Average P&P robustness index for Asian countries	. 86
Figure 20: Average P&P robustness index for African countries	. 86
	07
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments	.01
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies	. o <i>r</i> 104
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies	. o <i>r</i> 104
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories	. 87 104 . 13
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P	. 07 104 . 13 . 14
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P	. 07 104 . 13 . 14 . 17
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country	. 13 . 14 . 17 . 33
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies	. 13 . 13 . 14 . 17 . 33 . 34
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies	. 13 . 13 . 14 . 17 . 33 . 34 . 41
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies	. 13 . 14 . 17 . 33 . 34 . 41 . 41
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies	. 13 . 13 . 14 . 17 . 33 . 34 . 41 . 41 . 42
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region	. 13 . 13 . 14 . 17 . 33 . 34 . 41 . 41 . 42 . 43
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for WASH barriers for GSS by region	. 13 . 14 . 17 . 33 . 34 . 41 . 41 . 42 . 43 . 45
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for WASH barriers for GSS by region	.13 .14 .17 .33 .34 .41 .41 .42 .43 .45 .47
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for Strategies for LCS by region Table 11: Count of observations for strategies for GSS by region	.07 104 .13 .14 .17 .33 .34 .41 .41 .42 .43 .45 .47 .49
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region Table 11: Count of observations for strategies for GSS by region Table 12: Count of observations for benefits for LCS by region	.07 104 .13 .14 .17 .33 .34 .41 .41 .42 .43 .45 .47 .49 .51
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region Table 11: Count of observations for strategies for GSS by region Table 12: Count of observations for benefits for LCS by region Table 13: Count of observations for benefits for LCS by region	.07 104 .13 .14 .17 .33 .34 .41 .42 .43 .45 .47 .49 .51 .52
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region Table 11: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region Table 12: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 13: Count of observations for benefits for LCS by region Table 14: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 15: Policy robustness index across LCS and GSS	.07 104 .13 .14 .17 .33 .34 .41 .41 .42 .43 .45 .47 .49 .51 .52 .53
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for WASH barriers for GSS by region Table 11: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region Table 12: Count of observations for strategies for GSS by region Table 13: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 14: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 15: Policy robustness index across LCS and GSS Table 16: Policy robustness index among LCS	.07 104 .13 .14 .17 .33 .34 .41 .42 .43 .45 .47 .49 .51 .52 .53 .55
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for Strategies for GSS by region Table 11: Count of observations for strategies for GSS by region Table 12: Count of observations for benefits for LCS by region Table 13: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 14: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 15: Policy robustness index across LCS and GSS Table 16: Policy robustness index among LCS Table 17: Policy robustness index among GSS	.07 104 .13 .14 .17 .33 .34 .41 .42 .43 .45 .47 .52 .55 .55
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region Table 11: Count of observations for strategies for GSS by region Table 12: Count of observations for benefits for LCS by region Table 13: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 14: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 15: Policy robustness index across LCS and GSS Table 16: Policy robustness index among LCS Table 17: Policy robustness index among GSS Table 18: Description of outcome variable and input conditions – national policies	.07 104 .13 .14 .17 .33 .41 .41 .42 .43 .45 .47 .51 .52 .55 .56 .58
Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies Table 1: Description of barrier categories Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P Table 4: Classification of policies by country Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies Table 6: Segment coverage in policies Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region Table 10: Count of observations for WASH barriers for GSS by region Table 11: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region Table 12: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 13: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 14: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region Table 15: Policy robustness index across LCS and GSS Table 16: Policy robustness index among LCS Table 17: Policy robustness index among GSS Table 18: Description of outcome variable and input conditions – national policies Table 19: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of LCS in WASH policies	.07 104 .13 .14 .17 .33 .34 .41 .42 .43 .45 .47 .49 .51 .52 .53 .55 .58 cies

Table 20: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of GSS in WASH	
policies	60
Table 21: Conditions that led to the identification and inclusion of LCS in the WASH	
benefits in national policies	61
Table 22: Conditions that led to the inclusion of GSS in the WASH benefits in nationa	I
policies	62
Table 23: P&P by country	63
Table 24: P&P by sector and region	64
Table 25: P&Ps by domain and country	65
Table 26: Type of WASH P&P by agency	65
Table 27: Classification of project P&P by agency and region	66
Table 28: Classification of P&P by agency and sector	66
Table 29: Timeline for WASH programmes and projects	67
Table 30: Achievement of targets by segments	68
Table 31: Coverage of segments in P&P	68
Table 32:Percentage coverage of LCS in WASH P&P	69
Table 33: Percentage coverage of GSS in WASH P&P	69
Table 34: Count of observations for barriers for LCS by region	70
Table 35: Count of observations for barriers for GSS by region	71
Table 36: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region	73
Table 37: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region	
Table 38: Count of observation for benefits for LCS by region	80
Table 39: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region	
Table 40: P&P robustness index across LCS and GSS	86
Table 41: P&P robustness index among LCS	87
Table 42: P&P robustness index among GSS	88
Table 43: Description of outcome variable and input conditions – P&P	88
Table 44: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of LCS in Asian WAS	
P&P	90
Table 45: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of GSS in Asian WAS	оо зн
P&P	90
Table 46: Conditions that lead to the inclusion of LCS in African WASH P&P	91
Table 47: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of GSS in African W_{i}	101 121
	01
Table 48: Conditions that led to the identification and inclusion of LCS in the WASH	
henefits in Asian P&P	92
Table 49: Conditions that led to the inclusion of LCS in the WASH benefits in African	52
	03
Table 50: Conditions that led to the inclusion of GSS in the M/ASH bonofits in Asian E	90 08.D
	01
Table 51: Conditions that led to the inclusion of GSS in the WASH bonofits in African	94
	06
ר מר	90

Abbreviations and acronyms

3ie	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation
ADB	Asian Development Bank
AfDB	African Development Bank
AusAid	Australian Agency for International Development
BoH	Bureau of Health
CEPT	Centre for Environment Planning and Technology University
CIDA	Canadian International Development Agency
CLTS	Community Led Total Sanitation
Danida	Danish International Development Agency
DfID	Department for International Development
EEA	Ethiopian Economic Association
FANSA	Fresh Water Action Network South Asia
GSF	Global Sanitation Fund
GSS	Geographic and Social Segments
HDI	Human Development Index
HIV/AIDS	Human Immunodeficiency Virus/ Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
IITM	Indian Institute of Technology Madras
INGO	International Non-Government Organisations
JMP	Joint Monitoring Programme
LCA	Life Cycle Approach
LCS	Life-Cycle Segments
LMICs	Low and Middle Income Countries
MDG	Millennium Development Goals
MHM	Menstrual Hygiene Management
NGO	Non-Government Organisations
PLHIV	People living with HIV/AIDS
PPP	Public Private Partnership
P&P	Programme(s) and project(s)
SDG	Sustainable Development Goals
SECP	Stakeholder Engagement and Communication Plan
SHARE	Sanitation and Hygiene Applied Research for Equity
SNNPR	Southern Nations Region
UN	United Nations
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNICEF	United Nation's Children's Emergency Fund
USAID	United States Agency for International Development
USD	United States Dollar
WASH	Water, Sanitation and Hygiene
WEDC	Water, Engineering and Development Center
WHO	World Health Organisation
WSP	Water and Sanitation Program
WSSCC	Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council
WSUP	Water and Sanitation for the Urban Poor

1. Introduction

1.1 Global Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) scenario

The WASH triumvirate consisting of access to safe and sufficient drinking water, adequate sanitation and hygiene have implications on several health, social and economic indicators of well-being such as eradicating poverty and hunger, reducing child mortality, improving maternal health, combating infectious diseases, increasing school attendance and ensuring environmental sustainability (Biran et.al., 2012, WHO 2014). The Millennium Declaration adopted by the member countries of the UN General Assembly in 2000 (General Assembly Resolution 55/2), operationalized as the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), aimed to address the inadequacies in water and sanitation through Goal 7 which was *"to reduce the proportion of people without sustainable access to safe drinking water and basic sanitation*" (United Nations, 2015). The use of improved drinking water sources and the use of improved sanitation facilities were used as indicators to monitor the progress of this goal.

From the year 2000, substantial progress has been made in improving access to water and sanitation in several countries. However, the desired outcomes fall short on two fronts. First, there was still a need to improve access to WASH facilities. More than 650 million people, mostly in sub -Saharan Africa, lacked access to safe water and two and half billion people lacked access to adequate sanitation (WHO and UNICEF, 2014: p 4). Of this, 784 million people used a public or shared facility, 732 million used a facility that did not meet minimum hygiene standards and the remaining one billion practiced open defecation (WHO and UNICEF, 2014: p8). Second, the progress on the MDG's was not uniform globally; in some countries or regions there was an improvement in access while in some others the overall effort towards improving access to WASH had declined. For instance, open defecation decreased from 24 per cent to 14 per cent globally with the largest decline in Asia from 65 per cent to 38 per cent. However, countries like Ethiopia have experienced a decline in 'efforts' to reduce open defecation, from 92 per cent to 37 per cent. Cambodia and Nepal have also experienced similar decline (WHO and UNICEF, 2014).

Since there were no indicators or targets for hygiene promotion in the MDGs, the hygiene sector was considered to have been neglected (Biran et al. 2012). Data from GLAAS (WHO 2014) shows that out of 94 countries studied, only eleven countries had hygiene promotion expenditure that could be separated from WASH and health budgets. Out of the eleven countries, only seven countries had expenditure on hygiene that exceeded US\$ 1 million.

Despite the progress made since 2000 and increase in aid commitment for water and sanitation by 30% (US\$ 10.9 billion) from 2010 to 2012, much needs to be done to change the focus from infrastructure provisioning to equitable and sustainable service delivery (WHO 2014). The interpretations presented in various UN reports on the MDG on water and sanitation highlighted the lack of attention to addressing inequalities across regions as the main cause for disparities in achieving the MDG targets (WHO and UNICEF, 2014; WSSCC and WHO, 2005; WHO and UNICEF, 2013; WHO and UNICEF, 2015). The WHO/UNICEF Joint Monitoring Programme (JMP) working group on Equity and Non-discrimination stated that, *"although there have been important gains for many*

around the world during the MDG period, these gains have eluded the marginalised including the poorest of the poor" (Satterthwaite and Winkler 2012). Notwithstanding the progress in terms of targets and improvements in access to WASH, the poor continued to be marginalised based on several factors such as age, gender, ethnicity, physical limitations, regional disparities and so on. It was also interesting to note that amongst the three WASH subsectors, sanitation and hygiene efforts were lagging behind due to the low priority accorded to the needs of the disabled, adolescent girls and women, children and the elderly (WHO and UNICEF, 2015).

Such observations led us to the question: why do such inequalities in accessing WASH facilities persist and what can be done to overcome these in order to achieve universal access? The JMP background note on MDGs, Non-discrimination and Indicators in Water and Sanitation, admitted that although the JMP had quantitative data that pointed to socio-economic segments of population that experience obstacles in accessing WASH facilities, global monitoring had not paid sufficient attention to the differences within societies which hindered access, such as race, gender, ethnicity or disability (Satterthwaite, 2012). The report further added that,

"axes of difference such as race, ethnicity, religion, and gender, are often avenues of discrimination and understanding them better could help reveal the dynamics leading to differential outcomes in access to water and sanitation within and across countries (Satterthwaite, 2012)".

The post-2015 Sustainable Development Goals also emphasised a fundamental change in the approach towards achieving universal access where the indicators must be designed to measure discrimination and inequalities across populations (WaterAid, 2015a, Satterthwaite, 2012). A pre-requisite to promote universal access to water and sanitation and address the present deficits was to gather and analyse existing data surrounding dimensions like inequality, discrimination and inclusion and their relationship to WASH indicators across the world (Satterthwaite, 2012).

While the MDGs aspired for universal access to WASH, ground realities showed that universal access depends on multiple factors such as availability of WASH facility, user experience, maintenance of infrastructure, social and cultural norms such as gender and ethnicity, and so on (WaterAid and EEA, 2011).

Policy makers, researchers and communities are faced with this daunting challenge of providing universal access to WASH in Low and Middle Income Countries (LMICs) with very little evidence on how the difference between different population segments can be addressed in WASH projects (Satterthwaite, 2012).With the Sustainable Development Goals 2030 expanding the horizons of the MDG agenda, an urgent need is felt to understand (i) the extent to which WASH policies and programmes are geared towards promoting universal access and (ii) if these initiatives have considered the needs of different segments of population during initiation, design, implementation and maintenance of WASH programmes. Such an exercise would aid in decision making related to the avenues of investment and the strategic prioritization of certain groups to improve universal access to WASH facilities.

1.2 Life-cycle Approach (LCA) and WASH interventions

Following the MDGs, several policies and programmes across developing countries have imbibed the goals of achieving universal access. However, initiatives focused on universal access may or may not be conscious of the differences in the needs across population segments, often following one-size-fits all approach. For example, Uganda's Joint Water and Environment Sector Programme – 2013 or Madagascar's Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene Bilateral Project: Ranon'ala - 2010, are designed to target either rural or urban segments as a whole. However, both urban and rural areas are composite constructs that are made up of children, adolescents, women, men and disabled and so on. The needs of these different segments are seldom presented in a policy or programme targeting universal access as is shown by the findings of this study.

One of the approaches to addressing the way different populations' access WASH facilities and the socio-cultural barriers to access is by adopting a "human life-cycle approach". Human life- cycle approach or life-course approach (LCA) has been successfully used in several disciplines such as health, social work, psychiatry, adolescent and child behaviour, violence and criminology to understand the challenges and disabilities faced by people across their life-span in achieving their desired goals (Hutchinson, 2001).

Espoused by the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council (WSSCC), the human life-cycle approach believes that "all humans experience different phases in their own lifecycle, from infancy, through puberty, parenthood, illness and old age. The sanitation and hygiene needs for everyone, at all times, need to be considered if programmes and policies are to be equitable for all". The LCA is considered to be a useful tool to identify the social, economic and environmental factors underlying persistent inequalities such as lack of privacy, distance to facility, affordability, ethnic differences, safety and inadequate access for the disabled (U.S. Department of Health, 2010; Satterthwaite, 2012). The adoption of LCA in WASH policies and programmes can also help address the challenges of inequity and exclusion. Policies and programmes designed using the LCA may help reduce discrimination and promote the delivery of sustainable, adequate and equitable WASH services.

Recent report by Fresh Water Action Network South Asia (FANSA) and WSSCC (2015) highlighted the relative absence of LCA in WASH. For instance, the lack of participation from women and girls in the decision making processes related to the design, location, finance and maintenance of WASH was a finding that causes concern as women and girls are de-facto water and sanitation mangers at household and community levels. Such concerns were exacerbated with further nuances in the life-cycle segments like age, illness, disability and/or sexual orientations. Often the "special needs" of various groups were overlooked by the practitioners and service providers who worked on provision of such services to perceived majority segments of the population (FANSA and WSSCC, 2015). Few of the difficulties faced by some of the life-cycle segments in accessing WASH facilities as well as the consequences of inadequate WASH have been described below:

1.2.1 Children

According to UNICEF (2006), unsafe water, poor sanitation and unhygienic practices impact millions of children in developing countries. Such non-provision results in unhealthy conditions leading to various diseases like diarrhoea which is the main threat to children worldwide. Such diseases either prove fatal to children or have permanent significant impact on the physical and mental health of children in developing countries. Illnesses due to water-borne diseases also impacts attendance of children in schools as well as their performance.

1.2.2 Adolescent girls and women

WASH facilities (in schools, home and workplaces) or the lack of them significantly impact women and adolescent girls. The lack of separate and decent sanitation and washing facilities in schools discourages girls from attending school full time and increases drop outs. Hence, a distant water source would translate to much greater effort in terms of time spent in bringing water to the household which can further lead to drop-outs from schooling. A rural water supply and sanitation project funded by the World Bank in Morocco between 1997 and 2001, found that reducing the time spent by girls in fetching water improved their school attendance by 20 per cent (World Bank, 2003).

Non-provision of sanitation facilities particularly impact women and adolescent girls in a significant way. Apart from the physical dangers like snake/insect bites, open defecation instills fear of physical and sexual assault in these segments (Kulkarni et.al., 2013). This is further compounded by the humiliation of being watched. Such problems are further exacerbated with the special needs for such population segments during menstruation, pregnancy and post-delivery periods.

Sahoo et al. (2015) studied the psychological, social and health stresses faced by reproductive women in accessing sanitation facilities across their life course in three different geographical settings (urban slum, rural village and tribal village) in Odisha, India. By interviewing women in four life stages – adolescent, newly married, pregnant and established adult women, they found that sanitation practices not only include defecation but also include carrying water, bathing, menstrual management and changing clothes. During these processes, women face various social, sexual and environmental stresses which affected them in different ways depending on their life stage. The newly married women were found to be the most vulnerable as they lived highly regulated lives with strict societal rules making it difficult to manage sanitation related activities with privacy and dignity. The geographical setting also influenced the type of stresses experienced by women with social stresses being highly salient in rural areas contrasted with increased sexual and environmental stresses in urban areas.

1.2.3 Disabled and the elderly

The aged segment of population faces different challenges with access to WASH facilities. Such challenges often related to assistance not only in accessing but also in the use of the facility. A study in Rajasthan, India, illustrated how often distances travelled by elderly persons to defecate in private can be up to 2kms from their houses. This could take up to two to three hours in a day. In addition to the physical stress of travelling this distance, this activity reduces the time spent on income earning activities. This often resulted in people defecating inside their own house to the embarrassment of other family members (Jones, 2013). The FANSA and WSSCC (2015) conclude that the

access to WASH facilities for the elderly across eight countries included in their study as inappropriate, inadequate and inaccessible. The report also highlights the special needs of the elderly and the disabled in seeking help of their family members for bathing and sanitation hygiene. The inaccessibility of WASH facilities even within the households compounds the problems faced by the elderly and the disabled.

Disabled persons face similar problems to the extent that they need assistance to defecate. According to Collender et. al (2011), specific barriers faced by disabled can be categorized as "institutional (such as a lack of information from authorities and exclusion from consultative procedures), environmental (such as steps and narrow doors) and attitudinal (such as prejudicial attitudes from the community and service providers)." Lack of access to WASH facilities can lead to serious health related consequences in disabled segments. It should be noted that such segments are generally poorer on one hand and require additional WASH services to maintain dignity and hygiene on the other. However, they are less likely to receive medical care because of the associated stigma and prejudice (Collender et al., 2011).

Erhard et al., (2013) examines the impact of school WASH facilities on access to education for disabled children in low income areas in Uganda and Malawi. They find that children with disabilities have to be assisted by teachers or classmates in accessing WASH facilities as these were not designed to cater to their needs, often forcing them to crawl across unclean floors to access drinking water and sanitation facilities. Lack of maintenance and unsanitary conditions to access WASH facilities results in severe health impacts such as diarrhea from exposure to pathogens and dehydration (by waiting for assistance to access facilities) ultimately discouraging disabled children from attending school.

1.2.4 Groups marginalised based on social inequalities

Caste, ethnicity and spatial inequities also hinder access to WASH facilities. Water is often used as a weapon for social suppression (Khurana and Mahapatra, 2008). In India, there have been several incidents of caste based discrimination and violence over the sharing of drinking water. Often, the so called upper caste prevents the lower caste from drawing water from common standpipes. The distribution of resources is also unequal. In a WaterAid report by Khurana and Mahapatra (2008) in Bundelkhand region of central India, the authors witnessed 35 lower caste households sharing one tube well while 50 upper caste households shared 15 tube wells. Similarly in Nepal, access to resources is distributed unevenly between religious groups. While 37% of the majority Hindu population practiced open defecation, 70% of the Muslim population practiced open defecation.

In addition to some of the vulnerable groups described above, men and adolescent boys also constitute life-cycle segments that were included in this study. While women, children and girls face the water and sanitation burden as well as dangers of sexual harassment, men are often the decision-makers in the construction and use of WASH infrastructure. Additionally, in situations where the toilets lack maintenance, men and boys prefer to urinate or defecate in the open, thereby contributing to the poor sanitation and hygiene of the community as a whole. Therefore these two groups become important life-cycle segments from a gender as well as universal access perspective. However, in order to limit the boundaries of this study to manageable proportions, very specific and nuanced vulnerable segments such as lesbians, gays, bi-sexuals, widows, pre-menopausal women, and sex workers have not been included in this review.

1.3 Brief description of WASH sectors

WASH covers three main sub-sectors – Water, Sanitation and Hygiene. It should be noted that there are a number of dependencies and overlaps in the provision of facilities to each of these sub-sectors. This section lays down a brief definition of interventions in each of these sub-sectors as considered by the present study. Detailed definitions and descriptions of these sub-sectors are further discussed in section 3.1.2.

Water: Interventions that are targeted at improving access to both drinking water as well as water for personal hygiene and sanitation. These interventions may be aimed at improving access either for a specific target population or commit to universal access.

Sanitation: Interventions that aims to improve access to sanitation. Such interventions may include provision of toilets, piped sewers, septic tanks, and pit latrines and/or the collection and disposal of human excreta.

Hygiene: This sub-sector comprises of interventions that are aimed at hand washing with soap and menstrual hygiene management (MHM) which have been identified as a "priority for improving health, welfare and dignity of women and girls" (UNICEF and WHO 2015). Hygiene sub-sector also includes handling and storage of drinking water, disposal of fecal and menstrual waste.

WASH interventions include a combination of sub-sectors such as water and sanitation or sanitation and hygiene and can cover a wide range of activities such as construction of water pipelines and sanitation blocks, capacity building programmes, behavior change campaigns and hygiene promotion programmes in schools and so on.

1.4 Rationale and importance of this review



Figure 1: Conceptual framework for the review

Goals of universal access to WASH have not been realized in several developing countries, with many still lacking access to safe water, improved sanitation and hygiene (UNICEF and WHO, 2015). Several factors contribute to this inadequate access to WASH such as the implementation mechanisms, economic and political context, implementation capacity and so on that may, to a greater or lesser extent, influence the access to WASH. For instance the very existence of a WASH policy or guideline, agencies with institutional capacity, extent of community participation, involvement of stakeholders all play an important role in WASH implementation. The overall socioeconomic status of countries and the commitments made towards attaining the MDGs also exert influence in providing WASH access. An important factor that can help in the cause of improving access is the clear identification of different population segments, the barriers that these segments face in accessing WASH services, identifying strategies that can help in overcoming these barriers, and categorizing the type of benefit to the population segment. The objective of this review is to understand the extent of prevalence of the above pathway in the WASH policies and Projects and Programmes (P&P) during the MDG period. Figure 1 depicts the conceptual framework for this review as well as describes the various components used in the analysis.

In this review, provision of WASH encompassed WASH policies formulated by various governments as well as WASH P&Ps implemented by governments, bi-lateral and multilateral agencies as well as international aid agencies. The main data sources in order to understand the beneficiary segments that have received the most and least attention and if they take a life-cycle approach in service delivery were WASH policies and programmes. The target beneficiary segments were categorized into two broad categories: (i) Life-Cycle Segments (LCS) that were identified by age, gender, and disabilities and so on and (ii) Geographical and Social Segments (GSS) that comprise regional, social and income classifications such as rural, urban, poor, caste and ethnically marginalized groups and so on. WASH policies and P&Ps largely identified segments that could be grouped into either one or both of these categories.

However, merely identifying the population segments did not lend much value in furthering our understanding of the research question. Therefore, this review also considers the various barriers faced by each of these segments, the strategies used to overcome the barriers, and the resultant benefits derived by different population segments. For the purpose of analysis, the barriers, strategies, and benefits were classified in to different categories for a better understanding of the underlying trends. The presence or absence of each of barriers, strategies, and benefits were used to create a robustness index of WASH policies and P&Ps. It was assumed that more robust a policy or P&P, more effective it would be in achieving the outcome. It was also hypothesized in this study that by understanding the barriers and discrimination faced by different population segments, WASH services would become more nuanced and sustainable. This is because the needs and obstacles faced by human beings in accessing WASH services vary at different stages. For instance, children are constrained by accessibility of WASH facilities as they require smaller toilet pans or water taps at a lower height. Barriers for women and adolescent girls include the lack of privacy or safety to meet their hygiene needs which are very different from those of men or adolescent boys. On the other hand, these requirements are different from those of the disabled or senior citizens who require ramps and hand railings.

Findings from this study also showed that WASH barriers are varied across population segments and therefore a "one-size-fits all" approach or "universal access" may not succeed in addressing all these barriers. However, it should be noted that the extent of life-cycle coverage is not straightforward in WASH interventions. By examining the WASH interventions using the life-cycle lens, this study contributes evidences on factors that led to greater presence of life-cycle segments and the extent of percolation of LCS in WASH interventions. The hypothesis is that increased adoption of LCS would help in furthering the cause of improving access to WASH services. Insights from this review could also be useful to policy makers in improving policies, strategies, plans, P&Ps during the Sustainable Development Goals 2030. With the universality of the SDG targets, this review is of relevance for reaching the most marginalized and hard to reach. Although there are several systematic reviews measuring the impact of WASH on health outcomes, maternal and child care, education and drop-outs in school and so on (Waddington et.al, 2009; Guiteras et al, 2015; DFID 2011; DFID, 2012; and Hulland et al, 2015), this review is the first of its kind to employ the LCA lens to systematically review the WASH portfolio.

1.5 Structure of the report

This report is organized in five chapters. This section presented an introduction to the WASH scenario within the context of the MDGs as well as the rationale for use of a life-cycle approach in WASH. Details of the remaining chapters are as follows:

CHAPTER 2: details the main objectives of the review with brief descriptions explaining each research question.

CHAPTER 3: pertains to the methods used. This chapter provides the descriptions of the key concepts, the inclusion and exclusion criteria used, sourcing and search strategy employed, data extraction and management and the methods used for data analysis. *CHAPTER 4*: provides the results of the in-depth review of the documents identified in chapter 3. By doing so, this section seeks to answer the research questions set out in Chapter 2.

CHAPTER 5: concludes the report and summarises the implications as well as the limitations of this review.

2. Objectives of the review

The objective of the systematic review was to gather evidence on the question, "To what extent have the Water, Sanitation and Hygiene sub-sectors incorporated the life-cycle approach into policy, programmes and projects during the MDG period?" The above objective was operationalised through the following research questions:

• Which segments of the population have been addressed in WASH initiatives during the MDG period? Did it vary between sectors, regions, policy domain and implementing agency?

This question referred to the coverage of different population segments in National/State WASH policies and P&P during the MDG period. It also attempted to understand if the coverage of population segments differed within the three WASH sectors, Asian and African region and among the implementing agency.

- Have the barriers been identified for each of the segments in policies, P&P? What were the common barriers described? Did it vary between sectors and regions? The above question pertained to the different barriers faced by population segments in accessing WASH services or facilities. The scope of WASH policies and P&P in identifying the common barriers faced by both LCS and GSS were analysed by sector and region.
- Have the strategies been identified for each of the segments in policies and P&P? What were the common strategies proposed? Did it vary between sectors and regions?

The different WASH policy and P&P strategies proposed for population segments were identified through this question and the common strategies were analyzed to capture the variations between sectors regions.

• Have the WASH benefits been identified for each of the segments in policies, P&P? What were the common WASH benefits suggested? Did it vary between sectors and regions?

This question aimed to describe the WASH benefits proposed in WASH policies and P&P for population segments and how it varied sector and region wise.

• What was the extent of robustness between barriers, strategies and WASH benefits for each population segment mentioned within policies and P&P? Did it vary between sectors and regions?

This question on robustness provided an in-depth perspective on the extent to which barriers, strategies and WASH benefits were proposed for population segments.

- What conditions lead to the inclusion of population segments in WASH policies and P&P? Does it vary between sectors and regions?
 The above question analysed whether external indicators such as Human Development Index (HDI) and achievement of MDG targets were correlated with the inclusion of population segments in different WASH policies and P&P.
- What conditions lead to the inclusion of population segments in WASH benefits in policies and P&P? Does it vary between sectors and regions?
 This question tried to understand the whether there is any association between different factors seen in policy and P&P documents vis a vis the identification of population segments in WASH benefits.

3. Methods

Overview: In this chapter, we provide the descriptions of the following: definitions, criteria used for selecting the documents, sourcing and search strategy employed, data extraction and management and analysis methods. This systematic review is a review of policies, and P&P in the WASH sector. Given the nature of this systematic review we have used descriptive analysis and Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA) to present our findings. However, since this is a systematic review the entire process of study identification, data extraction and management were clearly documented.

3.1 Definitions

3.1.1 Sectors considered for the review

a. Water: The definition of water according to the human right to water "entitles everyone to sufficient, safe, acceptable, physically accessible and affordable water for personal and domestic use (Albuquerque, 2014b)". Interventions that were of interest to this review are those that targeted at improving access to drinking water and water for personal hygiene and sanitation. These included policies, P&P in LMICs that aim to improve access to water for a specific target population or commit to universal access. Water for domestic use excludes small scale agriculture, home-based animal rearing and so on. Water supply augmentation programmes or water improvement programmes that aimed to remove contamination in water such as arsenic mitigation programme or fluorosis prevention programme were also excluded.

b. Sanitation: The human right to sanitation has also been adapted from Albuquerque (2014b) as, "a system for collection, transportation, treatment and disposal or reuse of human excreta, and associated hygiene. The human right to sanitation entitles everyone to sanitation services that provides privacy and ensures dignity and that are physically accessible, affordable, safe, hygienic, secure, and socially and culturally acceptable". Sanitation interventions included those policies, P&P that aim to improve the access to sanitation which may include provision of toilets, piped sewers, septic tanks, and pit latrines and also the collection and disposal of human excreta.

c. Hygiene: WHO defines hygiene as conditions and practices that help maintain health and prevent the spread of diseases (WHO 2016) and in reference to WASH, good hygiene plays a key role in realising the full benefits of water and sanitation services. Hand washing with soap and menstrual hygiene management has been identified as the top priority areas in hygiene (UNICEF and WHO, 2015) and the scope of this review was

restricted to these interventions. Hygienic handling and storage of drinking water as well as disposal of faecal and menstrual waste were included in the review and interventions pertaining to food hygiene were excluded.

3.1.2 Target Population

The population groups were identified based on the different stages of the human lifecycle. Age, gender, physical disabilities and marginalisation were the primary markers used to draw the boundaries of the human life-cycle. Age included childhood, adolescence, adults and senior citizens (aged). Gender included women, men and transgender whereas the vulnerable and marginalized include the disabled and people living with HIV/AIDS (PLHIV). Disabled included beneficiaries who have any form of physical or mental disability. These groups of population segments were classified as life-cycle segments (LCS).

Population groups were also classified further by caste, ethnicity, income, and occupation which are all grounds for marginalization and discrimination. The geographical context i.e., urban and rural areas and income i.e., poor and low income were also included in order to understand spatial and income based discrepancies in accessing WASH facilities. These groups of population segments were identified as geographic and social segments (GSS).

Combinations of the life-cycle segment and geographical context have also been included in the policy and P&P dataset. For example, rural children, women, men and the poor and urban children, women, men and poor are some of the combination segments that were identified. These segments were also included in the LCS. Although there are several sub-groups of population, only those vulnerable and marginalized groups described above were included in this review. Wherever available, details regarding the intended or targeted population segments and the actual beneficiary segments were also captured.

3.1.3 Types of documents

Evidence for this review was obtained from two types of documents – (i) policy documents and (ii) P&P documents. It was observed during our pilot search that governments and various agencies use the terms 'project' and 'programmes' fairly interchangeably to describe their sector based activities at the National, State and District and/or village level. For example, the Maharashtra Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme funded by ADB and the Kerala Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project funded by World Bank, though similar in its scope and objective, one is termed as a project document and the other as a programme document. In an effort to overcome this ambiguity, the following description of a policy document, programme document and project document was developed for use in this review.

Policy Document: A policy is a broad and comprehensive concept document on a specific sector that outlines the vision, goals, target groups, strategies and intentions of the government, for the development of a sector. An example of a policy document is the National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy of the Ministry of Health, Government of Ethiopia (2015). Policy documents were in the nature of goal setting - provided clear objectives and roadmap to implementation of P&P. Policy documents also refer to international standards or convention, for example, the Millennium Development Goals

and Sustainable Development Goals. Policy documents include policy notes, strategies, and mission and plan documents.

Programme Document: A programme document is an assemblage of projects or activities in line with a public policy. Programmes may be delivered by governments, multilateral/bi-lateral agencies, international non-government organisations and local NGOs. Programme document comprises of the broad objectives and the action plan of the programme including target beneficiaries, budget and implementation strategy. It also includes a wide range of departments and ministries working together for planning and implementing the programme. The life span of a programme is usually for a longer period of time at the end of which the intended outcomes are achieved. A distinct feature of a programme is the geographical coverage and is commonly designed at the National or State level. Examples of programme documents include the Nepal Water Supply and Sanitation in Small Towns Programme, (2000), funded by ADB or the National Rural Drinking Water Programme of the Ministry of Drinking Water and Sanitation, Government of India, 2013 (Ministry of Drinking Water and Sanitation, 2013).

Project Document: A project is a fundamental unit of a programme and is limited in scope and time. It works under clear deadlines and often targets a particular beneficiary group or a sector in a well-defined geographical area, for example, the Water Supply and Sanitation in Small Towns Programme, Nepal, funded by ADB encompasses several projects such as the First Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Project (ADB 2000), Second Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Project, and so on (ADB 2009).

WASH programme and project evaluation documents of governments, multilaterals/bilaterals, and INGOs were also included in the review as they provided insights into programme implementation.

3.1.4 Description of Barriers

The difficulties faced by the users in accessing WASH facilities faced by the different population groups were termed as barriers. The policy and P&P documents included for the study were multifarious and not all documents detailed the barriers faced by the population segments. While some documents had a clear description of the barriers faced by specific segments in accessing WASH services and facilities, few others provided very sketchy descriptions. Nevertheless, the data captured formed a strong point of inquiry for the descriptive analysis.

Considering the textual data collected, it was imperative that a systematic approach was followed to identify and classify the barriers. The first step involved the compilation of barriers as described in the document by population group and sector. If the barriers identified were applicable for more than population group or sector, then it was accounted for in each of the population group and sector. For example, the following description – "*Inadequate water supply, sanitation and hygiene results in high incidence of water and sanitation related diseases which increased morbidity and pose a threat to the survival*" was included and coded for all the sectors - water, sanitation and hygiene. The same was followed when a description spelt out a barrier that was relevant to two or more population segments.

To facilitate analysis, the barriers were grouped under seven categories. These categories are described in Table 1.

SI. No	Barriers	Description
1	Adequacy	It refers to insufficient or lack of adequate WASH services and facilities
	barrier	available to the use of different population segments. For example,
		"Girls are often forced to miss school or even drop out of schools due
		to the lack of sanitation facilities in schools"
2	Attitudinal	It pertains to lack of knowledge or awareness on the availability of
	barrier	WASH services and facilities thus, resulting in poor sanitation and
		nyglene practices such as open defecation. For example, "Benefits of
		good and adequate samilation are not directly perceivable by most
		In addition, the presence of traditional and social taboos also prevents
		a particular target group to avail WASH services or participate in
		decision-making. For example, "Although people have access to
		toilets, usage is poor due to the lack of behaviour change".
3	Demand side	It refers to the limited demand and use of WASH services by the
	barrier	people even though WASH services are available. Moreover, people
		cannot afford or are unwilling to pay for WASH services and
		infrastructure considering their poor economic situation. For example,
		"Low population density and nomadic life style of communities of
		pastoral lands create little demand for environmental sanitation
4	En in an tal	Tacilities"
4	Environmental	It includes the limitations to access WASH services and facilities based
	Damei	"Momen can't earn an income due to unavailability of water in a simple.
		women can can an income due to unavailability of water in a simple way as they have to spend several hours a day to fetch water faraway"
5	Inclusion	When the preferences and needs of different users for affordability.
	barrier	socio-cultural aspects are not considered, it is termed as inclusion
		barrier. For example, "Little regard for demands and preferences of
		households as customers of sanitation services"
6	Physical	It refers mainly to the design of WASH facilities, services or technology
	barrier	that may be ill-suited to the social-cultural context. Facilities may be
		available close by yet inaccessible to the user. This would be
		considered as a physical barrier. Therefore, physical barrier includes
		the physical structure/design of the WASH facility that is inaccessible
		or unsale for the user. For example, two design reatures for
7	Policy &	The lack of political will and hudgetary priority where governments give
'	institutional	very little or no attention to WASH issues is termed as policy or
	barrier	institutional barriers. This results in a weak WASH policy with no
		specific consideration to the needs and preferences of population
		segments. For example, "Lack of specific guidelines resulted in not
		reaching poorest of poor"
		reaching poorest of poor"

Table 1: Description of barrier categories

3.1.5 Description of strategies

Strategies refer to the plan of action described in policy documents to address the WASH problems faced by different population groups. For example, a strategy proposed for the poor and marginalized included, "*Poor and marginalized will be mainstreamed as valid customers for service delivery through defining pro-poor strategies for connections and use of services*". Few examples of strategies include, 'conducting hand washing sessions before mid-day meals in school to deliver messages on hygiene, sanitation and drinking water safety' and 'provision of institutional support to local governments'.

Similar to barriers, strategies specified in the policy and P&P documents were extracted into the coding tool subsequent to which they were grouped into dominant themes. P&P documents contained a wider range of strategies than policy documents. A total of 10 strategy categories were identified for polices and 12 for P&P. Some of these categories were common for both policies and P&P like project management, IEC, beneficiary participation, and so on. On the other hand, a few that were exclusively identified for P&P included institutional strengthening and capacity building, skill development for communities, and sanitation marketing. Table 2 provides a description of the different strategy categories.

S. No.	Strategy	Policies P&P				
1	Beneficiary participation	Beneficiary participation refers to involvement of end users as beneficiaries in planning, implementation and maintenance of WASH services and facilities. It includes consultations/participation of beneficiaries in the planning and construction of WASH facilities. This strategy also involves beneficiary contribution to P&P costs. For example, " <i>involvement of beneficiaries and other stakeholders in</i> <i>planning and implementation of the project</i> ".				
2	Decentralisation of service	This strategy refers to a decentralised approach to service delivery which aims at increasing power and responsibilities at the lowest level				
		It includes creation of new structures such as user groups or village associations to plan, implement and maintain WASH facilities. For example, "creation of village level committees for O&M of WASH facilities."	It includes the use of existing decentralised structures, creation of new structures such as formation of user groups or village associations to plan, implement and maintain WASH facilities, creation of a local fund for WASH and participation of beneficiaries in local village/WASH committees. For example, "formation of village water and sanitation committees".			
3	Demand management	This strategy refers to activities that encourage communities to adopt and sustain hygienic WASH practices. It includes activities such as promotion of WASH designs and technology to create/increase demand and provision of incentives in the form of awards and accolades for best practices. It also includes sanitation marketing. For example, " promote locally available substitutes instead of soap when availability is an issue."	-			
4	Equity in WASH service provision	This strategy consists of activities the provision of WASH services, decising Safeguarding the WASH needs of we facing caste based discrimination, if by occupation, elderly and the disal involvement of vulnerable population committees are included in this cast equal access to potable water by po- vouth, elderly, disabled."	es that ensure equal access to all in cision making and coverage. of vulnerable population (i.e. population on, indigenous tribes, those vulnerable lisabled), gender mainstreaming and lation in existing WASH/ local level category. For example, "promotion of by poor women headed households,			

Table 2: Strategy categories for Policies and P&P

S. No.	Strategy	Policies	P&P
5	Improving demand	-	This strategy refers to activities that encourage communities to adopt and sustain hygienic WASH practices. It includes activities such as encouraging households to use their own resources to build WASH facilities and provision of incentives in the form of awards and accolades for best practices. Adopting a demand-responsive approach and use of CLTS or similar approaches were also categorised under demand management. For example, "CLTS and demand led approach implemented focussing on collective behaviour change".
6	Information, education and communication (IEC)	IEC for policy documents refers to activities intended to improve and enhance communities' attitude, practice and behaviour regarding WASH such as sensitization campaigns and setting up of WASH clubs. IEC also includes training of users to maintain WASH facilities, training of community members to conduct WASH campaigns and in O&M, skill development of local artisans, building institutional capacity and inclusion of WASH in school curriculum. For example, "capacity building of Union Parishad and ward level WATSAN committees to increase awareness about the importance of safe water."	This strategy includes programmes/ project activities that are intended to improve and enhance communities' attitude, practice and behaviour regarding WASH such as sensitization campaigns and setting up of WASH clubs. IEC also includes training of users to maintain WASH facilities, training of members of the community to conduct WASH campaigns, construction of demonstration WASH facilities and inclusion of WASH in school curriculum. For example, "hygiene messages to be integrated into textbook curriculum and supplementary reading material, morning assembly".
7	Institutional strengthening and capacity building		This strategy refers to mechanisms to improve efficiency of institutions and strengthen institutional practices. It includes activities such as introduction of metering and reduction of unaccounted for water (UFW) to improve efficiency. Capacity building of institutions through training programmes for staff is also included in the component. For example, "providing institutional support to local utilities".
8	Legal and regulatory framework	Activities that develop or establish environment or sanitation laws/by laws and enforce legislation to ensure complete WASH practices are included under this strategy. It also ensures compliance to existing WASH policies, strategies and legal instruments. For example, "create legislation	-

S. No.	Strategy	Policies P&P			
		that allows citizens to have			
		access to water based on rules."			
9	Project management	It refers to activities that pertain to planning and implementation of WASH interventions at the institutional level and operation and maintenance (O&M) at the project level. It includes conducting monthly meetings for the staff, research and development and strengthening of institutional set-ups and mechanisms that provide WASH services. For example, <i>"settingup of new institutions of water supply and sewerage services."</i>	It consists of those activities which aid in service delivery and in meeting project requirements efficiently. This component includes creation of new agencies, policies and frameworks and development of legal provisions such as environmental or WASH laws/by laws. It also includes activities related to operation and maintenance at the institutional or government level and provision of financial support to governments and institutions for WASH. For example, "preparing and introducing WASH O&M		
10	Provision of financial incentives	Tramework". This strategy includes provisi any kind of financial incentive such as subsidies and loans community for construction at maintenance of WASH faciliti Subsidies can be in the form cash or materials for construct Concessions on water tariff ra and encouraging communitie pay for WASH services by providing incentives are inclu this component. For example "provision of micro finance for communities to construct or upgrade their latrines."			
44	Drevision of	This strate my refers to the provision			
12	Provision of WASH facilities	of subsidies (cash or kind), loans and so on to weaker sections of the community for construction of WASH facilities. It also comprises of activities such as provision of concessions on water tariff and encouraging communities to pay for WASH services by providing incentives. For example, "subsidies (cost) for poor, interest free or low interest micro credit facilities." Policies and P&P activities which re WASH services/infrastructure were	efer to construction or renovation of		
		includes a) provision of new water supply, sanitation and hygiene facilities and services and b) rehabilitation, repair and up-gradation of existing WASH facilities and services. For example, "construction and rehabilitation of piped water systems, institutional lattings"			
13	Sanitation		Sanitation marketing identifies		
	marketing	beneficiaries as customers and focuses on the development of markets for low cost sanitation			

S. No.	Strategy	Policies	P&P					
		services and products. It includes						
		provision of necessary hardware						
		for construction and maintenance						
		of WASH facilities and provision of						
		after sales services by setting up						
		shops. For example,						
		"establishment of sanitation marts						
			and linking entrepreneurs to					
			manufacture sanitation products."					
14	Skill		Skill development of communities					
	development for		encompasses strategies which					
	communities	target training of community						
		- members to construct, repair and						
		replace WASH facilities. For						
		example, "training masons to						
			construct low cost latrines".					
15	Stakeholder	Stakeholder participation consists of	activities which describe inclusion of					
	participation	stakeholders (other than beneficiaries) such as NGOs, CBOs and private						
		sector. The involvement of stakeholders could be in improving WASH						
		service delivery, build and manage V	VASH facilities and promote WASH					
		technologies. It also includes promot	ting Public Private Partnerships					
		(PPPs) to promote WASH facilities a	ind services and involvement of					
		private sector in planning, operation	and maintenance (O&M). For					
		example, "encouraging private secto	or to contribute through CSR					
		activities."						

3.1.6 Description of Benefits

WASH benefits referred to qualitative indicators that lead to improvement in access such as availability, physical accessibility, affordability and quality & safety. An example that best describes the relationship between LCA segment and WASH benefits is a WASH project that provides sanitation and hygiene facilities for adolescent girls in schools which leads to the improvement of safety, availability, and physical accessibility. Definitions of these accessibility indicators have been adapted from the UN Handbook on Realising the Human Rights to Water and Sanitation by UN Special rapporteur (Albuquerque, 2014a). Table 3 provides a description of the different accessibility indicators.

Table		
S. No.	Benefit	Description for policies, P&P
1	Availability	Availability of WASH facilities, for current and future use, in sufficient quantity and continuity not only at households but also in public places (e.g. schools, health care centers) where people spend significant amounts of time. For example, " <i>Public toilets to be constructed in low income areas</i> ."
2	Physical Accessibility	It denoted the location and design of the WASH infrastructure in such a way that it is genuinely accessible and acceptable, with consideration given to people who face physical barriers, such as children, older persons, persons with disabilities and chronically ill people and those who face cultural barriers such as women and specific ethnic or caste groups. Physical accessibility is measured in terms of design of the facility i.e., should be physically accessible to all users and must be culturally appropriate/ sensitive to gender, lifecycle and privacy requirements. Physically accessibility also includes the effort and time taken to access the WASH facility which must also be easily reachable via safe paths and well lit at night. For example, "separate toilets for boys and girls with child friendly, well-lit, disabled friendly toilets."

Table 3: Benefits for policies, P&P

3	Affordability	WASH facilities must be affordable for all and the price paid for these services must not limit people's capacity to buy other basic goods and services, including food, housing, health and education, guaranteed by other human rights. In this review, affordability was measured in terms of WASH costs. For example, "providing microfinance for construction of latrines, sanitation and hygiene facilities."
4	Quality and Safety	Water must be free of microbial contamination and of a quality that is of an acceptable colour, odour and taste for human consumption (drinking) and for personal hygiene. Sanitation facilities must be safe to use and must effectively prevent human contact with human excreta to protect the health of users. Toilets must be regularly cleaned and facilities should provide dustbins for the safe disposal of menstrual waste. For example, "people in water stressed areas to have access to safe drinking water sources."

While the policies or P&P documents themselves did not provide the information in clear compartments as barriers, strategies and benefits, the research team developed comprehensive classifications using the data set and existing literature as a guide.

3.1.7. Robustness in policies and P&P

We created a Robustness Index to measure the comprehensiveness of WASH policy and P&P documents. Specifically, it indicates the explicit identification or absence of three indicators namely, barriers, strategies and benefits within these documents. The policies and P&P reviewed commonly encompassed three indicators, barriers faced by different populations in accessing WASH services or facilities, strategies proposed or identified to overcome the barriers, and subsequent WASH benefits that the beneficiaries were intended to gain. We hypothesized that when all the three indicators are mentioned for a population segment it provided a wider perspective of the population segments' status in the WASH sector thus resulting in better WASH service delivery.

A systematic approach was followed to calculate the robustness index. First, the WASH policies and P&P were reviewed and coded based on the presence or absence of an indicator. The presence of each indicator was coded as 'Y' and its absence as 'N'. Next, the individual codes were combined to form a three-stringed alphabetical code for each of the documents. Such codes were developed by sector, by segment and by region. In total, eight different combination codes were developed for each sector, segment, and region. Lastly, these eight codes were ranked on an eight point scale where '1' denoted the absence of all three indicators and '8' denoted the presence of all three indicators.

The other six codes were ranked based on the presence or absence of barriers as presented in Figure 2. Identification of barriers was given a higher weightage because a clear understanding of barriers to access WASH services and facilities often results in effective service delivery. For example, the scores '7' and '6' denoted the presence of barriers and strategies or benefits. The scores 5 and 4 indicated the absence of barriers but the presence of strategies or and benefits, thus ensuring that the policies have recognised the WASH needs of the population segment. While '3' indicated the presence of only the benefits, '2' denoted presence of only the barriers without strategies or WASH benefits described which did not carry to any relevance to the population segment.

8	7	6	5	4	3	2	1
YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN
Barriers +	Barriers +	Barriers +	No Barriers +	No Barriers +	No Barriers +	Barriers +	No Barriers +
Strategies +	Strategies +	No Strategies +	Strategies +	Strategies +	No Strategies +	No Strategies +	No Strategies +
Benefits	No Benefits	Benefits	Benefits	No Benefits	Benefits	No Benefits	No Benefits

Figure 2: Policy and P&P robustness scale

3.2 Inclusion and exclusion criteria

3.2.1 Sectors relevant to the review

WASH covers three main sub-sectors – Water, Sanitation and Hygiene. Definitions and descriptions of these sub-sectors have been provided in section 3.1.2.

3.2.2 Target Population

Population segments were identified under both the LCS and GSS framework. Section 3.1.2 provides detailed description of population segments identified for this review.

3.2.3 Date and Language

Policies and P&P formulated and implemented during the Millennium Development Goals period (January 1, 2000 and December 31, 2015) was chosen for this review. Policies before and after the MDGs were not included. However, an exception was made for a few countries who had existing WASH policies that overlapped with the MDG period. Since these policies were in operation for the early part of the MDG period they were found eligible for the study. Similarly, P&P started in the year 2015 but yet to be completed were included. Documents in English were predominantly used. Only one document was in French which was included in this review. For most documents, English equivalents were available, and the same were used.

3.2.4 Countries

A total of eleven low and middle income countries in South Asia and sub-Saharan African were included in this review. These countries were identified from the list of WSSCC priority countries, most of which have received funding through the Global Sanitation Fund (GSF). Countries in both these regions fare lower than the rest of the world in WASH indicators (WHO and UNICEF 2015). Criteria used to shortlist these countries included WASH indicators such as: percentage of population practicing open defecation, percentage of population using improved drinking water and improved sanitation facilities and percentage of population with hand washing facilities at home. In addition to these indicators, other criteria included total population, percentage of poor, working language and extent of funding via GSF. The countries included for this review were India, Nepal, Pakistan and Bangladesh from the Asian region and Tanzania, Kenya, Ethiopia, Madagascar, Nigeria, Malawi and Uganda from sub-Saharan Africa. Appendix A provides further details on the method and rationale for short listing these countries.

3.2.5 Type of document

Evidence for this review was obtained from two types of documents – (i) policy documents and (ii) P&P documents described in section 3.1.3. Any document that did

not describe or only partially referred to a WASH policy, programme or project and did not meet the definition of a policy or P&P document were excluded. (See Appendix B for a list of documents that were included for the review).

3.3 Document sourcing and search strategy

Since the database of documents comprised of policy notes, programme guidelines and project reports of selected governments, INGOs and multilateral/bi-lateral agencies, these were sourced directly from the websites of governments/organisations. In addition to government ministries or departments, organisations that were selected for this review included a combination of bi-lateral and multilateral agencies, international financial institutions and international non-government organisations. The absence of a common repository which contained documents from different organisations resulted in the research team conducting a manual search for documents in the websites of agencies.

A variety of organisations were included in the search strategy and given below are brief descriptions of these organisations:

- a) Bi-lateral agencies are country specific agencies that provide development and financial assistance to developing countries, NGOs or think-tanks of other countries for implementing programmes that are of interest to both countries. The Department for International Development (DfID), Government of UK, USAID in the United States of America and AusAid in Australia are examples of bi-lateral agencies.
- b) Multilateral agencies, on the other hand, are World Bank, UNICEF or UNDP, who raise funds from multiple country governments in order to fund programmes and projects in various countries.
- c) INGOs are independent, organisations that are not aligned with any particular government, raise their own resources and work on welfare projects and programmes in multiple countries that they believe need assistance. WaterAid is an example of an INGO that has a large presence in Asian and African countries in the WASH sector.

These multilateral and bi-lateral agencies and INGOs were selected because of their work in water, sanitation and hygiene sectors, their presence in WASH programme implementation in the shortlisted countries and their contribution in formulating WASH policies at the global level. Appendix C provides a detailed list of organisations identified in consultation with WASH experts and our advisory board members. Appendices 9 and 15 provide a list of organisations contacted for policies and P&P respectively. Recommendations from the advisory group and experts led to the inclusion of a few more organisations during the search phase.

3.3.1 Sourcing Strategy

The sourcing strategy involved direct correspondence with agencies and governments of selected countries. Shortlisted organisations and government ministries or departments were contacted via email, requesting them to share their WASH portfolio between January 1, 2000 and December 31, 2015. These organisations were contacted directly using contact details provided on their respective websites and also through contacts provided by our advisory board members, WSSCC and 3ie between March and the first week of June 2016. After identifying the contact, a detailed email was sent to the

organisations describing our requirements and requesting them for information (refer Appendix D for the letter sent to organisations).

3.3.2 Search Strategy

The search for policy documents were conducted during the month of February 2016 whereas the search for P&P documents was conducted during the month of April 2016. The search strategy included the following steps:

- Search of government websites Government websites of the eleven selected countries were searched manually for policy notes, policy briefs, programme guidelines, mission documents, project reports and P&P evaluation reports. Ministries and departments that were searched included Ministry of Water and Sanitation, Health, Water Resources, Urban Development, Rural Development and Public Works. Search of government websites was completed by the end of February 2016.
- II. Search of multi-lateral/bilateral organisations and INGO websites In order to ensure completeness, authenticity and reliability of documents used, searching directly on agency websites was the preferred strategy. Websites of identified multi-lateral agencies and INGOs were searched using the search terms, for relevant P&P and evaluation documents (refer Appendix B for a detailed list of organizations shortlisted).
- III. Electronic databases and grey literature To ensure maximum coverage of documents, searches were conducted on electronic databases such as ELDIS and WEDC Knowledge base. Searches were also conducted on Open Grey, CAB Abstracts, and Google. This search was used to check for documents that could not be obtained directly from agencies. Website searches of organisations and databases were completed by the end of April, 2016.

3.3.3 Search terms used

Searching for policy and P&P documents from websites of selected organisations was challenging as the search engines and filters varied across organisations. Search hits differed with the use of a) American and British spellings and b) use of singular and plural forms. Hence, the following basic search phrase and Boolean operators was adapted for search within each organisation:

"Water OR Sanitation OR Hygiene AND Project or Projects OR Policy OR Policies OR Programme OR Programmes OR Program OR Programs"

Appendix E gives a description of results obtained from website searches of all selected organisations using these search terms. Downloaded results were reviewed by two researchers in more detail using the inclusion and exclusion criteria to determine which documents could be included in the review.

3.4 Data extraction and management

All the documents downloaded were screened first using the exclusion criteria and then the inclusion criteria. Prior to coding of documents, based on the pilot search during the protocol phase, a data extraction or coding tool was developed to capture the variables of interest to this review such as background information, target population, barriers in accessing WASH, strategies adopted, benefits envisaged from the P&P, and so on. The coding tool was designed to be exhaustive and capture all the information that might be needed during analysis. However, the analysis itself was restricted to only a few select variables that had an effect on the outcome.

The coding tool was piloted using a set of sample documents. This was done to ensure that coding decisions and data extraction was consistent amongst all documents. Minor revisions were made to the coding tool after the pilot screening. Separate coding tools were used to capture data from (i) policy documents and (ii) P&P documents (refer Appendix F). In order to ensure uniformity in coding, a guide that described the coding tool was also developed (refer Appendix G).

Included documents were then assigned unique codes consisting of country, document type and number for policy documents as such – INDPY01 for India's 'National Water Policy, 2012'. For P&P documents, the unique code included the country, sector, funding agency, programme or project code and a document number. For example USAID's 'Integrating WASH into HIV interventions and advancing improved sanitation uptake in Kenya' was coded as KEN/WASH/PG/USAID/04, where KEN refers to Kenya, WASH refers to the three sectors covered in the intervention, PG refers to programme, USAID refers to the organisation funding the programme and 4 refers to the fourth document coded for Kenya. A code for the researcher studying the document was also added for each document. Refer to Appendix F3 for a list of codes used in the coding process.

Data from policy documents were extracted line-by-line by a three member research team with two researchers independently coding the same document. The coding tools were then reconciled to enhance consistency of data and limit extent of ambiguity. Any disputes arising during this process were reconciled by a third researcher. However, a single P&P documents was coded only by one researcher and ambiguities arising during coding were reconciled through discussions within the research team. Figure 3 presents the search and synthesis process.



Figure 3: Search and synthesis process adopted for this review

A structured and systematic process was followed to extract data. A database was maintained separately for policy and P&P documents on Microsoft Excel (MS Excel). Information captured with the help of the coding tool was entered against the assigned document and researcher code and separate sheets were maintained for each question.

Upon completion of data entry, the data was cleaned to ensure it was in an appropriate form for data analysis. The cleaning process consisted of removing duplicates, deleting rows with no information and ensuring that the codes and data entered from each document was consistent with the coding tool. Once the data entry was completed, data pertaining to barriers, strategies and benefits were categorised into sub-themes based on their descriptions as mentioned in section. Figure 3 provides a description of the data that was extracted using the coding tool and Figure 4 describes how this information was used to answer each of the three research questions set out in section. In both figs 4 and 5, the question numbers (indicated by Q) denote the set of questions that provide the data pertaining to different categories of information which was used to answer the specific research questions. Refer to Appendix F and G for detailed explanations.

Figure 4: Data extracted from documents



Figure 5: Data from the coding tool used to address research questions


3.4.1 Study dependency

When our search showed multiple documents on the same intervention or a single policy that has led to several P&P, a single coding tool was used to record the data. Apart from capturing the title of the policy/progammme/project, the list of documents under a particular policy/P&P that contributed the data was also recorded. For example, the Kerala rural water supply and environmental sanitation project of the World Bank had a project appraisal document as well as a project implementation and completion report. The coding sheet specifically recorded both the appraisal report as well as the implementation and completion report as data sources (refer Q.3 in Appendix F2). Once all the documents were coded by sector and country, a check for duplicates was undertaken manually. Since the number of policies, programmes or projects for one country was limited, a manual check was sufficient to safeguard against duplicates as well as ensure all documents pertaining to one P&P were recorded together. The data cleaning process described in section 3.4 further helped remove any duplicates that might have been missed out in the manual process.

The unique document code was useful in capturing prospective and retrospective information provided in the documents. For instance, a policy document or a P&P inception report was prospective in nature as it sets outs the WASH goals to be achieved or addressed within a specified timeframe. A P&P completion report or an evaluation report was retrospective in nature as it provides information on the outputs and outcomes achieved.

3.5 Data analysis - Synthesis methods

3.5.1 Descriptive Statistics - numerical summary of the evidence

Descriptive statistics summarizes important information about the study variables and can be used to present averages and understand the distribution of data. Light and Smith (1971) have indicated that the numerical summary of evidences is a useful review technique that helps to gather the body of evidence related to a theoretical relationship, count the percentage of tests that supported the relationship, and use that percentage as the basis for drawing conclusions about the state of the literature. While there are some limitations to synthesising evidence by numerical summary (Combs et al., 2011) we feel that the findings obtained from a numerical summary would provide insights on the underlying trends. The procedure used for a numerical summary involves extracting data on the different variables (refer Appendix F) identified in the review. The evidence extracted from all the included studies were summarised in the form of frequency tables, graphs and charts.

3.5.2 Qualitative Comparative Analysis

QCA technique was used in this review to understand what combinations of conditions present in policies and P&P and context influenced and impacted the desired outcomes. Introduced by Charles Ragin, a sociologist, during the late 1980's QCA is an intermediate technique between the qualitative analysis and quantitative analysis. QCA uses set theory and Boolean logic to understand the causal relationships (or pathways) leading to certain outcomes of interest. It helps in the generalization of findings from a relatively small number of cases and offers the ability to identify different pathways of condition combinations that lead to a similar outcome (Berg-Schlosser D, De Meur G,

Rihoux B, Ragin CC, 2009 and Ragin CC 1987). The strength of QCA lies in the fact that it helps in understanding multiple causal pathways of input conditions (or variables) leading to an outcome variable of interest. In this review, we have chosen to use QCA to analyse two research questions,

- 1. What conditions lead to the inclusion and identification of population segments in policies and P&P? Does it vary between sectors and regions?
- 2. What conditions lead to the inclusion and identification of population segments in WASH benefits in policies and P&P? Does it vary between sectors and regions?

The QCA analysis was carried out using the fsQCA 2.0 software¹. In QCA process, each data point is coded whether it belongs to a particular set or not (called input conditions in QCA terminology). For example, if the presence of an international aid agency is suspected to be an contextual condition of interest to a particular WASH outcome, all the data points present will be coded as either belonging or not belonging to the set "PRESENCE OF INTERNATIONAL AID AGENCY" (usually a value of 1 is assigned if the data point belongs to set and 0 if not). Such crisp classification of data points may not be possible in certain cases, e.g. the poverty of country, the development of a country. In such cases, the input conditions are coded as fuzzy sets by giving a particular membership to each data point based on some pre-agreed criteria (usually referred to as calibration scheme). The same principles are applied to code the membership of the data point with respect to the outcomes of interest. For the QCA section, input conditions mean the contextual conditions which are of interest to the team to understand their causal significance towards the outcomes (similar but not equivalent to independent variables in quantitative analysis). The outcomes are coded as outcome conditions in QCA (similar but not equivalent to dependent variables in quantitative analysis).

QCA concepts and process:

Stage 1: Identify conditions and outcome variable

For this study, the team worked on two sets of data – policy and P&P data sets. The data sets varied in terms of the number of data points and the number of input conditions under study. Albeit the diversity of data collated, the primary research question aligned with the objective of the review: *"To what extent have the Water, Sanitation and Hygiene sub-sectors incorporated the life-cycle approach into policy, programmes and projects during the MDG period?"*

The initial set of input conditions for the QCA analysis were chosen based on the substantive knowledge on policies and P&P gained during the course of the review. The final QCA conditions was arrived iteratively based on the analysis results. Two different sets of input conditions were used to analyse the two research questions.

The conceptual model for the research question, "What conditions lead to the identification and inclusion of population segments in WASH policies and P&P?" has been presented in Figure 7. This model takes into consideration both internal and external factors and explores its influence on the outcome. The external factors include the Human Development Index (HDI) and the Joint Monitoring Programme (JMP) estimates for Water Supply and Sanitation. The HDI is a composite indicator of three

¹ fs/QCA 2.0 is a software developed for Windows by University of Arizona. It can be downloaded from <u>http://www.u.arizona.edu/~cragin/fsQCA/software.shtml</u>

development indices namely, life expectancy, education and per capita income. A country with a high HDI index would therefore indicate a positive trajectory to growth and development on both the economic and social spheres. It implies that the government and its citizens are productive, healthy and make informed choices as a result of increased access to knowledge. JMP aims to accelerate progress towards universal and sustainable access for underserved populations in the developing world to safe water and basic sanitation. We hypotheses in countries with high HDI and JMP coverage, WASH policies and programming are more nuanced and inclusive with fair representation of population groups within WASH initiatives.

The internal factors largely include the WASH sub-sectors, water, sanitation and hygiene, type of drafting agency, type of P&P funding agency and P&P implementation agency.

Finally, the outcome of interest in this analysis is the inclusion of the population segments in the WASH policies and P&P. To this end, to outcomes are important. The first of these is whether population segments based on LCS are explicitly mentioned in the policy/P&P. The second is whether the population segments pertaining to GSS are explicitly mentioned in policy/P&P. Thus these two outcome conditions were analysed in separate QCA analyses both at policy as well as at P&P levels.

Figure 6: QCA conceptual model for inclusion and identification of population segments



Figure 7 presents a visual representation of the conceptual model for the research question, "What conditions lead to the inclusion and identification of population segments in WASH benefits in policies and P&P?" The model shows five categories of variables that have an influence on the outcome that is, inclusion of population segments in WASH benefits. These variables have been commonly identified from the policy and P&P documents reviewed in this study. The first category includes WASH sub-sectors namely, water, sanitation and hygiene. The model suggests that each of the WASH sub-sectors have a significant role in providing WASH benefits to LCS and GSS.

Figure 7: QCA conceptual model for identification and inclusion of population segments in WASH benefits



The second and third categories: drafting agency and indicators pertain to policies. The WASH policies included in the review have been drafted predominantly by the Government and in some cases, with technical support from multi-lateral or bi-lateral agencies. As drafting agencies, we assume that they will have an influence on including population segments within the policy and P&P purview. The fourth category includes policy indicators such as barriers and strategies. Based on our extensive literature review, policy documents largely composed of three indicators: barriers, strategies and benefits. The barriers identified the various obstacles faced by different population segments in accessing WASH services or facilities and subsequently, strategies were proposed to address these limitations. Finally, intended WASH benefits for each of the population segments were detailed. The model therefore suggests that when policy indicators such as barriers and strategies are detailed for population segments, it is more likely that WASH benefits will be proposed for the segment.

Categories relating to P&P include funding and implementation agency. The role multilateral and bi-lateral agencies as funding and implementation partners in African and Asian WASH P&P have been very prominent. We hypothesise that as a lender and implementer they have ascendancy on the representation of population segments in P&P. Other implementing agencies like government, NGOs and community too have a great role to play in ensuring that benefits are distributed in an equitable manner across various population segments.

To understand the whether the population segments were identified for WASH benefits, two different outcome variables were considered in the present analysis. The first of these pertain to whether the benefits were identified for the population segments based on LCS in WASH policies and P&P. Second of these outcomes understand whether the benefits were identified for population segments based on GSS in WASH policies and P&P. Separate QCA analyses were carried out for each of these two outcomes both at policy level as well as P&P level.

Stage 2: Assign membership values

Both fuzzy and crisp sets were used for the analysis. Crisp are similar to dichotomous categorical variables in regression (Kane Heather, Lewis A Megan, Williams A Pamela, Kahwati C Leila, 2014) and they define a case as either full-membership (1) or no membership (0) to a particular input condition of interest. Crisp sets were used when the presence or absence of an input condition presented no ambiguity and such a classification is the only condition of interest for the QCA analysis. For example, for the input condition "Presence of an agency" a value of 1 denoted an agency was present and assisted the government in framing the policy of interest and a value of 0 represents that no agency was present. The fuzzy-set values were used for input conditions of interest when the membership of the data point (policy and P&P) under consideration could vary on a scale of association rather than sharp bifurcation as presence or absence. A detailed description of the fuzzy-set values for each output variable and input condition is presented in the appendix H. Once the coding scheme for input conditions and output conditions are established as shown in appendix H, the data points are coded according to the schemes. At the end of this exercise we get a dataset with values for various input conditions and output of interest at both the policy level and P&P level. Fuzzy set QCA (fs-QCA) analysis was carried out at both the levels.

A detailed description of the calibration scheme used for each output variable and input condition is presented in the appendix H.

Stage 3: Construct truth tables

The next stage after coding was to construct the truth tables. A truth table presents all the possible configurations of conditions and the number of cases that fall within these configurations. Further, it also provides the consistency of the cases that is, the number of cases that exhibit the outcome. The consistency value in crisp sets is the proportion of cases that exhibit the outcome. The truth tables have been presented in appendix h.

Stage 4: QCA analysis and interpretation

The results provided three solutions to each truth table analysis. (1) a "complex" solution that avoided using any counterfactual cases (rows without cases - "remainders"); (2) a "parsimonious" solution, which permitted the use of any remainder (for combinations of conditions which have few cases or that lack cases to be included) that yielded simpler (or fewer) recipes; and (3) an "intermediate" solution, which used only the remainders that survive counterfactual analysis based on theoretical and substantive knowledge. Generally, intermediate solutions are considered as the best solution (Olsen, Wendy, and H. Nomura, 2009) and it has been used to analyse and interpret the findings for this study.

Precautions taken while using QCA as an analysis tool of QCA

QCA provided a novel approach to understand and achieve the objectives of the present study. QCA helped to uncover various configurations of "institutional pathways" as will be discussed in the next section. However, it should be noted here that precautions should be taken to ensure scientific rigor in analysis and ensure replicability of the results. The following precautions were taken during the study to this end.

First, QCA analysis required extensive documentation of each and every step and assumption involved in the process. The coding scheme developed for the various

conditions used in this analysis was documented in Appendix h. The coding scheme was based on substantive knowledge that exists in the areas of research.

Second, it should be noted that all the configurations of the input conditions would not usually appear in the real world. For example, an analysis with four input conditions had 16 possible (24) configurations. However, not all the 16 combinations might have occurred in the field. In such cases, the researcher assumed the tendencies of the input conditions in causing the outcome of the interest. Such assumptions were clearly documented in the process.

Third, it should be noted that the input and the output conditions used in the analysis were clearly defined and presented. The results of the study should be looked in the light of these definitions.

Finally, it should be noted that QCA process involved an iterative process of analysis which involved the researchers to go back and forth on the data coded and collected for various documents. Such a process involved a lot of effort both in terms of time and effort. Similarly, the pathways which evolved from the analysis were interpreted in the light of the evidence points which were analyzed. For this, the researcher went back to the specific data points to substantiate the pathways from the analysis. Such an exercise also acted an additional check to see if the pathways make empirical sense. All such processes involved a high degree of iterative conversation between the data and the research team.

3.6 Variations from the protocol

The identification of variables and analysis has been refined since the submission of the protocol based on the nature of data collected and feedback received from advisory board members. Variations from the protocol are as follows:

- a. Refinement of objectives: The objectives set out in the protocol were operationlised through a set of research questions which not only expanded the scope of this research but also provided clear direction to the analysis. Specifically, research questions were identified for robustness and QCA which focused on understanding the conditions that lead to the inclusion of LCS and GSS in WASH benefits (refer sections3.1.7 and 3.5.2 for details regarding robustness and QCA). It was decided to not use the IDEFO framework to discuss results of the QCA as mentioned in the protocol as it was felt that IDEFO was not an appropriate choice to represent the results.
- b. Population segments: The identification of population segments in the protocol was based on the human life-cycle (defined by age, gender and disability), caste, ethnicity, occupation and income based discrimination, PLHIV and discrimination based on geographical context such as rural and urban. However these segments were further categorized into two distinct groups in order to study the difference between life-cycle groups and non-lifecycle groups. Life cycle segments (LCS) included segments categorised by age, gender, disabilities and PLHIV. Geographical and social segments (GSS) included segments categorised by location (such as rural and urban), income (poor and low income), caste, ethnicity and groups vulnerable by occupation (refer section 3.1 for detailed definitions).

- c. **Outcome indicators:** Outcome indicators as defined in the protocol consisted of the various population segments and a set of WASH indicators which included availability, physical accessibility, affordability and quality and safety. However, these indicators were further developed and grouped based on reviewing the documents into comprehensive categories such as barriers, strategies and benefits (refer section 3.1 for definitions).
- d. **Robustness:** The concept of robustness was conceptualized after the submission of the protocol and the draft report. Policy robustness aimed to understand the identification of barriers, strategies and benefits for each of the population segments in policies and P&Ps (refer section 3.1.7 for a description on robustness).
- e. Link between policies, P&P: The link between policies, programmes and projects could not be established, as mentioned in the protocol. This was because P&P documents did not explicitly or implicitly mention the alignment or association to the goals of a specific policy. Therefore it would have been incorrect to assume that a specific programme or project fell within the ambit of a policy in operation during the concerned period. Also, several countries included in this review had multiple policies in operation at the same time period which made it difficult to link the P&P to one policy unless explicitly mentioned in the document.

Summary

This Chapter provided a description of the methods and definitions used in this review. The following Chapter presents the results and discusses the findings.

4. Results and Discussion

Overview: This chapter presents the results of the review from the numerical summary and the qualitative comparative analysis (QCA). Section 4.1 describes the findings from WASH policies while Section 4.2 details the findings from WASH P&P. Both these sections are organised as follows: first, search results are presented. Second, the numerical summary which discusses findings on the extent to which life-cycle segments (LCS) and geographic and social segments (GSS) are described. The third section provides results from the QCA and is followed by the fourth section that synthesises results from the numerical summary and the QCA.

The search process and results for policy, P&P documents have been described in the PRISMA flowchart as shown in Figure 8. Both the search and sourcing strategy were implemented simultaneously. The sourcing strategy was a time consuming process and responses were obtained over many weeks unlike the search strategy which was implemented in a time bound manner (as described in section 3.3). Documents gathered from both strategies were reviewed together and care was taken to ensure that duplicates were removed. Once documents were shortlisted from the search and sourcing strategies, these underwent two rounds of screening. First, document titles and summaries of documents were screened in order to ensure that documents matched our inclusion criteria. This was followed by a full text screening of documents before the coding process was undertaken. It should be noted that while we had a total of 160 P&P documents that qualified for inclusion in the review, the final number of P&P reviewed were 131 as all documents pertaining to a single P&P were grouped together.



Figure 8: PRISMA flow chart of search process and results

4.1. WASH Policies

In this section we present the results of our findings from WASH policies. Findings have been grouped according to WASH barriers, strategies and benefits.

4.1.1 Overview of included documents

The sourcing and search strategy yielded 59 policy documents of which 33 were national policies and 26 were state policies (see Table 4). State policies could be obtained only for two countries namely India and Pakistan. While there could be state level policies for other countries, our sourcing and search strategy could not fetch those documents. All 33 national policies were grouped together for analysis whereas state policies for India and Pakistan were analysed separately.

	Country	Polices
	Bangladesh	8
	India	27
	National	5
	State	22
	Nepal	5
	Pakistan	6
	National	2
SIA	State	4
Ä	Asia Total	46
	Ethiopia	4
	Kenya	3
	Malawi	2
	Madagascar	1
	Nigeria	0
CA	Tanzania	2
I'R	Uganda	1
AF	Africa Total	13
	Overall Total	59

Table 4: Classification of policies by country

Water sector had highest policy coverage, hygiene had the least: Of the 59 policies, 45 pertained to the water sector, 32 related to sanitation and 10 policies covered hygiene (see Fig 9). Although the total number of policy documents was 59, the sector wise total indicated a higher number of documents because often policies covered more than one of the WASH subsectors. For instance, Nepal's National Urban Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Policy, 2009, covered water and sanitation. This policy document was included in both the data set for sanitation and water. There were also instances when a 'National Water Policy' discussed the sanitation sector in detail and therefore it was found pertinent to include the document under both water and sanitation sub-sectors.





Higher number of water policies perhaps reflects the general importance given to water supply among the three WASH subsectors, and the importance of water supply for basic human sustenance. While, sanitation is also a basic need, the practice of open defecation exists in several parts of the world. The recognition of the health and environmental costs of open defecation given in the MDGs has provided the much needed fillip to sanitation sector policy making. The hygiene sector, however, has received attention only in the recent years and has often been combined with sanitation sector policies.

WASH policy formulation had gained prominence during the MDG period: With the implementation of the MDGs, countries seemed to become increasingly active in formulating policies in the WASH sector. It can be seen from Table 5 that in Asia, more number of policies were formulated from 2006 onwards whereas in Africa policies were introduced in the early years of the MDGs.

S. No.	Time period	Number National	of policies	Number State Po	Total	
	-	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	
1	Before 2000	2	3	0	0	5
2	2001 to 2005	6	4	7	0	17
3	2006 to 2010	4	4	11	0	19
4	2011 to 2015	8	2	8	0	18
	Total	20	13	26	0	59

Table 5: Timeline for WASH policies

For some countries (Ethiopia, Bangladesh, Kenya and Uganda) policy documents dating back to 1998 and 1999 have been included because these policies were in force at the start of the MDG period till they were either revised or replaced by another policy in the early part of the Millennium.

Challenges in identifying WASH policies as several ministries hold responsibility for WASH: Most number of policy documents were obtained directly from government websites. However, searching for policy documents from these websites was challenging for two reasons; a) multiple department or ministries were involved in the drafting of WASH policies as a result of which documents were spread across the websites of various departments. b) government websites were not updated with latest policy documents and hyperlinks. In such cases, policy documents were obtained from websites of other international agencies and through email correspondence with government departments (refer Appendix I for responses from governments). In order to ensure authenticity of such documents, care was taken to include only those documents that had the date, government department or ministry and government credentials on the document.

The nature and extent of information provided in the policies differed between countries. No two policy documents followed the same format. Some policies were well sequenced and laid out the vision, objectives, background and so on, whereas others were very brief with minimal details.

Whilst, policies were drafted by government departments or agencies, few external actors such as multilateral and bilateral agencies and international NGOs (INGOs) have

also lent their expertise. Some agencies that assisted in drafting were the World Bank's Water and Sanitation Programme, UNICEF and Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA). It was observed that policies drafted with the help of multilateral/bilateral agencies and INGOs were better structured and contained details on how the policies would achieve the MDG targets. These documents were also fairly lengthy in comparison to the policies drafted by government agencies on their own. However, quality assessment of these policy documents was not undertaken for two reasons: (i) Assessing the quality of policies was not within the scope of this study and (ii) the lack of established methods to judge the quality of policy document of different countries was also an impediment.

4.1.2 Numerical Summary: National Policies Trends in Population Segmentation: A timeline

All population segments mentioned in national policies were represented on a timeline based on the year they were mentioned in a WASH policy during the MDG period. This timeline has been presented separately for each WASH sub-sector in the Asian and African region (See Figures 10 to 4.8).

It can be observed from the timeline that the representation of life cycle segments in WASH policies was a gradual process moving from GSS to LCS. In the beginning of the MDG period, WASH policies seem to have focused on GSS such as rural and urban areas. Women were the only LCS that found a mention in policies in Asia (Bangladesh) and Africa (Ethiopia, Uganda and Kenya) as far back as 1998 and 1999. Other segments were subsequently identified only from the years 2004 – 2005 onwards. Although several policies continued to aim at universal access, the timelines showed that LSS and GSS were also identified during the MDG period.

WASH in Asia

Among the WASH policies in this region, Nepal had the most number of LCS mentioned in policies between 2004 and 2014 (See Figures 10, 11 and 12). A total of seven segments were mentioned and these included: women (rural and urban), men (rural), adolescent girls, disabled, senior citizens and PLHIV. These observations were from the Rural Water Supply and Sanitation National Policy 2004, Rural Water Supply and Sanitation National Strategy, 2004, Water Plan, 2005, National Urban Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Policy 2009 and the Sanitation and Hygiene Master Plan 2011. While women, men and children were identified in the year 2004, adolescent girls, disabled, senior citizens and PLHIV were introduced only in the year 2011.

WASH policies of Bangladesh discussed six LCS over a longer duration, between 1998 and 2014. These were: women (rural), disabled, children, men, and senior citizens. The Bangladesh Pro-poor Strategy for Water and Sanitation Sector 2005 and the Bangladesh National Sanitation Strategy 2005 contained references to senior citizens and children; whereas the disabled and men were mentioned much later in the National Hygiene Promotion Strategy for Water Supply and Sanitation Sector, 2012 and National Strategy for Water Supply and Sanitation, 2014 respectively.

Pakistan policies were limited in their references to LCS with a mention of only four segments, namely women, children, men and the disabled while India had a total of five policies which mentioned only three life cycle segments – children, women and PLHIV

between 2002 and 2011. India and Nepal were the only two Asian countries to have mentioned PLHIV in their sanitation policies in the year 2011.

A sector wise analysis revealed that coverage of LCS in the water sector in Asia was limited to women, men, children and disabled with the disabled and men identified only in the years 2012 and 2014 respectively (See Figure 10). The sanitation sector mentioned more number of LCS that included women, men, children, the disabled, adolescent girls, senior citizens and PLHIV (Fig 11). The identification of men, disabled and senior citizens took place in policies drafted between 2004 and 2006 in Bangladesh, Nepal and Pakistan. The sector - wise comparison showed that sanitation sector policies acknowledged a greater number of LCAs than water or the hygiene sector. The number of evidences for the hygiene sector in Asia was limited to Bangladesh and Nepal and included the segments women, children, men and the disabled (Fig 12). Pakistan mentioned only women in its hygiene policy whereas India made no mention of any life cycle segments in its hygiene policies.

In the GSS, in Asia, rural, urban, and poor and low income segments have been consistently identified across all policies during the MDG period. While emphasis has been on rural areas, urban and the poor and low income segments had gained attention since 2004 onwards. In addition, groups marginalised by caste and ethnicity have also received attention in Asian policies whereas migrants and pastoralists and groups that are vulnerable by occupation found no mention at all.



Figure 10: Inclusion of segments in water sector – Asia

Ch=Children; AG=Adolescent girls; AB=Adolescent boys; SC=Senior citizens; M=Men(Adults); W=Women(Adults); D=Disabled; R=Rural; U=Urban; C=Caste; E=Ethnicity; PLI=Poor and low income; PLHIV=People living with HIV/AIDS; Uni=Universal; M/P=Migrants/Pastoral; VO=Vulnerable by occupation; RM=Rural Men; RW=Rural Women, RPL=Rural poor & low income; UPLI=Urban poor & low income



Figure 11: Inclusion of segments in sanitation sector - Asia

Ch=Children; AG=Adolescent girls; AB=Adolescent boys; SC=Senior citizens; M=Men(Adults); W=Women(Adults); D=Disabled; R=Rural; U=Urban; C=Caste; E=Ethnicity; PLI=Poor and low income; PLHIV=People living with HIV/AIDS; Uni=Universal; M/P=Migrants/Pastoral; VO=Vulnerable by occupation; RM=Rural Men; RW=Rural Women, RPL=Rural poor & low income; UPLI=Urban poor & low income

PAKISTAN						1	r							
				Ch, R	RW, M					w	D			
NEPAL								U,	PLI, Ini					
BANGLADESH											Ch,	W, D	N	
	k R				l	Ini				E	U U	Ini, PLI		

Figure 12: Inclusion of segments in hygiene sector - Asia

Ch=Children; AG=Adolescent girls; AB=Adolescent boys; SC=Senior citizens; M=Men(Adults); W=Women(Adults); D=Disabled; R=Rural; U=Urban; C=Caste; E=Ethnicity; PLI=Poor and low income; PLHIV=People living with HIV/AIDS; Uni=Universal; M/P=Migrants/Pastoral; VO=Vulnerable by occupation; RM=Rural Men; RW=Rural Women, RPL=Rural poor & low income; UPLI=Urban poor & low income

WASH in Africa

In the case of Africa, it was observed that till the year 2005, LCS that were mentioned in WASH policies were women (rural and urban) and men (see Figs 4.6 to 4.8). Children had been mentioned only once in, the National Water Policy of Uganda, 1999. Ethiopia led the African region with 4 WASH policies that had identified 8 LCS. Of these policies, three were announced during the MDG period in 2001, 2005, and 2006 respectively. The LCS included in these policies were children, women (rural and urban), adolescent girls, adolescent boys, PLHIV and disabled. Observations regarding these LCS in Ethiopia were predominantly from the sanitation and hygiene sectors while the water sector mentioned only women.

In Africa, apart from women and children, adolescents (girls and boys), disabled and PLHIV had got the most attention in all the three WASH sub-sectors. It was interesting to note that around the year 2005, Ethiopia, Malawi and Kenya had mentioned adolescents, children and the disabled in their WASH policies. A possible reason for this similarity in policy-making could be a result of "policy diffusion", where countries learn from one another, especially from neighbouring countries with common conditions and problems (Bowman and Kearney, 1986). Some countries may be leaders in the adoption of WASH policies while others may be middle adopters or laggards depending on which country takes the lead in policy innovation and those that follow suit (Gray, 1973).

PLHIV, who were mentioned in all the three WASH sub-sectors, were identified in the early part of the MDGs. Policies that mentioned this segment included Tanzania's National Water Sector Development Strategy, 2006-2015, Ethiopia's National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy, 2005 and Malawi's National Sanitation Policy, 2008. Adolescent boys were a segment that had found specific mention in Africa, specifically in the Ethiopia's National Hygiene and "On-Site" Sanitation Protocol, 2006 and Malawi's National Water Policy 2005.

The GSS mentioned in Africa followed the same trend as seen in Asia. Rural, urban and the poor and low income were the three segments that had been identified in African WASH policies as well. However, the timeline shows that identification of all these three segments in African countries had been during the early part of the MDGs. Ethiopia was the only country to have included migrants and pastoralist in its National Hygiene and "On-site" Sanitation Protocol, 2006.



Figure 13: Inclusion of segments in water sector – Africa

Ch=Children; AG=Adolescent girls; AB=Adolescent boys; SC=Senior citizens; M=Men(Adults); W=Women(Adults); D=Disabled; R=Rural; U=Urban; C=Caste; E=Ethnicity; PLI=Poor and low income; PLHIV=People living with HIV/AIDS; Uni=Universal; M/P=Migrants/Pastoral; VO=Vulnerable by occupation; RM=Rural Men; RW=Rural Women, RPL=Rural poor & low income; UPLI=Urban poor & low income



Figure 14: Inclusion of segments in sanitation sector – Africa

Ch=Children; AG=Adolescent girls; AB=Adolescent boys; SC=Senior citizens; M=Men(Adults); W=Women(Adults); D=Disabled; R=Rural; U=Urban; C=Caste; E=Ethnicity; PLI=Poor and low income; PLHIV=People living with HIV/AIDS; Uni=Universal; M/P=Migrants/Pastoral; VO=Vulnerable by occupation; RM=Rural Men; RW=Rural Women, RPL=Rural poor & low income; UPLI=Urban poor & low income



Figure 15: Inclusion of segments in hygiene sector – Africa

Ch=Children; AG=Adolescent girls; AB=Adolescent boys; SC=Senior citizens; M=Men(Adults); W=Women(Adults); D=Disabled; R=Rural; U=Urban; C=Caste; E=Ethnicity; PLI=Poor and low income; PLHIV=People living with HIV/AIDS; Uni=Universal; M/P=Migrants/Pastoral; VO=Vulnerable by occupation; RM=Rural Men; RW=Rural Women, RPL=Rural poor & low income; UPLI=Urban poor & low income

Although the MDGs came into operation from the year 2000, there was an increase in WASH policy formulation only from 2004 onwards. A possible explanation for this observation may be found in the concept of incrementalism where governments make incremental changes over time instead of large reforms. Governments deal with the immediate problems as they occur instead of developing an overall strategic plan (Lindblom 1959). Although the MDGs came into force in the year 2000, several countries perhaps needed the time to formulate their WASH policies in order to align with the MDG targets.

It is also noteworthy that year 2005 to 2015 was named the International decade for Action: Water for Life and the year 2008 was declared the International year for Sanitation (described in detail in section 4.2.1). The stimulus provided by such calls for action at the international level could have also provided an impetus to the development priorities of government in policy making on WASH in some of the countries selected for this review. For example, the formation of the South Asian Conference on Sanitation (SACOSAN) in the year 2003 brought together several South Asian countries to accelerate the progress on MDGs. This platform was initiated by the Government of Bangladesh in partnership with several multi-lateral and bi-lateral agencies, international NGOs and UN organisations, in order to share its success in achieving total sanitation by using community based approaches (Ahmed et al. 2003). Formation of such initiatives within a region possibly resulted in the increase in WASH policy formulation in several participating countries.

Population segments identified in policies

The extent of LCS varied between sectors: Out of 33 national policies, 18 policies in Asia and 13 policies in Africa had identified LCS. On an average, a single WASH policy

identified slightly less than LCS (see Table 6). This average was consistent across Asia and Africa. It was also observed that while some policies mention LCS, few others did not mention any of the LCS included in this study. For example, in Asia two water sector policies from India and Nepal did not target any specific population segment (refer Appendix J). The extent of LCS was the highest in Hygiene sector, followed by Sanitation and water sectors in that order. In Hygiene and Sanitation, LCS were higher in the case of Africa, whereas in the case of Water, it was higher in Asia. The number of GSS was higher for Asia on all sectors except Hygiene.

	WASH		Water		Sanitatio	n	Hygiene		
	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	
Population	(N=20)	(N=13)	(N= 15)	(N=7)	(N= 13),	(N=8)	(N= 3)	(N=5)	
Segments	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	
	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	
	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	
1.09	2.85	2.77	2.53	2.42	3.3	4.42	4.6	5	
203	(7, 0)	(7, 1)	(7, 0)	(5, 1)	(7, 1)	(7, 1)	(7, 2)	(5, 2)	
699	3.20	2.77	3.2	2.71	2.83	2.57	3	3.25	
655	(5, 3)	(4, 1)	(5, 0,)	(4, 1)	(5, 2)	(4, 0)	(4, 2)	(4,3)	

Table 6: Segment coverage in policies

Policies in Africa identified more LCS: In Africa, all WASH policies mentioned at least one LCS. While the average number of segments included per policy was three, there were a total of five policies that had identified as many as five LCS. Of these five policies, four pertained to the sanitation and hygiene sector whereas one was a water sector policy. These policies were from Ethiopia (2 policies), Kenya (2 policies) and Malawi (1 policy). The identification of a larger number of LCS could be a reflection of (a) policy makers understanding of the challenges and barriers faced by different segments of the population in accessing WASH, or (b) the influence of international treaties or support from multilateral or bilateral funding agencies in drafting the policies.

Population	WASH		Water		Sanitatio	n	Hygiene		
Segments	Asia (N=20)	Africa (N=13)	Asia (N=15)	Africa (N=7)	Asia (N=13)	Africa (N=8)	Asia (N=3)	Africa (N=5)	
Children	65%***	54%***	53%***	29%***	77%***	75%***	100%***	80%***	
Adolescent girls	20%	38%	7%	14%	23%	50%	67%***	60%	
Adolescent boys	10%	23%	13%	14%	8%	25%	0%	20%	
Women	90%***	100%***	87%***	100%***	100%***	100%***	100%***	100%***	
Men	30%	46%***	27%***	57%***	38%	38%	33%	20%	
Transgender	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	
Senior Citizens	25%	8%	13%	0%	31%	13%	33%	20%	
Disabled	35%***	46%***	27%***	29%***	46%***	63%***	67%***	80%***	
PLHIV	10%	38%	0%	14%	15%	50%	67%***	60%	

Table 7: Percentage coverage of LCS in policies

(*** indicates that the population segment is ranked in the top 3 for that region)

LCS identified in sanitation policies were higher: Within the LCS, the top three segments that were frequently idenfitied in WASH policies across Asia and Africa were: women, children and the disabled (see Table 7). The representation of these three segments was higher in the sanitation sector, than that of water and hygiene sectors (refer Appendix J). In Asia, some of the other LCS that were recognised were men, senior citizens and adolescent girls whereas LCS for Africa included, men, adolescent girls and PLHIV. Similarities between the LCS identified in Asia and Africa showed that vulnerable groups such as children, adolescent girls and PLHIV in Africa, perhaps reflects the priority given to certain specific segments based on demographic trends within a region. Attention given to men in national policies, possbily, denotes the recognition of the roles played by men in WASH access.

The lack of attention to the transgender community in WASH policies in both Asia and Africa was conspicuous.

WASH policies targeted GSS more than LCS, GSS identified in water sector was higher: Out of 33 WASH policies, GSS were identified in 20 Asian policies and 12 African policies. The number of GSS identified in WASH policies across Asia and Africa averaged to three segments per policy. However, for the GSS, we found a greater number of policies (7 policies in Asia and 8 policies in Africa) that identified three segments. Further we also noticed five GSS mentioned in five of the Asian policies. Predominant segments identified were the poor and low income, rural and urban segments (see Table 8). Policies of Asian countries had mentioned groups marginalised by caste and ethnicity, whereas African policies had mentioned migrants and pastoralist. The priority given to these groups could be a reflection of the societal attributes of these two regions.

Unlike the LCS where we saw a large difference in the number of policies that mentioned women and those that mentioned the other categories such as children or the disabled, in the GSS we find a narrow difference between the top three segments. This is perhaps a reflection of the dominant paradigm that focuses on geography and income segments rather than LCS in WASH policies.

Population	WASH		Water		Sanitati	on	Hygiene		
Segments	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	
	(N=20)	(N=13)	(N=15)	(N=7)	(N=13)	(N=8)	(N=3)	(N=5)	
Poor & low income	85%***	77%***	87%***	100%***	85%***	63%***	67%***	80%***	
Rural	70%***	85%***	67%***	100%***	62%***	75%***	67%***	80%***	
Urban	70%***	77%***	67%***	86%***	69%***	75%***	67%***	100%***	
Vulnerable by	10%	0%	7%	0%	15%	0%	0%	0%	
occupation	1070	070	170	070	1070	070	070	070	
Migrants &	10%	38%	13%	29%	8%	50%	0%	60%	
Pastoralists	1070	0070	1070	2070	070	0070	070	0070	
Caste	40%	0%	40%	0%	31%	0%	67%***	0%	
Ethnicity	35%	0%	40%	0%	23%	0%	33%	0%	
Universal	50%	100%	67%	100%	62%	100%	67%	100%	

 Table 8: Percentage coverage of GSS in Policies

(*** indicates that the population segment is ranked in the top 3 for that region)

WASH Barriers

Barriers to access WASH facilities differed across segments, sectors and regions. However, commonalities also existed. Of the 33 national policies, only 6 policies in Asia and 4 policies in Africa had identified barriers for the LCS. For the GSS, 13 policies in Asia and 9 policies in Africa had identified barriers. Children, women and adolescent girls were the top three LCS identified most frequently in the barriers whereas urban, rural and poor and low income segments were the top three GSS with the most number of barriers identified.

Top three barriers for LCS were adequacy of WASH, environmental constraints and attitudinal challenges: Adequacy of WASH facilities in Asia, environmental barriers in Asia and attitudinal barriers in Africa were the most frequently mentioned barriers for LCS (refer table 9). Amongst the LCS, barriers for children have been the most frequently mentioned across national policies with a total of 14 observations. Adequacy barrier included the lack of safe and child-friendly toilets at home and at school with sufficient number of toilet seats dedicated to children, whereas attitudinal barriers referred to poor hygiene and sanitation practices/beliefs, which resulted in children defecating in the open with little or no access to water for cleaning and washing.

The observations in the water sector for children pertained to environmental constraints such as distance travelled to fetch water (See Appendix K for WASH barriers by sector and region). Children experienced environmental barriers the most as they shared the water and sanitation burden of the household while accompanying their mothers in fetching water from far away locations. For example, National Water Policy of Tanzania (1999) stated that: *"in many areas of the dry central part of the country, water is so scarce that even water for personal hygiene cannot easily be found. The people, especially women and children, walk long distances to fetch water".* All three barriers identified for children in WASH policies were in line with the research findings and global concerns of diarrheal deaths, stunted growth and poor performance of children in schools (Black et.al, 2003; UNICEF, 2009).

Population Segments	No of Policies	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total
Asia									
Children	5	6	1		3				10
Adolescent girls	2	2							2
Women	4	1	1		4				6
Others	3	1			2				3
Sub Total (Asia)	6	10	2		9				21
Africa									
Children	3		3		1				4
Adolescent girls	2						2		2
Adolescent boys	2		2						2
Women	1		1		1				2
Others	1						2		2
Sub Total (Africa)	4		6		2		4		12
Grand Total	10	10	8		11		4		33

 Table 9: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region

Women are affected by attitudinal and social-cultural practices: Environmental barriers were the most commonly identified barrier for women with a total of 8 observations. Long distances travelled to access WASH facilities, inadequate and poor supply of WASH, loss in productivity; issues of safety, lack of privacy and other health implications were commonly cited across several policies (Nepal's Water Plan, 2005; Nepal's Sanitation and Hygiene Master Plan, 2011; Tanzania's National Water Policy, 2002; Bangladesh's National Water Policy 1999). However, apart from environmental barriers, women also faced attitudinal barriersespecially in the sanitation sector. The National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy of Ethiopia, 2005 stated that, "men remain dominant in dictating domestic priorities making it difficult for women to voice their special personal hygiene needs and sanitation priorities. Men perceive latrine construction with some scepticism". Other attitudinal barriers included socio-cultural practices that determined the access to WASH facilities for women, especially during menstruation.

Adolescent girls were affected by inadequate sanitation facilities in schools and poor MHM: For adolescent girls much of the observations were from the African region and pertained to the sanitation and hygiene sectors. Attitudinal, adequacy and physical barriers were commonly occurring barriers across policies for this segment. Few of the descriptions that were available in policies referred to inadequate WASH facilities at home and in schools, lack of safety and privacy and poor availability of menstrual hygiene management facilities all of which contributed to drop out of girl children from schools (National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy of Ethiopia, 2005; National Sanitation Policy of Malawi, 2006, Nepal's Sanitation and Hygiene Master Plan, 2011).

Disabled and PLHIV faced physical barriers: Apart from women, children and adolescent girls, the description of barriers were available for PLHIV and the disabled in the sanitation sector in the African region. Although non-availability of WASH itself was a major barrier for both these segments, physical barriers which included the lack of design features (such as ramps and railings) to enable easier access to the disabled and PLHIV found specific mention in few policies. Population segments for whom barriers had not been mentioned at all were adolescent boys, senior citizens, men and the transgender population.

ban areas received most attention amongst GSS: Environmental barriers and adequacy barriers in both Asia and Africa were identified most frequently for population residing in urban areas(refer Table 10). In urban areas the lack of proper sanitation, drainage facilities, inadequate water supply and insufficient health and hygiene education were the primary causes of diseases. In addition, physical barriers such as limited sanitation options and space and the poor quality of sanitation infrastructure were also identified in a few policies (National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy of Ethiopia, 2005; Kenya's Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Strategic Framework, 2015). Further, the lack of financial allocation, absence of a master plan and poor co-ordination between agencies were few of the policy and institutional barriers mentioned for the urban segment in Asia (National Urban Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Policy, Nepal, 2009). Emphasis on the urban segment in WASH policies, perhaps, reflects (a) the requirement to tackle the WASH needs of a growing slum population in cities across Asia and Africa (UNFPA 2007) and (b) the differences between the requirement for water

and sanitation in urban and rural areas and the need for government and international agencies to recognise these difference to improve WASH access (UN-HABITAT 2003).

Population Segments	No of Policies	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total
Asia			1						
Poor & low income	5	1		2	7			1	11
Rural	4	1	3		5		1	2	12
Urban	6	3	4		4	1		2	14
Others	7		6		4	1	1	2	
Sub Total (Asia)	13	5	13	2	20	2	2	7	51
Africa									
Urban	7	6		1	6		3		16
Rural	5	1			6				7
Poor & low income	2			5		1			6
Others	4	4		1	1		1		7
Sub Total (Africa)	7	11		7	13	1	4		36
Grand Total	20	18	25	9	38	3	6	7	87
Universal Asia	2		3		5				8
Universal Africa	4	2	9						11

Table 10: Count of observations for WASH barriers for GSS by region

Rural areas also affected by environmental barriers: Rural areas have also received considerable attention in the description of WASH barriers. Environmental barriers followed by attitudinal barriers ranked high for rural areas. Few of the environmental barriers were poor water supply coverage, need to travel long distance to access WASH facilities, difficult terrain, contamination of ground water, and the lack of institutionalised support to improve access in rural areas (Bangladesh's National Water Policy, 1999; India's Strategic Plan for Rural Drinking Water 2011-2022, Ethiopia's Water Resources Management Policy, 1999).

Demand-side barriers and economic challenges constrain poor's access to

WASH:Poor and low-income and the urban poor and low income categories faced hardship due to Demand side barriers such as chronic water shortage and absence of cash to buy soap or build WASH facilities and unwillingness amongst beneficiaries to contribute towards operation and maintenance (Bangladesh's National Strategy for Water and Sanitation - Hard to Reach Areas, 2011; Nepal's Sanitation and Hygiene Master Plan, 2011; Ethiopia's National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy, 2005).

For the urban poor and low income, adequacy and attitudinal barriers identified included, lack of awareness on personal hygiene, inadequate water supply and sanitation facilities, and poor excreta disposal facilities. Since the urban poor and low income were concentrated in slums, lack of proper drainage facilities and communal latrines were also identified as a barrier (Bangladesh's National Hygiene Promotion Strategy for Water Supply and Sanitation Sector, 2012; Bangladesh's National Strategy for Water and Sanitation - Hard to Reach Areas, 2011; Tanzania's National Water Policy, 2002; Tanzania's National Water Sector Development Strategy, 2006-2015; Ethiopia's National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy, 2005).

WASH Strategies

Results showed that policies of Asian countries had identified strategies more exhaustively than African countries. In the evidence base, strategies were proposed in 15 policies in Asia and 13 policies in Africa for the LCS. Amongst the LCS, those that had higher number of strategies mentioned were women, children, men and the disabled. For the GSS, 18 policies in Asia and 12 policies in Africa had proposed strategies mostly for the rural, urban and rural poor and low income categories Beneficiary participation emerged as the most commonly proposed strategy for the LCS in Asia and Africa whereas project management was given prominence as a strategy for the GSS.

Observations for the sanitation and hygiene sectors were higher; strategies focused on IEC and inclusive planning: The sanitation and hygiene sectors had gained prominence during the MDG period. Our results showed a higher number of strategies proposed for these two sectors than that of the water sector (refer appendix L for sector wise results on strategies). Within these two sectors, women and children were the most frequently identified LCS. For women, in addition to beneficiary participation, other sanitation and hygiene strategies include information, education and communication (IEC), assessing the demand for sanitation amongst women, ensuring equity in WASH through inclusive planning and encouraging the involvement of stakeholders such as NGOs/CBOs in service delivery. However, it was interesting to note that there were no strategies towards providing financial incentives such as subsidies, micro credit loans or reduced tariffs that could encourage women to apply for water connections in order to reduce their water burden.

Strategies targeted at children included, hygiene education in schools, construction of child-friendly toilets, incorporation of WASH in school health programmes, promotion of behavioural change activities and capacity building. The main purpose of these strategies was to encourage the use of toilets, promote hand washing and educating children about safe handling and storage of water. Children were also considered to be a crucial target segment to bring about overall behaviour change within the community. For instance, India's Rural Sanitation and Hygiene Strategy, 2011 stated that, "children are more receptive to new ideas and schools/Anganwadis are appropriate institutions for changing the behaviour, mindset and habits of children from open defecation to the use of lavatory through motivation and education imparted by teachers would reach home and would also influence parents to adopt good sanitary habits. School Sanitation, therefore, has to form an integral part of any sanitation approach". In Africa, Malawi's National Sanitation Policy (2008) recognised the need to provide sanitation and hygiene support to child headed households (Malawi).

Strategies for adolescent girls, which were also predominantly from the sanitation and the hygiene sector in Africa, stressed the need to improve awareness and practice of MHM among this segment. Commonly proposed strategies included participation of girls

in planning, design and implementation of WASH facilities, improving demand for WASH and designing inclusive WASH programmes that have a specific component for MHM.

Although PLHIV had received the least attention in WASH policies, the sanitation and hygiene sector policies provided a few evidences. Here again, African policies gave increased attention to HIV/AIDS than that of Asia. In addition to beneficiary participation, strategies mentioned for this sector included (i) developing of guidelines and minimum standards of service delivery and (ii) strengthening of institutional capacity of WASH institutions that deliver WASH services to PLHIV. Raising awareness through the use of IEC was the only hygiene related strategy.

Policies recognised the need for greater involvement of women in WASH

interventions: The count of strategies targeted at women (including rural women) was the highest among all LCS (refer Table 11). Historically, the importance of involving women in the management of water and sanitation has been recognised at the global level. Some of the key developments that paved the way for inclusion of women were the 1977 United Nations Water Conference at Mar del Plata, the International Drinking Water and Sanitation Decade (1981-90) and the International Conference on Water and the Environment in Dublin (January 1992), which explicitly recognised the central role of women in the provision, management and safeguarding of water. Reference was also made to the involvement of women in water management in Agenda 21 (chapter 18) and the Johannesburg Plan of Implementation. Moreover, the resolution establishing the International Decade for Action, 'Water for Life' (2005-2015) (General Assembly Resolution 58/217), calls for women's participation and involvement in water-related development efforts. The higher share of women in the strategies was perhaps a reflection of these efforts taken at the international level.

Population Segments	No of policies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	IEC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total
Asia												
Children	9	3		4	2	10		1				20
Women	11	24		2	7	3					1	37
Rural women	3	5	1			4		4				14
Others	12	2	1	5	12	7		2				29
Sub Total (Asia)	15	34	2	11	21	24		7			1	100
Africa												
Children	6			7	2	14				1		24
Adolescent girls	4	2		3	3	1		2				11
Women	10	19		5	5	10		5	2			46
Men	5	1		3	3	3		1				11
Others	10	15		5	1	1		10	3	2		37
Sub Total (Africa)	13	37		23	14	29		18	5	3		129
Grand Total	28	71	2	34	35	53		25	5	3	1	229

Table 11: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region

Increasing participation of women in planning, implementation and maintenance of facilities, representation of women in decision making, user participation, capacity building and empowerment of women were some of the most commonly suggested strategies for women in the WASH policies. For example, Ethiopia's National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy (2005) stated that, "*women user (of WASH) should be decision makers/managers*". Bangladesh's National Strategy for Water Supply and Sanitation (2014) endorses the role of women by recognizing that, "*Women are generally the managers of water and sanitation in families and are also the guardians of hygiene enforcement, thus their involvement needs to be built in the sector activities*".

Policies acknowledged the need for gender balance in WASH but no specific strategies were proposed: Men found mention in strategies while there were no barriers or benefits identified for this segment. WASH policies advocated the involvement of men for two reasons: (i) role of men as decision-makers in the family and (ii) men as beneficiaries of WASH services. Therefore, strategies proposed for men included beneficiary participation, user involvement in planning, design and maintenance of WASH facilities and promoting equity in WASH across population segments. While it may be encouraging to note the recognition given to men in WASH policies, they were mentioned in passing as part of a cohort consisting of women, men and children or while referring to gender mainstreaming. An example that illustrated this point was *'project interventions to give equal importance to men and women' (Bangladesh's National Strategy for Water Supply and Sanitation, 2014).* It appeared that there was not much thought given to men as a LCS in WASH policy-making but their role in improving access to WASH was acknowledged.

Although men had found mention in strategies, adolescent boys received least attention. Strategies listed for boys were few in number and included: consultation of beneficiaries, demand assessment and user participation. Strategies mentioned for adolescent boys were not as specific as the strategies mentioned for adolescent girls. Evidences were found only in African government policies (Ethiopia and Malawi). This could perhaps be due to the attention given to school sanitation and hygiene in African policies.

Disability gained prominence in WASH policies: People with disabilities have received some recognition in WASH policies of which majority evidences were from the sanitation and hygiene sectors. Commonly proposed strategies in Asia and Africa were user participation and consultation of beneficiaries, demand assessment and technology measures to improve access (Pakistan's National Sanitation Policy, 2006; Malawi's National Water Policy, 2005; Kenya's National Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Policy, 2007; Nepal's Sanitation and Hygiene Master Plan, 2011). Within Asia, in Bangladesh, Nepal and Pakistan there was a stress on prioritising the needs of special groups by giving them "special consideration". However, this was not further elaborated. In Africa, Ethiopia, Malawi and Kenya had mentioned "subsidies for improvement of sanitation facilities at the household level for the disabled', "cost effective technology for the physically challenged' and "construction and rehabilitation of infrastructure to include specific needs of the disabled'. Policies in Kenya, Nepal and India had also specifically mentioned the need for disabled friendly designs in schools (India's Rural Sanitation and Hygiene Strategy 2012-2022; Kenya Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Strategic Framework, 2015; Nepal Sanitation and Hygiene Master Plan, 2011).

Senior citizens and the aged lacked attention in WASH policies: The aged were the LCS with the least attention in WASH policies. WASH needs of senior citizens in Asia and Africa have not been highlighted adequately in any of the policies. Across the three subsectors, sanitation was the only sector which mentioned strategies for senior citizens. In Asia (Bangladesh and Nepal), ensuring equity in WASH by prioritising the needs of all marginalised groups including the senior citizens was the only strategy suggested for this life-cycle segment. Similarly, in Africa (Kenya), designing appropriate subsidy and social protection package was the only strategy proposed. However, these strategies were not meant exclusively for senior citizens but were meant for all vulnerable groups that included, poor, elderly, disabled and so on.

Strategies proposed for the water sector indicated a shift towards participatory approach: Amongst all the WASH strategies suggested, beneficiary participation was the most commonly proposed strategy for the LCS whereas for the GSS, it was project management. Beneficiary participation largely consisted of consultation of beneficiaries at the planning, implementation and maintenance of infrastructure, involvement of target segments in the decision-making of location of the facility and encouraging local communities to develop and operate water supply systems. These strategies reflected a paradigm shift in model of water delivery from that of a top-down, centralised approach to a more participatory, bottom-up approach. However, for the GSS we found that project management gained prominence as a strategy. Largely, project management strategies focussed on the improvement of process, capacity and management of service delivery organisations. This difference in strategies showed that in the GSS paradigm, improvements in access is seen as a predominantly subject of "hard or engineering related" issues, whereas in the LCS paradigm, it is predominantly seen as a subject of "soft or social issue."

Population Segments	No of policies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	IEC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total
Asia			1	1		1			1		1	
Poor & low income	7	3			6	5		4	9			27
Rural	10	6	3	20	2	17	3	29	2	10	6	98
Urban	10	2	3	7	1	10	1	15		9	4	52
Others	16	10	3	6	6	8		10	13	2	3	61
Sub Total (Asia)	18	21	9	33	15	40	4	58	24	21	13	238
Africa												
Poor & low income	4			1		2		3	4		2	12
Rural	10	3	1	14	2	11	2	18		2	7	60
Urban	12	2		13		5	6	12	1	2	6	47
Others	8					2		7	9	1	2	21
Sub Total (Africa)	12	5	1	28	2	20	8	40	14	5	17	140
Grand Total	30	26	10	61	17	60	12	98	38	26	30	378
Universal (Asia)	9	6		5		21		4		10	2	48
Universal (Africa)	7	3	1	5		10	2	7	2			30

GSS received more attention than LCS in WASH strategies: While observations on life-cycle segments were 229, there were 456 observations for the non-life cycle segments (see Table 11 and 12). Amongst the strategies, rural areas have received the most attention followed by urban areas and rural poor and low income. Strategies aimed at universal access have also received considerable attention.

Top three strategies that have been proposed for the rural population included project management, IEC and demand management. For these three strategies, amongst the Asian countries, Nepal and India had the most number of observations followed by Bangladesh and Pakistan. Within the WASH sectors in Asia, the focus has been more on sanitation followed by water and hygiene. In the African block, Malawi, Tanzania and Ethiopia had the most number of observations and Kenya and Uganda had the least observations. Amongst the African countries, the top three strategies followed the same pattern as seen in Asia, for the sanitation sector followed by water and hygiene.

The difference between project management and demand management is as follows: Project management comprised of several sub-strategies that included preparing plans and strategies at the village level, setting up of operations and maintenance fund, preparing guidelines on drinking water, development of infrastructure and entrepreneurship to produce equipment at local level, convergence amongst line departments and so on. Demand management, on the other hand, focused on the creation of demand for WASH facilities amongst the community by undertaking activities such as enabling communities to choose appropriate technologies, promoting diverse technology options, provide access to spare parts, designing the service according to ability and willingness to pay, use of local knowledge in WATSAN and so on.

The strategies proposed for the urban segment mirrored that of rural areas whereas strategies proposed for the rural poor and low income emphasised on provision of financial incentives, subsidies, micro-credit loans and tariffs that not only recovered costs but also protected the rural poor. Other strategies proposed for the rural poor and low income segment included IEC, beneficiary participation and project management.

WASH Benefits

Availability of WASH service emerged as the most frequently stated benefit across both LCS and GSS. WASH benefits identified for the LCS were from 8 policies in Asia and 7 policies in Africa. Our data showed that the total number of observation for the LCS was lesser than that of GSS. Within the LCS, the count of benefits identified for children, adolescent girls and adolescent boys were higher. Amongst the GSS, 18 policies in Asia and 12 policies in Africa had discussed the benefits for the rural and urban segments (as well as groups marginalised by caste and ethnicity). It can be found that African policies yielded more observations on WASH benefits than that of Asia. Further, there were no observations for the hygiene sector in Asia (refer Appendix M for sector wise observations).

Top three benefits proposed for LCS were improving availability, physical accessibility and quality and safety: Improving availability of WASH services to almost all the LCS was a common benefit envisaged across WASH policies in Asia and Africa (refer Table 13).

Children have been identified the most in benefits and this finding resonates with the global trend in improving health and education outcomes for children by improving their access to WASH facilities (UNICEF, 2009). Policies have emphasised the provision of drinking water in schools, construction of child friendly toilets, provision of soaps for hand washing in schools and construction of toilets for children in playgrounds. Construction of separate toilets for boys and girls in schools also found frequent mention. As in the case of barriers and strategies the sanitation sector had more number of observations followed by water and hygiene sector.

For adolescent girls, availability, physical accessibility and quality and safety were given equal attention in WASH policies. Availability, accessibility and safety referred to, " *the provision of safe, adequate, appropriate and affordable menstrual hygiene management including water, cleaning and washing material and private space for managing menstrual flow with dignity. 30% of the population should have access to these facilities", "100% of public schools with girls regularly supplied with sanitary towels/pads" (Kenya's Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Strategic Framework, 2015).*

Population Segments	No of policies	Availability	Physical accessibility	Affordability	Quality and safety	Total
Asia						
Children	5	5	2		3	10
Adolescent boys	1	1	1		1	3
Adolescent girls	1	1	1		1	3
Rural women	1	1	1		1	3
Disabled	2	3				3
Others	3	3	3			6
Sub Total (Asia)	9	14	8	0	6	28
Africa						
Children	5	15	10		8	33
Adolescent boys	2	5	5		5	15
Adolescent girls	4	8	8	1	7	24
Others	5	10	9	1	8	28
Sub Total (Africa)	7	38	32	2	28	100
Grand Total	16	52	40	2	34	128

Table 13: Count of observations for benefits for LCS by region

Although observations on strategies suggested for adolescent boys were low, this segment had received better attention in WASH benefits especially in the sanitation and hygiene sub-sectors. However, it was observed that adolescent boys were mentioned in the same way men had been mentioned in the strategies, as a part of the cohort of children, girls and boys. For example, "all schools to have separate latrines for girls and boys with hand washing facilities (soap and water)" or " provide separate and adequate improved latrines and urinals and hand washing facilities for boys and girls with soap and running water in schools" (Ethiopia's National Hygiene and "On-site" Sanitation Protocol, 2006; Malawi National Sanitation Policy, 2008).

The count of benefits proposed for women were low when compared to the count of barriers and strategies for this segment. This could be attributed to the differences in the articulation and details provided in policy documents. The benefits proposed for men were also similar to that of women. However, men were discussed along with several other categories and not as a single category. For example, in Pakistan, the National Sanitation Policy 2006 proposes the *"construction of public toilets for men, women, children and the disabled"*.

Among the WASH indicators, physical accessibility was given a much higher priority in Africa. This finding was consistent with the environmental barriers to access WASH by the LCS in Africa.

Urban areas in Asia and rural areas in Africa had a higher count of benefits amongst GSS: Urban and Rural segments received equal attention in WASH benefits which were availability and physical accessibility (refer table 14). However, there were slight variations within the regions and between benefits. In Asia, policies focused on WASH in urban areas whereas in Africa the benefits proposed were focused on the rural areas. For the poor and low income segment, affordability was the main benefit proposed. *"provision of subsidies, sliding scale tariffs for the poor, provision of low-cost latrines for the poor, provision of specified target grants for poor, microcredit for poor to <i>invest in sanitary disposal facilities, and subsidies provided on water rates to disadvantaged and poor sections"* were some of the benefits envisaged to improve affordability of WASH to the poor and low income communities (Ethiopia's Water Resources Management Policy; India's National Water Policy, 2002; Uganda's National Water Policy, 1999; Bangladesh's Pro poor strategy for water and sanitation sector, 2005, Kenya's National Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Policy, 2007; Bangladesh's National Strategy for Water Supply and Sanitation, 2014).

Benefit	No of policies	Availability	Physical accessibility	Affordability	Quality and safety	Total
Asia						
Rural	9	16	4	5	14	39
Urban	7	21	3	5	15	44
Urban poor & low income	6	10		3	2	15
Others	10	5	3	10	5	23
Sub Total (Asia)	16	52	10	23	36	121
Africa						
Poor & low income	3			3		3
Rural	8	17	6	2	9	34
Urban	7	14	3	2	5	24
Others	5	4		1		5
Sub Total (Africa)	11	35	9	8	14	66
Grand Total	27	87	19	31	50	187
	-	_			-	_
Universal (Asia)	9	17	2	1	7	27
Universal (Africa)	8	20	12	5	11	48

Table 14: Count of observations for	for benefits f	for GSS by region
-------------------------------------	----------------	-------------------

Policy Robustness

This section concerned the extent to which policies were robust in terms of encompassing all three components: barriers, strategies and benefits. The overall trend in WASH policy robustness has been presented first and this was followed by a detailed analysis for LCS and GSS by sector and region.

An analysis of 33 national polices highlighted the contrast between the patterns of robustness among LCS and GSS. The robustness index for GSS was much higher than that of LCS. As presented in Table 15, the overall index for GSS was 6.8 which indicated that the barriers faced by GSS in accessing WASH services and strategies or benefits were better described. On the other hand, LCS had a robustness index of 4.5 that indicated non-identification of barriers but description of strategies and or benefits.

Among LCS, the robustness index was observed to be comparatively higher in African policies than in Asian policies. However, both the indices represented moderate robustness with only the strategies or and WASH benefits described in the documents. On the other hand, GSS in both countries reflected high robustness index with the African policies having a higher robustness index than that of Asian policies.

LCS	Robustness index
Overall LCS	4.5 (N=33)
LCS Asia	4.2 (N=20)
LCS Africa	5.0 (N=13)
Overall GSS	6.8 (N=33)
GSS Asia	6.8 (N=20)
GSS Africa	7.5 (N=13)

Table 15: Policy robustness index across LCS and GSS

Figure 16 and Figure 17 provide the average policy robustness index for countries in Asia and Africa respectively. It can be seen that there is considerable variation in the LCS robustness index for Asian countries – India and Bangladesh have low robustness index for LCS. For both these countries the difference in the robustness index scores between LCS and GSS are higher as compared to that of Nepal and Pakistan. Similarly Figure 17 shows the variation in LCS and GSS robustness index for African countries.



Figure 16: Policy robustness index for Asian countries





The robustness index across WASH sub-sectors was also analysed and has been presented in Figure 18. Comparatively, the sanitation policies had scored a high robustness index, followed by the water sector and the hygiene sector. It was observed that the robustness indices across WASH sub-sectors for GSS were relatively higher than that of LCS.



Figure 18: Policy robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments

A closer look at the robustness index among LCS revealed that policy documents were mostly strategy and benefit focused without any attention given to the identification of barriers. Table 16 presents the policy robustness index for LCS across segments in Asia and Africa. It can be observed that the overall WASH indices were marginally higher for almost all the segments in Africa than in Asia. However, a few exceptions were observed among segments like men, senior citizens and PLHIV at the WASH sub-sector level. Further, a sector-wise analysis showed that the robustness index for LCS in the sanitation sector was comparatively higher than the other WASH sub-sectors. Across the three WASH sub-sectors in Asia and Africa, women and children have secured the top two ranks. Women in Africa have received the most attention in WASH policies as it was evident from the high WASH robustness index of 4.8.

1.00	Water		Sanitation Hygiene		WASH			
L03	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa
Children	1.7***	2.2***	2.8***	3.0***	1.6***	2.8***	3.4***	3.7***
Adolescent girls	1.0	1.5	1.4	2.2	1.2	2.0***	1.6	2.6
Adolescent boys	1.0	1.4	1.1	1.8	1.0	1.5	1.1	1.8
Women	2.4***	3.3***	2.6***	3.7***	1.9***	2.2***	3.5***	4.8***
Men	1.5***	1.9***	1.9***	1.8	1.3***	1.4	1.3	1.4
Senior citizens	1.0	1.0	1.4	1.2	1.1	1.0	1.5	1.2
Disabled	1.3	1.3	1.8	2.6***	1.3***	1.5	1.8***	2.9***
PLHIV	1.0	1.2	1.6	1.4	1.2	1.5	1.8***	1.8

 Table 16: Policy robustness index among LCS

Note: Segments with top three ranks have been denoted by ***

Table 17 presents the policy robustness index among GSS across WASH sub-sectors in Asia and Africa. The data revealed regional differences in terms of the population segments that had received attention within WASH policies. Further, African policies were characteristic of comparatively high robustness index than Asian policies which indicated better identification of barriers for the segment. In Asia, the poor and low income had received most attention with an overall WASH robustness index of 4.4. On the other hand, in Africa, it was the urban segments with an overall WASH robustness index of 6.2. Among WASH sub-sectors, the robustness index in Asia and Africa was comparatively higher in the sanitation sector than in the other two sub-sectors.

	Water		Sanitation		Hygiene		WASH	
LCS	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa
Rural	2.7***	4.0***	2.3***	4.4***	1.0	2.2***	3.3***	5.6***
Urban	2.4***	3.6***	3.1***	5.8***	1.6***	2.3***	3.5***	6.2***
Poor and low income	3.4***	3.3***	3.6***	3.1***	1.2***	1.2***	4.4***	4.5***
Caste	1.9	1.0	1.5	1.0	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0
Ethnicity	2.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	1.2***	1.0	2.0	1.0
Migrants/ Pastoralist	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.4	1.0	1.2***	1.2	1.7
Vulnerable by occupation	1.0	1.0	1.3	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.3	1.0

Table 17: Policy robustness index among GSS

Note: Segments with top three ranks have been denoted by ***

Sector-wise analysis showed that the poor and low income in Asia had consistently secured the first rank in both water and sanitation sectors. In the hygiene sector, the urban segments followed by rural and the poor and low income had secured the top three ranks in Asia. However, the robustness indices for these segments largely reflected strategy-heavy or benefits-oriented WASH policies. In the case of Africa, it was the urban segments that had an edge over the others in all the three WASH sub-sectors. The GSS robustness indices for the hygiene sector in Africa were observed to be lower than the LCS robustness indices for the hygiene sector.

National Vs State Policies

This section compares national and state policies from India and Pakistan. An in-depth review of WASH policies from both these countries revealed notable differences between national and state policies (refer Appendix O for detailed discussion on State policies). In general, national WASH policies served more as a directive for states to tailor-make their policies to suit the needs at a regional level. Further, based on amount of financial resources available, the state further expanded the scope and proposed WASH initiatives for the population segments.

Differences within state and national policies were largely apparent in terms of the population segments covered and the extensity with which policy indicators were detailed for population segments in the document.

India

A total number of 5 national WASH policies and 22 state WASH policies were reviewed. It was observed that State policies had a wider representation of LCS than national policies and vice versa with respect to GSS. However, in both national and state policies, GSS were the most represented segments in barriers, strategies and WASH benefits.

In national policies, children and women were two LCS that had received most attention. On the other hand, in state policies, apart from women and children who had received most attention, other LCS including adolescent girls and boys and men had received considerable attention. It is noteworthy that PLHIV were represented only in national policies. Among GSS, state policies mostly focussed on rural, urban and poor and low income groups. Contrastingly, in addition to the above three population groups, national policies had given considerable attention to caste and ethnic groups. The identification of barriers faced by population segments in accessing WASH services and facilities was not complete in all WASH national and state policies. Barriers were presented only in 3 national policies and 5 state policies. However, in terms of a numerical count, the number of barriers identified in national policies was more than that of state policies. Barriers related to environmental constraints were predominantly identified in both national and state policies. In addition, state policies had also identified the adequacy barriers faced by population segments. Majority of the barriers in national policies were largely identified for the rural segments and conversely, in state policies, barriers were mostly described for the urban segments.

It was generally observed that when compared to national policies, the state policies had proposed strategies to a wider section of the population. A large number of strategies in national policies were proposed only for the rural segments. On the other hand, in state polices, though the urban segments stood to benefit, other segments like adolescent girls and boys and men were also given sufficient attention. Further, while the state policies had proposed strategies for all three WASH sub-sectors, national policies had no strategies pertinent to the hygiene sector. Project management was the most proposed strategy in both national policies. While demand management was the second most proposed strategy in national policies, in state policies it was provision of WASH facilities.

Availability of WASH facilities was the most recurrent WASH benefit in both national and state policies. It was observed that while national policies had given priority to affordability as a WASH benefit, the state policies had prioritised physical accessibility to WASH services and facilities. While the rural segments were the most preferred beneficiaries, women did not find a place in national policies as beneficiaries of WASH benefits. On the other hand, in state policies, the WASH benefits were more or less equally distributed across GSS and LCS.

Pakistan

Two WASH national policies and four state policies were reviewed to capture the differences and similarities between both types of policies. Among LCS, the national policies largely covered only children, women, men and the disabled and among GSS, it was rural, urban and the poor and low income. The state policies were observed to be more diverse and had included both adolescent girls and boys within its scope. However, the disabled were not covered in state policies.

All the state policies had identified barriers faced by the population segment in accessing WASH services and facilities. Conversely, only one national policy had identified the barriers and they mostly reflected the adequacy barriers faced by children while accessing WASH facilities. Environmental barriers were predominant among GSS including urban, rural and the poor and low income. On the other hand, physical, attitudinal and adequacy barriers were commonly identified in state policies. Barriers were mostly identified for the urban segments.

A bottom-up approach through beneficiary participation was the most common strategy proposed in national policies and women and children were the only recipients of it. Contrarily, in state policies, a top-down approach that is, project management was the most proposed strategy and it largely catered to GSS. Urban segments were the most

benefited population group in state policies to have the most number of WASH strategies proposed and in national policies, it was women. Further, while the national policies were more focussed on the water sector, the state policies were more focussed on the sanitation sector.

In both national and state policies, the top three WASH benefits proposed were availability, quality and safety followed by affordability. While urban segments are the most benefitted population group in both national and state polices, children were also observed to have been equally benefited from WASH benefits in state policies.

4.1.3 Qualitative comparative analysis

The findings from QCA carried out for the National policy data have been presented in this section. The analysis for national policies was primarily conducted separately for LCS and GSS and aimed to answer following two questions:

- 1. What conditions lead to the identification and inclusion of LCS and GSS in WASH policies?
- 2. What conditions lead to the identification and inclusion of LCS and GSS in the WASH benefits in the policy?

While csQCA was used to analyse the first question, fsQCA was used to analyse the second one. This largely depended on the type of input conditions selected for the analysis. The number of input conditions included for both LSS and GSS were broadly categorised into: type of WASH subsector, drafting agency and policy components. The description of the outcome variable and the input conditions used for the analysis for both LCS and GSS has been presented in Table 18.

Table 18: Description of outcome variable and input conditions – national policies

Outcome varia	ble 1: WASH benefits proposed for LCS in national policies				
Outcome variable 2: WASH benefits proposed for GSS in national policies					
Outcome varia	ble 3: Inclusion of LCS in WASH national polices				
Outcome varia	ble 4: Inclusion of GSS in WASH national polices				
Input condition	ns:				
REGION:					
ASIA	Asian WASH policies				
AFRICA	African WASH policies				
WASH SUBSE	CTORS:				
WATER	Policy covered the water sector				
SANITATION	Policy covered the sanitation sector				
HYGIENE	Policy covered the hygiene sector				
DRAFTING AG	ENCY:				
AGENCY	Policy drafted with the support of a multilateral or/and bilateral agency				
GOVT	Policy drafted by the government				
POLICY COMP	ONENTS:				
BARLCS	Policy described the barriers faced by LCS in accessing WASH services				
STRLCS	Policy proposed strategies specifically for LCS				
BARGSS	Policy described the barriers faced by GSS in accessing WASH services				
STRGSS	Policy proposed strategies specifically for GSS				
DEVELOPMENT INDICATORS:					
HDI	Human Development Index				
JMP	Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply and Sanitation				

The results for each QCA analysis carried describe the outcome condition, the input conditions used and all the possible configurations that led to the outcome. We describe a few terms frequently used in reporting the findings here. More details about the QCA method are provided in the Methods Chapter in Section 3.5.2.

- In the configurations presented, the condition in upper case denotes the
 presence of the condition and the absence or low prevalence of the condition is
 denoted in the lower case. For example, the condition "Agency" which represents
 the presence of a multilateral or bi-lateral agency in drafting the policy is denoted
 as "AGENCY" if present in the solution and "agency" in the absence of this
 condition. The symbol (*) denoted an AND relationship between two
 combinations within a configuration.
- **Raw coverage** for each configuration denotes the proportion of the data points that a configuration is present in the data points exhibiting the outcome.
- **Unique coverage** indicated the proportion of the data points (of the data points exhibiting a desired outcome) in which a particular configuration is alone present.
- **Solution coverage** measures the degree to which the outcome is covered or explained by all the configurations present in the solution.
- **Consistency** indicates how consistently a particular configuration explains an outcome. It is measured as the proportion of the data points exhibiting both the outcome and the configuration to the total number of data points in which the configuration in present. This gives an indication whether the presence of the condition alone is sufficient to lead an outcome. Higher the consistency, better the sufficiency of the configuration under question. A score of 0.8 or more for consistency is considered good for QCA solutions.
- **Frequency cut-off** denoted denotes the minimum number of cases (data points) with a configuration taken as significant to be included in the analysis.
- **Consistency cut-off** indicates the minimum consistency score taken in the analysis to consider a solution to be significant for a particular outcome of interest.

Before we discuss the results, the following initial patterns are interesting to note. First, our QCA analysis indicated the role of government as one of the key factors that facilitated the inclusion of LCS and GSS in Asia, whereas in Africa, the presence of multilateral/bilateral agency had a greater influence on the outcome. Second, while the sanitation sector was more encompassing in proposing WASH benefits for LCS, the water sector was observed to be more inclined towards GSS. Finally, when policies proposed more strategies for LCS and GSS, the population segments were more likely to be identified in the WASH benefits. Please refer to Appendix 8 on details of the QCA analysis carried out.

Result 1: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of LCS in WASH policies

This analysis was carried out to understand whether there was any mention of LCS segments in the policy documents. The analysis resulted in four configurations (Refer Table 19) of which two pertained to Asia and another two to Africa.

Table 19: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of LCS in WAS	H
policies	

Frequency cut off:1.0	Consistency cut off: 0.9			
Configurations	Raw	Unique	Consistency	
Configurations	coverage	coverage		
water*SANITATION* GOVT*HDI*JMP*ASIA	0.19	0.19	0.90	
SANITATION*GOVT*AGENCY*HDI*JMP*ASIA	0.03	0.03	1.00	
SANITATION*HYGIENE*	0.25	0.25	0.94	
GOVT*AGENCY*AFRICA				
WATER*GOVT*AGENCY*JMP*AFRICA	0.03	0.03	1.00	
Solution coverage	0.53			
Solution consistency	0.93			

The solution coverage of 0.53 indicates that the configurations explain 53% of the cases that exhibit the outcome. The solution consistency was 0.93.

HDI is a composite indicator based on three criteria for human development namely, life expectancy, education, and per capita income. A country with high HDI would therefore imply a productive society with access to knowledge and healthy living. Likewise, JMP coverage relates to the extent of drinking water and sanitation coverage. Since human development facilitates equitable distribution of income and development it would be interesting to gauge its impact at the WASH policy making level. The JMP data provides not only an understanding of the extent of drinking water and sanitation coverage in the country but also the degree to which the Government, multi-lateral/bi-lateral, non-government organisations and communities have contributed towards the goal.

The configurations found in the analysis reveal that Asian countries high HDI and JMP usually had LCS mentioned in their policy documents. Sanitation is the WASH sector which usually had LCS mentioned in nations across Asia and Africa. It should be noted that multilateral agency presence played an important role for LCS to be included in policies even in sanitation sector in both Asia and Africa. Water sector policies included LCS in African countries with high JMP.

Result 2: Conditions that lead to the inclusion of GSS in WASH policies

Our analysis yielded six configurations as shown Table 20 out of which four concerned Asia and the rest two to Africa.

Table 20: Conditions that lead to the policies	e identification	and inclusio	on of GSS in WA	SH
Frequency cut off:1.0		Consistenc	y cut off: 0.76	
Confirmentions	Raw	Unique	Consistency	

		consistency	
Configurations	Raw	Unique	Consistency
	coverage	coverage	
WATER*SANITATION* govt*HDI*JMP*ASIA	0.04	0.04	1.00
water* SANITATION* GOVT *HDI*JMP*ASIA	0.16	0.16	0.94
WATER *AGENCY*GOVT*HDI*JMP* ASIA	0.06	0.06	1.00
WATER *sanitation* agency*GOVT*AFRICA	0.14	0.14	0.75
SANITATION*HYGIENE* AGENCY*GOVT	0.13	0.13	0.82
*jmp*AFRICA			
Solution coverage	0.55		
Solution consistency	0.86		

The solution coverage of 0.55 indicates that the five configurations explain 55% of the cases that exhibit the outcome. The solution consistency was 0.86.
In Asia, the presence of high HDI and JMP coverage were important to include GSS segments as well. An important observation here is that the policy makers in Water sector predominantly included GSS segmentation to draft their policies. Whereas, the sanitation sector has significantly included LCS segments. It can be implied that the policy makers saw segmentation through GSS segments as a good way in water sector, where provision of the water to all the segments was the key motivation. Hence, the focus was more to overcome geographical, technical and economic barriers to provide water supply. Hence, the dominant paradigm was to segment the population in terms of geography and social strata. Whereas when it came to sanitation sector, the needs of different population segments have to be accounted to provide such sanitation facilities. Hence, LCS segmentation became important in this sector.

Result 3: Conditions that lead to the inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits

The analysis for "Inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits in National polices" revealed six configurations as shown in Table 21. These configurations revealed a pattern wherein four configurations pertained to Asian polices and two configurations pertained to African policies. Each of these configurations has explained below:

Frequency cut off:1.0 Consistency cut off:			
Configurations	Raw coverage	Unique coverage	Consistenc y
water*SANITATION* GOVT* STRLCS* ASIA	0.25	0.06	1.0
SANITATION *GOVT *BARLCS *STRLCS *ASIA	0.25	0.06	1.0
SANITATION *AGENCY* GOVT* STRLCS *ASIA	0.06	0.06	1.0
WATER * sanitation* agency* GOVT* barlcs*STRLCS * ASIA	0.06	0.06	1.0
WATER *SANITATION* GOVT* STRLCS *AFRICA	0.18	0.18	1.0
SANITATION * HYGIENE *AGENCY *GOVT*BARLCS* STRLCS * AFRICA	0.12	0.12	1.0
Solution coverage	0.75		
Solution consistency	1.0		

Table 21: Conditions that led to the identification and inclusion of LCS in the WASH benefits in national policies

The solution coverage 0.75 explains that the configurations presented explain 75% of the cases that exhibit the outcome. The solution consistency was 1.0.

The policies exhibited a stronger inclusion of LCS when the government had a predominant role in drafting the policies. The benefits were included only when sufficient strategies for different LCS segments were identified by the governments in their policy documents. Only then the intent of LCS was translated to benefits to various LCS segments in policies. The identification of barriers was important apart from strategies in sanitation policies in Asia. However, if the barriers were not properly identified, the multilateral agencies played a key role in augmenting this knowledge and facilitate the inclusion of LCS benefits. This pattern was particularly seen in African policies. For example, Ethiopia's National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy 2005 was drafted by the Ministry of Health and had the support of a multilateral agency that had made "invaluable contributions" throughout the drafting process. Further, agencies also provided technical support to government during the policy making process by reviewing and even ensuring the publication of the policy document. A similar arrangement was observed in the case of Kenya's Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Strategic Framework (KESSF), 2015. Other key observation is that in policies in Africa, the LCS was included in benefits when the policy dealt with two or more of the WASH sectors whereas in Asian context, the LCS was included when the policy pertained to only one of the WASH sectors. This indicates that the governments in Asia identified LCA benefits better when they were focussed on one sector. Finally, we did not find any evidence of LCA benefits being included in Hygiene sector alone. However, in Africa LCA benefits find way to be included in the policies for hygiene when the policies also included sanitation in their scope. This points out to the fact that hygiene sector is still evolving and yet to mature in terms of inclusion of LCA in benefits.

Result 4: Conditions that lead to the inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits

Inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits in National polices yielded seven configurations as shown in Table 22.

Table 22:	Conditions that led to the inclusion of G	SS in the WA	SH benefits in
national p	policies		

Frequency cut off:1.0	Consistency cut off: 1.0		
Configurations	Raw	Unique	Consistency
Configurations	coverage	coverage	
WATER *GOVT*bargss *ASIA	0.21	0.03	1.0
WATER *GOVT*STRGSS *ASIA	0.42	0.07	1.0
WATER*SANITATION *BARGSS *STRGSS * ASIA	0.21	0.03	1.0
SANITATION*hygiene *GOVT *BARGSS *STRGSS	0.21	0.07	1.0
* ASIA			
WATER *SANITATION*GOVT *STRGSS * AFRICA	0.10	0.07	1.0
WATER *GOVT*BARGSS *STATGSS* AFRICA	0.17	0.14	1.0
SANITATION* HYGIENE*AGENCY	0.10	0.10	1.0
*GOVT*BARGSS *STRGSS *AFRICA			
Solution coverage	0.92		
Solution consistency	1.0		

The solution coverage of 0.92 explains that the configurations presented explain 92% of the cases that exhibit the outcome. The solution consistency was 1.0.

Findings from this review revealed that across Asia and Africa, GSS were well represented in the water sector than the sanitation sector. However, they were least represented in the hygiene sector. A look at the dataset revealed that out of 33 polices, 24 had covered GSS in the water sector and 21 policies covered GSS in the sanitation sector. Only 8 policies had covered GSS in the hygiene sector. Higher solution coverage score in this analysis indicated that benefits for GSS segments were better identified than the LCS segments in the policies for WASH sectors. Similar to LCS, in the inclusion of population segments in the benefits for GSS, the presence of multilateral agency was key in the African context. An important pattern observed here is that for GSS segments, the identification of barriers and strategies for GSS segments was key in the identification for benefits for GSS segments. This differed significantly from LSS where the identification of strategies was key in inclusion of LCS benefits.

Overall, these patterns along with solution coverage and consistency indicate that while the governments are more comfortable in identifying barriers, strategies and benefits in GSS segments, such maturity is limited in the case of LCS. Thus, the inclusion of benefits for GSS segments is wide-spread in WASH policies. As far as LCS segments are concerned, some progress has been achieved in water and sanitation sector when the policies were focussed on individual sectors in Asia and when helped by a multilateral agency in Africa. However, the hygiene sector lags the other two sectors in the inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits.

While our analyses revealed the existing patterns on identification and inclusion of population segments in the different WASH sectors, we do not comment whether this pattern of inclusion of GSS and LCS proved effective in ultimately delivering the WASH benefits to the population. Studying the effectiveness of GSS or LCS was not included in the intended scope of this study.

4.2 WASH programmes and projects

This section provides a description of the P&P dataset included for this review. The dataset included a combination of completed and on-going P&P from selected agencies implemented during the MDG period across countries in Asia and Africa. Following a brief description of the search results, this sector presents the results on WASH barriers, strategies and benefits.

4.2.1 Overview of included documents

A total of 131 P&P were obtained through our sourcing and search strategy of which 105 were programmes and 26 were projects. The highest number of programmes were from India followed by Nepal and Ethiopia while the highest number of projects was from Bangladesh, Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda (see Table 23).Documents included for the review consisted of appraisal reports, completion reports and so on. All documents pertaining to a single programme or project were grouped and coded together.

abid	= 23. F&F Dy COUI	lu y	
	Region	Programmes	Projects
	Bangladesh	7	5
	India	24	1
	Nepal	14	2
SIA	Pakistan	5	1
Ä	Total	50	9
	Ethiopia	14	2
	Kenya	7	4
	Malawi	7	1
	Madagascar	8	0
	Nigeria	5	2
CA	Tanzania	7	4
FRI	Uganda	7	4
Ā	Total	55	17
	Overall Total	105	26

Table 23: P&P by country

P&P documents were obtained directly from websites of agencies and this process yielded maximum number of documents. However, searching for P&P documents presented several challenges. There was considerable heterogeneity in (a) the way documents were catalogued by agencies unlike websites of academic journals and (b) in the sophistication of search engines across different agencies. The process of searching for documents on websites of some agencies was fairly straightforward while others were a little difficult. Therefore the search strategy had to be adapted for each agency

depending on the availability of filters and recognition of boolean operators. For example, in some agencies multiple filters could not be used simultaneously resulting in several repetitions of the search strategy to cover all the selected countries and time period. Further, in many cases, agencies did not provide the hyperlink to P&P databases such as ELDIS and WEDC. A list of documents that were unavailable on websites was maintained and included in email correspondence with each agency. Although emails were sent to all selected organisations and governments, the response was poor (refer Appendix P for a detailed list of agencies that responded). Several agencies referred us back to their websites while others responded that the request was time consuming and could not be complied with.

Hygiene sector had the lowest number of P&P in both, Asia and Africa: Results showed that the hygiene sector had not received much attention compared to water and sanitation, with only 21 P&P in Asia and 34 P&P in Africa (see Table 24). This could be because "there is a difficulty in finding indicators of progress for hygiene, since hygiene behaviour is difficult to measure objectively" (Biran et al. 2012). This coupled with the fact that hygiene does not have an MDG target could have contributed to the lack of attention given to this sector. Among the water and sanitation sectors, Asia had an equal number of water and sanitation P&P while Africa had marginally more sanitation P&P than water. This focus on sanitation P&P in Africa could be attributed to the need for additional effort to achieve the MDG target on sanitation in sub-Saharan Africa (UNICEF and WHO 2015).

documents available on their websites. Wherever links to these documents were not available, the same documents were searched using Google and Google Scholar as well as specialised

Sector	Asia	Africa
Water	50	66
Sanitation	50	70
Hygiene	21	34
Total	59	72

Table 24: P&P by sector and region

Asia had more number of regional projects than Africa: P&P were implemented on a national as well as at a regional level (refer Table 25). Our dataset had a larger number of P&P implemented at a regional level in Asia, than for Africa which had an equal number of national and regional P&P. The focus on regional level implementation in Asia could be because water and sanitation are 'State subjects' as per the constitution, in India, Pakistan and Bangladesh with state or provincial governments having the responsibility of providing water and sanitation facilities. There has also been a policy thrust towards rural and urban areas which could have resulted in regional level P&P in Asia. For instance, India's Strategic Plan for Water, 2011-2022 stated that the, "the rural water sector should promote overall decentralisation set out in the constitution and strengthen implementation approaches adopted by the government."

Among the African countries, Ethiopia led the count with most number of national level P&P. This could be because of the country's high level political commitment to achieve

MDG 7 and end open defecation. According to WHO (2015) there has been considerable push from the National Government of Ethiopia to introduce nation-wide programmes to improve access to WASH and also involve education institutions and human resources in implementation of these programmes.

Table	= 23. 1 di 3 by uom		rable 25. For 5 by domain and country					
	Country	National	State or Regional	Total				
	Bangladesh	2	10	12				
	India	7	18	25				
	Nepal	5	11	16				
SIA	Pakistan	3	3	6				
A	Total	17	42	59				
	Ethiopia	10	6	16				
	Kenya	7	4	11				
	Madagascar	2	6	8				
	Malawi	4	4	8				
-	Nigeria	2	5	7				
IC⊿	Tanzania	6	5	11				
FR	Uganda	5	6	11				
A	Total	36	36	72				

Table 25: P&Ps by domain and country

P&Ps focussed on construction and rehabilitation of WASH infrastructure: P&P included in the review focussed predominantly on infrastructure provisioning which included the construction and rehabilitation of WASH infrastructure (see Table 26). Other dominant themes that supplemented the creation of infrastructure were institutional capacity building, behaviour change including creating awareness among beneficiaries and community capacity building programmes.

Type of intervention	Construction and rehabilitation	Behaviour change and awareness programmes	Institutional capacity building	Community capacity building
Multilateral Agencies	74	47	56	51
Bilateral Agencies	34	23	10	15
International NGOs	3	2	0	5
Governments	14	16	12	7
Total	125	88	78	78

Table 26:	Type of	i WASH	P&P	by	agency
-----------	---------	--------	-----	----	--------

Africa received more funding for WASH P&P than that of Asia during MDGs: P&P

in the selected countries were funded by international financial institutions, multilateral and bilateral agencies, international NGOs and National governments. Our results showed that funding for a single WASH P&P ranged between USD 0.1million and USD 3 billion with an average of approximately USD 142.2million per programme or project. A large share of this funding was directed towards the African region, which received a total of approximately USD 9.5 billion as opposed to the Asian region which received USD 4.9 billion during the MDG period. This finding corresponds with global aid

commitment to sub-Saharan Africa which received USD 4 billion in 2012 for the water and sanitation sectors, the highest among all the regions (WHO 2014). Our dataset also showed a larger number of P&P funded by multilateral and bilateral agencies in Africa (65) compared to Asia (48) (refer Table 27).

Although multilateral and bilateral agencies did have a presence in Asia, it was interesting to note that national governments emerged as key funders in the region. Several flagship programmes such as National Rural Drinking Water Programme (2011) and Swachh Bharat (2014) in India and Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project in Western Nepal (2009) have been introduced by National governments.

Agency		Asia	Africa	Total
	ADB	14	0	14
	AfDB	0	24	24
Multilateral agencies	WB	18	11	29
	UNDP	0	1	1
	UNICEF	4	4	8
	European Commission	0	1	1
	DFID	8	7	15
	SIDA	0	2	2
Bilateral Agencies	AUSAID	0	1	1
	DANIDA	1	0	1
	USAID	3	14	17
International NGOs	IRC	1	2	3
Government	Gov-National	9	5	14
Government	Gov-State	1	0	1
Total		59	72	131

Table 27: Classification of project P&P by agency and region

Water and sanitation sub-sectors received more focus than hygiene: It can be seen from Table 28 that hygiene sector received low coverage corresponding with findings from Table 27. This could be because international agencies had more P&P in the water and sanitation sub-sectors. However, a number of hygiene P&P - 23 were funded by bilateral agencies.

Agency	· - ·	Water	Sanitation	Hygiene
	ADB	14	9	2
	AfDB	23	24	9
Multilateral	WB	28	26	3
Agencies	UNICEF	4	8	6
	UNDP	1	1	0
	European Commission	1	1	1
	DFID	15	15	12
Bilateral Agencies	USAID	16	16	10
	SIDA	1	2	0
	DANIDA	1	1	0

Table 28: Classification of P&P by agency and sector

Agency		Water	Sanitation	Hygiene
	AUSAID	1	1	1
International NGOs	IRC	2	2	3
Government	Gov-N	9	13	8
	Gov-S	0	1	0
Grand Total		116	120	55

The evidence base showed an increase in the number of P&P from 2000 to 2015:

Across Asia and Africa, the number of P&P implemented showed a steady increase from 25 between 2000 and 2004 to 61 between 2010 and 2015 (refer Table 29). This increase could be attributed to the commencement of several international campaigns to accelerate progress on the MDGs from 2005 onwards. The decade of 2005 to 2015 was declared as the 'International Decade for Action: WATER FOR LIFE' by the UN (General Assembly Resolution 58/217). The General Assembly also declared the year 2008 as the 'International Year for Sanitation' on 26th December, 2006 (UN 2006). This declaration aimed to "provide the global community with an opportunity to raise awareness and accelerate action for the achievement of the sanitation MDG through a variety of actions and interventions" (UN Water, 2008). This was followed by an advocacy campaign, 'the sanitation drive to 2015' adopted through a UN resolution (General Assembly Resolution 65/153) in December 2010 to accelerate progress towards the MDG.

S No	Time period	Numb	Total	
S. No. Time period	Asia	Africa		
1	2000 to 2004	11	14	25
2	2005 to 2009	16	29	45
3	2010 to 2015	32	29	61
Total		59	72	131

Table 29: Timeline for WASH programmes and projects

Limited data was available on the achievement of P&P targets: Data was also collected on P&P targets wherever available and approximately 43 P&P (resulting in 302 observations) provided data on achievement of project goals and targets across WASH. P&Ps had a wide variety of parameters by which goals and targets were assessed. Some of these parameters were: number of people with access to safe WASH facilities, number of schools with access to safe WASH facilities, reduction in percentage of population practicing open defecation, number of people reached through awareness campaigns, establishment of user groups and percentage of women and excluded groups in water and sanitation committees and so on. P&P targets were analysed as they were mentioned in the document without any further classification.

Table 29 shows that among the LCS, targets intended for women were achieved (including rural and urban) while targets set for children, adolescent girls and boys were under achieved. Further, we found that those P&P that covered a wider geographical area such as rural or urban areas, achieved or over achieved their targets. However, nothing conclusive can be drawn from these results because several factors such as implementation capacity of agencies, co-operation from the community, political stability and so on (not in the scope of this review) could have contributed to the achievement or non-achievement of targets.

Achievement of target	Under achieved	Over achieved	Achieved	Total
LCS	·	·		
Children	12	6		18
Rural children	4	5	1	10
Urban children			1	1
Adolescent boys	7	3		10
Adolescent girls	8	3		11
Women (Adults)		6	3	9
Rural women	2	1	5	8
Urban women			2	2
Men (Adults)		1		1
Rural men	1		2	3
Urban men				
Transgender				
Senior Citizens				
Disabled	1	1		2
PLHIV				
GSS				
Poor and low income		3		3
Rural	50	70	13	133
Urban	27	30	9	66
Rural poor and low income	1	2		3
Urban poor and low income		3		3
Caste		1		1
Ethnicity		2		2
Migrants/Pastorals		4		4
Vulnerable by occupation		2		2
Universal	6	4		10

Table 30: Achievement of targets by segments

4.2.2 Numerical summary

Population segments identified in P&P

Of a total of 131 P&P, 104 identified LCS segments of which 47 were from Asia while 57 were from Africa. On an average a single P&P mentioned two LCS in both regions (Table 31). This trend was consistent across the three WASH sub-sectors as well. Results also showed that a maximum of 7 segments were included in a single P&P. Further, approximately 11 P&P in Asia and 15 P&P in Africa did not identify any LCS at all suggesting that, like policy documents, P&P could have focused on provision of universal access.

	WASH		Water		Sanitatio	n	Hygiene		
_	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	
tion	(N=59)	(N=72)	(N= 50)	(N=66)	(N= 49),	(N=70)	(N= 21)	(N=34)	
ulai nei	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	
ndo	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	[Max,	
ч Ņ	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	Min]	
201	2.44	2	1.88	2.14	2.63	2.15	3.4	3.1	
203	(7,0)	(7, 0)	(6, 0)	(7, 0)	(7,0)	(7,0)	(7,0)	(7,0)	
699	2.08	1.80	2.04	1.83	2.14	1.82	1.66	1.76	
633	(5,0)	(4, 0)	(5, 0)	(4, 0)	(5,0)	(4,0)	(5,0)	(4,0)	

Table 31: Coverage of segments in P&P

Among the LCS, women and children were the most mentioned segments and were recognised in more than 50% of P&P in both regions and across all three WASH subsectors (refer Appendix 15). All the other LCS were cited in less than 35% of P&P revealing a large gap between the top two and the rest of the segments identified (Table 32).Some of the other LCS which received attention were adolescent girls, boys, men and the disabled. Men were more frequently identified in Asian P&P which could be attributed to the recognition of men as decision makers and as managers of family budgets in a predominantly patriarchal society. Senior citizens and PLHIV were least mentioned segments. Further, PLHIV found mention only in Africa. Although WASH policies in few Asian countries (Nepal and India) recognised PLHIV, P&P in the region have not recognised them. The transgender community was not identified in any programme or project.

With respect to the GSS, 120 P&P mentioned GSS of which 51 were from Asia and 69 were from Africa. While the average number of GSS cited in a single programme or project was around 2, a total of 8 P&P in Asia and 3 P&P in Africa did not include any segment at all (Table 32). Of these P&P 7 pertained to WASH as a whole while others were a combination of the sub-sectors. Further, 38 P&P in Africa identified two segments as opposed to 16 P&P in Asia. Results also showed that in Africa a maximum of 4 segments have been included in a single P&P while in Asia 5 segments were included in a single P&P. Observations from the hygiene sector were limited because the number of hygiene P&P itself were few as seen in Table 31.

	WASH		Water		Sanitati	on	Hygiene		
Segments	Asia (N=59)	Africa (N=72)	Asia (N=50)	Africa (N=66)	Asia (N=49)	Africa (N=70)	Asia (N=21)	Africa (N=34)	
Children	53%***	61%***	48%***	64%***	57%***	63%***	90%***	79%***	
Adolescent girls	31%***	28%***	24%***	29%***	35%***	29%***	57%***	50%***	
Adolescent boys	22%	25%	18%	26%	27%	26%	43%	47%	
Women	71%***	58%***	70%***	61%***	80%***	59%***	86%***	62%***	
Men	20%	14%	16%	14%	20%	14%	24%	26%	
Transgender	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	0%	
Senior Citizens	3%	4%	0%	3%	4%	4%	5%	6%	
Disabled	17%	17%	12%	17%	18%	17%	19%	29%	
PLHIV	0%	4%	0%	5%	0%	4%	0%	3%	

Table 32: Percentage coverage of LCS in WASH P&P

Note: Segments with top three ranks have been denoted by ***

Table 33: Percentage coverage of GSS in WASH P&P

	WASH		Water		Sanitati	on	Hygiene	
Segments	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa
	(N=59)	(N=72)	(N=50)	(N=66)	(N=49)	(N=70)	(N=21)	(N=34)
Rural	59%***	68%***	51%***	71%***	63%***	70%***	62%***	76%***
Urban	39%***	65%***	32%***	67%***	35%***	66%***	24%***	56%***
Poor and low income	58%***	36%***	46%***	33%***	65%***	36%***	48%***	29%***
Caste	25%	0%	22%	2%	27%	1%	14%	3%
Ethnicity	25%	1%	22%	0%	27%	0%	19%	0%
Migrants and Pastoralists	0%	10%	0%	11%	0%	10%	0%	12%
Vulnerable by occupation	3%	0%	2%	0%	4%	0%	5%	0%
Universal	17%	18%	15%	18%	16%	17%	43%	18%

Note: Segments with top three ranks have been denoted by ***

Priority given to rural, urban and poor segments: Among the GSS, results showed that the predominant segments mentioned were rural, urban and the poor. In Asia we found that the rural and poor segments were cited in equal percentage of P&P followed by the urban segment. On the other hand, in Africa, rural and urban segments found almost equal mention, suggesting an emphasis on improving access across regions with geographical variations. The poor were cited in less than 40% of P&P. Consistent with the trend in policy documents, Asian P&P have mentioned population groups marginalised by caste, ethnicity and occupation while African P&P mentioned migrants and pastoralists.

BARRIERS

Identification of barriers in P&P was limited: Out of 131 P&P, barriers were identified in 93 P&P. Within these, LCS were identified in 36 P&P (13 in Asia and 23 in Africa) whereas GSS were identified in 57 P&P (22 in Asia and 35 in Africa). With respect to the WASH sub sectors, there were more observations for water followed by sanitation and hygiene in both regions.

Our results showed that among the LCS, barriers faced by women and adolescent girls were the most frequently mentioned across the evidence base. These segments were followed by children and rural children. Descriptions of barriers were not available for senior citizens. With respect to GSS, most number of barriers were identified for rural, urban and urban poor segments. Barriers were not cited for the rural poor, groups marginalised by caste, ethnicity and occupation. Tables 34 and 35 provide observations for the type of barriers faced by the population in LCS and GSS respectively.

Population Segments	No of P&P	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total
Asia									
Children	4	7			2				9
Adolescent Girls	5	7	1	1	2		3		14
Women	8	7		2	5				14
Others	4	3	3	1			1		8
Sub Total (Asia)	12	24	4	4	9		4		45
Africa									
Rural Children	8	4			6				10
Adolescent Girls	5	4			6		1		11
Women (Adults)	6	4			3	4			11
Others	17	3	4	1	13	4	4		29
Sub Total (Africa)	23	15	4	1	28	8	5		61
Grand Total	35	39	8	5	37	8	9		106

|--|

Adequacy and environmental barriers cited for women, adolescent girls and children reflected stresses faced in access: Adequacy and environmental barriers were cited the most for women, adolescent girls and children predominantly across the water and sanitation sectors (refer Appendix P). Example of adequacy barriers were, "existing water supply schemes connect only limited population groups and women and children are forced to collect water from public stand posts" (India's Punjab Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Improvement Programme, 2015)". While examples of environmental barriers included "women and children walk long distances to fetch water and experience waiting time between 20 and 15 minutes" (Uganda's Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2008) and "women had to travel long distances to access latrines" (Pakistan's Sanitation Programme at Scale - Phase 1, 2014).

While the nature of barriers described for women, adolescent girls and children may be similar, the consequences of these constraints were nuanced with each of the segments. Women and adolescent girls largely faced gender based violence and sexual harassment while accessing facilities (Kenya's Sustainable Sanitation in Slums Project, 2012). Researchers refer to these consequences as stresses. Sahoo et al. (2015)'s study on the difficulties faced by women in accessing WASH facilities, during four life stages, revealed that women faced social, sexual and environmental stresses. Some of the stresses described by the authors were, "*simply being seen walking to the latrine or water source made women feel vulnerable*" and "*encountering drunk men when accessing sanitation and feeling apprehensive during these encounters because women could not rely on drunk men to act rationally*".

In addition to gender based violence, adolescent girls faced consequences related to MHM, especially in schools, which affected their school attendance rates. For example, "absence of water and sanitation facilities in schools affects girls' performance and they miss classes during menstruation as they have to walk long distances home or to the nearest toilet" (Ethiopia's One WASH Programme, 2013) and "lack of sanitation facilities in schools reduces school attendance especially during menstruation" (Tanzania's Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme, 2010). Children's attendance rates too were also affected because of their role in collecting water. For instance, "children spend more time collecting water instead of attending school" (Nigeria's Zaria Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2011).

Population Segments	No of P&P	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total
Asia									
Rural	8	6	4	3	4		2	1	20
Urban	5	5	1	3	2				11
Urban Poor & Low Income	4	8	1	1			1	4	15
Others	1	1							1

Table 35: Count of observations for barriers for GSS by region

Sub Total (Asia)	22	20	6	7	6		3	5	47
Africa									
Rural	10	7	3		4		5	3	22
Urban	10	5				2	2	7	16
Urban Poor & Low Income	5	1		2		4		2	9
Others	5	6		2		3			11
Sub Total (Africa)	35	19	3	4	4	9	7	12	58
Grand Total	57	39	9	11	10	9	10	17	105
Universal (Asia)	5	1	2				4	1	8
Universal (Africa)	5		2	1	2		1	2	8

Urban segments in Asia and Africa faced different types of barriers: Different types of barriers were mentioned for the urban population in the two regions. In Africa it was found that barriers related to policy and institutional constraints, physical constraints and exclusion of population segments from provision of WASH facilities (inclusion barrier). An example of a policy and institutional barrier was the existence of high water tariffs to access public sector services (Nigeria's Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Pilot Project, 2004). While physical barriers included poor maintenance of existing infrastructure (Nigeria's Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Pilot Project, 2004), inclusion barriers comprised of the non-integration of the poor and disadvantaged groups among the urban community into customer databases of service providers (Sustainable Water and Sanitation Programme in Africa (SUWASA), 2015).

In Asia, on the other hand, descriptions of barriers related to attitudinal and demand side constraints. Example of an attitudinal barrier was, "*lack of awareness among the urban community on hygiene and health aspects*" (India's SwachhTelangana Mission, 2015). While an example of a demand side barrier was, "*poverty often prevents the disadvantaged from accessing WASH facilities in urban areas*" (Bangladesh's Support to Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Programme, 2010). Such diversity in barriers was not observed for the rural population which predominantly faced adequacy and environmental barriers.

Attitudinal barriers were more prevalent across the sanitation and hygiene sectors for both LCS and GSS: Attitudinal barriers were cited across population segments. These barriers pertained to the lack of knowledge or awareness on the availability of WASH services and facilities, resulting in poor sanitation and hygiene practices such as open defecation. Among the LCS, attitudinal barriers were identified for 4 segments, namely, women, adolescent girls, men and PLHIV whereas in the GSS, rural, urban and poor segments were faced with attitudinal barriers. Examples this barrier cited in P&P documents were; "there is a cultural taboo to build latrines within the compound" (Madagascar's Grand South Rural Potable Water and Sanitation Programme, 2011) and "men believe that open defecation is better than having a toilet in/near the house" (India's Karnataka Integrated Urban Water Management Investment Programme, 2015). Examples from the data set seemed to suggest that there were taboos associated with sanitation and hygiene across cultures which affect the adoption and sustenance of new and safe practices. This finding on attitudinal barrier was corroborated in a report by Water Aid (2011), which stated that, "*improving sanitation and hygiene is not just about physical infrastructure. Much depends on human behaviour change.*"

STRATEGIES

Within the dataset, strategies were specified for LCS in 37 and 44 P&Ps in Asia and Africa respectively. Similarly, for GSS, 55 P&P in Asia and 66 P&P in Africa had identified WASH strategies. Sector wise results for both regions have been presented in Appendix Q.

Amongst the WASH strategies, women, specifically women in rural areas, children and adolescent girls had received maximum attention in WASH P&P in both regions. Due to the large number of P&P focussed on the rural sector in this review, there was a greater representation of life-segments in rural WASH initiatives. The GSS that featured frequently in our dataset in Asia and Africa were population in rural areas, urban areas and the urban poor and low income category). Apart from these three categories, strategies were identified for groups marginalised by caste and ethnicity in Asia and migrants and pastoralists in Africa.

Population Segments	No of P&P	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	IEC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity building	Project Management	Provision of financial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation Marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total
Asia	-							-						
Children	7				28	3		3		3			3	40
Rural children	11				24	6				2	2			34
Rural women	20	3	27	7	10					1		2		50
Others	19	16	11	13	40	10	1		2	1		3	1	98
Sub Total (Asia)	36	19	38	20	102	19	1	3	2	7	2	5	4	222
Africa														
Adolescent girls	8	3	1	3	17	1				1		3		29
Women	12	4	6	25	5							3		43
Rural women	16	7	30	12	12		2							63
Others	43	6	14	33	80	2	4			7	1	6		153
Sub Total (Africa)	44	20	51	73	114	3	6			8	1	12		288
Grand Total	80	39	89	93	216	22	7	3	2	15	3	17	4	510

 Table 36: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region

IEC played an important role in implementation of P&Ps, especially in the

sanitation sector: Of the entire set of strategies used in P&P implementation, IEC appeared to play an important role in the implementation of WASH P&P and was often used in combination with other strategies such as promoting demand management, encouraging beneficiary participation, and decentralisation. This was possibly a reflection

of the low level of awareness about the importance of WASH and more importantly, aligns with the predominance of attitudinal barriers with regard to WASH amongst LCS and GSS. Therefore, IEC was used as means to various ends across all WASH P&P implemented by multi-laterals, bi-laterals and government agencies. Between the WASH sub-sectors, count of observations for the sanitation sector was the highest, followed by water and hygiene sectors.

WASH P&Ps showed emphasis on decentralisation and beneficiary participation as preferred strategy for women: Our analysis revealed increasing focus on the involvement of women in the planning, implementation and maintenance of WASH P&P. Strategies that were deployed frequently across various P&P for women included decentralisation of service delivery, beneficiary participation and IEC (refer Table 36). Decentralisation included the setting up of WASH committees in the community, involvement of local bodies in provision of services, formation of water and sanitation user groups, and the establishment of committees to plan, design, execute and maintain WASH infrastructure. The involvement of women in these decentralised structures in order to improve WASH access was emphasised in both Asia and Africa. Few examples of this component were:

- "participation of women in water supply and sanitation user committees" (Nepal's Second Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project , 2008),
- "inclusion of women in village water and sanitation committees, special women's gram sabha" (Maharashtra Rural Water Supply and Sanitation, India, 2014),
- "female participation in village-level decision making in community water supply and sanitation organizations" (Tanzania's Integrated Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Program (iWASH), 2013),
- "community management of water supply and sanitation facilities by organizing water user associations (WUAs) which include women in leading positions" (Malawi's Sustainable Rural Water Infrastructure for Improved Health and Livelihood project, 2014),
- "women to be fully involved in management and maintenance of water points (Madagascar's Short Term Rural Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation Programme, 2005),
- "establishment of WASH committees of which 35% are women and all treasurers are women" (Ethiopia's Water Supply and Sanitation Program, 2004).

Countries like Nepal, India and Ethiopia had even gone to the extent of stipulating the extent of women's representation in such WASH committees. For instance, in Nepal's Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme-Gurkha Welfare Scheme-Phase IV, 2012, it was stipulated to have 33% representation of women in WATSAN committee whereas in Ethiopia (Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) Program, 2008), the composition of WASH committees had to include 2-3 women members in a total of 5-7 members. In India (Punjab Rural Water Supply and Sanitation, 2006), Gram panchayats, the lowest decentralized governance structure at the village level, was to have 1/3rd women members in its water and sanitation committees.

Beneficiary participation was yet another WASH component for women often mentioned in our dataset. The involvement of women in different aspects of planning, design, implementation and maintenance of WASH infrastructure comprises beneficiary participation. However, there were various ways in which different P&P achieved beneficiary participation. For instance, Pakistan (Rural sanitation in nineteen flood affected districts of Pakistan- Phase II, 2011) had stressed on "the involvement of women in household level decision making in construction of sanitation and hygiene facilities". In Uganda (Water and Sanitation Program, 2006), the focus was on the involvement of women in construction and training on improved WASH practices. Few P&P had envisaged the role of women as managers of WASH committees. For example in India (Kerala Rural water supply and environmental sanitation project, 2009), women taking on the role of water committee treasurers was considered as a step towards women's empowerment.

IEC messages for women targeted their role as change-makers: Focus of IEC activities targeted at women largely included behavior change, training and capacity building on sanitation and hygiene, and hygiene promotion that includes menstrual hygiene management. These IEC activities were targeted at women playing different roles such as:

- training of women members of water and sanitation committee (Nigeria's Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Sub-Programmes in Yobe and Osun States, 2007),
- hygiene promotion activities for mothers (Pakistan's Safe Drinking Water and Hygiene Promotion Project, 2008),
- training of female councilors and health workers in hygiene education (Pakistan's Punjab Community Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Project, 2008),
- workshops for school teachers on hygiene (Zanzibar Urban Water and Sanitation Project, Tanzania, 2012),
- training of mothers to lead in hygiene and sanitation behavior change education (Rural Water Supply and Sanitation in Western Nepal - Phase I, 2009).

Across the dataset, it was noticed that women were specifically recognised and targeted as change agents and not only as recipients of improved water supply and sanitation. The centrality of women as WASH managers within the household as well as the community level, which was emphasised in policy documents, found a corresponding focus in P&P and policies as well. Analysis of components by agencies funding/implementing the P&P revealed that all three strategies mentioned above were preferred by multilateral agencies, bi-lateral agencies and national governments. However, due to the lack of sufficient documents from other implementation agencies such as international, national and local NGOs, the results cannot be generalized across regions and organisations.

Provision of WASH in schools and improving demand for WASH amongst children gained importance in WASH programmes: Children also found specific mention in WASH P&P across Asia and Africa. Similar to women, within the larger group of children, rural children were the focus of several P&P. For this segment, IEC was the most often used component in WASH programming due to the emphasis on behavior change in children. Few of the activities that comprised IEC included:

- "integrating hygiene messages into textbook curriculum and supplementary reading material" (SwacchVidyalaya Component of SwacchBharathAbhiyan, India, 2014),
- "child friendly school framework for improved sanitation and hygiene" (Nepal's One Wash Programme, 2015),

- "out of school alternative education for children not in school on basic rights for water, sanitation and hygiene" (Nepal's One Wash Programme, 2015),
- "setting up of school sanitation clubs with students, teachers and parents" (Malawi's School Sanitation and Hygiene Project (SSHP), 2004),"
- "formation of school WASH clubs for capacity building" (Sanitation Programme at Scale in Pakistan - Phase 1, 2014), and
- "conduct public awareness campaigns on WASH, girls menstrual health and involve community and school children" (Nepal's Third Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2014).

Apart from IEC, few WASH programmes had also focused on improving the demand for WASH facilities amongst children. In Pakistan (Early Recovery Scaling-up of Rural Sanitation in Flood Affected Districts (RUSFAD), 2013; Sanitation Programme at Scale in Pakistan - Phase 1, 2014), school children were not only the target for concerted IEC efforts to improve awareness on personal hygiene and sanitation but also were involved in community mobilization efforts for demand-led sanitation. Further, in Ethiopia, improving demand for WASH was stated to reduce poverty and address gender equality by reducing the time and effort spent by girls and children in accessing WASH (Ethiopia's Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene Project, 2014).

Hygiene education, MHM and sanitation promotion were commonly prescribed strategies for adolescent girls: For adolescent girls, in both Asia and Africa, IEC emerged as the most popular component used in WASH P&P. The emphasis of these IEC campaigns was on hygiene and creating awareness on MHM. Some of the commonly occurring observations under IEC were:

- "menstrual hygiene education to schools for girls and stockpiling extra sanitary pads, clothes for emergencies" (SwacchVidyalaya Component of SwacchBharathAbhiyan, India, 2014),
- "community awareness campaigns including campaigns in schools where 50% are girl children" (Nepal's Kathmandu Valley water supply improvement project, 2011),
- "creating awareness among adolescent girls with knowledge of MHM" (Support to One Water, Sanitation and Hygiene National Programme (OWNP), Ethiopia, 2014), and
- "hygiene and sanitation sensitisation campaigns for school students of which 40% are girls" (Zanzibar Urban water and sanitation project, Tanzania, 2012).

In addition to IEC, few other strategies deployed for adolescent girls included beneficiary participation, skill development and equity in WASH provision. Examples of these strategies included consultation of boys and girls in programme design i.e., beneficiary participation (One WASH National Programme, 2013), setting up of sanitation and hygiene stores by adolescent girls to promote skill development (Sanitation, Hygiene, Education and Water Supply in Bangladesh (SHEWA-B), 2012) and to accord priority to the needs of adolescent girls in order to ensure equity in WASH provision (India's SwachhBharath Mission Guidelines, 2014). However, the number of observations for these strategies was very few in our dataset.

Gender sensitivity and training men and adolescent boys on management of WASH had gained some traction in WASH P&P: WASH P&P documents also

included a mention of strategies for men and adolescent boys. Although IEC is by far the most used component for these two segments, it is useful to understand the focus of such IEC activities. Strategies such as the following alluded to the important role played by men as household decision makers in the construction of sanitation and hygiene facilities: "training of beneficiaries (male, female, youth) on hygiene and sanitation to involve them in management and maintenance of water, sanitation and hygiene facilities and provision of sanitary bits to encourage good hygiene practices" (Uganda's Water and Sanitation Programme, 2006); involvement of men in hygiene and sanitation training in order to encourage them to provide latrines for households (Malawi's National Water Development Programme - WASH promotion in Seven Market Centres, 2010). For adolescent boys, the emphasis of IEC efforts were towards "developing gender sensitive school sanitation and hygiene promotion systems and materials" (Malawi's School Sanitation and Hygiene Project, 2004), "consultation with boys and girls for programme design (Ethiopia's One WASH National Program, 2014) and "developing gender sensitive school sanitation and hygiene promotion systems and materials" (Tanzania's Water sector development Programme, 2006).

Disabled, the aged and PLHIV received limited attention: LCS that received minimal attention in P&P strategies were the disabled, senior citizens and PLHIV in Africa. In Asia, PLHIV were not mentioned at all in our dataset and observations for senior citizens and disabled were too few in number. These observations mainly focused on equity in WASH provision for the vulnerable population which also included the disabled and the elderly. Some examples were the "construction of communal toilets in low income areas with access to disabled and people with special needs" (Ethiopia's Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene Project, 2014), "involve disabled in programme designing" (Ethiopia's One WASH National Program, 2014), "expanding access to include poor, children, women, disabled, elderly" and "disabled groups will be involved in the planning and design of water points and latrines in schools and other places to ensure one latrine in each block for the disabled" (Malawi's National Water Development Programme - WASH Promotion in Seven Market Centres, 2010).

For PLHIV in Africa, hygiene education efforts were highlighted in the IEC component. In Kenya, building institutional capacity for the integration of HIV awareness in WASH found mention (Kenya Integrating WASH into HIV interventions and advancing improved sanitation uptake, 2014).

Strengthening of institutions and decentralisation were prominent strategies used for the rural population: Similar to the LCS, IEC was the most frequently used component in improving access to WASH. For the rural population, apart from IEC, institutional strengthening, decentralisation, beneficiary participation, improving demand for WASH and ensuring equity in WASH provision were the most commonly implemented strategies (refer Table 4.34).

 Table 37: Count of observations for strategies for LCS by region

Population Segments	No of P&P	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	IEC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity building	Project Management	Provision of financial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation Marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total
Asia			_	_			-	-	_	-	-	-		-
Children	7				28	3		3		3			3	40
Rural children	11				24	6				2	2			34
Rural women	20	3	27	7	10					1		2		50
Others	19	16	11	13	40	10	1		2	1		3	1	98
Sub Total (Asia)	36	19	38	20	102	19	1	3	2	7	2	5	4	222
Africa														
Adolescent girls	8	3	1	3	17	1				1		3		29
Women	12	4	6	25	5							3		43
Rural women	16	7	30	12	12		2							63
Others	43	6	14	33	80	2	4			7	1	6		153
Sub Total (Africa)	44	20	51	73	114	3	6			8	1	12		288
Grand Total	80	39	89	93	216	22	7	3	2	15	3	17	4	510

Examples of a few observations were:

- "capacity building of government staff of rural water supply and sanitation utilities" (Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Sub-Programmes in Yobe and Osun States, Nigeria, 2007),
- "capacity building of state institutions and institutional reform to bring in decentralization" (Uttaranchal Rural Water Supply and Sanitation, India, 2006),
- "community participation in all stages of the project including construction of facilities" (Tanzania's Integrated Water, Sanitation and Hygiene, 2013),
- "community participation in programme designing, selecting of water points, selection of service level" (Ethiopia's Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme, 2005),
- "determine rural water supply and sanitation needs of the region and develop a programme based on demand responsive approach" (Kenya Rift Valley Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2004), and
- "adopting community-led people centered demand-led approached to lead to behaviour change" (India's NirmalBharathAbhiyan, 2012).

Provision of water in urban areas, especially to the urban poor and low income groups has garnered more attention in WASH P&P: For the urban population, priority was given to provision of WASH facilities, institutional strengthening and stakeholder participation. Few examples of these strategies included, "*providing institutional support to local utilities*" (Kenya's Urban Water and Sanitation OBA for Low-Income Areas, 2014), "*rehabilitation of existing urban water and sanitation facilities in Nakuru to reduce UFW*" (Kenya's Rift Valley Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2004), "*infrastructure* *investment in urban water supply and sanitation/sewerage and catchment source protection*" (Uganda Water Management and Development Project, 2012), and "*local NGOs working with the community to collect user fee for maintenance*" (Bangladesh's Secondary Towns Water Supply and Sanitation, 2009).

Apart from these two segments, urban poor and low income groups, groups marginalised by caste and ethnicity, and migrants and pastoralist had also received attention in terms of equity in WASH provisioning. Financial incentives were mentioned as a component only for the urban poor and low income in Asia.

P&P strategies must be tailor-made and sensitive to ground realities: From our dataset of 131 P&P, 47 documents provided information on the strategies that succeeded and those that did not. While some of these documents were evaluation reports, few others were completion reports. All the observations recorded from the data set were grouped under the same categories as the strategies for analysis. Data for only the top three LCS i.e., rural women, adolescent girls and children have been presented in Appendix Q. It must be noted that observations regarding the reasons that contributed to the success or failure of a component were specific to each P&P. What worked in one P&P may not have worked in the other and therefore generalisations have been avoided.

It was observed that for the LCS, provision of WASH facilities, beneficiary participation and IEC were the strategies that had contributed to improvements in access. For example, provision of WASH facilities for women, girls and children reduced the time and distance spent in accessing WASH infrastructure which helped women in income generating activities, improved daily life for girls and better health for children. However, in some instances, it was found that provision of WASH facilities had had a detrimental effect. For example, the introduction of flush latrines led to the increased demand for water as a result of which, women and adolescent girls had to fetch more water to keep the latrines clean. Participation of beneficiaries, through the course of implementation was found to have helped rural women whereas use of IEC to sensitise children improved household hygiene and sanitation practices.

Among the GSS, a wider range of strategies were deployed. Use of IEC efforts succeeded because it led to the capacity building of local community, fostered their willingness to participate in local committees, created awareness on importance of WASH practices. However, IEC efforts on hand washing had not worked in certain situations because of high cost of water and soap in rural areas. Decentralisation of WASH provision, as a component, succeeded in ensuring community ownership and transparency in the management of facilities, whereas the lack of capacity of local governments who were entrusted with WASH P&P implementation led to delays. In project management, while direct transfer of cash to local bodies and the treatment of water and sanitation projects separately had worked, organisation constraints and reluctance from community to sustain the efforts affected WASH P&P.

Since evaluation reports of all the P&P included in this review were not available, this analysis has been brief. However, few observations presented here highlighted the need to take a closer look at what might have worked and not worked during the MDGs. Availability of robust evaluation data would be helpful in undertaking such a study.

BENEFITS

WASH benefits were identified for the LCS in 72 P&P, of which 33 were from Asia and 39 were from Africa. Amongst these, count of benefits was higher in the African region across all the three WASH sub-sectors. Between the sub sectors, observations for LCS in the sanitation sector were higher than that of water and hygiene sectors (refer Appendix R for sector wise observations). Children, children residing in rural areas, adolescent girls and the disabled were the LCS with the most number of benefits identified (Table 38).

Among the GSS, a total of 120 P&P had identified benefits, of which 53 were from Asia and 67 were from Africa. Within these, count of benefits was higher in the African region across all the three WASH sub-sectors. Between the sub sectors, observations for GSS in the water sector were higher than that of sanitation and hygiene sectors. Rural, urban and urban poor and low income categories had the highest count of benefits attributed to them (refer fig. 34). Improving availability, physical accessibility and quality and safety of WASH facilities, were the most common benefits realised by LCS and GSS in Asia and Africa. However, there were sector and segment variations which have been discussed below.

Ensuring availability of WASH facilities gained momentum in WASH P&P in Asia and Africa: In both LCS and GSS, results showed a thrust towards improving availability of WASH facilities (refer Tables 38 and 39). Descriptions of observations from the data set revealed a few differences in the location where WASH facilities were made available for LCS. For example, providing WASH facilities in schools was the focal point for children and adolescent girls, whereas for women, men and the disabled, availability of WASH at the community level, in health centers, markets and other public places was given emphasis. The data showed a larger number of observations for the disabled in Africa than in Asia.

Population Segments	No of P&P	Availability	Physical Accessibility	Affordability	Quality & Safety	Total
Asia	1					
Children	12	30	10		3	43
Rural children	14	28	13	6	6	53
Adolescent girls	10	24	15	2	3	44
Others	21	77	59	15	13	164
Sub Total (Asia)	32	159	97	23	25	304
Africa						
Children	16	37	15		10	62
Rural children	17	32	15		2	49
Adolescent girls	17	28	22		5	55
Others	30	111	104	1	22	238
Sub Total (Africa)	41	208	156	1	39	404
Grand Total	73	367	253	24	64	708

Table 38: Count of observation for benefits for LCS by region

Few of the preeminent benefits for children included the provision of safe drinking water, access to soap and water for hand washing, construction of school latrines with separate toilets for girls and boys above the primary level and safe disposal of excreta in schools (Ethiopia's Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene Project, 2014; Malawi's School

Sanitation and Hygiene Project, 2004; Tanzania's Water Sector Support, 2007). Examples of observations for adolescent girls included:

- "every adolescent girl and woman must have easy access to sufficient, affordable and hygienic menstrual absorbents" (India's Swachh Bharat Gramin, 2014),
- "separate latrines were installed for school girls and teachers" (Bangladesh's Action Research for Learning Programme, 2016),
- "toilets in all government schools to be constructed with emphasis on girls, schools to be provided with financial assistance up to 70% of unit cost" (India's Nirmal Bharat Abhiyan, 2012),
- "increase access to and use of safe water in schools for adolescent girls" (Ethiopia's ACP-EU Water Facility, 2010).
- "separate toilets for girls and boys, male and female teachers in schools which should be accessible by physically disabled girls" (India's SwacchBharath Mission, 2015),

From the above observations, it was noticed that greater prominence given to sanitation and hygiene, especially availability of material for MHM for adolescent girls. This could be linked to puberty- an important stage in a girls' life cycle where the lack of toilets and sanitary facilities in schools affects their school attendance and educational aspirations. Some examples of observations on improved availability for men and the disabled were:

- "construction of latrine blocks in health centers separately for male and female" (WASH initiative for the Rural Poor in 21 Districts in Uganda, 2012),
- "sex aggregated on-site public sanitation facilities which are also friendly to physically challenged users" (Tanzania's Arusha Sustainable Urban Water and Sanitation Delivery, 2015),
- "mono-blocks or single units that provide drinking water, toilets, shower and laundry facilities for men and women" (Madagascar's Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene Bilateral Projects: RanoHp, 2013),
- "installation of public pay and use latrines in markets, tourist spots separate for men and women" (Second Kerala Water Supply and Sanitation, India, 2011) and
- "institutions, schools, public places to have disabled-friendly, gender friendly toilets and hand washing facilities" (Rural Water Supply and Sanitation in Western Nepal- Phase II, 2014).
- "provide access to improved sanitation facilities which are disaggregated by sex and usable by physically challenged" (Tanzania's Arusha Sustainable Urban Water and Sanitation Delivery, 2015),
- "construction of communal toilets in low income areas with access to disabled and people with special needs" (Ethiopia's Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene Project, 2014) and
- "construction of community toilets with water closet, facilities for hand washing with separate toilets for men, women, disabled friendly (ramps, braille signage), child friendly with good lighting and ventilation and connection to septic tanks or underground systems (India's SwachhTelangana Mission, 2015).

Physical accessibility of WASH facilities in terms of distance, time and privacy was addressed in P&P: Enabling the physical accessibility of WASH, in terms of time and distance taken to access the facility, was a common benefit realized by LCS. The count of observations for this benefit was higher amongst LCS in Africa than that of Asia. Few examples pertaining to this benefit for children were: "schools in the programme area now have functioning hand wash points with soaps within 15 yards of their latrines" (Bangladesh's Action Research for Learning Programme, 2016), "safe water within 0.5km of all schools" (Uganda's Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme, 2005), and "new gender separated sanitation and disability sensitive facilities in schools and health centers at seat-student ratio of 1:50" (Ethiopia's One WASH National Programme, 2013). For women, improved physical accessibility resulted in reduced water and sanitation burden captured in statements such as the following:

- "household time saved in fetching water ranges from 0.86-4.0 hrs/day. Women and children have more time for schooling and household work" (Nepal's Third Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2014),
- "sex aggregated public toilets with disabled friendly design installed in strategic places, women's toilets to ensure privacy and safety" (Nepal's Third Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2014),
- "women benefit from the privacy offered by on-site sanitation" (Ethiopia Netherlands UNICEF Water Initiative (NUWI), 2010).

Quality and Safety of WASH facilities were given more attention than affordability:

Results showed more weightage given to guality and safety than ensuring affordability of WASH facilities. Amongst the LCS, count of observations of benefits on quality and safety was higher for Africa than that of Asia. This finding aligned with the goals of the MDGs which stressed on the provision of improved water that was free from contamination and improved sanitation facilities that hygienically separated human excreta from human contact. Further, historically, due to the linkages between inadequate WASH facilities and poor health outcomes especially that of diarrhoea in children in several poor countries, ensuring quality and safety of WASH appears to have gained priority over affordability. However, a recent study on cost of WASH provisioning by the Water and Sanitation Program of the World Bank (Hutton and Varughese, 2016) highlighted the importance of addressing affordability of WASH services in order to progress with the SDGs. The study claimed that while the overall sector spending may be sufficient to meet the SDGs, a significant share of public funds should be used to target the poor and marginalised population groups. The report also recommended national governments to provide a policy environment as well as use financial tools such as cross subsidies, grant financing and use of cost-recovery approach to make WASH services affordable to the un-served population.

From our dataset, women in Asia appeared to be the only LCS to have been targeted with financial incentives in order to improve the affordability of WASH. These incentives included "provision of incentives of Rs. 12,000/- provided to women headed households for construction of individual household level latrines" (India's SwacchBharath Mission, 2015), "households to be given small investments to construct toilets, new network extensions or for operation and maintenance" (Punjab Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Improvement Programme, India 2015), "free/subsidized piped water connections and private toilet facilities to women" (Nepal's Third Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2014).

PLHIV and senior citizens mentioned only in Africa: Keeping in line with the barriers and the strategies, senior citizens and PLHIV are two segments that have received very little attention in WASH programmes, in Africa. There was no mention of these two

segments in Asia. Improving availability and physical accessibility were the two benefits attributed to senior citizens and PLHIV. The examples on availability and physical accessibility were, "construction of 17 stances of latrines for vulnerable population-persons affected by HIV/AIDS" (Uganda's Water and Sanitation Programme, 2006) and "women, children, senior citizens and disabled feel safer because of toilets in close proximity to their houses" (Madagascar's Community Led Total Sanitation Campaign, 2014).

Rural areas have benefited from increased coverage in water and sanitation sectors: Amongst the GSS, people in rural areas were the focus of WASH benefits (refer Table 39). Increasing availability of WASH facilities received considerable attention, followed by physical accessibility and quality and safety. P&P implemented in African countries had more number of observations that were targeted at increasing availability of WASH facilities in rural areas than that of Asian region. Few examples of WASH benefits targeted at the rural population were:

- "increase rural water and sanitation coverage" (Nigeria's Zaria Water Supply Expansion and Sanitation Project, 2011),
- "construction of community water points/stand posts linked to piped water and yard connections" (Nepal's Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Improvement Project, 2014),
- "construction of rural community water points" (Ethiopia's Water Supply and Sanitation Programme, 2004), and
- "increase in the number of rural people having access to improved water supply" (Uttaranchal Rural Water Supply and Sanitation, India, 2006).

Similar pattern of WASH provision was observed for urban areas as well. However, the emphasis on providing a household connection for water and sanitation was higher in urban areas than rural areas. Few observations for this segment included:

- "people to get potable water inside their house (Ethiopia's Harar Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2013),
- "people in urban areas provided with access to improved sanitation" (Uganda's Water Management and Development Project, 2011),
- "increase average daily hours of water supply" (Kenya's Small Towns and Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2009).
- "coverage of urban population with access to improved sources" (Uganda Joint Water and Environment Sector Programme Support, 2013),
- "rehabilitation of water distribution network" (Bangladesh's Dhaka Water Supply Sector Development Programme, 2008),
- "access to improved water supply to urban residents" (Ethiopia's Water Supply and Sanitation Programme, 2004), and
- "construction of household toilets in urban areas" (SwachhTelangana Mission, India, 2015).

Benefit	No of P&P	Availability	Physical Accessibility	Affordability	Quality & Safety	Total
Asia						
Rural	32	126	37	12	23	198
Urban	16	49	15	3	11	78
Urban poor & low income	10	21	1	3	1	26
Others	15	32	8	22	7	69
Sub Total (Asia)	48	228	61	40	42	371
Africa						
Rural	44	168	40	4	24	236
Urban	30	112	22		7	141
Urban poor & low income	17	30	8	8	4	50
Others	7	20	6			26
Sub Total (Africa)	64	330	76	12	35	453
Grand Total	112	558	137	52	77	824
Universal (Asia)	7	15	1	3		19
Universal (Africa)	9	26	10	3	7	46

Table 39: Count of observations for benefits for GSS by region

Poor and low income benefited from improved availability and affordability of WASH: Apart from rural and urban areas, other categories of population for which WASH benefits were identified were the poor and low income in urban and rural areas. Few examples of observations were,

- "poor people gained access to safe water as a result of newly installed/repaired water points in rural communities" (Bangladesh's Sanitation, Hygiene, Education and Water Supply in Bangladesh (SHEWA-B), 2012),
- "construction of new public and community latrines for low income areas" (Kenya's Rift valley Water Supply and Sanitation Project, 2004),
- "support to poor households to construct latrines Nepali Rs.1000 Rs.1700" (Nepal's School led Safe Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Improvement in Mid-Western, 2014), and
- "increase access to drinking water supply for poor rural and small town dwellers in target areas" (Tanzania's Integrated Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Project, 2013).

Caste based groups have received attention in Asia: In Asia, groups marginalised by caste and ethnicity were mentioned in WASH benefits whereas in Africa, migrants and pastoralists were identified in WASH P&P. Programmes from India and Nepal contributed towards observations on caste and ethnicity from the Asia region. In Africa, Ethiopia was the only country to have mentioned migrants and pastoralists in their programme documents. Few examples of WASH benefits from India and Nepal were:

- "provision of drinking water supply to SC/ST concentrated habitations" (India's National Rural Drinking Water Programme, 2010),
- "incentives of Rs.24,600 to BPL families, SC and ST, physically handicapped, women headed HH and Rs.5100 for hilly areas including beneficiary contribution to construct individual household toilets" (India's Nirmal Bharat Abhiyan, 2012),

- "provision of water to tribal Gram Panchayats households" (Maharashtra Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project – Jalswarajya, 2003), and
- "dalits, ethnic groups and poor are not being denied access to water taps as was the case before" (Nepal's Community based water supply and sanitation sector project, 2012).

For the migrants and pastoralists, the observations were as follows: "provision of facilities to pastoralist regions to be integrated with other programme aimed at improving water supply to migrant population" (Ethiopia's Water Supply and Sanitation Programme, 2004), "consultations with pastoralists for designing the programme" (Ethiopia's One WASH National Program, 2013), and "rehabilitated water supply systems for rural areas and for pastoral areas" (Ethiopia's One WASH National Program, 2013).

Public connections were provided in larger numbers than household connections: An analysis of data pertaining to the location of the WASH facility revealed the type of facilities provided during the MDGs (refer Appendix R). Since all P&P documents did not contain data on the location, the number of data points was limited. It was found that between 2000 and 2015, there were a greater number of public connections provided in both Asia and Africa. However, the observations for Africa were greater than Asia. Within the LCS, children followed by adolescent girls and boys were the beneficiaries of these public connections. This may be explained by the importance given to providing WASH facilities in schools. Women and disabled were also provided with public connections albeit not to the extent provided for children or adolescents.

In the GSS, rural areas, followed by urban populations received the most mention where it was found that observations for household connections were greater in Asia, whereas in Africa emphasis on public connections were higher. Although nothing conclusive can be said about this analysis, this information may be useful in understanding any linkages between the barriers such as adequacy or physical accessibility and the WASH benefits. For example, it can be seen that adequacy barriers to WASH services for children and the adolescents were addressed by the provision of public connections rather than shared or household connection. And, these public connections were largely provided in schools as availability of WASH was linked to education outcomes and school attendance. However, it cannot be concluded that household connections were not provided at all since there may be other programmes in a country or region that focused on household connections. These linkages could perhaps be explored in future research.

P&P robustness

The analysis for P&P robustness index was carried out across 131 P&P including 59 Asian P&P and 72 African P&P. At the aggregate level, GSS had a better representation of all the three indicators within P&P than LCS. The overall robustness index for GSS was 6.1 and 4.3 for LCS. Region-wise analysis resulted in interesting findings that reflected different approaches taken by Asian and African P&P towards LCS and GSS. African policies were observed to have a slightly higher robustness index than the Asian policies. However, it can be observed from Table 40 that there was only a marginal difference between the LCS robustness index in Africa and Asia.

	Robustness
LCS	index
Overall LCS	4.3 (N=131)
LCS Asia	4.2 (N=59)
LCS Africa	4.3 (N=72)
Overall GSS	6.1 (N=131)
GSS Asia	5.9 (N=59)
GSS Africa	6.2 (N=72)

Table 40: P&P robustness index across LCS and GSS

Figure 19 and Figure 20 provide the average P&P robustness index for countries in Asia and Africa respectively.



Figure 19: Average P&P robustness index for Asian countries



Figure 20: Average P&P robustness index for African countries

Figure 21 presents the P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments. Of the three WASH sub-sectors, sanitation sector had a high robustness index among LCS and among GSS, it was the water sector.



Figure 21: P&P robustness index across WASH sectors and population segments

Though at the aggregate level, African P&P had an edge over Asian P&P, the segment wise data presented in Table 41 revealed that across WASH sub-sectors the robustness index for individual LCS was comparatively high in Asia than in Africa. The overall WASH robustness index in both Asia and Africa was found to the highest among women and followed by children and adolescent girls. The robustness index for children was a little higher in Africa than in Asia. In all the three sectors, women and children accounted for the top two ranks in both the regions. While only the adolescent girls had scored the third rank in water and sanitation in Asia, in Africa, the additional segments including men and the disabled were ranked third. Men had received attention in the hygiene sector in both Africa and Asia and the robustness index was marginally higher in Africa than in Asia.

1.09	Water		Sanitation		Hygiene		WASH	
205	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa
Children	2.1***	1.9***	2.5***	2.3***	2.3***	1.9***	2.8***	3.1***
Adolescent girls	1.5***	1.2***	2.0***	1.5***	1.7	1.4	1.9***	1.9***
Adolescent boys	1.3	1.1	1.5	1.4	1.3	1.3	1.5	1.6
Women	3.5***	2.6***	3.1***	2.4***	2.4***	1.5***	3.4***	3.4***
Men	1.3	1.2***	1.5	1.5***	2.0***	2.1***	1.8	1.6
Senior citizens	1.0	1.1	1.0	1.1	1.1	1.0	1.1	1.1
Disabled	1.1	1.2***	1.4	1.4	1.1	1.2	1.4	1.5
PLHIV	1.0	1.1	1.0	1.2	1.0	1.1	1.0	1.2

Table 41: P&P robustness index among LCS

Note: Segments with top three ranks have been denoted by ***

Contrary to LCS, among GSS, the P&P robustness index was observed to be higher in Africa than in Asia as presented in Table 42. This trend was consistent across all the three WASH sub-sector and the overall WASH. The segments with top three ranks across the three WASH sub-sectors and overall WASH were rural, urban, and poor and low income.

000	Water		Sanitation		Hygiene		WASH	
635	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa	Asia	Africa
Rural	2.7***	3.8***	3.4***	3.6***	2.3***	2.7***	3.8***	4.2***
Urban	2.5***	3.4***	2.5***	3.3***	1.7***	2.0***	2.9***	3.8***
Poor and low income	2.2***	1.9***	2.4***	1.8***	1.3***	1.2***	2.8***	2.9***
Caste	1.6	1.0	1.4	1.0	1.1	1.0	1.7	1.0
Ethnicity	1.7	1.0	1.6	1.0	1.1	1.0	1.8	1.0
Migrants/ Pastoralist	1.0	1.2	1.0	1.2	1.0	1.2***	1.0	1.2
Vulnerable by occupation	1.0	1.0	1.1	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.1	1.0

Table 42: P&P robustness index among GSS

Note: Segments with top three ranks have been denoted by ***

4.2.3 Qualitative Comparative Analysis

The QCA results for P&P have been presented in this section. The presence of sufficient data points, that is, 59 Asian P&P and 72 African P&P, allowed separate analysis for Asia and Africa. The analysis for P&P was primarily conducted separately for LCS and GSS and aimed to answer following two questions:

- 1. What conditions lead to the identification and inclusion of LCS and GSS in WASH P&P?
- 2. What conditions lead to the identification and inclusion of LCS and GSS in the WASH benefits in WASH P&P?

While csQCA was used to analyse the first question, fsQCA was used to analyse the second one. This largely depended on the type of input conditions selected for the analysis. The number of input conditions included for both the regions differed, however, and fell under three broad categories: type of implementing agency, funding agency and type of WASH subsector. The description of the outcome variable and the input conditions used for the analysis for both LCS and GSS has been presented in Table 43.

The overall QCA resulted in region-specific conditions that ensured the inclusion of LCS and GSS in WASH benefits. In the Asian context, P&P implemented by government had a positive impact on the outcome and in addition a tripartite partnership with local NGO and community also ensured the inclusion of LCS and GSS in WASH benefits. On the other hand, aid agencies' influence in African P&P ensured LCS and GSS coverage in WASH benefits. With respect to the WASH subsectors, the sanitation sector had a higher degree of association in encompassing LCS in WASH benefits in both Asia and Africa. On the other hand, inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits was seen in all the three WASH subsectors.

 Table 43: Description of outcome variable and input conditions – P&P

WATER	Policy covered the water sector
SANITATION	Policy covered the sanitation sector
HYGIENE	Policy covered the hygiene sector
AGENCIES IN	/OLVED:
FUNDING	P&P funded by an aid agency
GOVT	Government as implementing agency
COMM	Community as implementing partner
NGO	Local NGO as implementing partner
MLBL	P&P implemented with the support of a multi-lateral or bi-lateral agency
DEVELOPMEN	IT INDICATORS:
HDI	Human Development Index
JMP	Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply and Sanitation

The results for each QCA analysis carried describe the outcome condition, the input conditions used and all the possible configurations that led to the outcome. We describe a few terms frequently used in reporting the findings here. More details about the QCA method are provided in the Methods Chapter in Section 3.5.2.

- In the configurations presented, the condition in upper case denotes the presence of the condition and the absence or low prevalence of the condition is denoted in the lower case. For example, the condition "Agency" which represents the presence of a multilateral or bi-lateral agency in drafting the policy is denoted as "AGENCY" if present in the solution and "agency" in the absence of this condition. The symbol (*) denoted an AND relationship between two combinations within a configuration.
- **Raw coverage** for each configuration denotes the proportion of the data points that a configuration is present in the data points exhibiting the outcome.
- **Unique coverage** indicated the proportion of the data points (of the data points exhibiting a desired outcome) in which a particular configuration is alone present.
- **Solution coverage** measures the degree to which the outcome is covered or explained by all the configurations present in the solution.
- **Consistency** indicates how consistently a particular configuration explains an outcome. It is measured as the proportion of the data points exhibiting both the outcome and the configuration to the total number of data points in which the configuration in present. This gives an indication whether the presence of the condition alone is sufficient to lead an outcome. Higher the consistency, better the sufficiency of the configuration under question. A score of 0.8 or more for consistency is considered good for QCA solutions.
- **Frequency cut-off** denoted denotes the minimum number of cases (data points) with a configuration taken as significant to be included in the analysis.
- **Consistency cut-off** indicates the minimum consistency score taken in the analysis to consider a solution to be significant for a particular outcome of interest.

Result 1: Identification and inclusion of LCS in Asian P&P

The results for the outcome condition, "inclusion of LCS in Asian P&P" resulted in four causal configurations presented in Table 44.

Table 44: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of LCS in AsianWASH P&P

Frequency cut off: 1.00Consistency cut off:0.77					
Configurations	Raw coverage	Unique coverage	Consistency		
SANITATION*HYGIENE*funding*HDI*JMP	0.15	0.03	0.94		
SANITATION*funding*GOVT*HDI*JMP	0.21	0.09	1.00		
water*SANITATION *hygiene*FUNDING*HDI* JMP	0.11	0.11	0.87		
WATER*SANITATION*HYGIENE *GOVT *HDI*JMP	0.30	0.21	0.85		
Solution coverage	0.55				
Solution consistency	0.90				

The solution coverage of 0.55 indicated that the different configurations explained 55% of the cases that exhibit the outcome. The solution consistency was 0.90.

The inclusion of LCS in WASH P&P was observed to be high in countries with high HDI and JMP coverage. Further, compared to other sectors, P&Ps in the sanitation sector were associated with high representation of LCS.

Result 2: Identification and inclusion of GSS in Asian P&P

Table 45 presents the results for outcome condition, "identification and inclusion of GSS in Asian P&P".

Table 45: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of GSS in Asian WASH P&P

Frequency cut off: 1.0	Consistency cut off: 1.0			
Configurations	Raw	Unique	Consistency	
Configurations	coverage	coverage		
water*SANITATION*HYGIENE*funding*HDI*JMP	0.06	0.06	1.0	
WATER*sanitation* funding*GOVT*HDI*JMP	0.02	0.02	1.0	
Solution coverage	0.09			
Solution consistency	1.00			

The low solution coverage 0.09 indicates that all the two configurations presented explain only 9% of the cases that exhibit the outcome. Low solution coverage and a high consistency score signify weak empirical evidence. The solution consistency was 1.0.

Similar to LCS, high HDI and JMP coverage were important development indicators that had a positive influence on the inclusion of GSS in WASH P&P. The presence of the agency was not imperative and high representation of GSS was possible even in the absence of a funding agency. With government as an implementing agency, the inclusion of GSS was observed to be high in the water sector. This is in contrast to the LCS where the sanitation was the key sector. The water sector seems to have identified GSS better than LCS.

Result 3: Identification and inclusion of LCS in African P&P

The results for the outcome condition, "inclusion of LCS in African P&P" resulted in two causal configurations presented in Table 46.

Table 40. Conditions that lead to the inclusion of ECO in Antean WAOTT at					
Frequency cut off: 1.0	Consistency cut off: 0.77				
Configurations	Raw	Unique	Consistency		
Configurations	coverage	coverage			
SANITATION*HYGIENE* FUNDING *JMP	0.20	0.03	0.78		
WATER*SANITATION* HYGIENE *FUNDING* GOVT	0.52	0.35	0.72		
Solution coverage	0.55				
Solution consistency	0.72				

Table 46: Conditions that lead to the inclusion of LCS in African WASH P&P

The solution coverage of 0.55 indicates that all the configurations presented explain 55% of the cases that exhibit the outcome. The solution consistency was 0.72.

In Africa, the role of the funding agency in ensuring high representation of LCS in WASH P&P was prominent especially in the hygiene and sanitation sectors. Though JMP was present in one of the configurations it was not a necessary condition that led to the outcome.

Result 4: Inclusion of GSS in African P&P

Table 47 presents the results for outcome condition, "inclusion of GSS in African P&P".

Table 47: Conditions that lead to the identification and inclusion of GSS in African WASH P&P

Frequency cut off: 1.0	Consistency cut off: 1.0			
Configurations	Raw coverage	Unique coverage	Consistency	
WATER*SANITATION* funding*GOVT* HDI	0.04	0.04	1.00	
Solution coverage	0.04			
Solution consistency	1.00			

The low solution coverage 0.04 indicates that all the two configurations presented explain only 4% of the cases that exhibit the outcome. Low solution coverage and a high consistency score signify weak empirical evidence. The solution consistency was 1.0.

In Asia, high GSS representation was possible when P&P targeting water and sanitation sectors were implemented by the government. Further, the presence of a funding agency was not seen as an important condition that had an impact on outcome.

Result 5: Conditions that led to the inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits in Asian P&P

The analysis yielded six configurations to the outcome variable, 'WASH benefits received by LCS in Asian P&P' as shown in Table 48. The solution coverage 0.47 explains that all of the configurations presented explain only 47% of the cases in which recognition was given to the inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits in Asian P&P. The solution consistency was 1.0.

Table 48: Conditions that led to the identification and inclusion of LCS in the	
WASH benefits in Asian P&P	

Frequency cut off:1.0	Consistency cut off: 1.0			
Configurations	Raw	Unique	Consistency	
Configurations	coverage	coverage		
SANITATION*	0.08	0.04	1.0	
HYGIENE*funding*NGO*COMM				
WATER*SANITATION * GOVT*ngo* COMM	0.13	0.13	1.0	
SANITATION *funding*GOVT *NGO *COMM	0.08	0.04	1.0	
WATER*funding*GOVT* NGO *COMM	0.04	0.04	1.0	
WATER*	0.04	0.04	1.0	
SANITATION*HYGIENE*FUNDING*GOVT				
*NGO *comm				
WATER*	0.13	0.13	1.0	
SANITATION*HYGIENE*govt*FUNDING*ngo				
*comm				
Solution coverage	0.47			
Solution consistency	1.00			

The configurations indicate that at the P&P level the kind of agencies involved in implementing the project becomes significant in terms of inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits. The patterns confirm that LCS would be prominent if the P&P were implemented by the government. For example, In India, the Swachh Bharat Mission Gramin is a flagship programme of the Government of India which focuses on rural sanitation. It is being implemented by the National and State Governments and the Water Sanitation Programme is providing technical assistance to develop key components of the program and supports implementation primarily at a state level (Water and Sanitation Program, End of Year Report, Fiscal Year 2015). Likewise, the Dhaka Water Supply and Sanitation Project in Bangladesh was implemented by the Government of Bangladesh through the Dhaka Water Supply and Sewerage Authority (DWASA).

Second, the community participation as captured by COMM condition becomes important for including LCS in WASH benefits. The community when included in the implementation process would help the inclusion of LCS. Community involvement was apparent in water and sanitation P&Ps and included most of the LCS - children, adolescent girls and boys, women and men. One of the popular community based approaches followed in the sanitation sector was the Community Approach to Total Sanitation (CATS). This approach believed in collective action and encouraged the rural communities to adopt safe and hygienic *sanitation* behaviour and ensured that all households have access to safe *sanitation* facilities (Kar and Chambers 2008; *WSP* 2007). This government-community partnership was key to the success of several P&Ps and one of them is the Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project in Western Nepal (Phase I 2008-2013) which followed a community-led approach for promoting behaviour change and this led the community to obtain ODF status in a short time frame.

Third, the inclusion of LCS is usually strengthened by the presence of a NGO who could influence the inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits. NGOs played a variety of roles in the WASH sector and with a tradition of local level community engagement; they have a comparative advantage in addressing some critical components of successful sanitation

initiatives (Carrard et al. 2009). P&Ps revealed that the role of community and local NGOs were more dominant in sanitation related P&Ps than in water or hygiene related P&Ps. Further, they were prominent in the case of government implemented P&Ps. More importantly, the combined involvement of community and local NGO ensured the provision of WASH benefits of LCS in P&Ps. For example, the Central Rural Sanitation Programme and the Total Sanitation Campaign implemented by the National government of India followed a strategy to make the programme 'community led' and 'people centered' and NGOs were roped in to operate the Production Centers and Rural Sanitary Marts.

Finally, it should be noted that if the programmes/projects included all the three WASH sectors, the LCS segments were included even when the community participation is absent in the implementation. The role of the multilateral funding agency towards the inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits was not very prominent.

Result 6: Conditions that led to the identification and inclusion of LCS in the WASH benefits in African P&P

The analysis of the output condition, 'WASH benefits received by LCS in African P&P' revealed five configurations as shown in Table 49. The solution coverage of 0.51 shows that the five configurations explain 51% of the cases. The solution consistency was 1.0.

Frequency cut off: 1.0	Consistency cut off: 1.0			
Configurations	Raw coverage	Unique coverage	Consistency	
water* SANITATION*HYGIENE* FUNDING*MLBL	0.03	0.03	1.0	
water*SANITATION * FUNDING*GOVT*COMM	0.03	0.03	1.0	
WATER* SANITATION*HYGIENE*FUNDING*GOVT* mlbl*comm	0.34	0.34	1.0	
WATER* SANITATION*HYGIENE*funding*GOVT *NGO *COMM	0.06	0.06	1.0	
SANITATION *HYGIENE*FUNDING*govt*MLBL*NGO*CO MM	0.03	0.03	1.0	
Solution coverage	0.51	•	·	
Solution consistency	1.0			

Table 49: Conditions that led to the inclusion of LCS in the WASH benefits inAfrican P&P

The configurations revealed some key patterns. First, the presence of multilateral agencies becomes important in the inclusion of LCS in African P&Ps. Though Community participation and NGO presence are also key for the outcome, multilateral agencies played a dominant role in influencing the outcome. Again compared to Asian programmes/projects, even when the P&Ps covered all the three WASH sectors, the presence of NGOs and Community participation were found to be key in inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits.

A total number of 72 P&Ps were included for Africa and it was observed that the sanitation and hygiene sectors had received precedence over the water sector. Africa's priority to sanitation and hygiene sectors can be linked to the African conference on sanitation and hygiene (AfricaSan) that took place in 2002 with the overall goal to accelerate sanitation and hygiene work in Africa in fulfilment of the MDGs. Apart from this, three globally significant initiatives also contributed Africa's focus on these two sectors. They were the International Year of Sanitation 2008 which provided an opportunity for increased advocacy for sanitation; Sanitation and Water for All (SWA), launched in 2010 which aimed to bring sanitation and water issues to world leaders and Ministers of Finance; and lastly, the General Assembly resolution (65/153) which established the Sustainable Sanitation: 5-year drive to 2015, launched in June 2011 (AMCOW et al. 2011). In addition to Africa's commitment to achieve international standards on sanitation and hygiene, slow progress towards achieving the MDG goal had placed tremendous pressure on governments to focus more towards sanitation and hygiene initiatives.

Presence of an aid agency in the inclusion of LCS was more pronounced in African P&P. This can be attributed to immense focus and priority of aid agencies towards Sub-Saharan African to meet the MDG goals especially on sanitation. Country-to-country or bilateral aid continues to make up bulk of the aid to the sector, although the proportion delivered multilaterally is increasing. Aid to water and sanitation was increasingly delivered multilaterally, with total multilateral ODA to the sector reaching US\$2,062 million in 2011–13 (three-year annual average) and Sub-Saharan Africa was one of the priority countries for aid investments (WaterAid 2015b). This corroborates with our review findings wherein majority of the P&Ps covered had strong multilateral agency assistance and mostly towards WASH infrastructure and construction initiatives. Moreover, a large emphasis was placed on the sanitation and hygiene sectors than the water sector.

Result 7: Conditions that led to the identification and inclusion of GSS in the WASH benefits in Asian P&P

The analysis of the output condition, 'WASH benefits received by GSS in Asian P&P' revealed five configurations as shown in Table 50. The solution coverage of 0.67 shows that the different configurations explain 67% of the cases. The solution consistency was 1.0.

Frequency cut off: 1.0	Consistency cut off: 1.0		
Configurations	Raw coverage	Unique coverage	Consistency
WATER*SANITATION *GOVT* FUNDING*NGO	0.18	0.04	1.0
water* SANITATION *hygiene *GOVT* ngo* comm	0.08	0.08	1.0
WATER* sanitation*hygiene * FUNDING*NGO*comm	0.04	0.02	1.0
WATER* sanitation*hygiene*GOVT*FUNDING* comm	0.12	0.10	1.0

Table 50: Conditions that led to the inclusion of GSS in the WASH benefits inAsian P&P

WATER * SANITATION *HYGIENE *GOVT	0.06	0.06	1.0
*funding*ngo			
WATER* SANITATION * hygiene	0.04	0.04	1.0
*GOVT*COMM* ngo			
water*SANITATION* funding *GOVT*NGO	0.04	0.02	1.0
*COMM			
WATER * SANITATION*hygiene *	0.08	0.02	1.0
funding*NGO*COMM			
water* SANITATION *hygiene *	0.02	0.02	1.0
FUNDING*govt *NGO *comm			
WATER* sanitation * hygiene * funding*	0.02	0.02	1.0
GOVT*NGO* COMM			
WATER* SANITATION	0.04	0.04	1.0
*HYGIENE*FUNDING* govt*ngo* COMM			
water* SANITATION *HYGIENE * GOVT*	0.02	0.00	1.0
NGO*COMM			
SANITATION * HYGIENE * FUNDING	0.10	0.00	1.0
*GOVT*NGO* COMM			
Solution coverage	0.67		
Solution consistency	1.00		

Owing to the presence of too many configurations, these configurations were grouped based on the presence or absence of two conditions: GOVT (government as implementing agency) and FUNDING (Aid agency). This resulted in the following key patterns:

Overall presence of the government as implementing agency for P&P was observed to be a core indicator that was present in nine configurations. The role of government as implementing agency in P&P has been dealt with in detail in the previous discussions. Majority of the P&P implemented by the government had high coverage of GSS and on an average two GSS population groups were covered in P&P.

GSS segments were included in all the three WASH sectors. Findings revealed that in Asia there was an equal number of water and sanitation P&P. Despite lower number of hygiene P&P, the coverage of GSS in this sector has been considerable. This probably can be the result of common WASH project management practice in which the hygiene sector was usually combined with the sanitation sector.

P&P implementation through a tripartite partnership between the government, local NGO and community had a positive effect on the outcome. This partnership was evident in the Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project in Western Nepal (RWSSP-WN) which was a sector support program that focused in implementing WASH activities in Nepal. The project was implemented by the government of Nepal and the WASH service delivery was coordinated with the help of local NGOs and the community played an essential role in the project process and helped to define the priorities based on which resources were allocated. This kind of implementation arrangement was possible with or without the presence of a funding agency. In the absence of an aid agency, the government takes the lead role to fund and implement the project along with the local NGO and community like the One National WASH Programme in Ethiopia. Inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits was also seen when the P&P encompassed more than one WASH sector.

Another pattern that have led to the inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits was that P&P was funded by an aid agency and was implemented through local NGO or/and community. In addition, when P&P covered only the water or the sanitation sector it was implemented through the NGO and when two or more WASH subsectors were covered, P&P was implemented largely through the community and local NGO.

Overall, the results point to the fact that GSS segments were widely included in WASH benefits as compared to LCS segments. The sanitation sector due to its unique features which mandate the inclusion of LCS segments benefits by the inclusion of community and NGO participation. This is absent in water and hygiene sector. We could attribute this pattern to the characteristics of water sector and the still improving maturity of the hygiene sector. The patterns observed indicate the fact that the GSS segments are widely accepted and recognized ways of policy making and P&P implementation across Asia and Africa. Only when community and NGO participation were present in specific sectors like Sanitation where the significance of LCS segments is more prominent, in such instances, the LCS segments are increasingly getting included in the P&P implementation.

Result 8: Conditions that led to the identification and inclusion of GSS in the WASH benefits in Asian P&P

The analysis of the output condition, 'WASH benefits received by GSS in African P&P' revealed five configurations as shown in Table 51. The solution coverage of 0.67 shows that different the configurations explain 67% of the cases. The solution consistency was 1.0.

Frequency cut off: 1.0	Consistency cut off: 1.0			
Combination	Raw	Unique	Consistency	
Combination	coverage	coverage		
SANITATION*HYGIENE * funding*GOVT	0.07	0.01	1.0	
WATER*SANITATION * funding*GOVT	0.09	0.03	1.0	
WATER*sanitation* FUNDING*GOVT	0.01	0.01	1.0	
water*SANITATION *FUNDING*mlbl*	0.04	0.04	1.0	
comm				
SANITATION *HYGIENE *FUNDING*mlbl*	0.21	0.18	1.0	
comm				
WATER*SANITATION*HYGIENE*FUNDI	0.06	0.01	1.0	
NG*MLBL*NGO*COMM				
WATER* SANITATION*hygiene	0.14	0.00	1.0	
*GOVT*COMM				
WATER*hygiene	0.14	0.00	1.0	
*FUNDING*GOVT*COMM				
WATER*SANITATION*HYGIENE*GOVT*	0.17	0.00	1.0	
NGO				
WATER*SANITATION *GOVT*NGO*	0.17	0.00	1.0	
COMM				
WATER*HYGIENE* FUNDING	0.10	0.00	1.0	
*GOVT*NGO				
WATER* FUNDING *GOVT *NGO*COMM	0.14	0.00	1.0	

Table 51: Conditions that led to the inclusion of GSS in the WASH benefits inAfrican P&P
WATER *SANITATION *HYGIENE *	0.09	0.00	1.0
GOVT*MLBL			
WATER*HYGIENE *	0.09	0.00	1.0
FUNDING*GOVT*MLBL			
Solution coverage	0.67		
Solution consistency	1.00		

The analysis resulted in eleven configurations as shown in table 4.44. These configurations were again grouped based on the presence or absence of two conditions: GOVT (government as implementing agency) and FUNDING (Aid agency). This resulted in three key patterns:

The government as implementers and funding agencies had an equal presence in the configurations that indicated their positive effect on the output: Government was the predominant implementing agency in both Asia and Africa. The funding agencies had a greater presence in African P&P than in Asian P&P. A total number of 65 P&P in Africa were funded by an aid agency. On the other hand, only 48 P&P in Asia were funded by an aid agency.

Partnership with the local NGO led to the inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits. Apart from the government as the lead agency in implementing P&P, the role of other implementation partners like local NGOs have yielded positive results towards inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits. Additionally, this partnership was very effective in achieving the output when both the water and sanitation sector was covered in the P&P. For example, Malawi's Intergrated Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project for Ntchisi and Mzimba district funded by an aid agency and implemented by the Government of Malawi had roped in local NGOs to carry out WASH campaigns at the grass-root level.

Overall, in terms of comparing the LCS to GSS benefits, the patterns observed here are similar to the observations in Asian P&Ps. GSS segments are more widely covered than LCS segments. LCS segments usually get incorporated when the implementing agency is assisted by community/NGOs.

4.2.4 Synthesis of results

This section highlights the key results from the analysis of WASH P&P in Asia and Africa.

Finding 1: Identification of population segments in WASH P&P, either by the LCS or GSS did not differ significantly between Asia and Africa.

P&P implemented across Asia and Africa had identified an average of about two LCS and GSS across Asia and Africa. Between the regions, LCS was identified in 57 P&P in Africa whereas only 47 P&P in Asia identified LCS. Similar to WASH policies, P&P focused largely on women and children in the LCS whereas rural and urban areas were most frequently mentioned in the GSS. Since the proportion of P&P which focused on rural areas was higher than urban areas, the influence on LCS was also seen. This resulted in a higher count of observations for "rural women" and "rural children" within the LCS. Apart from women and children, adolescent girls, boys, and the disabled were also prominently identified as beneficiaries in WASH P&P.

Finding 2: Adequacy and environmental barriers for LCS were tackled by providing WASH in schools and public connections within communities.

Of the 7 barriers identified for this review, adequacy and environmental barriers were cited often for women, children and adolescent girls. These barriers reflected not only the distance, time and effort spent in collection of water or in the use of sanitation facilities but also the quantity of water, number of toilet seats and absence of soap available for hand washing. Since these barriers had different consequences for different LCS, it was observed that P&P had proposed multiple steps to increase the provision of WASH facilities in schools as well as providing public connections within communities. For adolescent girls and women, provision of WASH included gender separated facilities, better access to menstrual hygiene aids and safe disposal mechanisms. Children, especially rural children, were targeted mainly through several school WASH programs in Asia and Africa.

Finding 3: IEC played an important role in implementation of P&P, especially in the sanitation sector.

IEC appeared to have played an important role in the implementation of WASH P&P and was often used in combination with other strategies such as promoting demand management, encouraging beneficiary participation, and decentralization. This was possibly a reflection of the low level of awareness about the importance of WASH and more importantly, this component aligned with the attitudinal barriers specified for LCS and GSS. Therefore, IEC was commonly used as means to achieve various goals across all WASH P&Ps implemented by multi-laterals, bi-laterals and government agencies. Between the WASH sub-sectors, count of observations for IEC component in the sanitation sector was the highest, followed by water and hygiene sectors.

Finding 4: Gender sensitivity training for men and adolescent boys on management of WASH had gained some traction in African WASH P&P

WASH P&P in Africa exhibited an effort to include men in WASH interventions. These P&P not only recognized the role played by men in WASH related decision-making but also the need to change their attitude towards the use of WASH facilities. Strategies focused on the use of IEC and beneficiary participation to encourage the involvement of men and adolescent boys in planning and providing WASH facilities in schools as well as in the community. Adolescent boys were also provided gender-sensitive training programmes on WASH in schools.

Finding 5: Availability, physical accessibility and quality and safety of WASH was prioritised.

Results showed an emphasis on provision of WASH facilities which were easily accessible and of acceptable quality/safety. Ensuring affordability of WASH did not emerge as a priority for the LCS. This finding aligned with the goals of the MDGs which stressed on the provision of improved water that was free from contamination and improved sanitation facility that hygienically separated human excreta from human contact. Further, historically, due to the linkages between inadequate WASH facilities and poor health outcomes, especially that of diarrhoea in children, in several poor countries ensuring availability of quality WASH facilities appears to have gained priority over affordability. However, ensuring affordability of WASH had gained attention among the GSS.

Finding 6: P&P implemented by the government in partnership with aid agencies showed high robustness between barriers, strategies and benefits.GSS had a better representation of all the three indicators within P&P than LCS

Better alignment between barriers, strategies and benefits was observed in WASH P&P that were implemented by government agencies in partnership with aid agencies. In Africa, out of the 12 P&P that showed high robustness, 11 were funded by a multilateral or bi-lateral agency. Similar trend was observed in Asia as well. However, robustness within the GSS was better than that of LCS. A total of 51 P&Ps that targeted the GSS showed high robustness, whereas the corresponding number for the LCS was only 22.

Finding 7: Engaging partnerships between government and the community or/and local NGOs in implementation, also yielded WASH benefits for LCS.

The role of the funding agencies in facilitating the coverage of LCS in WASH benefits was apparent across all the three WASH sub sectors. However, in its absence, the role of other stakeholders as implementing partners became prominent, for instance, the community. Community involvement was apparent in water and sanitation P&Ps and included a range of LCS such as children, adolescent girls and boys, women and men. In addition to community, another implementing partner that came into focus was the local NGO.P&Ps revealed that the role of community and local NGOs were more dominant in sanitation related P&Ps than in water or hygiene related P&Ps. Further, they were prominent in the case of government implemented P&Ps. More importantly, the combined involvement of community and local NGO ensured the provision of WASH benefits of LCS in P&Ps.

5. Summary and Implications

5.1 Review question and context

"To what extent have the Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene sub-sectors incorporated the life-cycle approach into policy, programmes, and projects during the MDG period?"

The paradigm for identifying the beneficiaries and understanding their needs and requirements for delivery of WASH services has evolved over time. Initially, governments started with the overarching objective of providing universal access to WASH services. With the increased thrust given by the MDGs, efforts were made to understand the specific needs and requirements of different population segments, in order to ensure equitable access. The idea behind this approach was that by addressing the access needs of different population segments, the objective of universal coverage to WASH services can be achieved. The population segments could be identified using different paradigms. The initial approach was to categorize the population using Geographic and Social segmentation (GSS). In recent years, population segments have been identified on the basis of gender, age, and disability. We called this as the Life-Cycle Segments (LCS).

In this review, we studied the extent to which policies and P&P in WASH sectors during the MDG period have incorporated LCS and contrast it with the trends seen in the incorporation of GSS. By incorporation of LCS or GSS we mean the following: (i) the number of different LCS and GSS that could be explicitly identified in the selected

documents for the review; (ii) the identification of the barriers (i.e., obstacles to access) specific to the different population segments; (iii) the strategies used to address the needs and requirements of different LCS and GSS; and (iv) the nature of benefits envisaged for the different segments.

The LCS and GSS were conceptual constructs. Analysis of the documents showed that both the LCS and GSS were not seen as mutually exclusive, and in almost all the documents the target population was classified into different segments, some of which pertained to the LCS framework and the remaining pertained to the GSS framework. This presented an unexpected opportunity to the research team. In addition to an analysis of the incorporation of LCS, the dataset also provided a prospect to compare the extent of the incorporation of both the LCS and GSS approaches in the policy and P&P documents. Such an analysis would have more relevance for the policy makers because of better insights.

Accordingly, the overall review question was operationalized into the following subquestions:

• Which segments of the population have been addressed in WASH initiatives during the MDG period? Did it vary between sectors, regions, policy domain and implementing agency?

This question referred to the coverage of different population segments in National/State WASH policies and P&P during the MDG period. It also attempted to understand if the coverage of population segments differed within the three WASH sectors, Asian and African region and among the implementing agency.

Have the barriers been identified for each of the segments in policies, P&P?
 What were the common barriers described? Did it vary between sectors and regions?

The above question pertained to the different barriers faced by population segments in accessing WASH services or facilities. The scope of WASH policies and P&P in identifying the common barriers faced by both LCS and GSS were analysed by sector and region.

 Have the strategies been identified for each of the segments in policies, P&P? What were the common strategies proposed? Did it vary between sectors and regions?

The different WASH policy and P&P strategies proposed for population segments were identified through this question and the common strategies were analyzed to capture the variations between sectors regions.

• Have the WASH benefits been identified for each of the segments in policies, P&P? What were the common WASH benefits suggested? Did it vary between sectors and regions?

This question aimed to describe the WASH benefits proposed in WASH policies and P&P for population segments and how it varied sector and region wise.

 What was the extent of robustness between barriers, strategies and WASH benefits for each population segment mentioned within policies and P&P? Did it vary between sectors and regions?

This question on robustness provided an in-depth perceptive on the extent to which barriers, strategies and WASH benefits were proposed for population segments.

- What conditions lead to the inclusion of population segments in WASH policies and P&P? Does it vary between sectors and regions? The above question analysed the extent of influence external indicators such as Human Development Index (HDI) and achievement of MDG targets (JMP data) in the inclusion of population segments in different WASH policies and P&P.
- What conditions lead to the inclusion of population segments in WASH benefits in policies and P&P? Does it vary between sectors and regions?
 The above question analysed the different conditions within the WASH policy and P&P purview that aided in the inclusion of population segments in WASH benefits. The indicators mostly comprised of the conditions that lay within the scope of the policy and P&P that were included for study.

5.2 Method

Details pertaining to the methods used in the review are provided below:

Document sources: Documents used for the study were of two types: Policy documents and P&P documents. Since the source for these two documents were several, this review used a sourcing and search strategy. The search strategy included a systematic search of websites of government agencies and departments in the eleven countries selected for the review for policy as well as P&P documents. Using a set of keywords and Boolean operators, these websites were searched for documents over a 15 year period. The search for P&P documents was expanded to include the websites of multilateral and bi-lateral agencies and INGOs. Apart from the search strategy, this review also adopted a sourcing strategy whereby, all the institutions mentioned above were contacted by email with a request to send documents pertaining to policy/ P&P implemented or supported by them during the MDG period. In addition to the sourcing and search strategy, 4 knowledge databases, Google, and Google scholar were also searched. Documents identified from cross-references were also searched using Google.

In-depth review: 190 documents that met the exclusion and inclusion criteria were included in the analysis.

Synthesis method: The evidence from the 190 documents was synthesized using numerical summary techniques and qualitative comparative analysis.

- Descriptive Statistics: In this review, a coding tool was used to capture information from the documents identified for inclusion in the review. Some of the important parameters were: the different population segments identified in the policies and/or P&P, WASH sectors, geographical regions, agencies involved in drafting/ implementation of the WASH intervention, and the WASH indicators specified for each segment and so on. A numerical summary of all the observations from 190 documents were used for the analysis.
- Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA): Out of the 190 documents, observations from 164 documents were used for the QCA. The input conditions for the QCA were derived based on an understanding of the content and context provided in the documents included for the review. Depending on the research question, either crisp set or fuzzy set scores were used for the QCA. The results were presented in configurations that denoted the combination of conditions that were associated with the outcome.

These two modes of synthesis not only gave the results on the extent to which the LCS or GSS has been adopted in WASH programmes but also highlighted the conditions that led to the incorporation of population segments in WASH. However, since the policies and P&P environment were not the same across all the eleven countries, the evidences were characterised by considerable heterogeneity.

5.3 Results

The results of the review based on the findings from numerical summary and QCA are as follows:

5.3.1 Population Segments

Initially, policies formulated in the WASH sector appear to have aimed at universal access to the facilities. It was found that as the MDGs progressed, policies were more focussed and started including LCS. At a policy level, GSS were more widely included than LCS. Among the LCS segments, women were the focus of relatively large number of policies. This was followed by children and the disabled segments. Other population segments were not given as much importance as noticed by the absence of certain segments like transgender in the policy documents. On a contrast, policies were relatively uniform in their focus on various GSS segments. Similar trends were noticed across different geographical regions as well. However, in Africa, relative importance was given to "persons living with HIV/AIDS" which was limited in Asia.

In the case of P&Ps too women and children were the most commonly identified LCS. However, a more uniform distribution across LCS and GSS segments was observed at P&P level as compared to the policy level. Among the various GSS segments, rural and urban segments received more attention. It was further observed that the number of P&P across all the WASH sectors increased with time. Finally, the water and sanitation subsectors received more focus than hygiene in P&P funded by multi-lateral/bi-lateral agencies.

5.3.2 Barriers

Barriers described in the policies and P&P documents were broadly classified into seven categories. Adequacy, environmental and attitudinal barriers were commonly identified across the LCS segments in WASH policies. However, the identification of barriers to WASH services was more uniform in the case of GSS. Similar trend was observed for the P&Ps across both LCS and GSS segments. Further, the most frequently identified barriers differed across Asia and Africa. Policies in Asia frequently identified adequacy and environmental barriers when using the LCS, whereas environmental barriers were the most frequently identified under the GSS. In contrast, policies in Africa identified attitudinal barriers most frequently in LCS, whereas it was adequacy and environmental barriers in GSS. However, when it came to P&P, both Asian and African countries followed similar patterns in identifying the barriers across LCS and GSS. Among the various LCS, barriers were most frequently identified for children.

The patterns observed could relate to the familiarity of the policy makers and project implementers in classifying and including the GSS in their mandates. However, the life-cycle approach has now found some traction amongst policy-makers. It was observed that the Asian countries identified adequacy related barriers as key across the LCS

segments. On the other hand, the African countries gave more importance to environmental related factors across LCS. This could be because of the contextual differences between the two regions.

5.3.3 Strategies

The contrast between LCS and GSS perspective in policies was also observed in the strategies identified. In LCS segments, beneficiary participation and IEC strategies were given greater importance whereas strategies for project management, financing, provision of services were given greater importance in GSS. Similar pattern was observed both in policies as well as P&P documents. Further, the trend was similar across both Asia and Africa.

This contrast between the LCS and GSS paradigms brings out interesting intuitions into the strategies adopted by the countries in achieving WASH objectives. While the GSS perspective made the policy makers aim more at efficiency and provision related strategies, the LCS perspective made them focus on more inclusion and empowerment based strategies. It could be concluded that the LCS perspective would bring about more de-centralized and demand based approaches to achieve WASH objectives as compared to centralized, supply driven approaches when looked at from a GSS perspective.

5.3.4 Benefits

Availability was the most common benefit identified across LCS and GSS in policies as well as P&P. Further, there was a greater focus on benefits related to affordability across the GSS segments as compared to physical accessibility across LCS segments. This highlighted the fact that when looked from a GSS perspective, the policy makers considered the population in aggregate and analysed the pricing of services. Whereas, when looked from a LCS perspective, the focus of policy makers was more on provision of services to various segments and whether each segment of population can use particular WASH service. Hence, segmentation by LCS and GSS may help policy makers to obtain diverse perspectives on improving different dimensions of access.

5.3.5 Policy and P&P robustness

A robustness index was developed to indicate the comprehensiveness of WASH policies and P&P documents. This index is an indication of population segments, barriers, strategies, and benefits in the documents. It had a maximum value of 8, indicating the presence of barriers, strategies and benefits and a minimum value of 0, when none of the above features are present. Analysis of WASH policies indicated that the overall robustness index was higher for GSS as compared to that of LCS. Between Asia and Africa, the latter had higher index values. Analysis of sector level robustness index showed that sanitation had the highest index values and hygiene sub-sector the least. The Robustness index of P&P documents were lower than the levels of policies, indicating that policies were more comprehensive in capturing the pathway of barriers, strategies, and benefits. However, the trend of lower robustness index values for LCS as compared to that of GSS persisted even in P&P. Robustness index of P&P in Africa were higher than that of Asia. In general, robustness index values for sanitation P&P were the highest, while hygiene P&P had the lowest index values.



Figure 22: Robustness Index in Programs and projects as compared to policies

A look at the change of robustness index as we move from policies to programmes and projects gives us an indication the relationship between incidences of LCS/GSS in policies as compared to P&P. While the incidence of robustness is high in GSS is high in both policy and P&P across Asia and Africa, attrition of this robustness is observed as we move down from policies to P&P levels. In GSS, it is observed that the programmes and projects usually have less robustness as compared to policy level. However, in the case of LCS, it was observed that the attrition of robustness index was lower. This is prominent in Asian region where the robustness index of P&P in LCS is similar to that seen in policies. While additional analysis is needed, this finding suggests that percolation of robustness from policy to P&P is higher in the case of LCS as compared to that of GSS.

5.3.6 Conditions leading to the espousal or incorporation of LCS and GSS segments

The following conditions played an important role in the incorporation of LCS in policies and P&P: (i) drafting/implementing agency and (ii) the WASH sub-sector. Between the three sectors, WASH benefits for LCS were more often included in policies related to sanitation and hygiene sectors. At a programme level, projects funded by multilateral agencies and implemented by government in sanitation sector usually incorporated LCS. However, when they were not funded by multilateral agencies, community partnerships usually ensured the incorporation of LCS. Therefore, community and NGO participation became important when funding by a multilateral agency was absent.

5.4 Strengths and limitations of this systematic review

5.4.1 Strengths of the review

Life cycle approach is a recent paradigm in the delivery of infrastructure services. This is one of the first systematic reviews to synthesise evidence using a portfolio review approach on the extent of incorporation of LCS in WASH sector. This systematic review is also innovative in terms of the evidence base. While most systematic reviews use results from previous evaluation studies as the evidence base, the evidence for this review was obtained from various policy and P&P documents.

Incorporation of LCS was analysed not just in terms of the mention of different population segments, but across the pathway that comprised of barriers, strategies and outcomes.

An exhaustive sourcing and search strategy was deployed to include as many relevant policy and P&P documents as possible. More importantly, multiple modes of synthesis have been used. Not only were the findings from these different modes consistent, but they also complemented each other, thereby increasing the robustness of the results, while providing a more holistic perspective on the evidence.

5.4.2 Limitations of the review

The evidence base was obtained only from 11 countries in Asia and Africa regions. Future studies could expand the evidence base by including policies and P&P from more countries, which could enhance the generalizability of the results. In addition, countries like India and Pakistan were better covered as we were able to get access to state policies as well. As a country, India contributed the largest number of documents in both policies and P&Ps. This in a way is understandable as India is the largest of the countries included in the review. Though many organisations were contacted for P&P documents, they were not responsive. It is possible that this review might not have been able to include some of the sensitive projects and therefore have introduced some form of bias. However, since this review is not an effectiveness review but more a review of policies and P&P inception documents, it is felt that any potential bias would not significantly compromise the validity of the findings. Inclusion of non-English documents was limited by their non-availability, which is another limitation of this review.

The policy environment and the nature of policies substantially differed between countries. The coverage and extent of description of population segments, barriers, strategies, and benefits varied significantly across different policies and P&Ps. While some were very descriptive and detailed, some were less so. This posed a challenge in synthesizing the evidence.

Most of the P&P documents in the evidence base were supported by multilateral and bilateral agencies. We were unable to get access to as many P&P documents as we had wished because many of the agencies such as governments, international or local NGOs do not systematically provide these documents in the public domain.

5.5 Implications

5.5.1 Policy

WASH policies must create an enabling framework by specifically mentioning the different LCS in order to facilitate adoption and percolation of life-cycle approach in P&Ps: Findings from this study indicate that LCA has been adopted only partially by practitioners and P&P implementing agencies. However a lot needs to be done to mainstream this approach and include all population segments in implementation. One way to do this would be for policies to take the lead and specify the different population segments, articulate the barriers to access, strategies to address the barriers and detail the benefits that each segment receives. When policies set the tone for adoption of LCS, it would be more likely that the P&Ps could follow suit.

Life-cycle approach shows greater applicability in the sanitation sector: Amongst the WASH triumvirate, the sanitation sector shows greater use and applicability of the life-cycle approach. This has been mainly due to the challenges faced in the provision of sanitation vis-a-vis water or hygiene services. Notwithstanding this fact, policymakers

and practitioners should consider incorporating the values of the life-cycle approach in water and hygiene sectors as well in order to ensure that the linkages between all the WASH sub-sectors are addressed in the design and development of WASH policies or programmes.

Incorporating life-cycle approach within the current GSS paradigm can help achieve inclusiveness: WASH policies have been traditionally conceptualized from the geographical and social lens. Evidence indicated that the GSS like poor and low income, rural, urban and universal have been the traditional focus of WASH policies. In comparison, the lifecycle paradigm has been slowly evolving, and requires consolidation and focus in design of WASH policies. Apart from segments like women and children, the rest of LCS had very limited mention in WASH policies. Also, there are wide variations in the extent of coverage of different LCS as compared to that of different GSS. It is well known from the reports of JMP that the benefits of the MDGs on water and sanitation services can be realized by all sections of society, only when the needs of marginalized persons are addressed. In this context, policy makers should take systematic steps to incorporate the principles of the life-cycle approach even within the current GSS paradigm in order to ensure maximum benefit across population segments and improve effectiveness of WASH interventions.

Greater level of effort required towards understanding barriers faced by LCS and devising strategies to overcome them: Identification of barriers to WASH for the GSS has been better than that observed in LCS. This was due to the primary focus on GSS of population by policy-makers. There is a need for greater effort in understanding barriers faced by different LCS. As a result, there were several barriers such as adequacy, attitudinal, demand side, environmental, inclusion, policy and institutional-policy identified for GSS. However, barriers for LCS were limited to adequacy, attitudinal and environmental barriers. This may be a reflection of current state of policy making and project implementation that shows a limited understanding of the barriers faced by LCS in accessing WASH services. Therefore, policy makers have to investigate different facets of LCS to clearly all the barriers faced by different population groups.

The evidence on WASH strategies indicated preference to "bottom up approaches" or "grass root mobilization" to overcome barriers faced by LCS. These strategies include beneficiary participation, decentralization, demand management, equity in WASH provision and IEC activities. Such efforts to involve the community in the provision of WASH facilities could be encouraged by policy makers.

Benefits for LCS should be expanded: The evidence base indicated that benefits mentioned for GSS were higher compared to LCS. Also, there were wide variations between types of benefits envisaged for LCS when compared to those seen for GSS. This could be an indication of the experience among policy makers about benefits to be envisaged for GSS. Policy makers must be mindful of articulating not only immediate benefits such as availability and physical accessibility but also rather challenging benefits of affordability and quality and safety in WASH policies. The existing WASH policies have envisaged benefits primarily for LCS categorized by age (children, adolescent boys and girls, adults) and provided very little importance to categories like gender, disability and people with HIV / AIDS. There is a need for policy makers to expand the benefits to all categories within LCS in WASH policies.

Need for improvement of robustness among WASH policies and projects: The policy robustness and programme robustness are important elements which ensured logical sequencing of indicators – barriers, strategies and benefits for each policy segment. The evidence base indicated that robustness among LCS was not high or strong as compared to that of GSS. Also, there were large variations on policy and project robustness among different lifecycle segments, with strong observation only for children and women. Similar scenario of large variations was observed even for GSS. Hence, there is a need to improve policy and P&P design to ensure robustness, as it ensures not only quality and content of WASH policies and programmes but also their effectiveness. There is also need to ensure that robustness percolates from policies to P&P as our study shows a decline in robustness index as we from policies to P&P.

5.5.2 Practice

The policy making process as well as P&P design for WASH sector has begun taking preliminary steps and initiatives towards encompassing LCS. However, these efforts have not been sufficient over the duration of MDGs. Therefore, there is a need for substantial revamp and transformation in policy making and programme design. In this journey, the governments must be provided with necessary capacity building support from practitioners and INGOs. However, the governments cannot shy away from the responsibility of setting their priorities right towards WASH sector as well as provide the required administrative and political resources. The content and quality of WASH policies and programmes has to ensure coverage of all LCS, clear understating of barriers faced by these segments, creation of well devised strategies and all round benefits.

5.5.3 Research and scope for future work

This portfolio review indicated that WASH policies and projects have a long way to go in imbibing the concept of life cycle approach. Moreover, there is a need to analyse the evidence from few early P&P that have adopted this approach. While this review analysed the extent of adoption of LCS in WASH, future work could focus on the adoption of LCS and improvement in access. Broadly, there is a need for future research on investigating "effectiveness" of WASH interventions and the findings of this study will provide much needed input to the policy making process.

There are few other research trajectories that could be explored further. The influence of bilateral agencies and INGOs has been widely discussed in academic and practitioner literature. Therefore, a research study could be undertaken to address questions such as: 1) What were the challenges or hurdles faced by bilateral agencies and INGOs in the adoption of life cycle approach in WASH programmes? and, 2) What were the strategies or mechanisms used by bi-lateral agencies and INGOs that were effective in mainstreaming the life-cycle approach in WASH programming?

Systematic reviews have traditionally focused on meta-analysis techniques to synthesize evidence. This review has highlighted that relevance of using techniques such as QCA in systematic reviews. Research teams could be encouraged to use techniques such as QCA to complement some of the existing qualitative synthesis methods such as textual narration, thematic synthesis, and so on. By bringing in an element of quantitative rigour, techniques such as QCA could increase the validity of the results.

Appendix A: Country profiles

WASH performance, demography and HDI values of the countries included in the review are described in the table below. Indicators that have been used to measure WASH performance of the countries include percentage of population with access to improved drinking water, sanitation, hand washing facilities and percentage of population practicing open defecation. In order to understand the broader political and socio-economic contexts of the countries, demographic indicators such as population, poverty levels, HDI and political stability have also been compared. These indicators were used to the select countries for this review.

Table A1 shows that access to improved sanitation is low in many of the countries selected. However, they perform better in the JMP water target viz. use of improved water facilities. With respect to the other non-WASH indicators, countries characterised with high population, poverty and HDI values are largely in the medium or low human development range. Political stability as measured by the Fragile State Index ranked the selected countries between a range consisting of 'warning', 'alert' and 'high alert'.

	ASIA				AFRICA						2022			
WASH, Demographic and HDI Indictors	Bangladesh	Pakistan	India	Nepal	South Asia Region	Kenya	Madagascar	Malawi	Ethiopia	Nigeria	Tanzania	Uganda	Sub-Saharan Region	
Funding (via GSF in million USD)	not in the GSF	not in the GSF	\$6.2	\$13.83	-	\$7.44	\$12.9	\$6.55	\$5.4	\$6.79	\$ 6.14	\$10.48	-	-
Wash Indicator	s													
Percentage of population practicing open defecation	1%	13%	44%	32%	34%	12%	40%	4%	29%	25%	12%	7%	23%	13%
Percentage of population using improved sanitation facilities	87%	64%	40%	46%	47%	30%	12%	41%	28%	29%	16%	19%	30%	68%
Percentage of population using improved drinking water	87%	91%	94%	92%	93%	63%	52%	90%	57%	69%	56%	79%	68%	91%
Percentage of population with hand washing facilities at	21%	54%	NA	48%	NA	NA	NA	3%	1%	12%	NA	8%	NA	NA

Table A52.WASH and demographic performance of selected countries

	ASIA				AFRICA							2022		
WASH, Demographic and HDI Indictors	Bangladesh	Pakistan	India	Nepal	South Asia Region	Kenya	Madagascar	Malawi	Ethiopia	Nigeria	Tanzania	Uganda	Sub-Saharan Region	
home with soap and water														
Demographics														
Population (in millions)	157	188	1280	28	1698	44	23	16	95	173	50	37	947.4	7 billion
Percentage of population surviving on \$1.90 / day	44%	8%	21%	15%	18.8%	34%	82%	71%	34%	54%	47%	33%	42.7%	12.7%
HDI	0.570	0.538	0.609	0.548	0.607	0.548	0.510	0.445	0.442	0.514	0.521	0.483	0.518	0.711
Political instability	alert	High alert	warning	alert	NA	alert	High warning	High warning	alert	High alert	High warning	alert	NA	NA
Working Language	English	English	English/ hindi	English	NA	English	English/ French	English	English	English	English	English	NA	NA

Source: WHO and UNICEF 2015, World Bank database, UNDP2015, Messner et al. 2015

Appendix B: Documents included for the review

Documents that have been included for this review are given below. These documents have been included based on our inclusion criteria.

a) List of Documents Included

S. No.	Country	Year	Title of the document	Department
1	Bangladesh	1998	National Policy for Safe Water Supply & Sanitation	Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives
2	Bangladesh	1999	National Water Policy	Ministry of Water Resources
3	Bangladesh	2005	Pro-Poor Strategy for Water and Sanitation Sector in Bangladesh	Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives
4	Bangladesh	2005	National Sanitation Strategy	Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives
5	Bangladesh	2011	National Strategy for Water and Sanitation - Hard to Reach Areas of Bangladesh	Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives
6	Bangladesh	2011	Water Safety Framework	Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives
7	Bangladesh	2012	National Hygiene Promotion Strategy for Water Supply and Sanitation Sector in Bangladesh	Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives
8	Bangladesh	2014	National Strategy for Water Supply and Sanitation	Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives
9	Ethiopia	1999	Ethiopian Water Resources Management Policy	Ministry of Water Resources
10	Ethiopia	2001	Ethiopian Water Sector Strategy	Ministry of Water Resources
11	Ethiopia	2005	National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy	Ministry of Health
12	Ethiopia	2006	National Hygiene and "On- site" Sanitation Protocol	Ministry of Health
13	India	2002	State Water Policy, Karnataka	Water Resources Department

Table B 1: List of policy documents included

S. No.	Country	Year	Title of the document	Department
14	India	2002	National Water Policy	Ministry of Water Resources
15	India	2003	Karnataka Urban Drinking Water and Sanitation Policy	Government of Karnataka
16	India	2003	State Water Policy, Madhya Pradesh	Water Resources Department
17	India	2003	Maharashtra State Water Policy	Water Resources Department
18	India	2004	Orissa State Water Plan	Department of Water Resources
19	India	2001-2002 to 2005- 2006	Policy Notes, Tamil Nadu	Municipal Administration and Water Supply Department
20	India	2006-2007 to 2011- 2012	Policy Notes, Tamil Nadu	Municipal Administration and Water Supply Department
21	India	2007	State Water Policy, Orissa	Water Resources Department
22	India	2008	National Urban Sanitation Policy	Ministry of Urban Development
23	India	2008	Water Policy, Kerala	Water Resources Department
24	India	2008	Andhra Pradesh State Water Policy	Water Resources Department
25	India	2009	State Water Policy, Sikkim	Irrigation and Flood Control Department
26	India	2010	Uttar Pradesh Urban Sanitation Policy	Government of Uttar Pradesh
27	India	2010	State Water Policy, Rajasthan	State Water Resources Planning Department
28	India	2011	Odisha State Urban Sanitation Strategy	Housing and Urban Development Department
29	India	2008	Kerala State Sanitation Strategy	Government of Kerala
30	India	2011	State Water Policy West Bengal	Government of West Bengal
31	India	2011	Jharkhand State Water Policy	Water Resources Department
32	India	2011	Rural Sanitation and Hygiene Strategy	Ministry of Drinking Water and Sanitation
33	India	2011	Strategic Plan - Rural Drinking Water	Ministry of Drinking Water and Sanitation
34	India	2012	National Water Policy	Ministry of Water Resources

S. No.	Country	Year	Title of the document	Department
35	India	2012-2013 to 2014- 2015	Policy Notes, Tamil Nadu	Municipal Administration and Water Supply Department
36	India	2013	Himachal Pradesh State Water Policy	Department of Irrigation and Public Health
37	India	2013	Odisha State Urban Water Supply Policy	Housing and Urban Development Department
38	India	2014	State Water Policy, Uttar Pradesh	Irrigation Department
39	India	2014	Punjab State Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Policy	Department of Water Supply and Sanitation
40	Kenya	1999	Sessional Paper No.1 of 1999 on National Policy on Water Resources Management and Development	Ministry of Water Resources
41	Kenya	2007	National Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Policy	Ministry of Health
42	Kenya	2015	Kenya Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Strategic Framework (KESSF)	Ministry of Health
43	Malawi	2005	National Water Policy	Ministry of Irrigation and Water Development
44	Malawi	2008	National Sanitation Policy	Ministry of Irrigation and Water Development
45	Madagascar	2013	National Strategy for Water, Sanitation and Hygiene	Ministry of Water
46	Nepal	2004	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation National Policy	Ministry of Physical Planning and Works
47	Nepal	2004	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation National Strategy	Ministry of Physical Planning and Works
48	Nepal	2005	Nepal Water Plan	Government of Nepal
49	Nepal	2009	National Urban Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Policy	Ministry of Physical Planning and Works
50	Nepal	2011	Sanitation and Hygiene Master Plan, Nepal	National Planning Commission
51	Pakistan	2005	Integrated Water Resources Management Policy, Balochistan	Government of Balochistan
52	Pakistan	2006	Domestic Water and Sanitation Policy for Sindh	Government of Sindh

S. No.	Country	Year	Title of the document	Department
53	Pakistan	2006	National Sanitation Policy	Ministry of Environment
54	Pakistan	2007	Punjab Urban Water and Sanitation Policy	Government of Punjab
55	Pakistan	2008	Azad Jammu and Kashmir Sanitation Policy and Strategy	Ministry of Local Government and Rural Development
56	Pakistan	2009	National Drinking Water Policy	Ministry of Environment
57	Tanzania	2002	National Water Policy	Ministry of Water and Irrigation
58	Tanzania	2006-2015	National Water Sector Development Strategy	Ministry of Water and Irrigation
59	Uganda	1999	National Water Policy	Ministry of Water, Lands and Environment

Table	B 2:	List of	P&P	documents	included
Table	υ Ζ.	LISCO	I GI	aocumento	monuaca

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
1	Bangladesh	2004	Water Supply Program Project - Project Appraisal Document	World Bank
2	Bangladesh	2006	Secondary Towns Water Supply and Sanitation - Project Data Sheet	ADB
3	Bangladesh	2008	Dhaka Water Supply Sector Development Program - Project Administration Memorandum	ADB
4	Bangladesh	2008	Dhaka Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Appraisal Document	World Bank
5	Bangladesh	2010	Chittagong Water Supply Improvement and Sanitation Project - Project Appraisal Document	World Bank
6	Bangladesh	2010	Support to Water Supply and Sanitation Sector 2012-2015	DANIDA
7	Bangladesh	2011	Water Supply Program Project - Implementation Completion and Results Report	World Bank
8	Bangladesh	2012	Bangladesh Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project	World Bank
9	Bangladesh	2012	Sanitation, Hygiene Education and Water Supply in Bangladesh- Annual Review	DFID

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
10	Bangladesh	2013	Flood Resistant Shelter and WASH (FRESH) for the South-West Region of Bangladesh-Project Completion Review	DFID
11	Bangladesh	2015	Accelerating Sanitation and Water for All in Off-track Countries, Annual Review - Summary Sheet	DFID
12	Bangladesh	2016	Action Research for Learning programme - Lessons Learnt from WASH Action Research with Practitioners in Four Countries – Bangladesh	IRC
13	Bangladesh	2016	Dhaka Water Supply Sector Development Program - Project Data Sheet	ADB
14	Bangladesh	2016	Khulna Water Supply Project - Project Data Sheet	ADB
15	Ethiopia	2002	Water Sector Development Program, Main Report Volume 1	UNDP
16	Ethiopia	2002	Water Sector Development Program, Main Report Volume 2	UNDP
17	Ethiopia	2004	Ethiopia Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Appraisal	World Bank
18	Ethiopia	2004	Emergency Water Supply and Sanitation Project in Three Regional States, Afar, Somali and SNNP	USAID
19	Ethiopia	2005	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme - Appraisal Report	AfDB
20	Ethiopia	2007	Urban Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Appraisal Report	World Bank
21	Ethiopia	2008	External Programme Evaluation of Water, Sanition and Hygiene Program in Ethiopia	USAID
22	Ethiopia	2008	Water Sanitation and Hygiene Programme - Annual Review	DFID
23	Ethiopia	2010	Netherlands Unicef Water Initiative- Evaluation Report	UNICEF
24	Ethiopia	2010	ACP-EU water facility- Mid-Term Evaluation Report, 2010	UNICEF

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
25	Ethiopia	2012	Urban Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Information Document	World Bank
26	Ethiopia	2013	One WASH National Programme - Final Programme Document	Govt. of Ethiopia
27	Ethiopia	2014	Water Sanitation and Hygiene Programme - Project Completion Review	DFID
28	Ethiopia	2013	Harar Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Completion Report	AfDB
29	Ethiopia	2013	Sustainable Water and Sanitation in Africa (SUWASA) Africa- Mid-Term Evaluation Report	USAID
30	Ethiopia	2014	Ethiopia Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Implementation Completion and Results Report	World Bank
31	Ethiopia	2014	Project Appraisal document for Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene Project	World Bank
32	Ethiopia	2014	Final Performance Evaluation of the WASH Transformation for Enhanced Resiliency Project	USAID
33	Ethiopia	2014	Support to the One Water, Sanitation and Hygiene National Programme (OWNP) - Programme Appraisal Report	AfDB
34	Ethiopia	2014	Support for the Ethiopian One WaSH National Programme - Annual Review	AfDB
35	Ethiopia	2015	Sustainable Water and Sanitation in Africa (SUWASA) Africa-Final Report	USAID
36	Ethiopia	2016	Action Research for Learning programme - Lessons Learnt from WASH Action Research with Practitioners in Four Countries - Ethiopia	IRC
37	India	2000	Kerala Rural Water Supply and Environmental Sanitation Project - Project Appraisal, Implementation and Completion Report and Project Performance Report	World Bank

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
38	India	2001	Second Karnataka Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project- Appraisal Document	World Bank
39	India	2001	Rural Community Water, Andhra Pradesh, India - Implementation Completion & Results Report	World Bank
40	India	2003	Maharashtra Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Jalswarajya Project - Appraisal Document	World Bank
41	India	2006	Punjab Rural Water Supply and Sanitation - Appraisal Report	World Bank
42	India	2006	Uttaranchal Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project	World Bank
43	India	2007	Central Rural Sanitation Programme- Total Sanitation Campaign- Guidelines	Government of India
44	India	2007	Rural Community Water, Andhra Pradesh, India - Project Appraisal- Commitment Document	World Bank
45	India	2008	Integrated Low Cost Sanitation Scheme	Government of India
46	India	2008	Rajasthan Urban Sector Development Investment Program - Bharatpur Water Supply Sub project (Tr 2) - Initial Environmental Examination, September 2008	ADB
47	India	2009	Slum development project for Gyannagar, Bhuvaneswar	USAID
48	India	2009	AP Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Appraisal Document	World Bank
49	India	2010	Maharashtra Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Jalswarajya Project - Implementation Completion and Results Report	World Bank
50	India	2010	National Rural Drinking Water Programme - IEC Guidelines	Government of India
51	India	2010	Nirmal Gram Puraskar, Guidelines	Government of India
52	India	2011	Second Kerala Rural Water Supply and Sanitation - Project Appraisal	World Bank

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency		
53	India	2011	Central Rural Sanitation Programme- Total Sanitation Campaign- Guidelines	Government of India		
54	India	2011	Guidelines for Engagement of SwachchhataDoot under TSC	Government of India		
55	India	2012	Nirmal Bharat Abhiyan Guidelines	Government of India		
56	India	2013	National Rural Drinking Water Programme – Guidelines	Government of India		
57	India	2013	Urban Water Supply and Environmental Improvement Project in Madhya Pradesh - Project Data Sheet	ADB		
58	India	2013	Maharashtra Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Jalswarajya Project - Project Performance Report	World Bank		
59	India	2013	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project for Low Income States – Appraisal	World Bank		
60	India	2014	Second Karnataka Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project- implementation and completion report	World Bank		
61	India	2014	Guidelines for SwachhBharath Mission - Urban	Government of India		
62	India	2014	Maharashtra Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme - Appraisal Document	World Bank		
63	India		Karnataka Integrated Urban Water Management Investment Program - Output Based Toilet Program – Summary	ADB		
64	India		Karnataka Integrated Urban Water Management Investment Program - Summary Poverty Reduction and Social Strategy	ADB		
65	India		Karnataka Integrated Urban Water Management Investment Program - ADB Gender Action Plan			
66	India	2014	Swachh Bharat Vidyalaya - Govern Guidelines of India			
67	India	2014	Swachh Bharat Gramin Guidelines of India			

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
68	India	2015	Punjab Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Improvement Project - Project Information Document Appraisal Stage	World Bank
69	India	2015	Punjab Rural Water Supply and Sanitation - Implementation Completion and Results Report	World Bank
70	India	2015	Karnataka Integrated Urban Water Management Investment Program - Project Data Sheet	ADB
71	India	2015	Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Programme in MP and Odisha - Summary Sheet	DFID
72	India	2015	Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Programme in MP and Odisha - Intervention Summary	DFID
73	India	2015	MHM guidelines, Swachh Bharat	Government of India
74	India	2015	Swachh Bharat Mission Support Program-Program for Results Information Document (PID), Concept stage	World Bank
75	India	2015	Swachh Bharat Mission Support Operation_Program Appraisal Document	World Bank
76	India	2015	Swachh Telangana Mission - Comprehensive Guidelines	State Government of Telangana
77	Kenya	2004	Rift Valley Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Appraisal Report	AfDB
78	Kenya	2009	Small Towns and Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Appraisal Report	AfDB
79	Kenya	2007	Water and Sanitation Service Improvement Project - Appraisal Report	World Bank
80	Kenya	2009	Kenya Water and Sanitation Programme: A Joint Sida, GTZ and Government of Kenya Mid-Term Evaluation Report	SIDA

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
81	Kenya	2010	Nairobi Rivers Rehabilitation and Restoration Program: Sewerage Improvement Project - Project Appraisal Report	AfDB
82	Kenya	2010	Water, Sanitation and Education for Health (WASEH) - Final Product Document	USAID
83	Kenya	2013	Sustainable Water and Sanitation in Africa (SUWASA) Africa- Mid-Term Evaluation Report	USAID
84	Kenya	2013	Sustainable Sanitation in Slums	USAID
85	Kenya	2014	National Guidelines for County ODF Communication Planning	Government of Kenya
86	Kenya	2014	Integrating WASH into HIV Interventions and Advancing Improved Sanitation Uptake - End Project Report	USAID
87	Kenya	2014	Urban Water and Sanitation OBA Fund for Low-Income Areas	World Bank
88	Kenya	2015	Sustainable Water and Sanitation in Africa (SUWASA) Africa -Final Report	USAID
89	Malawi	2001	Integrated Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project for Ntchisi and Mzimba Districts - Appraisal and Completion Report	AfDB
90	Malawi	2004	Evaluation of the Strategic Sanitation and Hygiene Promotion for Schools	UNICEF
91	Malawi	2007	2nd National Water Development Programme - Appraisal Report	World Bank
92	Malawi	2008	National Water Development Programme -Appraisal Report	AfDB
93	Malawi	2010	Supporting Malawi's National Water Development Programme - WASH Promotion in Seven Market Centers- Design Summary and Implementation Document	AUSAID

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
94	Malawi	2010	Integrated Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project for Ntchisi and Mzimba Districts - Completion Report	AfDB
95	Malawi	2014	Sustainable Rural Water and Sanitation Infrastructure Project for Improved Health and Livelihoods - Project Appraisal Report	AfDB
96	Malawi	2014	Malawi WASH Programme - Annual Review	DFID
97	Malawi	2015	Mazimba Integrated Urban Water and Sanitation	AfDB
98	Madagascar	2001	The Grand Sud Rural Potable Water and Sanitation Project - Appraisal Report	AfDB
99	Madagascar	2005	Short term Rural Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation Programme - Appraisal Report	AfDB
100	Madagascar	2005	National Rural Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation Programme - Appraisal Report	AfDB
101	Madagascar	2010	The Improving Family Planning and Increasing Access to Safe Water and Sanitation in Rural Communities Project	USAID
102	Madagascar	2011	The Grand Sud Rural Rural Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Completion Report	AfDB
103	Madagascar	2013	Project Completion Report of RANO HP;	USAID
104	Madagascar	2014	Evaluation of the Approach "CLTS"	UNICEF
105	Madagascar	2014	Evaluation of the USAID/ Madagascar Water Supply, Sanitation and Hygiene Bilateral Projects: Rano HP et Ranon'ala	USAID
106	Madagascar	2015	Accelerating Sanitation and Water for All in Off-track Countries, Annual Review - Summary Sheet	DFID
107	Nepal	2004	Fourth Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Project, Project Completion Report	ADB

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
108	Nepal	2008	Project Paper - Nepal Second Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project	World Bank
109	Nepal	2009	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project in Western Nepal (RWSSP- WN) - Revised Project Document	Government of Nepal
110	Nepal	2010	Nepal Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Completion report	ADB
111	Nepal	2011	Kathmandu Valley Water Supply Improvement - Project Data Sheet	ADB
112	Nepal	2011	Kathmandu Valley Water Supply Improvement - Gender Action Plan	ADB
113	Nepal	2012	Community Based Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Project - Completion Report	ADB
114	Nepal	2012	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme (Gurkha Welfare Scheme) -Phase IV- Project Completion Report	DFID
115	Nepal	2012	Nepal Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Validation Report	ADB
116	Nepal	2013	Community Based Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Project - Validation Report	ADB
117	Nepal	2013	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project in Western Nepal (RWSSP- WN) - Completion Report	Government of Nepal
118	Nepal	2014	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Improvement Project - Appraisal Report	World Bank
119	Nepal	2014	School-led Safe Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Improvement in Mid- Western Nepal - Final Progress Report	USAID
120	Nepal	2014	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Project in Western Nepal (RWSSP- WN) - Phase II, Project Document	Government of Nepal
121	Nepal	2014	Nepal: Third Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Data Sheet	ADB

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
122	Nepal	2014	Nepal: Third Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Gender Action Plan, 2014	ADB
123	Nepal	2014	Nepal: Melamchi Water Supply Project - Project Data Sheet	ADB
124	Nepal	2015	One WASH Annual Report 2014	UNICEF
125	Nepal	2015	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme (Gurkha Welfare Scheme) -Phase V- Project Completion Report	DFID
126	Nepal	2015	Accelerating Sanitation and Water for All in Off-track Countries, Annual Review - Summary Sheet	DFID
127	Nepal	2016	Second Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Sector - Project Data Sheet	ADB
128	Nigeria	2000	Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Pilot Project - Project Appraisal Report	World Bank
129	Nigeria	2004	Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Pilot Project - Implementation Completion Report	World Bank
130	Nigeria	2006	Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Pilot Project - Project Performance Assessment Report	World Bank
131	Nigeria	2007	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Sub-Programmes in Yobe and Osun States - Project Appraisal	AfDB
132	Nigeria	2011	Zaria Water Supply Expansion and Sanitation Project	AfDB
133	Nigeria	2012	Sanitation, Hygiene and Water in Nigeria (SHAWN) - Annual Review	DFID
134	Nigeria	2013	Sustainable Water and Sanitation in Africa (SUWASA) Africa- Mid-Term Evaluation Report	USAID
135	Nigeria	2014	Sanitation, Hygiene and Water in Nigeria (SHAWN II) - Annual Review	DFID

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency	
136	Nigeria	2014	Urban Water Sector Reform and Port-Harcourt Water Supply and Sanitation - Appraisal Report	AfDB	
137	Nigeria	2015	Sustainable Water and Sanitation in Africa (SUWASA) Africa -Final Report	USAID	
138	Pakistan	2008	Pakistan: Punjab Community Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Project - Completion Report, 2008	ADB	
139	Pakistan	2008	Pakistan Safe Drinking Water and Hygiene Promotion Project - Baseline and Completion Report	USAID	
140	Pakistan	2009	Pakistan: Punjab Community Water Supply and Sanitation Sector Project - Validation Report, 2009	ADB	
141	Pakistan	2010	Pakistan Safe Drinking Water and Hygiene Promotion Project - Completion Report	USAID	
142	Pakistan	2010	Early Recovery Scaling-up of Rural Sanitation in Flood Affected Districts (RuSFAD) - Evaluation Report	UNICEF	
143	Pakistan	2011	Rural Sanitation in Nineteen Food Affected Districts of Pakistan (Phase II) – Mid-Term Evaluation	UNICEF	
144	Pakistan	2014	Sanitation Programme at Scale in Pakistan - Phase 1 – Evaluation	UNICEF	
145	Pakistan	2015	Accelerating Sanitation and Water for All in Off-track Countries, Annual Review - Summary Sheet	DFID	
146	Tanzania	2001	Dar es Salaam Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Appraisal and Completion Report	AfDB	
147	Tanzania	2002	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation - Appraisal Report	World Bank	

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency	
148	Tanzania	2003	Dar es Salaam Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Project Appraisal, Project Completion Report	AfDB	
149	Tanzania	2003	Monduli District Water Project - Appraisal Report	AfDB	
150	Tanzania	2006	Water Sector Development Program - Consolidated document	Government of Tanzania	
151	Tanzania	2007	Water Sector Support Project - Project Appraisal Report	World Bank	
152	Tanzania	2008	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation - Implementation Completion and Results Report	World Bank	
153	Tanzania	2009	Monduli District Water Project - Project Completion Report	AfDB	
154	Tanzania	2010	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Programme II - Appraisal Report	AfDB	
155	Tanzania	2012	Zanzibar Urban Water and Sanitation Project - Appraisal Report	AfDB	
156	Tanzania	2013	Integreated Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (iWASH) Program: Performance Evaluation - Final Report	USAID	
157	Tanzania	2014	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation - Annual Review	DFID	
158	Tanzania	2015	Phase 2 of Rural Water Supply and Sanitation - Annual Review	DFID	
159	Tanzania	2015	Arusha Sustainable Urban Water and Sanitation Delivery Project - AfDB Appraisal Report		
160	Uganda	2004	Small Towns Water Supply and Sanitation Project - Appraisal Report	AfDB	
161	Uganda	2005	Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Program, Appraisal Report	AfDB	
162	Uganda	2006	Water and Sanitation Programme - Final Results Form	USAID	
163	Uganda	2007	Joint Water and Sanitation Sector Programme Support-Final Report	Government of Uganda	

S. No.	Country	Document Year	Title of the document	Agency
164	Uganda	2008	Kampala City Council - A Project for Promoting Ecological Sanitation in Kampala, Uganda- Final Evaluation Report	SIDA
165	Uganda	2008	OBA in Kampala–Water Connections for the Poor-GPOBA Commitment Paper	World Bank
166	Uganda	2011	Water Supply and Sanitation Programme - Appraisal Report	AfDB
167	Uganda	2012	Water Management and Development Project	World Bank
168	Uganda	2012	WASH Initiative for the Rural Poor in 21 Districts in Uganda - End term Evaluation	UNICEF
169	Uganda	2012	OBA in Kampala–Water Connections for the Poor-GPOBA Evaluation Notes	World Bank
170	Uganda	2013	Joint Water and Environment Sector Programme Support-Final Programme Document	Government of Uganda
171	Uganda	2015	Water Supply and Sanitation Programme - Additional Funds	AfDB
172	Uganda	2016	Action Research for Learning programme - Lessons Learnt from WASH Action Research with Practitioners in Four Countries - Uganda	IRC

Appendix C: List of organisations whose P&P were included for this review

Table C 1: List of organisations and their presence in selected countries											
		As	sia		Africa						
Organisations	India	Pakistan	Nepal	Bangladesh	Ethiopia	Kenya	Tanzania	Nigeria	Malawi	Uganda	Madagascar
I. Multi-lateral Agencies											
 United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) 	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
 United Nations Development Programme (UNDP) 	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
 Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council (WSSCC) 	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
4. Water and Sanitation Programme (WSP)	•	•		•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
5. World Bank	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
 Asian Development Bank (ADB) 	•	•	•	•							
7. African Development Bank (AfDB)					•	•	•	•	•	•	•
II. Bi-lateral Agencies											
8. United States Agency for International Development (USAID)	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	
 Department for International Development (DFID) (does not refer to R4D) 	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	
10. Danish International Development Agency (Danida)		•	•	•	•	•	•			•	
11. Australia Agency for International Development (AUSAID)	•	•	•	•	•	•		•			
12. Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA)		•		•	•	•	•	•			
13. Swedish International											

Table C 1. List of exceptions and their records in colocted countri

Development Cooperation

Agency (SIDA)

 \bullet

		As	sia		Africa						
Organisations	India	Pakistan	Nepal	Bangladesh	Ethiopia	Kenya	Tanzania	Nigeria	Malawi	Uganda	Madagascar
14. Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC)		•	•	•	•	•	•		•		
III. International NGOs											
15. WaterAid	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•
16. Sanitation and Hygiene Applied Research for Equity (SHARE)	•		•	•		•	•		•	•	
17. WASH Alliance			●	•	•	•				•	
18. Community Led Total Sanitation (CLTS)	•	•	●	•	•	•	•	●	•	•	•
19. Care International	•	•	●	•	•	•	•		•	•	•
20. Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation	•				•	•	•				
21. IRC Netherlands	•			•	•					•	
22. Water.org	•			•	•	•				•	
23. BRAC		•	•	•			•			•	
IV. Research Centres/ Consult	tancie	S									
 24. Water and Sanitation for the Urban Poor (WSUP) 25. Water Engineering Development Centre (WEDC) 	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•		•	•
Base											

Appendix D: Covering letter to governments and shortlisted organisations

I. Covering letter to governments of countries included in this review

Dear Sir/Madam,

Greetings from the Department of Management Studies, Indian Institute of Technology-Madras (IIT-M). IIT Madras is an institute of national importance in higher education set up by the Government of India that conducts basic and applied research in various disciplines of engineering and social sciences.

As a professor in the Department of Management Studies, I am currently engaged in a research project that involves a systematic review of the water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) policies, programs and projects implemented during the Millennium Development Goals period (2000-2015). For this study, we specifically focus on eleven low and middle income countries in Asia and Africa. These countries are: Nigeria, Tanzania, Kenya, Ethiopia, Madagascar, Uganda, Malawi, Nepal, Pakistan, Bangladesh, and India.

As the lead government agency in the drafting and implementation of WASH policies, we would like to include your policies, programs and projects in our research study. Currently we have been able to access the National Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Policy 2007 and Kenya Environmental Sanitation and Hygiene Strategic Framework 2015 for inclusion in our review.

We would be glad if you could share with us relevant policy documents (including strategies/plans/policy notes), program or project inception / concept documents and implementation documents pertaining to the different Sanitation and Hygiene interventions that you had implemented in Kenya during 2000-15.

The results would be reported only in aggregate and not by specific agencies. We look forward to your co-operation and will acknowledge your support in the review. We would also send you a summary of the study findings after the completion of the study as a gesture of thanks for your participation in this research. Either my colleague, Sriharini Narayanan, or I will be happy to answer to any queries or clarifications that you might have. Thanks in advance for your time.

Sincerely ThillaiRajan, A

II. Covering letter to organisations included in this review

Dear Colleague,

Greetings from the Department of Management Studies, Indian Institute of Technology-Madras (IIT-M). IIT Madras is an institute of national importance in higher education set up by the Government of India that conducts basic and applied research in various disciplines of engineering and social sciences. As a professor in the Department of Management Studies, I am currently engaged in a research project that involves a systematic review of the water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) programs and projects implemented during the Millennium Development Goals period (2000-2015). This research is being conducted in collaboration with the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council (WSSCC) and International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie).

For this systematic review, we specifically focus on eleven low and middle income countries in Asia and Africa. These countries are: Nigeria, Tanzania, Kenya, Ethiopia, Madagascar, Uganda, Malawi, Nepal, Pakistan, Bangladesh, and India. Since your organisation is actively involved in the development of WASH in African and Asian countries, we would like to include your programs and projects in our research study. As a leading organization involved in the social development, I hope you would be able to participate in our study. We would be glad if you could share with us the program or project inception / concept documents pertaining to the different WASH projects that you had implemented in African and Asian countries during 2000-15. This includes any work on WASH in schools, health care facilities, and the workplace.

We would provide complete confidentiality for all the documents that you provide us. The results would be reported only in aggregate and not by specific agencies. Feel free to mask any confidential sections of the document, should you think it necessary, before sending the same to us.

We look forward to your co-operation and will ensure that the efforts and contributions made by all will be acknowledged in the review. We would also send you a summary of the study findings after the completion of the study as a gesture of thanks for your support in this research. Either my colleague, Sriharini Narayanan or I will be happy to answer to any queries or clarifications that you might have. Thanks in advance for your time.

Sincerely ThillaiRajan, A

Appendix E: Results from website searches

As mentioned in Chapter 3, policy, programme and project documents were sourced directly from websites of shortlisted organisations. The following tables provide a list of hits, search terms, filters and documents downloaded from the selected organisations identified in Appendix C.

SI.		Search Phrase used and	Filters	Total	Documents
No.	Organisation	hits	applied	Hits	downloaded
Multila	ateral Agencies				
1	World Book	Matar projecto (262)			
1.	VVORIO Bank	Water projects (262)			
	http://www.worldh	Water project (389)			
	nup.//www.wondb	Sopitation projects (202)	Year,		
	ank.org/projects/s	Sanitation projects (292)	country	1268	
	earch nang=en	Sanitation project (200)			
		Hygiene Projects (13)			
		Hygiene Project (46)			
		Water program (190)			
		Water programs (190)			
		Water programme (74)			
		Water programmes (74)			
		······································			42
		Sanitation program (126)			
		Sanitation programs (126)			
		Sanitation programme	Year,	942	
		(39)	country		
		Sanitation programmes			
		(39)			
		Hygiene program (34)			
		Hygiene programs (34)			
		Hygiene programme (8)			
		Hygiene programmes (8)			
2.	Asia Development	Water projects (1495)			
	Bank (ADB)	Water project (1424)	Country,	3070	
			languag	5919	
	http://www.adb.or	Sanitation projects (527)	e, year		44
	g/projects/docume	Sanitation project (529)			
	nts/search/country				
	/ban/country/ind/c	Hygiene projects (2)			
		Hygiene project (2)			

Table E 1: Hits from search of websites of selected agencies

SI.	Organization	Search Phrase used and	Filters	Total	Documents
No.	Organisation	hits	applied	Hits	downloaded
	ountry/nep/country /pak/language/en	Water program (7) Water programs (7)			
		Water programme (1) Water programmes (1) Sanitation program (6) Sanitation programs (6) Sanitation programme (1) Sanitation programmes (1) Hygiene program (0) Hygiene programme (0) Hygiene programme (0) Hygiene programmes (0)	Country, year, content type	30	
3.	United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) http://www.unicef. org/publications/	Water projects (61) Water project (70) Sanitation projects (63) Sanitation project (94) Hygiene projects (62) Hygiene project (87)	Year, , country, content type	437	
		Water program (53) Water programs (48) Water programme (92) Water programmes (91) Sanitation program (68) Sanitation programs (68) Sanitation programme (120) Sanitation programmes (120) Hygiene program (65) Hygiene programs (65) Hygiene programme (112) Hygiene programmes (111)	Year, country, content type	1638	15
SI.	Organisation	Search Phrase used and	Filters	Total	Documents
--------	---	--	-----------------------------	-------	------------
No.	Organisation	hits	applied	Hits	downloaded
No.		hits Water program evaluations (42) Water programme evaluations (69) Water project evaluations (61) Sanitation program evaluations (59) Sanitation programme evaluations (92) Sanitation project evaluations (82) Hygiene program evaluations (57) Hygiene programme evaluations (87) Lygiene programme	applied	Hits	downloaded
		evaluations (77)			
4.	Water and Sanitation Program (WSP) http://wsp.org/libra ry	No provision to apply search term	Year, country, region	15	0
5.	African Development Bank (AfDB) http://www.afdb.or g/en/documents/pr oject-operations/	No provision to apply search terms	Country, topic	62	45
6.	United Nations Development Fund (UNDP)	None	Country	359	0
Bilate	ral Agencies		•		
7.	Department for International Development (DFID)	None	Sector, countrie s	66	18

SI.	Organisation	Search Phrase used and	Filters	Total	Documents
No.	Organisation	hits	applied	Hits	downloaded
	https://devtracker.				
	dfid.gov.uk/				
8.	United States	None			
	Agency for		Tania		
	International		I OPIC,		
			countrie	101	21
			s, year, Ianguag	101	21
	https://dec.usaid.g		e		
	ov/dec/home/Defa		_		
	ult.aspx				
9.	Canadian	Water, sanitation, hygiene			
	International	(no documents listed on			
	Development	website)			
	Agency (CIDA)				
			Country,	168	0
	http://www.internat				
	tional/index acpx2				
	and-end				
10	Swedish	Water program (819)			
10.	International	Water programs (143)			
	Development	Water programme (257)			
	Agency (SIDA)	Water programmes (257)			
	http://www.sida.se	Sanitation program (780)			
	<u>/English/</u>	Sanitation programs (87)			
		Sanitation programme			
		(642)			
		(207)			
		(207)			
		Hygiene program (754)	Languag	7030	3
		Hygiene programs (45)	е	1000	C C
		Hygiene programme (614)			
		Hygiene programmes			
		(169)			
		Water project (525)			
		Water projects (305)			
		Sanitation project (493)			
		Sanitation projects (206)			
		Hygiene project (454)			
		Hygiene projects (219)			

SI.	Organisation	Search Phrase used and	Filters	Total	Documents
No.	Organisation	hits	applied	Hits	downloaded
11.	Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation (SDC)	No documents listed on project database			
	https://www.eda.a dmin.ch/deza/en/h ome/activities- projects/projekte- fokus.html			0	0
12.	Australian Aid	None			
	<u>http://dfat.gov.au/a</u> <u>id/pages/australia</u> <u>s-aid-</u> <u>program.aspx</u>		None		3
Intern	ational NGOs				
13.	Water Aid	Use of all search terms yielded same number of hits – 100. No project documents on website			0
14.	SHARE (Sanitation and Hygiene Applied Research for Equity) <u>http://www.sharer</u> <u>esearch.org/</u>	Water programme (47) Water program (39) Water project (66) Sanitation programme (127) Sanitation projects (140) Sanitation program (143) Hygiene programme (82) Hygiene program (77) Hygiene project (106)* *No difference between singular and plural for all search terms	Country	827	0
15.	Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation	No documents on website			0
16.	CLTS (Community-led Total Sanitation)	Sanitation programme (649) Sanitation project (641) Sanitation program (638)	None	2968	0

SI.	Organisation	Search Phrase used and	Filters	Total	Documents
No.	- 3	hits	applied	Hits	downloaded
	http://www.commu				
	nityledtotalsanitati	Hygiene programme (351)			
	on.org/resources	Hygiene program (323)			
47		Hygiene project (366)			
17.	IRC WASH	None			
	http://www.irowas		location	492	5
	h org/resources				
18	WASH Alliance	None			
10.					
	http://washalliance		Sector	84	0
	.akvoapp.org/en/p			-	
	rojects/				
19.	BRAC	Water programme (31)*			
		Water programmes (6)			
	http://research.bra	Water project (13)			
	<u>c.net/new/</u>				
		Sanitation programme			
		(24)			
		Sanitation project (4)			
		Sanitation projects (0)	None	105	0
			None	100	Ū
		Hygiene programme (25)			
		Hygiene project (2)			
		Hygiene projects (0)			
		*No difference in hits			
		between American and			
		British spelling.			
20.	Care International	Water programme (20)			
		Water program (4)			
	http://www.care-	Water project (11)			
	international.org/				
		Sanitation programme	Languag		
		(17)	e,	108	0
		Sanitation program (7)	publicati	100	Ū
		Sanitation project (11)	on type		
		Hygiene programme (12)			
		Hygiene program (11)			
04	Motor are	Hygiene project (15)			
∠1.	vvaler.org	ino documents on the			0
	http://watar.arg/	WEDSILE		0	U
	mup.//water.org/				

SI. No.	Organisation	Search Phrase	Filter applied	Hits	Documents downloaded
1.		Water policies, programmes, projects	Gender	2426	
			Health	2725	0
		Sanitation policies, programmes,	Gender	2398	0
		projects	Health	2669	0
		Hygiene policies, programmes,	Gender	2396	0
		projects	Health	2670	0
		Water OR Sanitation OR Hygiene	Gender	2618	
	EIUIS	AND Project or Projects OR Policy	Health	2903	
	http://www.oldi	OR Policies OR Programme OR			
		Programmes OR Program OR			
	<u>s.org/</u>	Programs			
			Gender	2669	0
		Water OR Sanitation OR Hygiene	Health	3007	
		AND Project or Projects OR Policy			
		OR Policies OR Programme OR			
		Programmes OR Program OR			
		Programs AND Evaluations			
2	WEDC	Water AND Program OR Programs	Content	298	
	knowledge	Water AND Programme OR	type	249	
	base ²	Programmes			
				277	
	https://wedc-	Sanitation AND Program OR		184	
	knowledge.lbo	Programs		50	
	ro.ac.uk/searc	Sanitation AND Programme OR		52	
	n.ntmi	Programmes		58	
		Hygiene AND Program OR Programs		8	
		Hygiene AND Programme OR		16	
		Programmes			
				9	0
		Water AND Programme AND		11	0
		Evaluations			
		Water AND Project AND Evaluations		2	
				5	
		Sanitation AND Programme AND			
		Evaluations			
		Sanitation AND Project AND			
		Evaluations			
		Hygiene AND Programme AND			
		Evaluations			
		Hygiene AND Project AND			
		Evaluations			

Table E 2: Hits from databases and research centres

No. Organisatio	Search Phrase	applied	Hits	downloaded
3 WSUP (Wate and Sanitatio for the Urban Poor) <u>http://www.ws</u> <u>up.com/</u>	None	Languag e, country	7	0

Appendix F: Coding Tools and Key Codes

Appendix F1: Coding tool for policy documents

Researcher Code

Document Code

General Instructions

- 1. Please fill in the country code and the number for the document in the box above
- 2. Refer Key Codes while filling the tool
- 3. Please circle multiple codes, if necessary
- 4. Fill necessary details as given in the policy document in the space/line provided
- 5. Please refer to the 'narration for the coding tool', for definitions of sectors and variables
- 6. If information is not available for a question, code '99'

Section 1: General Information

1. Title of the document

2.	Year of o	peratio	on of the	e policy								
3.	Type of d	locume	ent (circ	le the a	ppropri	ate)		1	2	3	4	
				If cod	ded '4',	specify						
4.	Type of a a) Draftir	igency((s) invo policy	lved in:	(circle 1	the app 2	ropriate 3) 4	5	6	7	8
	b) Impler	menting	g the p	olicy	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
5.	Policy affiliated to another WASH sector policy. 2								1		No	
6.	Policy do	main						1	2			
7.	Country(s	5)										
	1	2 12	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	

8. Sector(s) 1 2 3

Section 2: Details from policy documents

9. Describe the policy priorities mentioned in the document (*Statement that describes the main goal of the policy*).

10. Indicated target population segments.

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
12	13	14	15	16	17	18				

11. Barriers of different population segments with regard to WASH.

Sector Code	Segment Code	Description (As given in the document)

12. Location of WASH facilities mentioned in the policy.

Sector code	HH/PC/SH*	Description (As given in the document)

*HH = Household; PC= Public/Community; SH=Shared Households

13. Strategies adopted and involvement of population segments in programme/project planning, implementation or infrastructure maintenance to address the needs/problems of various population segments.

Sector code	Segment code	P/I/M*	Strategies (As given in the document)

*P = Planning; I= Implementation; M= Maintenance

14. Description of targets and benefits of WASH activities for the target population sector wise.

Sector code	Segment code	WASH indicator code	Targets/Benefits (As given in the document)

15. Programmes/projects planned for implementation of WASH.

Sector code	Segment code	Programmes/projects (As given in the document)

16. Financial details of funds allocated for WASH sector mentioned in the policy document.

Sector code	Funds amount	Funders (As given in the document)

Background information

17. Details of WASH history. Yes 1 No 2

Appendix F2: Coding tool for programme/project documents

General Instructions:

- 1. Please fill in the country code and the number for the document in the box above
- 2. Refer Key Codes while filling the tool
- 3. Please circle multiple codes, if necessary
- 4. If coded 'Yes', fill necessary details as given in the programme/project document in the space/line provided
- 5. Please refer to the 'narration for the coding tool', for definitions of sectors and variables
- 6. If information is not available for a question, code '99'

Section 1: General Information

1. Organization/Agency

2. Title of Programme/Project

3. Documents used for coding - Title and date

4.	 Project/Programme status 			us	Ongo	ing	1		Comp	leted	2	
5.	5. Project/Programme duration			ation								
6.	5. Document source				1	2	3					
7.	Туре	e of a	gency(s) involv	ved in ir	nplemer	ntation:	(circle t	he appr	opriate)	I	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8				
8.	Affili	ated t	o anoth	er WA	SH sect	tor polic	у	Yes	1		No	2
9.	Affili 2	ated t 2	o anoth	er WA	SH sect	tor prog	ramme		Yes	1		No

2 10. Domain 1 5 6 3 4 7 8 11. Country(s) 1 2 9 10 11 12. Sector(s) 1 2 3 13. Objectives/goals

- 14. Type of WASH intervention
- 15. Indicated target population segments

1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
12	13	14	15	16	17	18				

16. Barriers of different population segments with regard to WASH

Sector code	Segment code	Barriers

17. Components that addresses the needs/problems of various population segments and inclusion of population segments in the planning, programme or at the infrastructure maintenance stage.

Sector code	Segment code	P/I/M*	Components (As given in the document)

*P = Planning; I= Implementation; M= Maintenance

Sector	Segment	Segment co	HH/PC/SH	WASH		
code	code	Targets/Indicators/Benefits	Intended	Actual		r code

18. Description of segment coverage, location and benefits of WASH activities for the target population

19. FOR PROGRAMME DOCUMENTS ONLY - Suggested projects for implementation of WASH programme

Sector code	Segment code	Projects (As given in the document)

20. Financial details of funds allocated

Sector code	Funds amount in USD	Funders (As given in the document)

Section 3: Evaluation

21. Title

ſ						
		[
22. Y	/ear					

23. Population segments targeted

Sector	Segment
code	code

24. Difficulties in reaching out to the population segments

Sector code	Segment code	Difficulties

25. WASH strategies that worked and did not work

Sector code	Segment code	Strategies	Worked = 1 Did not work =2

Appendix F3: Key Codes

1. Document Type

Description	Code
Policy	1
Strategy	2
Framework	3
Others	4

2. Document Source

Description	Code
Government Websites	1
Contact	2
Websites of Agencies	3

3. Policy Domain

Description	Code
National	1
State	2

4. Countries

Description	Code
Bangladesh	1
India	2
Pakistan	3
Nepal	4
Ethiopia	5
Kenya	6
Madagascar	7
Malawi	8
Nigeria	9
Tanzania	10
Uganda	11

5. Sectors

Description	Code
Water	1
Sanitation	2
Hygiene	3

6. Segments

Description	Code
Children	1
Adolescent girls	2
Adolescent boys	3
Senior citizens	4
Men (Adults)	5
Women (Adults)	6
Transgender	7
Disabled	8
Rural	9
Urban	10
Caste	11
Ethnicity	12
Poor and low income	13
People with HIV/AIDS	14
Universal	15
Not indicated	16
Migrants/Pastorals	17
Vulnerable by	18
occupation	

7. WASH Indicators

Description	Code
Availability	1
Physical accessibility	2
Affordability	3
Quality &Safety	4

8. Agencies

Description	Code
National/Federal	1
Government	I
State Government	2
International NGOs	3
Local NGOs	4
Local community	5
Private sector	6
Multilateral/ Bi-lateral	7
agencies	1
Independent consultants	8

Appendix G: A guide to coding

This narrative is a detailed guide for filling the policy, P&P coding tools. The guide describes the manner in which questions should be answered and key codes should be used. While some questions in the coding tool are self-explanatory, others require specific instructions to fill and these are described below.

General Instructions

- 1. Wherever applicable, sector(s) and segment(s) pertaining to the information recorded must be captured using the key codes developed in Appendix F3.
- 2. Information must be captured as it has been described in the document.
- **3.** If multiple population segments are mentioned in the same sentence with respect to a strategy/ component/ barrier/ benefit, these have to be coded together. For example, 'provision of subsidies for construction of toilets to the urban poor' has to be coded as urban poor, using two codes, 10 and 13. A similar procedure has to be followed if multiple WASH sectors are mentioned.
- **4.** Questions may have single or multiple responses and must be answered accordingly. This has been indicated along-side each question.

Questions specific to policy documents:

- I. Year of operation of the policy (Q 2): The year in which the policy was formulated must be captured under this question. The year of operation could coincide with the year in which the policy document was published unless otherwise specified.
- II. Type of document (Q.3) (single response): Policy documents could be of different kinds, such as strategies, frameworks, guidelines and so on. Documents should be coded under the appropriate category based on the category mentioned in the title of the document and using the key codes. For example, 'Ethiopia's National Hygiene and Sanitation Strategy, 2005, should be coded '2' (strategy). If the type of document does not match any of the given categories, code 4 should be used.
- III. Type of agency involved in drafting and implementation of the policy (Q 4) (multiple responses): This question captures the type of agencies involved in a) drafting and b) implementing the policy. Agencies involved in drafting of the policy are usually National or State Governments and are the authors of the document. They would be mentioned in the beginning of the document. Multilateral and bilateral agencies may also help in drafting and implementation and this information should also be captured.
- **IV.** Location of WASH facility (Q. 12): This question captures the location of WASH facilities, which have been categorised, as follows;
 - **A.** Household: WASH facilities provided within the household or within the household premises such as yard taps should be coded as household facilities.
 - **B.** Public and community: Public/community facilities are those facilities which are provided for the general use of the community or public as a whole. These

include facilities such as community toilets, community taps, public toilets and so on.

- **C.** Shared Household: Shared household facilities refer to WASH facilities which are shared between a group of households. These facilities may be described as shared connections in the document itself.
- V. Policy strategies (Q. 13): Strategies proposed in policies to address WASH problems faced by population segments must be recorded under this question. Examples of strategies include, provision of subsidies for construction of toilets to the urban poor, implementation of awareness programmes, beneficiary participation, decentralisation, provision of WASH facility, enhancing the legal and regulatory framework and so on.
- VI. WASH benefits (Q. 14): This question captures information regarding WASH indicators that lead to improvement in access to WASH facilities and services. The WASH indicators availability, physical accessibility, affordability and quality and safety have been described below.
 - A. Availability: Availability refers to the existence of the WASH facility in sufficient quantity and on a continuous basis for the target population. Availability not only includes access at the household level but also in public places such as markets, stations, hospitals and schools. Indicators used to measure availability are:
 - i. Provision of the WASH facilities and/or
 - **ii.** Existence of WASH facilities in sufficient quantity and on continuous basis.

Examples of statements that have to be coded under availability are, "providing access to proper sanitation facilities for poor communities and other un-served settlements" (India's National Urban Sanitation Strategy, 2008).

- **B. Physical Accessibility:** Physical accessibility captures target population's access to WASH facilities in terms of effort and time, design of the facility and physical security or privacy.
 - i. Effort and time: WASH facilities must be easily accessible to all and within or in the immediate vicinity of each household, workplace or educational institution. Examples of statements which describe time and distance are, the WASH facility must be within or in the immediate vicinity (not more than 30min) of the house. Or, the WASH facility must not be beyond 1000 meters from the house.
 - **ii.** Design of the WASH facility: WASH facilities must be designed in such a way that all users can physically access them and must be culturally appropriate/ sensitive to gender. Examples of statements that measure design are existence of ramps and railing for the disabled and elderly or child friendly facilities.
 - iii. Physical safety and privacy: Physical safety includes facilities that are easily accessible via safe paths, are not isolated and are sufficiently well lit at night. Both men and women should have access to WASH

facilities which takes into account their privacy and dignity. For example, provision of separate sanitation facilities for men and women.

- **C. Affordability:** Affordability captures the cost of the service or cost incurred by the target population for WASH services and facilities. For example, payment of a monthly user fee/tariff to access WASH facilities, payment of a monthly charge for maintenance and provision of subsidies to the poor.
- D. Quality and Safety: This parameter determines if the WASH facility is safe for the beneficiary to use in terms of safety to health. Therefore water must be of acceptable colour, odour and taste and sanitation facilities should effectively prevent human, animal and insect contact with human excreta. In terms of hygiene, toilets should be regularly cleaned and facilities to enable MHM including disposal of menstrual products should be provided. For example, provision of dustbins in schools or public places and provision of safe, potable drinking water to all households.
- VII. Details of WASH history (Q. 18): Descriptions of existing WASH situation and coverage illustrated in policy documents have to be captured under this question. For example, "over 90% of the rural population do have access to potable water because of subsistence level of economic life and spread out settlements."(Ethiopia's National Sanitation and Hygiene Strategy, 2005). Or, "in sanitation, while only 3% of the population defecates in the open, more than half of the latrines are unsanitary in design, operation or maintenance. In hygiene while awareness is high, only 30% of people wash hands with soap or ash and water after defecating" (Bangladesh's National Strategy for Water Supply and Sanitation, 2014).

Questions specific to programme or project documents

- VIII. Documents used for coding (Q. 3): Documents used for coding could be of different types, including project appraisal reports, completion reports and evaluation reports. All the documents used for coding should be captured under this question along with the date of publication of the document.
 - IX. Programme or project duration (Q. 5): This question captures the duration of the programme or project which could be different from the year of publication of the document (Q. 3). In case the programme or project is ongoing, the tentative year of completion may be captured, if specified. For example, a Project Appraisal Report was published in 2012 for Uganda's Water Management and Development Programme, while the programme began in 2013.
 - X. Type of WASH intervention (Q. 14): This question captures the broad nature of WASH interventions implemented by programmes and projects as specified in the document. For example, construction and rehabilitation of piped water systems, awareness programmes on hand washing with soap, behaviour change programmes to end open defecation.

- XI. Programme or project components (Q. 17): Different types of WASH project and programme components which address the target population should be captured under this question. Examples of P&P components are, capacity building, construction of WASH facilities and behaviour change. Components have to be captured exactly as they have been described in the document.
- XII. WASH benefits, location and segment coverage (Q. 18): This question captures information regarding WASH indicators that lead to improvement in access to WASH facilities and services. The WASH indicators have been described earlier in 'point VI' or 'Q. 14'. It should also capture the location of WASH facilities and segment coverage in terms of intended and actual target population covered by the programme/project. For example, "499,467 poor people gained access to safe water as a result of newly installed/repaired water points in rural communities as against 630,000 originally intended' (Bangladesh's Sanitation, Hygiene Education and Water Supply in Programme, 2012).
- XIII. Difficulties in reaching out to population segment (Q.24): This question captures the complexities faced in reaching out to the target population, during programme or project planning, implementation and maintenance. Examples of statements that can be coded under this question are; there could be a strong cultural belief that sanitation facilities should not be within the household premises. Or, non-poor households could threaten project volunteers to give them subsidies to construct facilities. Or, there could be vandalism and theft of spare parts used in construction of WASH facilities.
- XIV. WASH components that worked and did not work (Q. 25): Details regarding the success and failure of programme or project components and reasons for the outcomes must be recorded under this question. For example, statements such as, "school hygiene promotion was a success as children learnt key messages quickly and carried them home" (Pakistan's Safe Drinking Water and Hygiene Promotion Project, 2010) should be captured under Q. 25.

Common questions for both coding tools

- XV. Sector (Q. 8 in policy coding tool, Q. 12 in P&P tool) (multiple responses): This question captures the predominant sector (water/ sanitation/ hygiene) that the policy/ programme/ project discuses. Documents have to be coded to a sector, based on two parameters; a) if the sector(s) is mentioned in the title of the document and b) if a sub-section in the document describes a sector that is not mentioned in the title.
- XVI. Objectives/goals (Q. 9 in policy tool, Q13. in P&P tool): Statement(s) that describe the overall objective or goal of the policy, programme or project should be recorded here. For instance, "safe and potable water and basic sanitation services will be provided to all rural people of the Kingdom of Nepal within the 12th five year plan (2012-2017)" (Nepal's Rural Water Supply and Sanitation National Policy, 2004).

- XVII. Indicated target population segments (Q. 10 for policy documents and Q.15 for P&P documents) (multiple responses): Target population segments or beneficiaries that have been mentioned in the document have to be recorded under this question. Target beneficiaries were classified on the basis of life-cycle and geographical and social segments as follows:
 - **A.** LSS were broken down:
 - i. Age
 - Children (0 12yrs)
 - Adolescent girls and boys (13yrs 18 yrs)
 - Adults (19yrs 59yrs)
 - Senior Citizens (60yrs and above)
 - ii. Gender
 - Male
 - Female
 - Transgender
 - **iii.** Disability Beneficiaries who have any kind of physical or mental disability such as visual impairments, hearing impairments, autism, epilepsy and other disabilities which limit a person's physical functioning were captured under this parameter.
 - iv. People with HIV/AIDS
 - B. GSS were further categorised into;
 - i. Geographical Context: It denotes the physical location of the target population and was classified as:
 - Rural
 - Urban (includes peri-urban areas as well)
 - **ii.** Minority and marginalised groups: Minority groups refer to those sections of population that are discriminated based on their caste and ethnicity, income and economic status. This category has been further broken down into the following:
 - Caste
 - Ethnicity
 - Poor and low income groups
 - Migrants and Pastoralists
 - Occupation based vulnerable groups (for example, sanitary workers)
 - **C.** Universal: Documents which do not specify a segment but include statements such as 'provision of hygiene facilities for all' or 'universal access to sanitation facilities in rural and urban areas' have to be coded as universal.
 - **D.** Not indicated: Documents which do not mention any target population segments have to be coded as 'not indicated'.
- XVIII. Barriers faced by target population (Q.11 in policy tool and Q.16 in P&P tool): Difficulties faced by target population segments in accessing and using WASH facilities have to be captured here. For example, "*rural women travel long distances*

over many hours to fetch unsafe water" (Ethiopia's National Sanitation and Hygiene Strategy, 2005).

- XIX. Stage in which strategies and components of population groups have been described (Q. 13 in policy tool and Q. 17 in P&P tool): Stages are divided into three:
 - A. Planning Stage:
 - Policy documents: In policy documents, the planning stage consists of information on proposed involvement of target population while designing programmes and projects proposed in the policy. For example, involvement of women and disabled in planning WASH infrastructure.
 - P&P documents: For P&P, information regarding involvement of target population in the planning of P&P has to be captured. For example, consulting children before designing child friendly sanitation facilities in school WASH programmes.
 - **B.** Implementation Stage:
 - Policy documents: The implementation stage captures information on the proposed involvement of target population in P&P implementation.
 For example, involvement of the poor in construction of community WASH facilities.
 - P&P documents: Involvement of target population in the implementation of P&P should be documented under this stage. For example, involving senior citizens in setting up WASH facilities to suit their needs.
 - **C.** Maintenance of infrastructure:
 - Policies documents: The maintenance stage in policy documents should capture information regarding involvement of target population in maintaining the infrastructure provided.
 - P&P documents: This stage should capture details on the involvement of target population in the upkeep of WASH infrastructure. For example, the formation of women's user groups for maintaining toilets.

XX. Funding details (Q 17 in the policy tool and Q. 20 for the P&P tool):

Only funds allocated (not proposed) for the policy/programme/project has to be captured here along with the funder, sector and target population group. Funding details have to be coded in US dollars (USD) and information in local currencies must be converted to USD using the following website; https://www.oanda.com/currency/average

XXI. Affiliated to another WASH sector policy (Q.4 in Policy coding tool and Q8. in P&P coding tool): Documents that specifically mention that they are affiliated to another programme or policy should be captured under this question. For example, Uganda's Joint Water and Sanitation Sector Support Programme states that it is aligned to the National Water Policy 1999.

Appendix h: Protocol for the qualitative comparative analysis (QCA)

Conditions Description		Scoring			
Outcome varia	Outcome variables				
WASH benefits for LCS	WASH policy or P&P document explicitly included anyone of the LCS: children, adolescent boys and girls, women, men, senior citizens and the disabled and people living with HIV/AIDS as beneficiaries of WASH benefits such as availability, physical accessibility, affordability and quality and safety	1 = 0 =	Included any one of the LCS in WASH policy and P&P Not included any one of the LCS in WASH policy and P&P		
WASH benefits for GSS	WASH policy or P&P document explicitly included anyone of the GSS: rural, urban, poor and low income, caste, ethnicity, vulnerable by occupation and migrants/pastorals as beneficiaries of WASH benefits such as availability, physical accessibility, affordability and quality and safety	1 = 0 =	Included any one of the GSS in WASH policy and P&P Not included any one of the GSS in WASH policy and P&P		
Input conditio	ons and the second s				
ASIA	National WASH policies selected from four South Asian countries including Bangladesh, India, Nepal and Pakistan	1 = 0 =	National WASH policies from Asia National WASH policies not from Asia		
AFRICA	National WASH policies selected from seven sub-Saharan African countries including Ethiopia, Malawi, Nigeria, Madagascar, Kenya, Tanzania and Uganda	1 = 0 =	National WASH policies from Africa National WASH policies not from Africa		
WATER	Policies had proposed water-sector related initiatives and had described the ensuing benefits that population groups gain. Likewise, P&P implemented specific water sector related infrastructure or services	1 = 0 =	Policies and P&P targeted the water sector Policies and P&P did not target the water sector		
SANITATION	Policies had proposed sanitation- sector related initiatives and had described the ensuing benefits that population groups gain. Likewise, P&P implemented specific sanitation sector related infrastructure or services	1 = 0 =	Policies and P&P targeted the sanitation sector Policies and P&P did not target the sanitation sector		
HYGIENE	Policies had proposed hygiene- sector related initiatives and had described the ensuing benefits that population groups gain. Likewise, P&P implemented specific hygiene	1 = 0 =	Policies and P&P targeted the hygiene sector Policies and P&P did not target the hygiene sector		

Table H 1: Calibration of conditions for csQCA

Conditions	Description	Scoring	
	sector related infrastructure or services		
AGENCY	Apart from channelling their resources to development projects and programmes in the recipient country, multi-lateral and bi-lateral agencies also make their presence while drafting polices and often steers the National Government to incorporate the agency's principles. This kind of a technical support help countries to keep themselves complied with the many international agreements that they are signatories to.	1 = 0 =	Presence of a multilateral and or bilateral agency in drafting the policy Absence of a multilateral and or bilateral agency in drafting the policy
GOVT	WASH policies included for the study were predominately drafted by the National government and by adding this condition we except to understand the impact of government in including different population segments within the scope of the policy.	1 = 0 =	Presence of government in drafting the policy Absence of government in drafting the policy
BARLCS	Policy document had identified the barriers faced by LCS while accessing WASH services	1 = 0 =	Barriers identified for LCS Barriers not identified for LCS
BARGSS	Policy document had identified the barriers faced by GSS while accessing WASH services	1 = 0 =	Barriers identified for GSS Barriers not identified for GSS
STRLCS	Policy document had proposed WASH strategies for LCS while accessing WASH services	1 = 0 =	WASH strategies proposed for LCS WASH strategies not proposed for LCS
STRGSS	Policy document had proposed WASH strategies for GSS while accessing WASH services	1 = 0 =	WASH strategies proposed for GSS WASH strategies not proposed for GSS
FUNDING	Majority of the P&P included for the study were funded by multi-lateral/bi- lateral agencies. The input condition aimed to understand the role of aid agencies in influencing the comprisal of LCS and GSS in P&P.	1 = 0 =	Presence of a multi- lateral/bi-lateral funding agency Absence of a multi- lateral/bi-lateral funding agency
GOVT-P&P	National/State government had played a leading role in implementing P&P and this condition assumes the strong impact of government on targeting the LCS and GSS in WASH benefits.	1 = 0 =	Presence of government as implementing agency Absence of government as implementing agency

Conditions	Description	Scoring	
СОММ	The presence of the community as implementing partners was also evident in the P&P analysed. We assume that the involvement of community would assist in the comprisal of LCSGSS in WASH benefits.	1 = 0 =	Presence of community as implementing partners Absence of community as implementing partners
NGO	In several P&P analysed, the local NGO had played a vital role in ensuring the realisation of WASH benefits at the grass root level.	1 = 0 =	Presence of NGO as implementing partners Absence of NGO as implementing partners

Table H 2: Calibration of conditions for fsQCA

Conditions	Description	Scoring			
Outcome var	riables				
Inclusion of	WASH policies and P&P had	1 =	5 or more LCS included		
LCS in	identified anyone of the 9 LCS:				
WASH	children, adolescent boys and girls,	0.9 =	4 LCS included		
policies and	women, men, senior citizens, the				
P&P	disabled, transgender and people	0.7 =	3 LCS included		
	IVING WITH HIV/AIDS as target	•			
	addience for the WASH initiatives	03-	2 LCS included		
	describing the barriers faced by the	0.5 -			
	segment while accessing WASH	0.1			
	services, proposing WASH strategies	0.1 =	T LCS included		
	and the ensuing WASH benefits such				
	as availability, physical accessibility,	0 =	0 LCS included		
	affordability and quality and safety				
Inclusion of	WASH policies and P&P had	1 =	5 or more GSS included		
GSS in	identified anyone of the 7 GSS: rural,				
WASH	urban, poor and low income, caste,	0.9 =	4 GSS included		
policies and	ethnicity, vulnerable by occupation				
P&P	and migrants/pastorals as target	0.7 =	3 GSS included		
	addience for the WASH initiatives				
	describing the barriers faced by the	03=	2 GSS included		
	segment while accessing WASH	0.0 -			
	services, proposing WASH strategies	01-	1 CSS included		
	and the ensuing WASH benefits such	0.1 =			
	as availability, physical accessibility,	•			
	affordability and quality and safety	0 =	0 GSS Included		
Outcome var	riables				
HDI	HDI is the statistic of life expectancy,	1 =	Medium HDI – 0.609		
	education, and income per capita				
	Indicators, which are used to rank	09-	Medium HDI – 0.57		
	development. As per the Human	0.5 -	1 ow HDI = 0.548		
	Development Index Report 2015 the	0.0 =	Low HDI -0.538		
	countries under our study fall either	0.7 = 0.6 =	Low HDI -0.521		
	within the medium HDI category or	0.4	Low HDI -0.510		

Conditions	Description	Scoring			
	the low HDI category. However, the case of full-membership and lowest membership in the fuzzy set has been worked out within the scope of	0.3	Low HDI -0.514		
	the countries under study. For example, India falls under the medium category (Rank-130; HDI- 0.609) but when compared to the	0.2	Low HDI -0.483		
	other 10 countries in our study ranks the highest and hence scores a full membership value. On the other hand, Ethiopia ranks the lowest	0.1	Low HDI -0.445		
	(Rank-174; HDI-0.442) and scores the lowest membership value.	0	Low HDI -0.442		
JMP	the lowest membership value. The Joint Monitoring Programme for Water Supply and Sanitation (JMP) was launched in the year 1990 by the joint effort of WHO and UNICEF to monitor the progress of drinking water and sanitation coverage at the country-level. The JMP data provides not only an understanding of the extent of drinking water and sanitation coverage in the country but also the degree to which the Government, multi-lateral/bi-lateral, non-government organisations and communities have contributed towards the goal. The input condition 'JMP' has been worked on the consolidated scores of both drinking water and sanitation (2015).	0 1 = 0.9 = 0.7 = 0.3 = 0.1 =	Low HDI –0.442 High drinking water coverage (91%) and sanitation coverage (64%) High drinking water coverage (87%) and moderate sanitation coverage (61%) High drinking water coverage (94-92%) and low sanitation coverage (46%-40%) Moderate drinking water coverage (63%) and moderate sanitation coverage (30%) Moderate drinking water coverage (57%) and low sanitation coverage		
		0 =	(28%) Low drinking water coverage (56%-52%) and low sanitation coverage (16%-12%)		

govt	barlcs	strics	asia	africa	agency	water	sanitation	hygiene	number	benefits	Consistency
1	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	3	1	1
1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	1	2	1	1
1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	2	1	1
1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	3	0	0.666667
1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	3	0	0.666667
1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	3	0	0
1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0	3	0	0
1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	2	0	0
1	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
1	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	0
1	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
1	0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0
0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0

Table H 3: Truth table of the crisp sets: inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits – national policies

Table H 4: Truth table of the crisp sets: inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits – national policies

govt	bargss	strgss	asia	africa	water	sanitation	hygiene	agency	number	benefits	Consistency
1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	4	1	1
1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	0	4	1	1
1	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	3	1	1
1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	2	1	1
1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	2	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	0	2	1	1
1	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	0	2	1	1
1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1

1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	1
1	0	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1
0	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	2	0	0.5
1	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	2	0	0.5
1	1	0	1	0	1	0	0	0	1	0	0
1	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	1	0	0
1	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0

Table H 5: Truth table of the crisp sets: inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits – Asian P&P

comm	govt	funding	ngo	water	sanitation	hygiene	number	benefits	Consistency
0	0	1	0	1	1	1	3	1	1
1	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1
1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1
1	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	4	0	0.75
0	1	1	0	1	1	1	3	0	0.666667
0	1	1	0	0	1	0	3	0	0.666667
0	1	0	0	1	1	1	2	0	0.5
0	1	1	0	1	1	0	17	0	0.235294
0	1	1	0	1	0	0	5	0	0
1	1	1	1	1	1	0	3	0	0

1	0	1	0	1	1	1	2	0	0
1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	0
1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0
1	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	0
0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0
0	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
0	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	0
0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
0	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
0	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	0

Table H 6: Truth table of the crisp sets: inclusion of LCS in WASH benefits – African P&P

comm	mlbl	govt	ngo	water	sanitation	hygiene	funding	number	benefits	Consistency
0	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	8	1	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	2	1	1
0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	1	1
1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	1
0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	0	0.5
1	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	2	0	0.5
0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	2	0	0.5
0	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	2	0	0.5
1	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	5	0	0.4
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	3	0	0.333333
1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	3	0	0.333333
0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	3	0	0.333333
0	0	1	0	1	1	0	1	21	0	0.238095
0	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	2	0	0

0	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	2	0	0
0	0	1	0	0	1	0	1	2	0	0
1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
0	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	0
0	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	0
0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0
0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0
0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	0	0

Table H 7: Truth table of the crisp sets: inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits – Asian P&P

comm	govt	ngo	funding	water	sanitation	hygiene	number	benefits	Consistency
0	1	0	1	1	0	0	5	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	4	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	0	3	1	1
0	1	0	1	0	1	0	3	1	1
1	0	0	1	1	1	1	2	1	1
0	1	0	0	1	1	1	2	1	1
1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	0	1	0	0	1	1	1
1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1
1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1
0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1

0	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
0	1	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	1
0	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
0	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	1
0	1	0	1	1	1	0	17	0	0.823529
0	1	0	1	1	1	1	3	0	0.666667
0	0	0	1	1	1	1	3	0	0
1	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0
1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0
0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0

Table H 8: Truth table of the crisp sets: inclusion of GSS in WASH benefits – African P&P

comm	mlbl	govt	ngo	funding	water	sanitation	hygiene	number	benefits	Consistency
0	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	8	1	1
1	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	5	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	3	1	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	3	1	1
0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	3	1	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	2	1	1
0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	2	1	1
0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	1	1
0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	2	1	1
0	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	2	1	1
0	0	1	0	0	1	1	0	2	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1
1	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
0	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1

0	0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1
0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
0	0	0	0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1
0	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	21	0	0.904762
1	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	2	0	0.5
0	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	2	0	0.5
1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0
0	1	0	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	0
0	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	0
0	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0

Table H 9: Truth table of the fuzzy sets: inclusion of LCS in WASH policies

asia	africa	jmp	hdi	agency	govt	water	sanitation	hygiene	number	lcs	Consistency
1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	2	1	1
0	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	2	1	1
0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	2	1	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1
0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
0	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	3	1	0.913043
0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	3	0	0.652174
0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	3	0	0.631579
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	5	0	0.560976
0	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	0	0.526316
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	6	0	0.369565
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0.333333
1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	0	0.333333
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0

asia	africa	jmp	hdi	agency	govt	water	sanitation	hygiene	number	gss	Consistency
0	1	0	1	0	1	1	0	0	3	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1	2	1	1
0	1	0	1	1	1	0	1	1	2	1	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	1
0	1	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	3	1	0.913043
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	0	0	6	1	0.76087
0	1	0	0	1	1	0	1	1	2	0	0.76
0	1	0	0	0	1	1	1	0	3	0	0.652174
0	1	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	0.538462
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	5	0	0.463415
0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0.428571
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0.333333

Table H 10: Truth table of the fuzzy sets: inclusion of GSS in WASH policies

govt	funding	water	sanitation	hygiene	hdi	jmp	number	lcs	Consistency
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	3	1	1
1	0	0	1	0	1	1	2	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	0	1	1	3	1	0.809524
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	8	1	0.803279
0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0.777778
0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0.7
1	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0.428571
1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0.3
0	1	1	1	1	1	1	6	0	0.285714
1	1	1	1	0	1	1	22	0	0.215569
1	1	1	0	0	1	1	6	0	0.145833
0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	0.142857
0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0

Table H 11: Truth table of the fuzzy sets: inclusion of LCS in Asian P&P

Table H 12: Truth table of the fuzzy sets: inclusion of GSS in Asian P&P

govt	funding	water	sanitation	hygiene	hdi	jmp	number	gss	Consistency
1	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0.7
0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0.7
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	3	0	0.619048
1	1	0	1	0	1	1	3	0	0.52381
1	0	0	1	0	1	1	2	0	0.5

1	1	1	1	0	1	1	22	0	0.467066
1	1	1	0	0	1	1	6	0	0.458333
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	8	0	0.42623
0	1	1	1	1	1	1	6	0	0.346939
0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	0	0.3
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	0.142857
0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	0
0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0

Table H 13: Truth table of the fuzzy sets: inclusion of LCS in African P&P

govt	funding	water	sanitation	hygiene	hdi	jmp	number	lcs	Consistency
0	1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1
1	1	1	1	1	1	0	4	1	0.885714
1	1	1	1	1	0	0	10	1	0.788136
1	1	1	1	1	0	1	6	1	0.775862
1	1	1	1	0	0	1	1	0	0.625
1	0	1	1	1	0	0	4	0	0.59375
1	1	0	1	0	0	0	2	0	0.5625
0	1	1	1	1	0	0	6	0	0.458333
0	1	1	1	1	1	0	1	0	0.421053
1	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0.416667
1	1	1	1	0	0	0	16	0	0.34104
1	1	1	1	0	1	0	13	0	0.245098
1	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	0	0.166667
1	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0.153846
1	0	1	0	1	0	0	1	0	0.142857
0	0	1	1	0	0	0	1	0	0.111111
1	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	0
1	0	0	1	1	1	0	1	0	0
0	1	0	1	0	1	0	1	0	0
govt	mlfunding	water	sanitation	hygiene	hdi	jmp	number	lcs	Consistency
------	-----------	-------	------------	---------	-----	-----	--------	-----	-------------
1	0	1	1	1	1	1	3	1	1
1	0	0	1	0	1	1	2	1	1
1	0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
0	1	0	1	0	1	1	1	1	1
1	1	0	1	0	1	1	3	1	0.809524
1	1	1	1	1	1	1	8	1	0.803279
0	0	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	0.777778
0	1	1	0	1	1	1	1	0	0.7
1	0	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0.428571
1	1	0	1	1	1	1	1	0	0.3
0	1	1	1	1	1	1	6	0	0.285714
1	1	1	1	0	1	1	22	0	0.215569
1	1	1	0	0	1	1	6	0	0.145833
0	1	1	1	0	1	1	1	0	0.142857
0	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	0	0

Table H 14: Truth table of the fuzzy sets: inclusion of LCS in African P&P

Appendix I: List of governments contacted by email for policy documents

National Ministry of Water Resources, National Ministry Drinking Water and Sanitation, National Ministry of Urba	of n tate			
Image: Solution of Solution Government of India and State governments Development, National Ministry of Rural Development, S Water Resources Departments, State Rural Development Departments, State Urban Development Departments, State Urban Development Departments, S	State 2	0	0	
2 Government of Kenya Ministry of Health and Ministry of Water and Irrigation	1	3	1	Sanitation and hygiene
3 Government of Tanzania Ministry of Water and Irrigation	0	0	0	
4 Government of Ethiopia Ministry of Water and Energy and Ministry of Health	0	0	0	
5 Government of Uganda Ministry of Water and Environment	0	0	0	
National 6 Government of Pakistan Ministry of Climate Change	0	0	0	
7 Government of Nigeria Ministry of Water Resources	0	0	0	
8 Government of Malawi Government of Malawi	0	0	0	
9 Government of Bangladesh Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives, Ministry of Water Resources	0	0	0	
10 Government of Nepal Ministry of Physical Planning and Works	0	0	0	

Table I 1: List of governments contacted via email

Appendix J: Population segments identified in policies by sector and region

	1	Nater sect	or	Sai	nitation se	ctor	Hygiene sector		
covered	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total
0	2	-	2	-	-	-	-	-	-
1	4	2	6	2	1	3	-	-	-
2	4	3	7	2	1	3	1	1	2
3	4	2	6	3	1	4	-	-	-
4	1	-	1	3	4	7	-	-	-
5	1	1	2	2	-	2	1	4	5
6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
7	1	-	1	1	1	2	1	-	1
8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
9	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table J 1: Identification of LCS in the WASH subsectors by region

Table J 2: Count of observations for LCS in the WASH subsectors by region

Population comments		Water			Sanitatio	n	Hygiene			
Population segments	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	
Children	8	2	10	10	6	16	3	4	7	
Adolescent girls	1	1	2	3	4	7	2	3	5	
Adolescent boys	2	1	3	1	2	3	-	1	1	
Women	13	8	21	13	8	21	3	5	8	
Men	4	4	8	5	3	8	1	1	2	
Transgender	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Senior citizens	2	-	2	4	1	5	1	1	2	
Disabled	4	2	6	6	5	11	2	4	6	
PLHIV	-	1	1	2	4	6	2	3	5	

No. of GSS		Water			Sanitatio	n	Hygiene			
covered	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	
0	1	-	1	-	2	2	-	-	-	
1	-	1	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	
2	5	1	6	5	-	5	1	-	1	
3	3	5	8	5	5	10	1	4	5	
4	1	1	2	2	1	3	1	1	2	
5	5	-	5	1	-	1	-	-	-	
6	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
7	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
9	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Table J 3: Identification of GSS coverage in WASH subsectors by region

Table J 4: Count of observations for GSS in the WASH subsectors by region

Population commonts		Water			Sanitatio	n	Hygiene			
Population segments	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	
Poor & low income	13	7	20	11	5	16	2	4	6	
Rural	10	7	17	8	6	14	2	4	6	
Urban	10	6	16	9	6	15	2	5	7	
Vulnerable by occupation	1	-	1	2	-	2	-	-	-	
Migrants & Pastoralists	2	2	4	1	4	5	-	3	3	
Caste	6	-	6	4	-	4	2	-	2	
Ethnicity	6	-	6	3	-	3	1	-	1	
Universal	10	7	17	8	8	16	2	5	7	

Appendix K: Count of barriers from policy documents by sector, segment and region

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total
Asia								
Children	6	1		3				10
Rural children								
Urban children								
Adolescent girls	2							2
Adolescent boys								
Women	1	1		4				6
Rural women				1				1
Urban women								
Men	1							1
Rural men								
Urban men								
Transgender								
Senior citizens				1				1
PLHIV								
Disabled								
Total	10	2		9				21
Africa								
Children		3		1				
Rural children								
Urban children								
Adolescent girls						2		
Adolescent boys		2						
Women		1		1				
Rural women								
Urban women								
Men								
Rural men								
Urban men								
Transgender								
Senior citizens								
PLHIV						1		
Disabled						1		
Total		6		2		4		12
Grand Total	10	8		11		4		33

Table K 1: Count of observations for WASH barriers for LCS by region

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total
Asia								
Poor & low income	1		2	7			1	11
Rural	1	3		5		1	2	12
Urban	3	4		4	1		2	14
Rural poor and low income				1				1
Urban poor & low income		6		2		1	2	11
Vulnerable by occupation					1			1
Migrants & Pastoralists				1				1
Caste								
Ethnicity								
Total	5	13	2	20	2	2	7	51
Africa	•							
Poor & low income			5		1			6
Rural	1			6				7
Urban	6		1	6		3		16
Rural poor and low income								
Urban poor & low income	4			1				5
Vulnerable by occupation								
Migrants & Pastoralists			1			1		2
Caste								
Ethnicity								
Total	11		7	13	1	4		36
Grand Total	18	25	9	38	3	6	7	87
Universal Asia		3		5				8
Universal Africa	2	9						11

Table K 2: Count of observations for WASH barriers for GSS by region

Table K 3: Count of observations of barriers for LCS in the water sector

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia			-					-	
Children	1							1	2
Rural children									
Urban children									
Adolescent girls									
Adolescent boys									
Women				1				1	2
Rural women				1				1	1
Urban women									
Men									
Rural men									
Urban men									
Transgender									
Senior citizens									
PLHIV									
Disabled									
Total	1			2				3	
Africa									
Children				1				1	2
Rural children									
Urban children									
Adolescent girls									
Adolescent boys									
Women				1				1	2
Rural women									1
Urban men									
Men									
Rural men									
Urban men									
Transgender									
Senior citizens									
PLHIV									
Disabled									
Total				2				2	
Grand total	1			4				5	

Table K 4: Count of observations of barriers	for GSS in the water sector
--	-----------------------------

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia									
Poor & low income	1		1	1				3	6
Rural				5			2	7	11
Urban	1	1		3			1	6	10
Rural poor & low income				1				1	1
Urban poor & low income							1	1	4
Vulnerable by occupation									
Migrants & Pastoralists									
Caste									
Ethnicity									
Total	2	1	1	10			4	18	
Africa									
Poor & low income			2		1			3	6
Rural	1			3				4	11
Urban	3			1				4	10
Rural poor & low income									1
Urban poor & low income	2			4					
	-			I				3	4
Vulnerable by occupation								3	4
Vulnerable by occupation Migrants & Pastoralists								3	4
Vulnerable by occupation Migrants & Pastoralists Caste								3	4
Vulnerable by occupation Migrants & Pastoralists Caste Ethnicity								3	4
Vulnerable by occupation Migrants & Pastoralists Caste Ethnicity Total	6		2	5	1			14	4
Vulnerable by occupation Migrants & Pastoralists Caste Ethnicity Total Grand total	6 8	1	23	5	1		4	3 14 32	4
Vulnerable by occupation Migrants & Pastoralists Caste Ethnicity Total Grand total	6	1	23	5 15	1		4	3 14 32	4
Vulnerable by occupation Migrants & Pastoralists Caste Ethnicity Total Grand total Universal (Asia)	6	1	2 3	5 15 2	1		4	3 14 32 2	4

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmen tal	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia							1		T
Children	4	1		2				7	9
Rural children									
Urban children									
Adolescent girls	2							2	4
Adolescent boys									
Women	1	1		2				4	5
Rural women									
Urban women									
Men	1							1	1
Rural men									
Urban men									
Transgender									
Senior citizens				1				1	1
PLHIV									1
Disabled									1
Total	8	2		5				15	
Africa									
Children		2						2	9
Rural children									
Urban children									
Adolescent girls		1				1		2	4
Adolescent boys									
Women		1						1	5
Rural women									
Urban women									
Men									1
Rural men									
Urban men									
Transgender									
Senior citizens									1
PLHIV						1		1	1
Disabled						1		1	1
Total		4				3		7	
Grand total	8	6		5		3		22	

Table K 5: Count of observations of barriers for LCS in the sanitation sector

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia						-			•
Poor & low income			1	5			1	7	8
Rural	1	3						4	7
Urban	1	2		1	1		1	6	14
Rural poor & low income									
Urban poor & low income		3		2		1	1	7	9
Vulnerable by occupation					1			1	1
Migrants & Pastoralists									2
Caste									
Ethnicity									
Total	2	8	1	8	2	1	3	25	
Africa									
Poor & low income			1					1	8
Rural				2	1			3	7
Urban	2		1	3		2		8	14
Rural poor & low income									
Urban poor & low income	2							2	9
Vulnerable by occupation									1
Migrants & Pastoralists			1			1		2	2
Caste									
Ethnicity									
Total	4		3	5	1	3		16	
Grand total	6	8	4	15	3	4	3	41	
		-	1		-	1		1	
Universal (Asia)		2		2				4	10
Universal (Africa)		6						6	10

 Table K 6: Count of observations of barriers for GSS in the sanitation sector

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environme ntal	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia	•								
Children	1			1				2	3
Rural children									
Urban children									
Adolescent girls									1
Adolescent									
boys									
Women				1				1	1
Rural women									
Urban women									
Men									
Rural men									
Urban men									
Transgender									
Senior citizens									
PLHIV									
Disabled									
Total	1			2				3	
Africa	1	1		[[[
Children		1						1	3
Rural children									
Urban children									
Adolescent girls		1						1	1
Adolescent									
boys									4
vvomen									1
Rural women									
Urban women									
Men									
Rural men									
Urban men									
Transgender									
Senior citizens									
PLHIV									
Disabled									
Total		2						2	5
Grand total	1	2		2				5	

Table K 7: Count of observations of barriers of LCS in the hygiene sector

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia			Γ		Γ	Ι			1
Poor & low income			1					1	3
Rural									1
Urban	1	1						2	6
Rural poor & low									
income									
Urban poor & low		1						1	1
Vulnerable by		1							
occupation									
Migrants &									
Pastoralists									
Caste									
Ethnicity									
Total	1	2	1					4	
Africa		-	r		r	1	[1	[
Poor & low income			2					2	3
Rural				1				1	1
Urban				2		1		3	6
Rural poor & low									
	1							1	
Urban poor & low									1
Vulnerable by									•
occupation									
Migrants &									
Pastoralists									
Caste									
Ethnicity									
Total	1		2	3		1		7	
Grand total	2	2	3	3		1		11	16
		1	r		n	r	[1
Universal (Asia)		l 4	1		1			2	5
		1		1				2	3

 Table K 8: Count of observations of barriers for GSS in the hygiene sector

Appendix L: Count of strategies for policy documents by sector, segment and region Table L 1: Count of observations for WASH strategies for LCS by region

Strategy	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	IEC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total
Asia											
Children	3		4	2	10		1				20
Rural children											
Urban children											
Adolescent girls			1								1
Adolescent boys											
Women	24		2	7	3					1	37
Rural women	5	1			4		4				14
Urban women											
Men			1	3							4
Rural men	2	1			4		2				9
Urban men											
Transgender											
Senior citizens			1	1							2
PLHIV				2							2
Disabled			2	6	3						11
Total	34	2	11	21	24		7			1	100
Africa	-		•	•					•	-	•
Children			7	2	14				1		24

Grand Total	71	2	34	35	53	25	5	3	1	229
Total	37		23	14	29	18	5	3		129
Disabled	3		3				2	2		10
PLHIV	1			1	1	6				9
Senior citizens							1			1
Transgender										
Urban men										
Rural men	2									2
Men	1		3	3	3	1				11
Urban women	2					2				4
Rural women	5					2				7
Women	19		5	5	10	5	2			46
Adolescent girls	2		3	3	1	2				11
Adolescent boys	2		2							4
Urban children										
Rural children										

				legice ie		<u></u>					
Strategy	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	IEC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total
Asia								-			-
Poor & low income	3			6	5		4	9			27
Rural	6	3	20	2	17	3	29	2	10	6	98
Urban	2	3	7	1	10	1	15		9	4	52
Rural poor & low income	2			1	2		3	11	1		20
Urban poor & low income		1		3	2		3		1	3	13
Vulnerable by occupation					1						1
Migrants & Pastorals			2								2
Caste	3	1	2	1			2	1			10
Ethnicity	5	1	2	1	3		2	1			15
Total	21	9	33	15	40	4	58	24	21	13	238
Africa				-		-		1			-
Poor & low income			1		2		3	4		2	12
Rural	3	1	14	2	11	2	18		2	7	60
Urban	2		13		5	6	12	1	2	6	47
Rural poor & low income							1	5			6
Urban poor & low income							2	4	1	2	9

Table L 2: Count of observations for WASH strategies for GSS by region

Vulnerable by											
occupation											
Migrants & Pastorals					2		4				6
Caste											
Ethnicity											
Total	5	1	28	2	20	8	40	14	5	17	140
Grand Total	26	10	61	17	60	12	98	38	26	30	378
						• •		•		•	
Universal (Asia)	6		5		21		4		10	2	48
Universal (Africa)	3	1	5		10	2	7	2			30

Table L 3: Count of observations of strategies for LCS in the water sector

Strategy	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	IEC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia												
Children	2				2						4	7
Rural children												
Urban children												
Adolescent girls												1
Adolescent boys												1
Women	12			1	1						14	32
Rural women	3	1					2				6	10
Urban women												1
Men				1							1	3

Rural men	1	1		2	1		5	7
Urban men								
Transgender								
Senior citizens								
Disabled			1	1			2	5
PLHIV								1
Total	18	2	3	6	3		32	
Africa								
Children				3			3	7
Rural children								
Urban children								
Adolescent boys	1						1	1
Adolescent girls	1						1	1
Women	12			5	1		18	32
Rural women	4						4	10
Urban women	1						1	1
Men				2			2	3
Rural men	2						2	7
Urban men								
Transgender								
Senior Citizens								
Disabled	1					2	3	5
PLHIV			1				1	1
Total	22		1	10	1	2	36	
Grand total	40	2	4	16	4	2	68	

Strategy	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	EC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia												
Poor & low income	2			2	3		2	4			13	20
Rural	4	1	7	1	7	1	16	1	7	2	47	71
Urban	1		2	1	4		3		5	2	18	33
Rural poor & low income	1			1	1		1	6			10	12
Urban poor & low income		1		1					1	1	4	7
Vulnerable by occupation												
Migrants & Pastoralists			1								1	1
Caste	2	1	1	1			1	1			7	7
Ethnicity	3	1	1	1	1		1	1			9	9
Total	13	4	12	8	16	1	24	13	13	5	109	
Africa												
Poor & low income			1		1		2	2		1	7	20
Rural	2	1	7		3	1	7		1	2	24	71
Urban	1		3		1	3	3	1	1	2	15	33

Table L 4: Count of observations of strategies for GSS in the water sector

Rural poor & low income							1	1			2	12
Urban poor & low income							1	1		1	3	7
Vulnerable by occupation												
Migrants/ Pastoralists												1
Caste												7
Ethnicity												9
Total	3	1	11		5	4	14	5	2	6	51	
Grand total	16	5	23	8	21	7	38	18	15	11	160	
Universal (Asia)	2		2		5		2		4		15	23
Universal (Africa)	1		1		1	2	3				8	23

Strategy	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	IEC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia	1	[1	T		1	1	1		1	1
Children	1		4	2	3		1				11	22
Rural children												
Urban children												
Adolescent girls			1								1	3
Adolescent boys												4
Women	8		1	4	1					1	15	31
Rural women	2				3		2				7	9
Urban women												2
Men			1	1							2	8
Rural men	1				1		1				3	3
Urban men												
Transgender												
Senior citizens			1	1							2	3
PLHIV				2							2	8
Disabled			2	3	1						6	10
Total	12		10	13	9		4			1	49	
Africa												
Children			4	1	5				1		11	22
Rural children												
Urban children												

Table L 5: Count of observations of strategies for LCS in the sanitation sector

Grand total	26	24	18	18	11	4	1	1	103	
Total	14	14	5	9	7	4	1		54	
PLHIV	1				3				4	10
Disabled	2	2				2			6	8
Senior citizens						1			1	3
Transgender										
Urban men										
Rural men										3
Men	1	2	1	1	1				6	8
Urban women	1				1				2	2
Rural women	1				1				2	9
Women	6	3	2	3	1	1			16	31
Adolescent girls	1	2	1						4	4
Adolescent boys	1	1							2	3

Strategy	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	IEC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia		1		1	1	1		1	1	1	1	
Poor & low income	1			3	1		2	4			11	16
Rural	2	2	13	1	9	2	13	1	3	4	50	78
Urban	1	3	5		5	1	11		4	2	32	58
Rural poor & low income	1				1		2	5	1		10	13
Urban poor & low income				2	1		3			2	8	13
Vulnerable by occupation					1						1	1
Migrants & Pastoralists			1								1	4
Caste	1		1				1				3	3
Ethnicity	2		1		1		1				5	5
Total	8	5	21	6	19	3	33	10	8	8	121	
Africa									•			
Poor & low income					1		1	2		1	5	16
Rural	1		6	1	5	1	10		1	3	28	78
Urban	1		7		3	3	8		1	3	26	58

Table L 6: Count of observations of strategies for GSS in the sanitation sector

Rural poor & low income								3			3	13
Urban poor & low income							1	2	1	1	5	13
Vulnerable by occupation												1
Migrants & Pastoralists					1		2				3	4
Caste												3
Ethnicity												5
Total	2	1	13	1	10	4	22	7	3	8	70	
Grand Total	10	5	34	7	29	7	55	17	11	16	191	
								•	·			
Universal (Asia)	2		3		9				5		19	32
Universal (Africa)	1	1	3		4		3	1			13	32

Table L 7: Count of observations of strategies for LSS in the hygiene sector

Strategy	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	IEC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia												
Children					5						5	15
Rural children												
Urban children												
Adolescent girls												1

Adolescent boys									6
Women	4	1	2	1				8	20
Rural women				1				1	2
Urban women									1
Men			1					1	4
Rural men				1				1	1
Urban men									
Transgender									
Senior Citizens									
Disabled			2	1				3	4
PLHIV									4
Total	4	1	5	9				19	
Africa									
Children		3	1	6				10	15
Rural children									
Urban children									
Adolescent boys		1						1	1
Adolescent girls		1	2	1	2			6	6
Women	1	2	3	2	3	1		12	20
Rural women					1			1	2
Urban women					1			1	1
Men		1	2					3	4
Rural men									1
Urban men									
Transgender									
Senior citizens									
Disabled		1						1	4
PLHIV				1	3			4	4
Total	1	9	8	10	10	1		39	
Grand total	5	10	13	19	 10	1		58	

Strategy	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation	Demand Management	Equity in WASH provision	EC	Legal and Regulatory Framework	Project Management	Provision of subsidies/ tariffs/ loans/ micro credit/ grants	Provision of WASH facility	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total of Asia and Africa
Asia	1				•							
Poor & low income				1	1			1			3	3
Rural					1						1	9
Urban					1		1				2	8
Rural poor & low income												1
Urban poor & low income					1						1	2
Vulnerable by occupation												
Migrants & Pastoralists												3
Caste												
Ethnicity					1						1	1
Total				1	5		1	1			8	
Africa					•							
Poor & low income												3
Rural			1	1	3		1			2	8	9
Urban			3		1		1			1	6	8
Rural poor & low income								1			1	1

Table L 8: Count of observations of strategies for GSS in the hygiene sector

Urban poor & low income						1			1	2
Vulnerable by occupation										
Migrants & Pastoralists				1	2				3	3
Caste										
Ethnicity										1
Total		4	1	5	4	2		3	19	
Grand total		4	2	10	5	3		3	27	
Universal (Asia)	2			7	2		1	2	14	23
Universal (Africa)	1	1		5	1	1			9	23

Appendix M: Count of benefits for policy documents by sector, segment and region

Benefit	Availability	Physical accessibility	Affordability	Quality & safety	Total
Asia	·	•	·	•	•
Children	5	2		3	10
Rural children					
Urban children					
Adolescent	1	1		4	2
boys	I	I		1	3
Adolescent girls	1	1		1	3
Women	1	1			2
Rural women	1	1		1	3
Urban women					
Men	1	1			2
Rural men					
Urban men					
Transgender					
Senior citizens	1	1			2
Disabled	3				3
PLHIV					
Total	14	8	0	6	28
Africa					
Children	15	10		8	33
Rural children					
Urban children					
Adolescent	5	5		5	15
boys	5	5		5	15
Adolescent girls	8	8	1	7	24
Women	3	5	1	5	14
Rural women					
Urban women					
Men	2	2		2	6
Rural men					
Urban men					
Transgender					
Senior citizens					
Disabled	3	2		1	6
PLHIV	2				2
Total	38	32	2	28	100
Grand Total	52	40	2	34	128

Table M 1: Count of WASH benefits for LCS by region

Benefit	Availability	Physical accessibility	Affordability	Quality & safety	Total
Asia					
Poor & low income	3	1	8	1	13
Rural	16	4	5	14	39
Urban	21	3	5	15	44
Rural poor & low income					
Urban poor & low income	10		3	2	15
Vulnerable by occupation					
Migrants &Pastorals				2	2
Caste			1		1
Ethnicity	2	2	1	2	7
Total	52	10	23	36	121
Africa	1	1		1	1
Poor & low income			3		3
Rural	17	6	2	9	34
Urban	14	3	2	5	24
Rural poor & low income			1		1
Urban poor & low income	2				2
Vulnerable by occupation					
Migrants & Pastorals	2				2
Caste					
Ethnicity					
Total	35	9	8	14	66
Grand Total	87	19	31	50	187
Universal (Asia)	17	2	1	7	27
Universal (Africa)	20	_ 12	5	. 11	48

Table M 2: Count of observations for WASH benefits for GSS by region

Benefit	Availability	Physical accessibility	Affordability	Quality & safety	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia						
Children	1	1			2	10
Rural children						
Urban children						
Adolescent girls						4
Adolescent boys						3
Women		1			1	4
Rural women						
Urban women						
Men		1			1	1
Rural men						
Urban men						
Transgender						
Senior citizens						
Disabled	1				1	3
PLHIV						
Total	2	3			5	
Africa						
Children	3	3		2	8	10
Rural children						
Urban children						
Adolescent						
girls	1	2		1	4	4
bovs	1	1		1	3	3
Women	-	2		1	3	4
Rural women						
Urban women						
Men						1
Rural men						
Urban men						
Transgender						
Senior citizens						
Disabled	1	1			2	3
PLHIV						
Total	6	9		5	20	
Grand total	8	12		5	25	

Table M 3: Count of observations of benefits for LCS in the water sector

Benefit	Availability	Physical accessibility	Affordability	Quality & safety	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia	/ tranability	accessing	raiordability	a caroty	Total	/ linea
Poor & low income	1	1	5		7	8
Rural	11	3	2	11	27	46
Urban	6	1	1	6	14	24
Rural poor & low income						
Urban poor & low income	5		2	2	9	9
Vulnerable by occupation						
Migrants & Pastoralists				1	1	3
Caste			1		1	1
Ethnicity			1		1	1
Total	23	5	12	20	60	
Africa	1			1	1	1
Poor & low income			1		1	8
Rural	9	4	2	4	19	46
Urban	5	1	1	3	10	24
Rural poor & low income						
Urban poor & low income						9
Vulnerable by occupation						
Migrants & Pastoralists	2				2	3
Caste						1
Ethnicity						1
Total	16	5	4	7	32	
Grand total	39	10	16	27	92	
		Ι.		_		
Universal (Asia)	6	1		5	12	29
Universal (Africa)	6	5	1	5	17	29

Table M 4: Count of observations of benefits for GSS in the water sector

		Diversional		Quality		Total for
Benefit	Availability	Physical	Affordability	Quality & safety	Total	Asia and Africa
Asia	, rivaliability	accossing	raiordability	a carety	rotar	/ lineu
Children	4	1		3	8	24
Rural children					-	
Urban children						
Adolescent						
boys	1	1		1	3	9
Adolescent		4				40
giris	1	1		1	3	12
vvomen	1				1	5
Rural women	1	1		1	3	3
Urban women						-
Men	1				1	4
Rural men						
Urban men						
Transgender						
Senior citizens	1	1			2	2
Disabled	2				2	6
PLHIV						1
Total	12	5		6	23	
Africa	1		1			
Children	8	4		4	16	24
Rural children						
Urban children						
Adolescent					_	
boys	2	2		2	6	9
Adolescent	2	2		2	0	12
Womon	1	1		2	3	5
Burolwomon	1			2	4	3
						3
Mon	1	1		1	2	4
Durolmon				1	3	4
						•
Senior citizens						2
Disabled	2	1		1	4	6
	1				1	1
Total	18	12		13	43	
Grand total	30	17		19	66	

Table M 5: Count of observations of benefits for LCS in the sanitation sector

Benefit	Availability	Physical accessibility	Affordability	Quality & safety	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia				1		
Poor & low income	2		3	1	6	8
Rural	5	1	3	3	12	21
Urban	13	2	4	7	26	35
Rural poor & low income						1
Urban poor & low income	5		1		6	8
Vulnerable by occupation						
Migrants & Pastorals				1	1	1
Caste						
Ethnicity	2	2		2	6	6
Total	27	5	11	14	57	
Africa			1			•
Poor & low income			2		2	8
Rural	5	1		3	9	21
Urban	6	1	1	1	9	35
Rural poor & low income			1		1	1
Urban poor & low income	2				2	8
Vulnerable by occupation						
Migrants & Pastorals						1
Caste						
Ethnicity						6
Total	13	2	4	4	23	
Grand Total	40	7	15	18	80	
		1	[Γ	1	1
Universal (Asia)	8	1		2	11	31
Universal (Africa)	9	5	2	4	20	31

Table M 6: Count of observations of benefits for GSS in the sanitation sector

Benefit	Availability	Physical accessibility	Affordability	Quality & safety	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia		·	·	·		
Children						9
Rural children						
Urban children						
Adolescent boys						6
Adolescent girls						11
Women						7
Rural women						
Urban women						
Men						3
Rural men						
Urban men						
Transgender						
Senior citizens						
Disabled						
PLHIV						1
Total					0	
Africa	•	·	·			-
Children	4	3		2	9	9
Rural children						
Urban children						
Adolescent boys	2	2		2	6	6
Adolescent girls	4	3	1	3	11	11
Women	2	2	1	2	7	7
Rural women						
Urban women						
Men	1	1		1	3	3
Rural men						
Urban men						
Transgender						
Senior citizens						
Disabled						
PLHIV	1				1	1
Total	14	11	2	10	37	
Grand total	14	11	2	10	37	

Table M 7: Count of observations of benefits for LCS in the hygiene sector

|--|

Benefit	Availability	Physical	Affordability	Quality &	Total	Total for Asia and
	,, ,	accessibility	,	safety		Africa
Asia						
Poor & low income						
Rural						6
Urban	2			2	4	9
Rural poor & low						
Urban poor & low						
income						
Vulnerable by						
occupation						
Migrants & Pastorals						
Caste						
Ethnicity						
Total	2			2	4	
Africa					-	
Poor & low income						
Rural	3	1		2	6	6
Urban	3	1		1	5	9
Rural poor & low income						
Urban poor & low						
Vulnerable by						
occupation						
Migrants & Pastorals						
Caste						
Ethnicity						
Total	6	2		3	11	
Grand total	8	2		5	15	
	·	•	·	·	·	<u> </u>
Universal (Asia)	3		1		4	15
Universal (Africa)	5	2	2	2	11	15

Appendix N: Policy Robustness



Figure N 1: LCS robustness score in polices












WATER SECTO	WATER SECTOR										
LCS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN			
Children	0	1	0	0	1	2	0	16			
Women	1	1	0	0	7	0	0	11			
Adolescent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20			
girls	U	0	U	U	U	U	U	20			
Adolescent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20			
boys	U	U	U	Ŭ	0	U	U	20			
Men	0	0	0	1	2	0	0	17			
Senior citizens	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20			
Disabled	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	18			
PLHIV	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20			
SANITATION S	ECTOR										
LCS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN			
Children	2	1	0	2	2	0	2	11			
Women	0	1	0	2	5	0	2	10			
Adolescent	0	0	0	1	1	0	1	17			
girls	0	Ŭ	Ŭ	•		Ŭ					
Adolescent	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	19			
boys	Ű	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	·	Ŭ				
Men	0	0	0	1	4	0	1	14			
Senior citizens	0	0	0	0	2	0	1	17			
Disabled	0	0	0	1	3	1	0	15			
PLHIV	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	16			
HYGIENE SECT	OR										
LCS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN			
Children	0	0	0	0	3	0	2	15			
Women	0	1	0	0	4	0	0	15			
Adolescent	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	18			
girls	Ű	Ŭ	Ű	Ű		Ű		10			
Adolescent	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20			
boys	0	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	0	20			
Men	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	18			
Senior citizens	0	0	0	0	0	1	0	19			
Disabled	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	18			
PLHIV	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	19			

 Table N 1: LCS robustness in policies across WASH sub-sectors in Asia

 WATER SECTOR

WATER SECTO	WATER SECTOR											
LCS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN				
Children	0	0	0	1	2	2	1	7				
Women	0	1	0	1	6	1	0	4				
Adolescent	0	0	0	0	1	2	0	10				
girls	0				1	2		10				
Adolescent	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	11				
boys	0				1	1		11				
Men	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	9				
Senior citizens	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13				
Disabled	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	12				
PLHIV	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	12				
SANITATION S	SANITATION SECTOR											
LCS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN				
Children	1	1	0	2	1	1	0	7				
Women	0	1	0	2	7	0	0	3				
Adolescent	0	0	0	З	1	0	1	8				
girls	U	U	U	5	1	U	1	0				
Adolescent	0	0	0	1	1	1	1	q				
boys	Ū	Ŭ	Ŭ	•		•	•	Ŭ				
Men	0	0	0	0	3	1	0	9				
Senior citizens	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	12				
Disabled	0	1	0	1	3	1	0	7				
PLHIV	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	11				
HYGIENE SECT	OR	-						-				
LCS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN				
Children	0	1	0	3	2	0	0	7				
Women	0	0	0	1	3	1	0	8				
Adolescent	0	0	0	3	0	0	1	9				
girls	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	Ŭ	•	Ŭ				
Adolescent	0	0	0	2	0	0	1	10				
boys	U	U	U	2	U	U	•	10				
Men	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	11				
Senior citizens	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13				
Disabled	0	0	0	0	2	0	0	11				
PLHIV	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	11				

 Table N 2: LCS robustness in policies across WASH sub-sectors in Africa

 WATER SECTOR

WATER SECTOR								
GSS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN
Rural	2	0	0	4	0	1	2	11
Urban	2	0	0	1	2	1	2	12
Poor & Low income	3	0	0	4	2	2	0	9
Caste	0	0	0	0	5	1	0	14
Ethnicity	0	0	0	1	5	0	0	14
Migrants/Pastorals	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	19
Vulnerable by	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20
SANITATION SECTOR								
GSS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	ΝΥΝ	NNY	YNN	NNN
Rural	1	0	0	3	3	2	0	11
Urban	2	0	0	3	4	1	1	9
Poor & Low income	2	1	0	5	3	1	0	8
Caste	0	0	0	0	3	0	1	16
Ethnicity	0	0	0	1	5	0	0	14
Migrants/Pastorals	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	19
Vulnerable by	-	1	0		0	0	0	
occupation	0			0	_		Ŭ	19
HYGIENE SECTOR								
GSS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN
Rural	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20
Urban	0	0	0	1	1	2	1	15
Poor & Low income	0	0	0	0	1	0	1	18
Caste	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20
Ethnicity	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	19
Migrants/Pastorals	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20
Vulnerable by occupation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20

Table N 3: GSS robustness in policies across WASH sub-sectors in Asia WATER SECTOR

WATER SECTOR										
GSS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN		
Rural	2	0	0	3	1	1	2	4		
Urban	1	1	0	3	2	1	1	4		
Poor & Low income	0	1	1	1	5	0	0	5		
Caste	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13		
Ethnicity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13		
Migrants/Pastorals	0	0	0	0	0	2	0	11		
Vulnerable by occupation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13		
SANITATION SECTOR										
GSS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN		
Rural	1	1	0	2	7	1	0	1		
Urban	3	3	0	2	5	0	0	0		
Poor & Low income	0	0	0	4	3	0	2	4		
Caste	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13		
Ethnicity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13		
Migrants/Pastorals	0	0	0	0	1	0	2	10		
Vulnerable by	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13		
occupation	0			0				15		
HYGIENE SECTOR										
GSS	YYY	YYN	YNY	NYY	NYN	NNY	YNN	NNN		
Rural	0	0	0	0	4	1	1	7		
Urban	0	0	0	1	2	1	1	8		
Poor & Low income	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	12		
Caste	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13		
Ethnicity	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13		
Migrants/Pastorals	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	12		
Vulnerable by occupation	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	13		

Table N 4: GSS robustness in policies across WASH sub-sectors in Africa WATER SECTOR

Appendix O: Numerical Summary: State Policies

Of the 59 WASH policy documents included for the study, 33 documents were National polices and 26 were State policies of India and Pakistan. Given the federal structure in both India and Pakistan, states/provinces/territories have the autonomy and power to formulate public policies for the development and welfare of the states. However, in both these countries, the National Government often formulates policies on state/provincial/territorial subjects such as water and sanitation. The National WASH policies therefore act more like a framework within which the state/provincial/territorial governments can further delineate according to their regional context.

INDIA

In India, both water and sanitation are state subjects (according to the State list or List II in Schedule Seven to the Constitution of India) and it is the responsibility of the states to formulate and implement policies on various sectors within the ambit of its legislative powers. A total number of 22 state policies across 14 states in India were included for the study.

S. No		No. of
	States	policies
1	Odisha	4
2	Tamil Nadu	3
3	Kerala	2
4	Uttar Pradesh	2
5	Karnataka	2
6	Rajasthan	1
7	West Bengal	1
8	Jharkhand	1
9	Madhya Pradesh	1
10	Maharashtra	1
11	Himachal	1
	Pradesh	
12	Andhra Pradesh	1
13	Punjab	1
14	Sikkim	1
Total s	state polices	22

Table O 1: State policies, India

Water sector emerged as the predominant WASH sector among the State policies with 14 standalone water policies. Only three states, Odisha, Kerala and Uttar Pradesh had an individual sanitation policy. Multi-sector WASH policies including water and sanitation were in place among three states namely, Tamil Nadu, Karnataka and Punjab. Hygiene had received very poor attention among the state policy makers with the exception of Tamil Nadu where the sector had been subsumed in its overall WASH policy. Dominance of the water sector was evident even at the National level too. Of the five National WASH policies, three covered only the water sector. This trend reflected the country's agenda towards WASH right from the first five year plan period (1951–1956) which included both water and sanitation as priority sectors. However, water which was

already recognised as a public good gained momentum with heavy infrastructure investments and projects. One of the factors that contributed to this development was the declaration of International Decade of Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation in the 1980's (Satish, n.d.).

Although the country's first comprehensive National Urban Sanitation Policy was drafted only in 2008, states like Tamil Nadu and Karnataka had subsumed the sanitation sector within its WASH policy even before the year 2008.

LCS: India

The presence of LCS in state policies was rather moderate with only a partial coverage of segments on the life-cycle stage. While children, adolescent girls and boys, men and women had received fair attention; senior citizens, disabled, transgender and people living with HIV/AIDS have received no attention at all. Comparatively, National policies had presented a very sparse coverage of LCS. While adolescent girls and boys, men, senior citizens and transgender had not found any representation, disabled and people living with HIV/AIDS had received some representation.

State policies inclined more towards provision of WASH services and facilities for women followed by children. However, women had not received equal attention across all 14 states. Only six states including Himachal Pradesh, Kerala, Odisha, Punjab, Rajasthan and Tamil Nadu had proposed WASH strategies for women. Among them, Tamil Nadu was the only state that had suggested WASH benefits for women. The most proposed strategy for women was beneficiary participation (n=8), followed by information, education and communication (n=5) and the least proposed strategy was demand management (n=1). Tamil Nadu had focused its strategies more towards providing WASH facilities for women (n=3), for example, *"Implementation of a special scheme to provide toilets with bathing facilities for women from poorer sections in all urban local bodies"* (Tamil Nadu's Policy Note by Municipal Administration and Water Supply Department, 2001-02).

Attention on children was again limited to three states, Himachal Pradesh, Punjab and Tamil Nadu. There again, Tamil Nadu was the only state that had recommended strategies for children and all pertain to provision of WASH facilities (n=3). Availability (n=12) was the most common WASH benefit proposed for children followed by quality and safety (n=3) and physical availability (n=1).

Followed by women and children, adolescent girls and boys had received some attention in State policies whereas they had not received any attention in National policies. With regard to adolescents, only three states, Punjab, Odisha and Tamil Nadu had encapsulated their WASH needs and proposed strategies. For example, the state of Punjab had adopted a demand-centred approach at school and college level by including WASH in teaching curricula (Punjab State Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Policy, 2014). In Tamil Nadu, efforts to provide public convenience for the adolescent boys and girls were a priority in the Policy Note by Municipal Administration and Water Supply Department (2004-05). Among LCS, men had received the least attention. Punjab, Kerala and Tamil Nadu, the only three states that had incorporated men in WASH strategies have given priority to men in terms providing IEC and in incorporating their needs at the planning level. With regard to WASH benefits, Tamil Nadu alone had suggested the construction 20 integrated sanitary complexes for men (Policy Note by Municipal Administration and Water Supply Department (2003-04).

GSS: India

At the state level, urban segment emerged as the dominant group followed by the rural segment and poor and low income. Of the 13 states, only seven had covered the rural and urban segments in their WASH policies and all had included the poor and low income group. Provision of WASH facilities was the most proposed strategy for the urban (n=33) and the poor and low income segment (n=11). Provision of subsidies/tariffs/loans/micro credit/grant (n=11) was another commonly suggested strategy for the poor and low income. Compared to other states, Tamil Nadu had proposed the most number of strategies related to provision of WASH facilities (n=41). For the rural segment strategies were mostly on project management (n=11) followed by IEC (n=10) and provision of WASH facilities (n=40). WASH benefits for the urban (n=39), rural (n=37) and poor and low income (n=4) were more focused towards availability of WASH services and facilities.

Population segments marginalised by caste and ethnicity had also received fair coverage however only six states, Himachal Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh, Punjab, Sikkim, Tamil Nadu and West Bengal had addressed the WASH needs of this vulnerable group. Among them, Punjab, Himachal Pradesh and West Bengal fell under the top five states that had a high of population of Scheduled Castes and Madhya Pradesh had a high Scheduled Tribe population (Census of India, 2011). The most common strategies proposed were beneficiary participation (n=2), project management (n=2) and provision of WASH facilities (n=2) and WASH benefits were more towards availability (n=7) and affordability (n=1) of WASH services and facilities.

The vulnerable by occupation had received more attention than migrants and pastoralists. The states of Karnataka, Kerala, Odisha, Tamil Nadu and Uttar Pradesh included this segment in their WASH policies though at a very minimal level. The policies had proposed an array of strategies for the vulnerable by occupation including demand management (n=2), decentralisation of service delivery (n=1), beneficiary participation (n=1) and project management (n=1). However, Tamil Nadu stood out to be the only state to have had suggested substantive WASH benefits to vulnerable population especially the sanitary workers. The proposed benefits highlighted the state's prerogative to ensure availability and quality (n=1) and quality and safety (n=1) of WASH services that were to be provided to this vulnerable group, for example, *"Provision of soap and soap allowance to field workers and sanitary workers"* (Municipal Administration and water supply department policy note, 2008-2009).

Migrants and Pastoralists had received attention in the states of Odisha and Kerala. The Kerala State Sanitation Strategy, 2008 emphasised the need to provide WASH facilities (n=1) *"to cater to the needs of floating population of tourists and migrants"*. On the other hand, the Odisha Urban Sanitation Strategy, 2011 spelt out the need for demand

management (n=1) through user pay approach for public toilets in bus and railway stations, fairs, shopping complexes for floating population and migrants. Availability (n=2) and physical accessibility (n=2) of WASH services and facilities were the only two WASH benefits proposed for migrants/pastorals.

PAKISTAN

The National Government of Pakistan officially recognises the human right to water and sanitation as it is a signatory to key international treaties, and had established a number of national and domestic level policies (Khairpur Rural Development Organisation 2013). Under the Constitution of Pakistan, both drinking water supply and sanitation are provincial subjects and the provinces/territories have the power to formulate and implement WASH policies and strategies.

S. No	States	No. of policies
1	Baluchistan	1
2	Sindh	1
3	Punjab	1
4	Azad Jammu & Kashmir (AJK)	1
Total s	state polices	4

 Table O 2: Provincial/Regional policies in Pakistan

A total number of four provincial/territorial WASH policies were included for the study. The provinces of Baluchistan and Sindh had standalone water and sanitation policy respectively and the province of Punjab and the territory of Azad Jammu & Kashmir each had a combined water & sanitation policy.

LCS: Pakistan

Coverage of LCS in Pakistan's provincial/territorial WASH policies was incomplete. Of the nine LCS only three - children, women and men had received attention. Adolescent girls and boys were also been included but at an aggregate level that is, beneficiaries at the secondary and tertiary educational institutions.

Among the LCS addressed, women were given more priority followed by children, men and adolescent girls and boys. Women's access to WASH services especially in rural areas was greatly limited by environmental barriers (n=3) including gender restrictions which allowed the, *"strict separation of men and women and low socio-economic status of most rural women restrict mobility and decision making"* and geographical challenges that required rural women to travel long distances in search of water (Integrated Water Resources Management Policy, Balochistan, Pakistan, 2005).

Adequacy (n=1) and attitudinal barriers (n=1) in terms of shortage of WASH facilities complemented by the lack of knowledge to use it had impounded the poor WASH situation among women. Beneficiary participation (n=10) was the most proposed strategy for women followed by project management (n=4) and information, education and communication (n=2). With beneficiary participation, the policies had recognised women as co-partners in decision making, consulting, operation and maintenance of WASH facilities. For example, *"to recognize the key role that women play in the drinking water*

sector and ensure their participation in decision-making for the sector at all levels" (The domestic water and sanitation policy for Sindh 2006). Availability (n=2) and physical accessibility (n=2) were the key WASH benefits proposed for women followed by quality and safety (n=1).

AJK and Sindh were the only two territories/provinces to have included children as LCS in their WASH policies. Children mostly faced physical barriers (n=2) where they use poorly maintained of toilets in schools and also ill-designed toilets, *"wherever latrines exists in most cases, these are not used properly by the students due to; blockage (lack of maintenance), non-availability of water, or exclusive use by the teachers who generally keep the toilets locked"* (AJK Sanitation Policy and Strategy 2008). The only strategy proposed for children in both these territories/provinces was IEC (n=2) through a school-centred approach. Except for physical availability, AJK had proposed accessibility (n=2), quality and safety (n=2) and affordability (n=2) as WASH benefits for children, On the other hand, Sindh had focused mostly on availability (n=1) and physical accessibility (n=1) of WASH services/facilities.

Men were covered only in two provinces, Sindh and Punjab. While Sindh had spelt out the barriers men face while accessing WASH services/facilities and the WASH benefits, WASH strategies alone had been suggested in the Punjab Urban Water and Sanitation Policy, 2007. Their usage of WASH facilities was limited by their lack of knowledge to use them (attitudinal barrier; n=1) and also the insufficient WASH services/facilities available (adequacy barrier; n=1). The strategy focused on project management (n=2) and specifically to use gender analysis to assess levels of participation of both men and women in planning process. The proposed WASH benefit ensured availability (n=1) and physical accessibility (n=1) of WASH services/facilitates, *"Public toilets keeping in mind different needs of men, women and children in open spaces such as markets, parks and playgrounds".*

Adolescent girls and boys were encapsulated only in the Punjab Urban Water and Sanitation Policy 2007 and were included while proposing WASH strategy IEC (n=1 each) through "*environmental health and hygiene education and curricula of primary, secondary and tertiary educational institutions*".

GSS: Pakistan

Urban segments emerged as the dominant GSS in the provincial/territory WASH policies followed by universal and the poor and low income. The focus on urban segments could be attributed to the rapid urbanisation in Pakistan and between the years 1950–2011, it's urban population expanded over seven-fold, while the total population increased by over four-fold (Climate Change Division, 2013). The United Nations Population Division estimated that, by 2025, nearly half the country's population will live in urban areas (Kugelman 2014). The impact of urbanization on water and sanitation was alarming and the barriers faced by the urban segments in accessing WASH services as described in the policy documents were mostly related to physical barriers (n=2) like faulty sewerage systems (Integrated WASH facilities (n=1) also hindered urbanities to realize their right to water and sanitation for example, "Absence of proper public toilets in high traffic areas due to poor maintenance" (AJK Sanitation Policy and Strategy 2008). An array of

strategies were proposed for the urban segment and mostly pertained to institutional level operation and management. Majority of them related to project management (n=8) especially on allocation of property rights, water supply utilities, implementation of appropriate corporate institutional arrangements, etc. The strategies further provided scope for legal and regulatory framework (n=4) in terms of promoting appropriate legislation in urban water and sanitation sector and regulatory institutional framework. Demand management (n=4) was also proposed as a strategy to meet the needs of the urban segment. The WASH benefits mostly focused on ensuring availability (n=3), quality and safety (n=3) of WASH services/facilities and affordability (n=2).

Very less attention was given to the rural population in the provincial/territory WASH policies in Pakistan. Except for the AJK Sanitation Policy and Strategy 2008 which mentioned the problem on inadequate WASH facilities other policies failed to detail out the barriers faced by the rural segment in accessing WASH services. Azad Jammu and Kashmir took precedence in proposing WASH strategies for this segment and had focused on demand management (n=2) like providing sanitation incentives to achieve excreta free, litter free, foul water free status and IEC (n=2) including a behaviour change and demand driven bottom up approach. While proposing WASH benefits, the province of Sindh took the lead and had included WASH benefits that mostly pertained to affordability (n=2) and availability (n=1).

Poor and low income including those living in urban areas was targeted in WASH policies under strategies and benefits. The strategies proposed were mostly designed to address their economic incapacity to avail WASH services and the provision of subsidies/tariffs/loans/micro credit/grant (n=4) was considered as appropriate. The policies had suggested a sliding scale for the poor (Integrated Water Resources Management Policy, Balochistan, Pakistan, 2005), microcredit (AJK Sanitation Policy and Strategy 2008) and tariff systems (The domestic water and sanitation policy for Sindh 2006). All the proposed WASH benefits were focussed on providing affordable WASH services/facilities (n=6) to the poor and low income.

Appendix P: Organisations contacted through email

SI. No.	Organisation	Country/ regional/ head offices contacted	Number of offices that responded	Documents received	Documents included/ excluded	Sector
Multil	ateral Agencies		•	1		
1	World Bank	Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Kenya, Ethiopia, Tanzania, Malawi, Madagascar, Uganda, Pakistan, Nigeria	4	6	1	Water and sanitation
2	UNICEF	Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Kenya, Ethiopia, Tanzania, Malawi, Madagascar, Uganda, Pakistan, Nigeria	7	5	1	WASH
3	WSP	Head, Regional Offices	0	0	0	
4	UNDP	Head Office, Bangladesh, Nepal, Pakistan, Ethiopia, Kenya, Malawi, Madagascar, Tanzania, Uganda	1	1	0	WASH
5	WHO	Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Kenya, Ethiopia, Tanzania, Malawi, Madagascar, Uganda, Pakistan, Nigeria	2	0	0	
Bi-lat	eral Agencies					
6	USAID	Bangladesh, India, Nepal, Kenya, Ethiopia, Tanzania, Malawi, Madagascar, Uganda, Pakistan, Nigeria	1	0	0	
7	DFID	Head office	1	0	0	
8	DANIDA	Head office, Uganda office	1	4	3	Water and sanitation
9	AUSAID	Head office	0	0	0	
10	SIDA	Head office	0	0	0	
11	CIDA	Head office	1	0	0	
Interr	national NGOs	T	-	1		
12	Water Aid	Head office, India office	1	0	0	
13	SHARE	Head office	1	0	0	
14	CLTS	Head office	1	0	0	
15	WASH Alliance	India	0	0	0	
16	Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation	Head office	1	0	0	

Table P 1: List of organisations contacted through email

SI. No.	Organisation	Country/ regional/ head offices contacted	Number of offices that responded	Documents received	Documents included/ excluded	Sector			
17	Care International	Head Office, Bangladesh, Nepal, Pakistan, India, Ethiopia, Kenya, Madagascar, Tanzania, Uganda	1	0	0				
18	IRC	India, Ethiopia, Uganda	0	0	0				
19	Simavi Netherlands	Head office	0	0	0				
20	Water.org	Head office 0 0 0 0							
Gove	rnment								
21	Government of India and State governments	National Ministry of Water Resources, National Ministry of Drinking Water and Sanitation, National Ministry of Urban Development, National Ministry of Rural Development, State Water Resources Departments, State Rural Development Departments, State Urban Development Departments, State Public Health and Engineering Departments	2	0	0				
22	Government of Kenya	Ministry of Health and Ministry of Water and Irrigation	1	2	0	Sanitation and hygiene			
23	Government of Tanzania	Ministry of Water and Irrigation	0	0	0				
24	Government of Ethiopia	Ministry of Water and Energy and Ministry of Health	0	0	0				
25	Government of Uganda	Ministry of Water and Environment	0	0	0				
26	National Government of Pakistan	Ministry of Climate Change	0	0	0				
27	Government of Nigeria	Ministry of Water Resources	0	0	0				
28	Government of Malawi	Government of Malawi	0	0	0				
29	Government of Bangladesh	Ministry of Local Government, Rural Development and Cooperatives, Ministry of Water Resources	0	0	0				
30	Government of Nepal	Ministry of Physical Planning and Works	0	0	0				
Total	1		26	18	5				

Appendix Q: Population segments identified in P&P by sector and region

No of LCS	Water			9	Sanitation			Hygiene		
in P&P	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	
0	12	13	25	6	14	20	4	4	8	
1	13	18	31	13	19	32	5	7	12	
2	12	12	24	13	12	25	3	3	6	
3	3	8	11	5	9	14	4	7	11	
4	4	2	6	5	3	8	2	-	2	
5	4	10	14	5	10	15	2	10	12	
6	2	2	4	-	2	2	1	2	3	
7	-	1	1	1	1	2	-	1	1	
8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Table Q 1: Identification of LCS in the WASH subsectors by region

Table Q 2:Count of observations of LCS in the WASH subsectors by r	region
--	--------

Population	Water	•		Sanitation			Hygiene		
Segments	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total
Children	24	42	66	28	44	72	19	27	46
Adolescent girls	12	19	31	17	20	37	12	17	29
Adolescent boys	9	17	26	13	18	31	9	16	25
Women	35	40	75	39	41	80	18	21	39
Men	8	9	17	10	10	20	5	9	14
Transgender	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Senior citizens	0	2	2	2	3	5	1	2	3
Disabled	6	11	17	9	12	21	4	10	14
PLHIV	0	3	3	0	3	3	0	1	1

Table Q 3: Identification of GSS the WASH subsectors by region

No of segments		Water		Ś	Sanitation			Hygiene		
mentioned in P&P	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	
0	7	2	9	7	2	9	7	3	10	
1	12	19	31	9	20	29	3	10	13	
2	13	35	48	15	38	53	4	15	19	
3	9	8	17	8	8	16	5	4	9	
4	8	2	10	8	2	10	1	2	3	
5	1	0	1	2	0	2	1	0	1	
6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	

Population		Water		Ş	Sanitatio	n	Hygiene		
Segments	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total	Asia	Africa	Total
Rural	30	47	77	31	49	80	13	26	39
Urban	19	44	63	17	46	63	5	19	24
Poor and low income	27	22	49	32	25	57	10	10	20
Ethnicity	13	1	14	13	1	14	3	1	4
Caste	13	0	13	13	0	13	4	0	4
Migrants & Pastorals	0	7	7		7	7	0	4	4
Vulnerable by occupation	1	0	1	2	0	2	1	0	1
Universal	9	12	21	8	12	20	9	6	15

Table Q 4: Count of observations of GSS in the WASH subsectors by region

Appendix R: Count of barriers from P&P by sector, segment and region

Table R 1: Count of observatio	ns for WASH barriers	for LCS by region
--------------------------------	----------------------	-------------------

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total
Asia								
Children	7			2				9
Rural Children	2					1		3
Urban Children								
Adolescent Girls	7	1	1	2		3		14
Adolescent Boys								
Women	7		2	5				14
Rural Women	1	2	1					4
Urban Women								
Men		1						1
Rural Men								
Urban Men								
Transgender								
Senior Citizens								
Disabled								
PLHIV								
Total	24	4	4	9		4		45
Africa								
Children	1			2		2		5
Rural Children	4			6				10
Urban Children	2							2
Adolescent Girls	4			6		1		11
Adolescent Boys						1		1
Women (Adults)	4			3	4			11
Rural Women			1	7				8
Urban Women				3	4			7
Men (Adults)								
Rural Men								
Urban Men								
Transgender								
Senior Citizens								
Disabled				1		1		2
PLHIV		4						4
Total	15	4	1	28	8	5		61
Grand Total	39	8	5	37	8	9		106

Table R 2: Count of observations for WASH barriers for GSS by region

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total
Asia								
Poor & Low Income	1							1
Rural	6	4	3	4		2	1	20
Urban	5	1	3	2				11
Rural poor & low income								
Urban Poor & Low								
Income	8	1	1			1	4	15
Vulnerable by								
occupation								
Migrants & Pastoralists								
Caste								
Ethnicity								
Total	20	6	7	6		3	5	47
Africa								
Poor & Low Income	3		2		3			8
Rural	7	3		4		5	3	22
Urban	5				2	2	7	16
Rural poor & low								
Urban Poor & Low								
Income	1		2		4		2	9
Vulnerable by								
occupation								
Migrants &								
Pastoralists	3							3
Caste								
Ethnicity								
Total	19	3	4	4	9	7	12	58
Grand Total	39	9	11	10	9	10	17	105
	1					1		
Universal (Asia)	1	2				4	1	8
Universal (Africa)		2	1	2		1	2	8

Table R 3: Count of observations of barriers for LCS in the water sector

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia	1	1	1	I	1	1	I		
Children	2			2				4	10
Rural Children	1							1	
Urban Children									7
Adolescent Girls	1			2		1		4	9
Adolescent Boys									1
Women	3		1	4				8	13
Rural Women	1							1	9
Urban Women									5
Men									
Rural Men									
Urban Men									
Transgender									
Senior Citizens									
PLHIV									
Disabled									2
Total	8		1	8		1		18	
Africa	1			-	1		Γ	Г	
Children				2		1		3	10
Rural Children	2			6				8	
Urban Children	1							1	7
Adolescent Girls	2			4				6	9
Adolescent Boys									1
Women	1			2	2			5	13
Rural Women			1	7				8	9
Urban Women				3	2			5	5
Men									
Rural Men									
Urban Men									
Transgender									
Senior Citizens									
PLHIV									
Disabled				1		1		2	2
Total	6		1	25	4	2		38	
Grand total	14		2	33	4	3		56	

Table R 4. Coulit of observations of barriers for 0.55 in the water sector	Table R 4:C	ount of observat	ions of barriers for	GSS in the water sector
--	-------------	------------------	----------------------	-------------------------

Barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia						n	n		
Poor & Low Income	1							1	4
Rural	2	1	1	2	1		1	8	19
Urban	3		1	1				5	13
Rural Poor & Low									
									1
Urban Poor & Low	3						2	5	11
Migrants & Pastoralists									1
Caste									
Ethnicity									
Vulnerable by occupation									
Total	9	1	1	3	1		3	19	
Africa									
Poor & Low Income	1				2			3	4
Rural	4	2		2		2	1	11	19
Urban	2				1	1	4	8	13
Rural Poor & Low									
Income			1					1	1
Income			2		2		2	6	11
Migrants & Pastoralists	1							1	1
Caste									
Ethnicity									
Vulnerable by									
occupation									
Total	8	2	3	2	5	3	7	30	
Grand total	17	3	5	5	6	3	10	49	
					-				_
Universal (Asia)	1	1			1		1	4	7
Universal (Africa)				2			1	3	7

 Table R 5:Count of observations of barriers for LCS in the sanitation sector

Type of barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia									
Children	3							3	5
Rural Children	1					1		2	4
Urban Children									1
Adolescent Girls	4					1		5	8
Adolescent Boys									1
Women	3		1	1				5	10
Rural Women									
Urban Women									2
Men		1						1	1
Rural Men									
Urban Men									
Transgender									
Disabled									
Senior citizens									
PLHIV									2
Total	11	1	1	1		2		16	
Africa									
Children	1					1		2	5
Rural Children	2							2	4
Urban Children	1							1	1
Adolescent Girls	1			1		1		3	8
Adolescent Boys						1		1	1
Women	2			1	2			5	10
Rural Women									
Urban Women					2			2	2
Men									1
Rural Men									
Urban Men									
Transgender									
Disabled									
Senior citizens									
PLHIV		2						2	2
Total	7	2		2	4	3		18	
Grand total	18	3	1	3	4	5		34	

Table R 6:Count of	observations of	of barriers for	GSS in the	sanitation sector
				Sumulation Scotor

Type of barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia			•						
Poor & Low Income									2
Rural	4	2	1	2		1		10	20
Urban	2		1	1				4	12
Rural Poor & Low Income									1
Urban Poor & Low	1		1			1	2	0	11
Vulnerable by occupation	4						2	0	
Pastoralists									1
Ethnicity									
Total	10	2	3	3		2	2	22	
Africa		T	1	1		1	1	1	
Poor & Low Income	1				1			2	2
Rural	3	1		2		2	2	10	20
Urban	3				1	1	3	8	12
Rural Poor & Low Income			1					1	1
Urban Poor & Low Income	1				2			3	11
Vulnerable by occupation									
Migrants & Pastoralists	1							1	1
Caste									
Ethnicity									
Total	9	1	1	2	4	3	5	25	
	-					1	1		
Grand total	19	3	4	5	4	5	7	47	
Grand total	19	3	4	5	4	5	7	47	8
Grand total Universal (Asia)	19	3	4	5	4	3	7	47	8

Table R 7:Count of observations of barriers for LCS in the hygiene sector

Type of barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia	1	1	1	1		1			1
Children	2							2	2
Rural Children									
Urban Children									
Adolescent								_	_
girls	2	1	1			1		5	7
hovs									
Women	1							1	2
Rural Women		2	1					3	3
Urban Women									
Men									
Rural Men			1						
Urban Men									
Transgender									
Disabled									
Senior citizens									
									2
Total	5	3	2			1		11	-
Africa	U		-						
Children									2
Rural Children									-
Urban Children									
Adolescent									
girls	1			1				2	7
Adolescent									
boys									
Women	1							1	2
Rural Women									3
Urban Women									
Men									
Rural Men									
Urban Men									
Transgender									
Disabled									
Senior citizens									
PLHIV		2						2	2
Total	2	2		1				5	
Grand total	7	5	2	1		1		16	

Table R 8-Count	of observations	of barriers for	GSS in the	hygiene sector
			000 111 1116	IIYYICIIC SECIUL

Type of barrier	Adequacy	Attitudinal	Demand side	Environmental	Inclusion	Physical	Policy and institutional	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia									
Poor & Low Income									1
Rural		1	1					2	3
Urban		1	1					2	2
Rural Poor & Low Income									
Urban Poor & Low Income	1	1						2	2
Vulnerable by occupation									
Migrants & Pastoralists									1
Caste									
Ethnicity									
Total	1	3	2					6	
Africa	1			1	1	1		1	
Poor & Low Income	1							1	1
Rural						1		1	3
Urban									2
Rural Poor & Low Income									
Urban Poor & Low Income									2
Caste									
Migrants & Pastoralists	1							1	1
Ethnicity									
Vulnerable by occupation									
Total	2					1		3	
Grand total	3	3	2			1		9	
Universal (Asia)									1
Universal (Africa)		1						1	1

Appendix S: Count of strategies from P&P by segment, sector and region

Table S 1: Count of observations for WASH strategies for LCS by region

Strategies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	IEC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity building	Project Management	Provision of financial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation Marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total
Asia													
Children				28	3		3		3			3	40
Rural children				24	6				2	2			34
Urban children				5									5
Adolescent boys				7	2								9
Adolescent girls			1	14	2						3		20
Women	12	8	5	6	3			2	1				37
Rural women	3	27	7	10					1		2		50
Urban women	3	2	3	1		1							10
Men				3	3							1	7
Rural men		1		3									4
Urban men	1		1	1									3
Transgender													
Senior citizens			1										1
Disabled			2										2
PLHIV													
Total	19	38	20	102	19	1	3	2	7	2	5	4	222
Africa													

Children		1	5	18	1				3				28
Rural children				17					1	1			19
Urban children				7									7
Adolescent boys	3	1	3	14					1		3		25
Adolescent girls	3	1	3	17	1				1		3		29
Women	4	6	25	5							3		43
Rural women	7	30	12	12		2							63
Urban women		9	5	8		2					2		26
Men		3	5	3									11
Rural men	3			4							1		8
Urban men				2									2
Transgender													
Senior citizens			4										4
PLHIV				7	1	2							10
Disabled			11						2				13
Total	20	51	73	114	3	6			8	1	12		288
Grand Total	39	89	93	216	22	7	3	2	15	3	17	4	510

Strategies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	EC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity	Project Management	Provision of iinancial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total
Asia													
Poor & low income	4		10		1			2					17
Rural	10	40	4	85	29	45	16	6	25	6	4	12	282
Urban	7	7		18	6	13	9		23		2	9	94
Rural poor & low income		4	6	2				2					14
Urban poor & low income	2	4	1	3	3			10	6	1		1	31
Vulnerable by occupation			2										2
Migrants & Pastoralists													
Caste		6	16						1				23
Ethnicity		4	21						1				26
Total	26	65	60	108	39	58	25	20	56	7	6	22	489
Africa													
Poor & low income			7										7
Rural	26	24	2	121	49	53	18	3	33	23	17	18	387
Urban	17	7		52	12	62	29		34	5	5	14	237
Rural poor & low income			1										1
Urban poor & low income		2	4	2			3	2		2			15
Vulnerable by occupation													
Migrants & Pastorals			5	4	2				4				15
Caste													
Ethnicity			3										3
Total	43	33	22	179	63	115	50	5	71	30	22	43	665
Grand Total	66	98	82	287	102	173	75	25	127	37	28	54	1154
	-	-		10		-			~				40
Universal (Asia)	3	5		10	3	5		4	2	2	4	4	42
Universal (Africa)	6	7		12	9	14	1		8	3		11	71

Table S 2: Count of observations for WASH strategies for GSS by region

Strategies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	IEC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity building	Project Management	Provision of financial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia	1	[1	r _	1	1					1			
Children				7			1		1			1	10	16
Rural children				5					1	1			7	10
Urban children				1									1	1
Adolescent girls				2									2	9
Adolescent boys														8
Women	7	4	2	1				1	1				16	32
Rural women	1	10	4										15	43
Urban women	2	1	1			1							5	13
Men				1									1	4
Rural Men														3
Urban men	1												1	1
Transgender														
Senior Citizens														2
Disabled			1										1	6
PLHIV														1
Total	11	15	8	17		1	1	1	3	1		1	59	
Africa													•	1
Children			1	3	1				1				6	16
Rural children				3									3	10

Table S 3:Count of observations of strategies for LCS in the water sector

				1			1			1				
Urban children														1
Adolescent boys	1		1	4							1		7	9
Adolescent girls	1		1	4	1						1		8	8
Women	3	2	9	1							1		16	32
Rural women	4	15	5	3		1							28	43
Urban women		3	2	1		1					1		8	13
Men		1	2										3	4
Rural men	1			1							1		3	3
Urban men														1
Transgender														
Senior citizens			2										2	2
Disabled			4						1				5	6
PLHIV				1									1	1
Total	10	21	27	21	2	2			2		5		90	
Grand total	21	36	35	38	2	3	1	1	5	1	5	1	149	

Strategies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisatio n of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	IEC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity building	Project Management	Provision of financial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia		1	1			1	1	1	1		T		1	
Poor & low income	1		4		1			1					7	9
Rural	5	18	2	22	10	20	8		16	1	1	6	109	257
Urban	3	3		5	2	8	3		11		1	4	40	131
Rural poor & low income		1	3										4	5
Urban poor & low income	2	2		1	1			5	1			1	13	20
Caste		3	9						1				13	13
Ethnicity		2	12						1				15	16
Vulnerable occupation														5
Migrants & Pastoralists														
Total	11	29	30	28	14	28	11	6	30	1	2	11	201	
Africa		T	1			T	T	1	1		T		1	
Poor & low income			2										2	9
Rural	11	12	1	36	14	22	10	1	16	10	8	7	148	257
Urban	7	4		9	2	30	13		18		1	7	91	131
Rural poor & low income			1										1	5
Urban poor & low income		1	2				3	1					7	20
Caste														13
Ethnicity			1										1	16
Vulnerable occupation			2	1					2				5	5
Migrants & Pastoralists														
Total	18	17	9	46	16	52	26	2	36	10	9	14	255	
Grand total	29	46	39	74	30	80	37	8	66	11	11	25	456	
			[4							40	
Universal (Asia)	1	2		2	0	4	4	1	4		1	1	12	37
Universal (Africa)	2	3		4	Z	5	1		4			4	25	31

Table S 4:Count of observations of strategies for GSS in the water sector

Strategies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	EC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity building	Project Management	Provision of financial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia														
Children				8	2		1		1			1	13	26
Rural children				8	3				1	1			13	19
Urban children				1									1	5
Adolescent boys				2	1								3	13
Adolescent girls			1	3	1						1		6	17
Women	4	4	2	3	2			1					16	33
Rural women	1	14	2	3					1		1		22	44
Urban women	1	1	2										4	14
Men				1	2							1	4	8
Rural men		1											1	4
Urban men			1										1	2
Transgender														
Senior citizens			1										1	2
Disabled			1										1	6
PLHIV														6
Total	6	20	10	29	11		1	1	3	1	2	2	86	

Table S 5: Count of observations of strategies for LCS in the sanitation sector

Africa														
Children		1	2	8					2				13	26
Rural children				5					1				6	19
Urban children				4									4	5
Adolescent boys	1	1	1	5					1		1		10	13
Adolescent girls	1	1	1	6					1		1		11	17
Women	1	2	10	3							1		17	33
Rural women	2	10	4	5		1							22	44
Urban women		4	2	2		1					1		10	14
Men		1	2	1									4	8
Rural men	1			2									3	4
Urban men				1									1	2
Transgender														
Senior citizens			1										1	2
Disabled			4						1				5	6
PLHIV				4	1	1							6	6
Total	6	20	27	46	1	3			6		4		113	
Grand Total	12	40	37	75	12	3	1	1	9	1	6	2	199	

Strategies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	EC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity building	Project Management	Provision of financial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia							1		1	1				
Poor & low income	3		3					1					7	10
Rural	5	17	1	35	15	20	7	6	8	5	3	4	126	291
Urban	3	3		6	3	3	5		12		1	4	40	148
Rural poor & low income		2	3	1				2					8	8
Urban poor & low income		2	1	1	2			5	5	1			17	23
Vulnerable by occupation			2										2	2
Migrants & pastoralists														5
Caste		3	5										8	8
Ethnicity		2	7										9	10
Total	11	29	22	43	20	23	12	14	25	6	4	8	217	
Africa														
Poor & low income			3										3	10
Rural	12	10	1	47	23	24	7	1	14	11	8	7	165	291
Urban	8	3		21	6	28	14		15	4	3	6	108	148

Table S 6: Count of observations of strategies for GSS in the sanitation sector

Rural poor & low income														8
Urban poor & low income		1	2					1		2			6	23
Vulnerable by occupation														2
Migrants & Pastorals			2	1	1				1				5	5
Caste														8
Ethnicity			1										1	10
Total	20	14	9	39	30	52	21	2	30	17	11	13	288	
Grand total	31	43	31	112	50	75	33	16	55	23	15	21	505	
Universal (Asia)	1	2		3	3	1		2	2	2	2	2	20	54
Universal (Africa)	3	2		6	6	6			4	2		5	34	54

Strategies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	IEC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity building	Project Management	Provision of financial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia	1		1			1		1						
Children				13	1		1		1			1	17	26
Rural children				11	3								14	24
Urban children				3									3	6
Adolescent boys				5	1								6	14
Adolescent girls				9	1						2		12	22
Women	1		1	2	1								5	15
Rural women	1	3	1	7							1		13	26
Urban women				1									1	9
Men				1	1								2	6
Rural men				3									3	5
Urban men				1									1	2
Transgender														
Senior citizens														1
Disabled														3
PLHIV														3
Total	2	3	2	56	8		1		1		3	1	77	
Africa		-	1		1							1		
Children			2	7									9	26
Rural children				9						1			10	24

Table S 7: Count of observations of strategies for LCS in the hygiene sector

Urban children				3								3	6
Adolescent boys	1		1	5						1		8	14
Adolescent girls	1		1	7						1		10	22
Women		2	6	1						1		10	15
Rural women	1	5	3	4								13	26
Urban women		2	1	5								8	9
Men		1	1	2								4	6
Rural men	1			1								2	5
Urban men				1								1	2
Transgender													
Senior citizens			1									1	1
Disabled			3									3	3
PLHIV				2		1						3	3
Total	4	10	19	47		1			1	3		85	
Grand total	6	13	21	103	8	1	1	1	1	6	1	162	

				9.00				-						
Strategies	Beneficiary Participation	Decentralisation of service delivery	Equity in WASH service provision	IEC	Improving Demand	Institutional strengthening and capacity building	Project Management	Provision of financial incentives	Provision of WASH facilities	Sanitation marketing	Skill development of community	Stakeholder Participation	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia				•										
Poor & low income			3										3	5
Rural		5	1	28	4	5	1		1			2	47	121
Urban	1	1		7	1	2	1					1	14	52
Rural poor & low income		1		1									2	2
Urban poor & low income				1									1	3
Vulnerable by occupation														
Migrants & Pastoralists														5
Caste			2										2	2
Ethnicity			2										2	3
Total	1	7	8	37	5	7	2	1	1		1	3	71	
Africa				r										
Poor & low income			2										2	5
Rural	3	2		38	12	7	1	1	3	2	1	4	74	121

Table S 8: Count of observations of strategies for GSS in the hygiene sector

Urban	2			22	4	4	2		1	1	1	1	38	52
Rural poor & low														
income														2
Urban poor & low														
income				2									2	3
Vulnerable by														
occupation														
Migrants &														
Pastoralists			1	2	1				1				5	5
Caste														2
Ethnicity			1										1	3
Total	5	2	4	64	17	11	3	1	5	3	2	5	122	
Total	J			04			5	•	.	.	-	5	122	
Grand total	6	9	12	101	22	18	5	1	6	3	2	8	193	
Universal (Asia)	1	1		5				1			1	1	10	22
Universal														
(Africa)	1	2		2	1	3				1		2	12	22
S. No.	Segment	Strategies	Worked & Did not work	Reasons why strategies worked and did not work	No. of P&P that contributed to the observations									
--------------	---------------------	------------------------------	-----------------------------	---	---									
		Beneficiary Participation	Worked	Involvement of women in all levels of the project.	3									
		Provision of	Worked	Reduction of time spent and distance covered to access facilities resulted in women spending time on income generating activities.	4									
		WASH facilities	Did not work	Introduction of flush latrines increased water demand for the family and indirectly added to the work load to fetch more water to keep the latrines clean.	1									
1	Rural women IEC		Worked	Recruitment of female staff to work with the community and conducting awareness campaigns highlighted gender needs and the adoption of safe WASH practices.	1									
		Skill development		Women led sanitary marts led to increase in household latrines as materials were available locally.	1									
		Demand Management	Worked	By including SLTS and CLTS the project was able to balance its focus between adults and children.	1									
		Project Management	Worked	Project staff maintained healthy gender balance and use of women was community resource persons.	1									
		Drovision of	Worked	Saved time, ensured privacy for girls and teachers and improved daily life of girls by reducing distance travelled.	4									
2 Adole g	Adolescent girls	WASH facilities	Did not work	Sanitation facilities were not maintained and needed more water which increased burden on girls, women. Structure of building housing WASH facilities was weak.	3									
		IEC	Worked	Use of community based participatory approach and school led total sanitation approach.	2									

Table S 9:Strategies that worked and did not work for LCS segments

S. No.	Segment	Strategies	Worked & Did not work	Reasons why strategies worked and did not work	No. of P&P that contributed to the observations
		Provision of	Worked	Reduction of time spent and distance covered lead to better health for children. Ensured privacy for children in school.	4
3 Ru chilo	Rural children	WASH lacinities	Did not work	Lack of regular maintenance of sanitation facilities in school.	1
		IEC	Worked	Sensitisation of children improved household hygiene and sanitation practices.	4

Table S 10: Strategies that worked and did not work for GSS segments

S. No.	Population Segment	Strategies	Worked & Did not work	Reasons why strategies worked and did not work	No. of P&P that contributed to the observations
		IEC	Worked	Capacity building of local community that created willingness to participate in local committees, awareness campaigns resulted in adoption of safe WASH practices, use of community health volunteers in promotion of safe WASH practices.	11
			Did not work	Beneficiaries could not afford the high price of water and soap.	2
		Rural Decentralisation Project Management	Worked	Ensured community ownership and transparency in management of facilities.	5
1	Rural		Did not work	Capacity of local governments and agencies needed to be built during project implementation which lead to delays.	1
			Worked	Direct transfer of cash to the Union Parishads eliminated procedural delays, treatment of sanitation and water as separate project components with a development strategy.	3
			Did not work	Organisational constraints, unrealistic time schedules and reluctance of the community to ensure sustainability of project after completion.	5

		Provision of	Worked	Improved living conditions of beneficiaries, reduction in time spent and distance covered in accessing facilities.	5
		WASH facilities	Did not work	Maintenance of facilities was not conducted and there was inadequate water for sanitation and hand washing.	2
		Depeticien	Worked	Beneficiaries understood why they had to pay for services.	5
		Participation	Did not work	Communities had to be resettled after war and majority of them did not come back.	2
			Worked	Hand washing practices increased after awareness campaigns, involvement of community health workers in sensitisation campaigns led to adoption of improved WASH practices.	5
		IEC	Did not work	Technologies such as ecosan were not popular due to stigma around use of composted faecal matter and beneficiaries faced high costs in replicating the technology locally.	2
		Provision of WASH facilities	Worked	Reduction in time spent and distance travelled.	2
2.	Urban		Did not work	Confusion in ownership and maintenance of public sanitation facilities and quantity of water was inadequate to sustain hygiene and sanitation practices.	2
		Institutional Strengthening and Capacity Building	Worked	Reform of the water sector, thorough assessment of local context and service provider took responsibility for operation and maintenance.	4
		Beneficiary Participation	Did not work	Community did not trust the local government or service provider which prevented them from contributing to maintenance fund.	1

Appendix T: Count of benefits from P&P by sector, segments and region and location of WASH facilities

 Table T 1: Count of observations for WASH benefits for LCS by region

Benefit	Availability	Physical Accessibility	Affordability	Quality & Safety	Total
Asia					
Children	30	10		3	43
Rural children	28	13	6	6	53
Urban children	2	2		2	6
Adolescent boys	12	8		1	21
Adolescent girls	24	15	2	3	44
Women	19	13	5	1	38
Rural women	14	11	5	3	33
Urban women	2	2		2	6
Men	9	6	3		18
Rural men	6	5			11
Urban men	2	2		2	6
Transgender					
Senior Citizens					
Disabled	11	10	2	2	25
PLHIV					
Total	159	97	23	25	304
Africa					
Children	37	15		10	62
Rural children	32	15		2	49
Urban children	10	9		3	22
Adolescent boys	24	18		4	46
Adolescent girls	28	22		5	55
Women	5	5		3	13
Rural women	12	17		2	31
Urban women	20	18	1	3	42
Men					
Rural men	9	9		1	19
Urban men	8	8			16
Transgender					
Senior Citizens	1	1			2
Disabled	21	18		6	45
PLHIV	1	1			2
Total	208	156	1	39	404
Grand Total	367	253	24	64	708

		Dhysical			
Bonofit	Availability	Physical Accessibility	Affordability	Quality &	Total
Asia	Availability	Accessionity	Anordability	Jalety	TOLAT
Poor & low income	13	5	6	1	25
Rural	126	37	12	23	198
Urban	49	15	.2	11	78
Rural poor & low	10	10			10
income	10	2	6	5	23
Urban poor & low					
income	21	1	3	1	26
Vulnerable by					
occupation					
Migrants &					
pastoralists					
Caste	3	1	5		9
Ethnicity	6		5	1	12
Total	228	61	40	42	371
Africa					
Poor & low income	10	4			14
Rural	168	40	4	24	236
Urban	112	22		7	141
Rural poor & low					
income	3	1			4
Urban poor & low			_		
income	30	8	8	4	50
Vulnerable by					
occupation					
Migrants &	7	1			0
Pasioralisis	1	I			0
Ethnicity					
Total	330	76	12	35	453
Grand Total	558	137	52	77	824
			Γ	ſ	
Universal (Asia)	15	1	3		19
Universal (Africa)	26	10	3	7	46

Table T 2: Count	of observations f	or WASH benefits	for GSS b	y region
------------------	-------------------	------------------	-----------	----------

		.		Quality		Total for
Bonofit	Availability	Physical	Affordability	& Safaty	Total	Asia and
Asia	Availability	Accessibility	Anordability	Salety	TOtal	Anica
Children	9	3		2	14	33
Rural children	7	3	1	3	14	20
Urban children	,	0	•	0		
Adolescent boys	1			1	2	5
Adolescent girls	1			1	2	8
Women	7	6	2		15	21
Rural women	2	2		1	5	21
Urban women						17
Men	3	2	1		6	6
Rural men						5
Urban men						
Transgender						
Senior citizens						
Disabled						2
PLHIV						
Total	30	16	4	8	58	
Africa				•		
Children	11	4		4	19	33
Rural children	4	1		1	6	20
Urban children						
Adolescent boys	2			1	3	5
Adolescent girls	3	2		1	6	8
Women	2	3		1	6	21
Rural women	5	10		1	16	21
Urban women	6	7	1	3	17	17
Men						6
Rural men	2	2		1	5	5
Urban men						
Transgender						
Senior citizens						
Disabled	1			1	2	2
PLHIV						
Total	36	29	1	14	80	
Grand total	66	45	5	22	138	

Table T 3:Count of observations of benefits for LCS in the water sector

						Total for Asia
Benefit	Availabilitv	Accessibility	Affordability	Quality & Safety	Total	and Africa
Asia	,	, ,	,			1
Poor & low income	6	3	2		11	16
Rural	65	20	3	13	101	226
Urban	25	7	1	7	40	126
Rural poor & low income	4			3	7	10
Urban poor & low income	10		1	1	12	43
Caste	3	1	1		5	5
Ethnicity	4		1		5	5
Migrants & Pastoralists						5
Vulnerable by occupation						
Total	117	31	9	24	181	
Africa	-		-	•	-	
Poor & low income	4	1			5	16
Rural	86	20	2	17	125	226
Urban	66	14		6	86	126
Rural poor & low income	2	1			3	10
Urban poor & low income	17	5	7	2	31	43
Caste						5
Ethnicity						5
Migrants & Pastoralists	4	1			5	5
Vulnerable by occupation						
Total	179	42	9	25	255	
Grand total	296	73	18	49	436	
Universal (Asia)	3		1		4	21
Universal (Africa)	10	3	1	3	17	21

Table T 4:Count of observations of benefits for GSS in the water sector

		Physical		Quality		Total for
Benefit	Availability	Accessibility	Affordability	& Safetv	Total	Africa
Asia		,				
Children	9	4			13	44
Rural children	17	8	4	2	31	62
Urban children	1	1		1	3	20
Adolescent boys	8	6			14	47
Adolescent girls	12	8	1		21	57
Women	9	6	2	1	18	23
Rural women	5	4	4	1	14	25
Urban women	1	1		1	3	22
Men	5	4	1		10	10
Rural men	3	2			5	15
Urban men	1	1		1	3	13
Transgender						
Senior citizens						2
PLHIV						2
Disabled	8	7	2	1	18	52
Total	79	52	14	8	153	
Africa						
Children	18	9		4	31	44
Rural children	20	10		1	31	62
Urban children	8	7		2	17	20
Adolescent boys	17	14		2	33	47
Adolescent girls	18	15		3	36	57
Women	2	2		1	5	23
Rural women	5	5		1	11	25
Urban women	11	8			19	22
Men						10
Rural men	5	5			10	15
Urban men	5	5			10	13
Transgender						
Senior citizens	1	1			2	2
PLHIV	1	1			2	2
Disabled	16	15		3	34	52
Total	127	97		17	241	
Grand total	206	149	14	25	394	

Table T 5:Count of observations of benefits for LCS in the sanitation sector

		Physical		Quality		Total for
Benefit	Availability	Accessibility	Affordability	∝ Safetv	Total	Asia and Africa
Asia	, it analy		,	Callety	. o tu	7
Poor & low income	6	2	3	1	12	21
Rural	56	15	7	10	88	180
Urban	22	7	1	4	34	83
Rural poor & low income	4	1	6	1	12	13
Urban poor & low income	11	1	2		14	33
Vulnerable by occupation						
Migrants & Pastoralists						2
Caste			4		4	4
Ethnicity	2		4	1	7	7
Total	101	26	27	17	171	373
Africa						
Poor & low income	6	3			9	21
Rural	67	18	2	5	92	180
Urban	40	8		1	49	83
Rural poor & low income	1				1	13
Urban poor & low income	13	3	1	2	19	33
Vulnerable by occupation						
Migrants & Pastoralists	2				2	2
Caste						4
Ethnicity						7
Total	129	32	3	8	172	
Grand total	230	58	30	25	343	
		1	1	T	1	
Universal (Asia)	8		1		9	30
Universal (Africa)	12	5	1	3	21	30

Table T 6:Count of observations of benefits for GSS in the sanitation sector

Benefit	Availability	Physical Accessibility	Affordability	Quality & Safety	Total	Total for Asia and Africa
Asia						
Children	12	3		1	16	28
Rural children	4	2	1	1	8	20
Urban children	1	1		1	3	8
Adolescent boys	3	2			5	15
Adolescent girls	11	7	1	2	21	34
Women	3	1			4	6
Rural women	7	5	1	1	14	18
Urban women	1	1	1	1	4	10
Men	1		1		2	2
Rural men	3	3			6	10
Urban men	1	1		1	3	9
Transgender						
Disabled	3	3		1	7	16
Senior citizens						
PLHIV						
Total	50	29	5	9	93	
Africa						
Children	8	2		2	12	28
Rural children	8	4			12	20
Urban children	2	2		1	5	8
Adolescent boys	5	4		1	10	15
Adolescent girls	7	5		1	13	34
Women	1			1	2	6
Rural women	2	2			4	18
Urban women	3	3			6	10
Men						2
Rural men	2	2			4	10
Urban men	3	3			6	9
Transgender						
Disabled	4	3		2	9	16
Senior citizens						
PLHIV						
Total	45	30		8	83	
Grand total	95	59	5	17	176	

Table T 7:Count of observations of benefits for LCS in the hygiene sector

		Physical		Quality		Total for Asia and	
Benefit	Availability	Accessibility	Affordability	& Safety	Total	Africa	
Asia							
Poor & low income	1		1		2	2	
Rural	5	2	2		9	28	
Urban	2	1	1		4	10	
Rural poor & low income	2	1		1	4	4	
Urban poor & low income							
Vulnerable by occupation							
Migrants & Pastoralists						1	
Caste							
Ethnicity							
Total	10	4	4	1	19		
Africa			·	•			
Poor & low income						2	
Rural	15	2		2	19	28	
Urban	6				6	10	
Rural poor & low income						4	
Urban poor & low income							
Vulnerable by occupation							
Migrants & Pastoralists	1				1	1	
Caste							
Ethnicity							
Total	22	2		2	26		
Grand Total	32	6	4	3	45	59	
	•	r				T	
Universal (Asia)	4	1	1		6	14	
Universal (Africa)	4	2	1	1	8	14	

Table T 8:Count of observations of benefits for GSS in the hygiene sector

Segments	Public	Household	Shared	Total	Total for Asia and Africa		
Asia							
Children	24			24	55		
Rural children	26			26	63		
Urban children	2			2	11		
Adolescent	12			12	35		
Adolescent girls	22	1		23	48		
Women	8	3		11	12		
Rural women	8	5		13	24		
Urban women	2			2	18		
Men	4			4	4		
Rural men	6			6	14		
Urban men	2			2	10		
Transgender							
Senior citizens							
Disabled	10	2		12	1		
PLHIV							
Total	126	11		137			
Africa							
Children	31			31	55		
Rural children	26	1		27	63		
Urban children	8	1		9	11		
Adolescent boys	21	2		23	35		
Adolescent girls	23	2		25	48		
Women		1		1	12		
Rural women	11			11	24		
Urban women	10	6		16	18		
Men					4		
Rural men	8			8	14		
Urban men	7	1		8	10		
Transgender							
Senior citizens							
Disabled	14	2		16	1		
PLHIV	1			1			
Total	160	16		176			
Grand total	286	27		313			

 Table T 9:Count of observations for location of WASH facilities for LCS

					Total for Asia			
Segments	Public	Household	Shared	Total	and Africa			
Asia								
Poor & low income		4		4	10			
Rural	31	50	2	83	166			
Urban	8	25	1	34	84			
Rural poor & low income	4	6		10	13			
Urban poor & low income	6	6	3	15	38			
Vulnerable by occupation								
Migrants & pastoralists								
Caste	1	4		5	5			
Ethnicity	1	4		5	5			
Total	51	99	6	151				
Africa								
Poor & low income	4	2		6	10			
Rural	46	36	1	83	166			
Urban	30	20		50	84			
Rural poor & low income	3			3	13			
Urban poor & low income	11	12		23	38			
Vulnerable by occupation								
Migrants & pastoralists								
Caste					5			
Ethnicity					5			
Total	94	70	1	165				
Grand total	145	169	7	321				
Universal (Asia)		5		5	20			
Universal (Africa)	10	5		15	20			

 Table T 10:Count of observations for location of WASH facilities for GSS















References

Ahmed at al. 2003, *Proceedings of SACOSAN 2003,* Water and Sanitation Programme South Asia, ITN Centre, Bangladesh

Albuquerque, Catarina de, 2014a, *Introduction – Realising the human right to water and sanitation, A Handbook by the* UN Special Rapporteur on the right to safe drinking water and sanitation. Available from:

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/WaterAndSanitation/SRWater/Pages/Handbook.aspx, Accessed on 22nd December, 2015

Albuquerque, Catarina de, 2014b, *Legislative, regulatory and policy frameworks* – *Realising the human right to water and sanitation, A Handbook by the* UN Special Rapporteur on the right to safe drinking water and sanitation, Available from: http://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/WaterAndSanitation/SRWater/Pages/Handbook.aspx, Accessed on 22nd December, 2015

Albuquerque, Catarina de, 2014c, *Realising the human rights to water and sanitation: A Handbook, 'Principles'*, UN Special Rapporteur on the human right to safe drinking water and sanitation, p. 22., Available from:

http://www.ohchr.org/EN/Issues/WaterAndSanitation/SRWater/Pages/Handbook.aspx, Accessed on 22nd December, 2015

AMCOW, WSP, UNICEF, WaterAid and CREPA, 2011, Sanitation and hygiene in Africa at a glance: A synthesis of country priority actions, Accessed from: www.wsp.org/sites/wsp.../WSP-2011-Sanitation-&-Hygiene-in-Africa-at-a-Glance.pdf, Accessed on 23.08.2016

Berg-Schlosser D, De Meur G, Rihoux B, Ragin CC: Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA) as an Approach. In Configurational Comparative Methods: Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA) and Related Techniques. Edited by Rihoux B, Ragin CC. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2009:1–18.

Related Techniques. Edited by Rihoux B, Ragin CC. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2009:1–18.Biran, Adam, Curtis, Val, Gautam, Om Prasad, Greenland, Katie, Islam, Md. Sirajul, Schmidt, Wolf-Peter, Sijbesma, Christine, Sumpter, Colin, Torondel, Belen, 2012, *Background Paper on Measuring WASH and Food Hygiene Practices – Definition of Goals to be Tackled Post 2015 by the Joint Monitoring Programme*, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, The IRC International Water and Sanitation Centre and the International Centre for DiarrhoealDisease Research, Bangladesh, Available from:

http://www.wssinfo.org/fileadmin/user_upload/resources/Hygiene-background-paper-19-Jun-2012.pdf, Accessed on: 1st Jan, 2016

Black, R.E., Morris, S and Bryce, J, 2003, *Where and Why are 10 Million Children Dying Every Year?* The Lancet, vol. 361, no. 9376, pp. 2226-2234Bowman, Ann O'M and Kearney, Richard C., 1988, *Dimensions of State Government Capability*, The Western Political Quarterly, Vol. 41, No. 2, pp. 341-362

Cairncross, Sandy, Baker, Sally, Brown, Joe, Cavill, Sue, Cumming, Oliver, Ensink, Jeroen, Rheingans, Rick and Schmidt, Wolf, 2011, *Water, sanitation and hygiene evidemce paper,* DFID, LSHTM and the Share Consortium.

Carrard, N., Pedi, D., Willetts, J. and Powell, B.,2009, *Non-government organisation engagement in the sanitation sector: opportunities to maximise benefits*, International Water Association (IWA) Publishing, Accessed on 07.09.2016, Available from: www.lboro.ac.uk/well/resources/Publications/Ilfneitwss/aCHAPTER2.pdf,

Climate Change Division, 2013, Pakistan Sanitation Country Paper for SACOSAN, Government of Pakistan, Accessed on: 26th August 2016, Available from: http://www.communityledtotalsanitation.org/sites/communityledtotalsanitation.org/files/Sa nitation_CountryPaper_Pakistan_SACOSAN_2013.pdf.

Collender, Guy, Wilbur, Jane and Gosling, Louisa, 2011, *Including disabled people in sanitation and hygiene services*, Briefing Note, Share and WaterAid

Combs, James G, Ketchen Jr, David J, Crook, T. Russell, Roth, Philip L, 2011, Assessing Cumulative Evidence within 'Macro' Research: Why Meta-Analysis Should be Preferred Over Vote Counting, Journal of Management Studies, 48:1

Dane, A.V and Schneider, B.H., 1998, *Program integrity in primary and early secondary prevention: Are implementation effects out of control?*Clinical Psychology Review, 18, 23-45.

DFID, 2012, *Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Portfolio Review,* Accessed on January 7th, 2016, Available from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/dfid-water-sanitation-and-hygiene-portfolio-review

Domitrovich, C. E. and Greenberg, M. T., 2000, *The study of implementation: Current findings from effective programs that prevent mental disorders in school-aged children*, Journal ofEducational and Psychological Consultation, 11, p. 193-221.

Dusenbury, L., Branningan, R., Falco, M. and Hansen, W.B., 2003, *A review of research on fidelity of implementation: Implications for drug abuse prevention in school settings*, Health Education Research, 18, p. 237-256.

Erhard, Loida, Degabriele, Joseph, Naughton, Deirdre and Freeman, Matthew C, 2013, *Policy and provision of WASH in schools for children with disabilities: A case study in Malawi and Uganda*, Global Public Health, 8:9, p. 1000-1013

Evans, Barbara, Colin, Jeremy, Jones, Hazel, Robinson, Andy, 2009, *Sustainability and equity aspects of total sanitation programmes – A study of recent WaterAid – supported programmes in three countries,* WaterAid

Fansa and WSSCC, 2015, *Leave no one behind – Voices of women, adolescent girls, elderly, disabled people and sanitation workers*, Accessed on: June 22nd, 2016, Accessed from: http://wsscc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/Leave-No-One-Behind-Report-by-WSSCC-and-FANSA-2016.pdf

General Assembly Resolution 55/2, A/RES/55/2, *United Nations Millennium Declaration,* 8th September, 2000, Available from: http://www.un.org/millennium/declaration/ares552e.htm General Assembly Resolution 58/217, A/RES/58/217, International Decade for Water: Action for Life 2005 – 2015,23rd December, 2003, Available from undocs.org/A/RES/58/217

General Assembly Resolution 65/153, A/RES/65/153, *Follow up to the International Year for Sanitation,* 20th December 2010, Available from: undocs.org/, A/RES/65/153

Guiteras, R, Jannat, K, Levine D and Polley, T, 2015. *Testing disgust and shame-based safe water and handwashing promotion in Dhaka, Bangladesh,* 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 29(forthcoming), International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie)

Heather Kane, PhD, Megan A Lewis, PhD, Pamela A Williams, PhD, Leila C Kahwati, MD, MPH, 2014 Using qualitative comparative analysis to understand and quantify translation and implementation, RTI International. Accessed on 28.11.2016, Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4041929/

Hutton, Guy and Varughese, Mili,2016, *The Costs of Meeting the 2030 Sustainable Development Goal: Targets on Drinking Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene*, The Water and Sanitation Program, World Bank Group, Available from: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/415441467988938343/pdf/103171-PUB-Box394556B-PUBLIC-EPI-K8543-ADD-SERIES.pdf

Hutchinson, Elizabeth, 2001, *A life course perspective,* Chapter 1, Dimensions of Human Behaviour

Jones, Hazel, 2013, *Mainstreaming disability and ageing in water and sanitation programmes,* WaterAid, WEDC, SHARE and Leonard Cheshire Disability and Inclusive Development Centre

Kar, Kamal and Chambers, Robert, 2008, *Handbook on Community-led Total Sanitation*, Institute of Development Studies and Plan UK, Accessed on 7th Sept, 2016, Available from: http://www.susana.org/_resources/documents/default/2-1814-clts-handbookenglish.pdf

Khairpur Rural Development Organization (KRDO), Integrated Regional Support Program (IRSP) and End Water Poverty, 2015, Realising the Human Right to water and sanitation, Accessed on: 26th August 2016, Available from:

http://www.endwaterpoverty.org/sites/endwaterpoverty.org/files/EWP%20Islamic%20Rep ublic%20of%20Pakistan%20Briefing%20FINAL.pdf.

Kugelman, Michael, 2014, Pakistan's urbanization: 'A challenge of great proportions', Deutsche Welle (DW), Accessed on 29th August, 2016, Available from:http://www.dw.com/en/pakistans-urbanization-a-challenge-of-great-proportions/a-18163731

Kulkarni, Seema, O'Reilly, Kathleen, 2013, Presentation on *Sanitation Vulnerability: Women's Stress and Struggles for violence-free sanitation,* International Sanitation and Gender Workshop, Share, WSSCC, University of Texas

Kurana and Mahapatra, 2008, Drought and drinking water crisis in Bundelkhand - Half empty, half full, Water and Sanitation Perspectives, Water Aid

Light, R. J., and Smith, P. V., 1971, *Accumulating evidence: Procedures for resolving contradictions among different research studies,* Harvard Educational Review, 41, 429-471,

Lindblom, Charles E, 1959, *The Science of Muddling Through*, Public Administration Review, Vol. 19, No. 2 (Spring, 1959), pp. 79-88

Messner, J.J, Haken, Nate, Taft, Patricia, Blyth, Hannah, Lawrence, Kendall, Graham, Sebastian Pavlou, Umana, Felipe, 2015, Fragile States Index 2015, The Fund for Peace, Available from: http://library.fundforpeace.org/library/fragilestatesindex-2015.pdf, Accessed on: 28th Dec, 2015

Ragin, Charles C., Kriss A. Drass and Sean Davey. 2006. Fuzzy-Set/Qualitative Comparative Analysis 2.0. Tucson, Arizona: Department of Sociology, University of Arizona

Ragin CC: The Comparative Method: Moving Beyond Qualitative and Quantitative Strategies. Berkeley and Los Angeles: University of California Press; 1987. Accessed on 28.11.2016, Available from:

http://www.academia.edu/1798846/The_comparative_method_Moving_beyond_qualitative_and_quantitative_strategies

SACOSAN, 2008, The Third South Asian Conference on Sanitation (SACOSAN), The Delhi Declaration, Accessed on 02.09.2016, Available from: www.wateraid.org/~/media/Publications/delhi-declaration.pdf,

Sahoo, Krushna Chandra, Hulland, Kristyna R.S, Caruso, Bethany A, Swain, Rojalin, Freeman, Matthew C, Panigrahi, Pinaki, Dreibelbis, Robert, 2015, *Sanitation-related psychosocial stress: A grounded theory study of women across the life-course in Odisha, India,* Social Science and Medicine, Vol.139

Satish, Sreevidya, State Sanitation Strategy,n.d, Sustainable sanitation and water management (SSWM), Accessed on: 26th August 2016, Available from: http://www.sswm.info/content/state-sanitation-strategy

Satterthwaite, Meg, 2012, *Background Note on MDGs, Non-Discrimination and Indicators in water and sanitation*, JMP Working Group on Equity and Non-discrimination Available from: http://www.wssinfo.org/fileadmin/user_upload/resources/END-Background-Paper_1.pdf

Satterthwaite, Meg and Winkler, Inga, 2012, *JMP Working Group on Equity and Nondiscrimination – Final Report,* Joint Monitoring Programme, Available from: http://www.wssinfo.org/fileadmin/user_upload/resources/JMP-END-WG-Final-Report-20120821.pdf

Thomas, James, O'Mara-Eves, Allison and Brunton, Ginny, 2014, *Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA) in systematic reviews of complex interventions: a worked example'*, Systematic Reviews, Vol 3, No. 67

UNDP, 2015, Human Development Report 2015: Work for human development, New York

UNFPA, 2007, *State of world population: Unleashing the potential of urban growth,* Accessed on: 2nd September, 2016, Available from: https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/695_filename_sowp2007_eng.pdf

UN-HABITAT, 2003, Water and Sanitation in the World's Cities: Local Action for Global Goals

UNICEF, 2006, UNICEF water, sanitation and hygiene strategies for 2006-2015, UN Economic

and Social Council, E/ICEF/2006/6, Available from: http://www.unicef.org/about/execboard/files/06-6_WASH_final_ODS.pdf Accessed on 1st Jan, 2016

UNICEF, 2009, Soap, toilets and tap – a foundation for healthy children, How UNICEF supports water, sanitation and hygiene, Accessed on 24th Aug, 2016, Accessed from: http://www.unicef.org/wash/files/26351FINALLayoutEn1small(1).pdf

United Nations, 2015, *The Millennium Development Goals Report,* Available from: http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/2015_MDG_Report/pdf/MDG%202015%20rev%20(J uly%201).pdf, Accessed on: 24th November, 2015

United Nations, General Assembly, 2006, *International year for Sanitation 2008: report of the second committee*, A/C.2/61/L.16/Rev.1, Available from: undoc.org/A/C.2/61/L.16/Rev.1

UN Water, 2008, *Tacking a global crisis: International Year of Sanitation 2008,* Accessed on: 22nd Aug, 2008, Available from: https://esa.un.org/iys/docs/IYS_flagship_web_small.pdf

US Dept. of Health, 2010, *Rethinking MCH: The life course model as an organizing framework* – Concept Paper

Waddington, Hugh, Snilstveit, Birte, White, Howard, Fewtrell, Lorna, 2009, *Water, Sanitation and Hygiene Interventions to Combat Childhood Diarrhoea in Developing Countries,* 3ie

Water Aid 2011, *Sanitation Framework,* Accessed from: http://www.wateraid.org/whatwe-do/our-approach/research-and-publications/view-publication?id=5a93bd73-59a2-43a8-b6a5-baf28a694e86, Accessed on: 3rd Feb, 2016

Water Aid, 2015a, *An agenda for change: achieving universal access to water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) by 2030*, Working Paper, Supported by Agua Consult, IRC and Water for people

WaterAid, 2012, Hygiene framework, WaterAid, London, UK

WaterAid, 2015b, *Essential element: why international aid for water, sanitation and hygiene is still a critical source of finance for many countries,* Accessed on 20.09.2016, Available from:

www.wateraid.org/~/media/Publications/Essential_element_executive_summary.pdf

Water Aid and Ethiopian Economics Association, 2011, *Spatial Equity in the Provisioning* of WaSH services: Evidence from Selected Area-Based Case Studies

Water and Sanitation Program, 2007, *Pathways to Progress: Transitioning to Country-Led Service Delivery Pathways to Meet Africa's Water Supply and Sanitation Targets*, The World Bank, Accessed on 20.09.2016, Available from: http://www.wsp.org/wsp/content/pathways-progress-status-water-and-sanitation-africa.

Water and Sanitation Program, 2015, End of Year Report: Fiscal Year 2015, The World Bank Group, Accessed on: 02.09.2016, Available from: www.wsp.org/.../files/publications/WSP-End-Year-Report-FY15.pdf,

WHO, 2014, *Investing in water and sanitation: Increasing access, reducing inequalities,* GLAAS report, UN Water, Geneva, Accessed on: 1st Sept, 2016, Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/139735/1/9789241508087_eng.pdf,

WHO and UNICEF, 2015, 25 Years Progress on Sanitation and Drinking Water - Update and MDG Assessment. Accessed on 28th November, 2015, Available from: http://www.wssinfo.org/fileadmin/user_upload/resources/JMP-Update-report-2015_English.pdf,

WHO, 2015, *Investing in water and sanitation: Increasing access, reducing inequalities,* GLAAS 2014 findings – Special Report for Africa, Accessed on: 17th Aug, 2016, Available from: http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/glaas/glaas2014-africa-region.pdf,

WHO and UNICEF, 2014, *Progress on Drinking Water and Sanitation – 2014 Update,* Available from:

http://www.wssinfo.org/fileadmin/user_upload/resources/JMP_report_2014_webEng.pdf, Accessed on 2nd December, 2015

WHO and UNICEF, 2013, *Progress on Sanitation and Drinking Water – 2013 Update,* Accessed on 28th December, 2015, Available from: http://www.wssinfo.org/fileadmin/user_upload/resources/JMPreport2013.pdf,

WHO, 2016, *Health Topics – Hygiene,* webpage, Accessed on 22nd September 2016, Available from: http://www.who.int/topics/hygiene/en/

World Bank, n.d, *Poverty,* webpage, Accessed on 20th Nov, 2015, Available from: http://data.worldbank.org/topic/poverty,

World Bank, 2003, *Report No. 25917,* Accessed on 7th January, 2016, Available from: http://www-

wds.worldbank.org/servlet/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2003/06/17/000090341_20030 61708473/Rendered/PDF/259171MA1Ru,

WSSCC and WHO, 2005, Sanitation and Hygiene Promotion – Programme Guidance, WHO Press

WSSCC, n.d., *Our equality and non-discrimination Work* – website page, Accessed on: 19th January, 2016, Available from: http://wsscc.org/equality-overview/

Other publications in the 3ie Systematic Review Series

The following reviews are available at http://www.3ieimpact.org/publications/systematic-review-publications/

Effects of certification schemes for agricultural production on socio-economic outcomes in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review 34. Oya, C, Schaefer, F, Skalidou, D, McCosker, C and Langer, L, (2017)

Short-term WASH interventions in emergency response: a systematic review. 3ie Systematic Review 33. Yates, T, Allen, J, Joseph, ML and Lantagne, D (2017)

Community monitoring interventions to curb corruption and increase access and quality of service delivery in low- and middle-income countries. *3ie* Systematic Review 32. Molina E, Carella L, Pacheco A, Cruces, G and Gasparini, L (2016)

Effects and mechanisms of market-based reforms on access to electricity in developing countries: a systematic review. *3ie* Systematic Review *31.* Bensch, G, Sievert, M, Langbein, J, Kneppel, N (2016)

Youth gang violence and preventative measures in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review (Part II), 3ie Systematic Review 30. Higginson, A, Benier, K, Shenderovich, Y, Bedford, L, Mazerolle, L, Murray, J (2016)

Youth gang membership and violence in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review (Part I), 3ie Systematic Review 29. Higginson, A, Benier, K, Shenderovich, Y, Bedford, L, Mazerolle, L, Murray, J (2016)

Cash-based approaches in humanitarian emergencies: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review Report 28. Doocy, S and Tappis, H (2016)

Factors affecting uptake of voluntary and community-based health insurance schemes in *low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 27.* Panda, P, Dror, IH, Koehlmoos, TP, Hossain, SAS, John, D, Khan, JAM and Dror, DM (2016)

Parental, community and familial support interventions to improve children's literacy in developing countries: a systematic review, *3ie Systematic Review 26.* Spier, E, Britto, P, Pigott, T, Roehlkapartain, E, McCarthy, M, Kidron, Y, Song, M, Scales, P, Wagner, D, Lane, J and Glover, J (2016)

Business support for small and medium enterprises in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 25. Piza, C, Cravo, T, Taylor, L, Gonzalez, L, Musse, I, Furtado, I, Sierra, AC and Abdelnour, S (2016)

Interventions for improving learning outcomes and access to education in low- and middle- income countries: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 24. Snilstveit, B, Stevenson, J, Phillips, D, Vojtkova, M, Gallagher, E, Schmidt, T, Jobse, H, Geelen, M, Pastorello, M, and Eyers, J (2015)

Economic self-help group programmes for improving women's empowerment: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 23. Brody, C, De Hoop, T, Vojtkova, M, Warnock, R, Dunbar, M, Murthy, P and Dworkin, SL (2016)

The identification and measurement of health-related spillovers in impact evaluations: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 22. Benjamin-Chung, J, Abedin, J, Berger, D, Clark, A, Falcao, L, Jimenez, V, Konagaya, E, Tran, D, Arnold, B, Hubbard, A, Luby, S, Miguel, E and Colford, J (2015)

The effects of school-based decision-making on educational outcomes in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review Report 21. Carr-Hill, R, Rolleston, C, Pherali, T and Schendel, R, with Peart, E, and Jones, E (2015)

Policing interventions for targeting interpersonal violence in developing countries: a systematic review, *3ie Systematic Review 20.* Higginson, A, Mazerolle, L, Sydes, M, Davis, J, and Mengersen, K (2015)

The effects of training, innovation and new technology on African smallholder farmers' wealth and food security: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 19. Stewart, R, Langer, L, Rebelo Da Silva N, Muchiri, E, Zaranyika, H, Erasmus, Y, Randall, N, Rafferty, S, Korth, M, Madinga, N and de Wet, T (2015)

Community based rehabilitation for people with disabilities in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 18. Iemmi, V, Gibson, L, Blanchet, K, Kumar, KS, Rath, S, Hartley, S, Murthy, GVS, Patel, V, Weber, J and Kuper H (2015)

Payment for environmental services for reducing deforestation and poverty in low- and middle-income countries: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 17. Samii, C, Lisiecki, M, Kulkarni, P, Paler, L and Chavis, L (2015)

Decentralised forest management for reducing deforestation and poverty in low- and middle- income countries: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 16. Samii, C, Lisiecki, M, Kulkarni, P, Paler, L and Chavis, L (2015)

Supplementary feeding for improving the health of disadvantaged infants and young children: a systematic and realist review, *3ie Systematic Review 15.* Kristjansson, E, Francis, D, Liberato, S, Greenhalgh, T, Welch, V, Jandu, MB, Batal, M, Rader, T, Noonan, E, Janzen, L, Shea, B, Wells, GA and Petticrew, M (2015)

The impact of land property rights interventions on investment and agricultural productivity in developing countries: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review Report 14. Lawry, S, Samii, C, Hall, R, Leopold, A, Hornby, D and Mtero, F, 2014.

Slum upgrading strategies and their effects on health and socio-economic outcomes: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 13. Turley, R, Saith, R., Bhan, N, Rehfuess, E, and Carter, B (2013)

Services for street-connected children and young people in low- and middle-income countries: a thematic synthesis, 3ie Systematic Review 12. Coren, E, Hossain, R, Ramsbotham, K, Martin, AJ and Pardo, JP (2014)

Why targeting matters: examining the relationship between selection, participation and outcomes in farmer field school programmes, *3ie Systematic Review 11*. Phillips, D, Waddington, H and White, H (2015)

The impact of export processing zones on employment, wages and labour conditions in developing countries, 3ie Systematic Review 10. Cirera, X and Lakshman, R (2014)

Interventions to reduce the prevalence of female genital mutilation/cutting in African countries, 3ie Systematic Review 9. Berg, RC and Denision, E (2013)

Behaviour change interventions to prevent HIV among women living in low and middle income countries, 3ie Systematic Review 8. McCoy, S, Kangwende, RA and Padian, NS (2009)

The impact of daycare programs on child health, nutrition and development in developing countries, 3ie Systematic Review 7. Leroy, JL, Gadsden, P and Guijarro, M (2011)

Willingness to pay for cleaner water in less developed countries: Systematic review of experimental evidence, 3ie Systematic Review 6. Null, C, Hombrados, JG, Kremer, M, Meeks, R, Miguel, E and Zwane, AP (2012)

Community-based intervention packages for reducing maternal morbidity and mortality and improving neonatal outcomes, 3ie Systematic Review 5. Lassi, ZS, Haider, BA and Langou, GD (2011)

The effects of microcredit on women's control over household spending: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 4. Vaessen, J, Rivas, A, Duvendack, M, Jones, RP, Leeuw, F, van Gils, G, Lukach, R, Holvoet, N, Bastiaensen, J, Hombrados, JG and Waddington, H, (2013).

Interventions in developing nations for improving primary and secondary school enrolment of children: a systematic review, 3ie Systematic Review 3. Petrosino, A, Morgan, C, Fronius, T, Tanner-Smith, E, and Boruch, R, 2016.

Interventions to promote social cohesion in Sub-Saharan Africa, 3ie Systematic Review 2. King, E, Samii, C and Snilstveit, B (2010)

Water, sanitation and hygiene interventions to combat childhood diarrhoea in developing countries, *3ie Systematic Review 1.* Waddington, H, Snilstveit, B, White, H and Fewtrell, L (2009)

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation London International Development Centre 36 Gordon Square London WC1H 0PD United Kingdom

3ieuk@3ieimpact.org Tel: +44 207 958 8351/8350





